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Statement by the Members of Board of Directors
(in accordance with article 4 paragraph 2 of Law 3556/2007)

To the best of our knowledge, the annual financial statements that have been prepared in accordance with the applicable
accounting standards, give a true view of the assets, liabilities, equity and financial performance of Alpha Bank A.E. and of the
group of companies included in the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, as provided in article 4 paragraphs 3
and 4 of Law 3556/2007, and the Board of Directors’ annual report presents fairly the evolution, performance and financial
position of Bank, and group of companies included in the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, including the
analysis of the main risks and uncertainties that they face.

Athens, 28 March 2019

THE DEPUTY CEO

THE CHAIRMAN THE CHIEF OF NON-PERFORMING LOANS AND
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS EXECUTIVE OFFICER TREASURY MANAGEMENT
VASILEIOS T.RAPANOS VASSILIOS E.PSALTIS ARTEMIOS CH.THEODORIDIS
ID. No Al 666242 ID No Al 666591 ID. No AB 281969
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Board of Directors’ Annual Management Report

as at 31.12.2018

GREEK ECONOMY

2018 is considered a milestone year for the Greek economy.
The conclusion of the third Economic Adjustment Program

- which was accompanied by specific measures in order to
cover the country's financing needs over the medium-term
-contributed to the improvement of economic sentiment, as
well as the prospects of the Greek economy. In particular,
Euro 61 .9 billion out of the Euro 86.0 billion totally available
amount through the third economic adjustment program,
were disbursed, of which Euro 11.0 billion were used for

the built-up of the cash buffer, with the aim to cover the
country’s financing needs at least over the next two years.
According to the Enhanced Surveillance Report, published
by the European Commission in November 2018, the cash
buffer available amounted over Euro 26.0 billion.

After the conclusion of the third economic adjustment
program an “enhanced surveillance framework” was agreed
with the European partners, in order to ensure that the
implementation of the structural reforms will continue at
unabated pace and to closely monitor the economic and
fiscal developments in the country. In parallel, the following
were agreed:

- the deferral of the European Financial Stability Facility
(EFSF) interest rate and amortization by 10 years and the
extension of the maximum weighted average maturity by
10 years,

- the commitment to maintain a primary surplus of 3.5%
of GDP until 2022 and the completion of the remaining
structural reforms.

- the abolition of the step-up interest rate margin related
to the debt buy-back tranche of the second economic
adjustment program.

- the return of the profits and the income equivalent
amounts stemming from central banks' holdings of
Greek bonds, under the Securities Markets Program and
the Agreement on Net Financial Assets (SMP and ANFA
revenue).

The implementation of the last two measures, will be

subject to the continuity and the completion of the
commitments undertaken by Greece.

In 2018, markets’ confidence was gradually strengthened,
whereas the position of the country as an investors’
destination was improved, due to the following: (i) the
strengthening of the economic activity, (ii) the achievement
of a primary general government surplus, above the fiscal
target for the fourth consecutive year, (iii) the upgrading
of the country's credit rating by the international rating
agencies, (iv) the successful completion of the EU-wide
stress testing exercise for the four systemic Greek banks
and (v) the further easing of capital controls. In addition, in
February 2018, a new seven-year bond was successfully
issued, allowing the Greek State to raise Euro 3 billion.

GDP at constant prices increased by 1,9% on an annual
basis in 2018 from 1.5% in 2017. The main driving forces
of economic expansion were the significant positive
contribution of export performance of goods and services
and private consumption. Moreover, signs of recovery are
evident in the real estate market, as house prices increased
for the first time since 2009, by 1.3% on an annual basis

in the first nine months of 2018. The Economic Sentiment
Indicator (ESI) improved to 102.1 units in 2018, from 96.6
units in 2017, at a higher level than the pre-crisis of 2008
(=100). All sub-indices of business expectations and mainly
the consumer confidence indicator improved in 2018
compared to 2017.

Inflation based on the Consumer Price Index (CPI) remained
in positive territory in 2018 for the second consecutive year
after four years of deflation. CPI increased by 0.6% in 2018,
from 1.1% in 2017. Weak inflationary pressures came up
from the increase of international oil prices in 2018, though
base effects contributed negatively because of the indirect
taxation increases on goods and services in 2017.

The unemployment rate followed a downward trend in
2018 and stood at 18.5% in November 2018 (according to
seasonally adjusted data), lower by 2.6 percentage points
compared to November 2017 and by 9.4 points compared
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to July 2013 when reaching historically high levels.
According to the European Commission Autumn Economic
Forecasts, the unemployment rate is expected to reach
19.6% in 2018, from 21.5% in 2017, the highest level
among European Union countries. Employment continued
to increase (by 3.7% on an annual basis in the first eleven
months of 2018), mainly due to the increase of part-time
jobs. The main sectors that contributed to the creation of
new jobs were the export-aoriented sectors of the Greek
economy such as tourism, trade and manufacturing.

The current account balance recorded a deficit of Euro 5.3
billion in 2018, widened by Euro 2.1 billion compared to
2017. This development is attributed to the deterioration
of the trade deficit and primary income deficit, which was
partially offset by the improvement in the services surplus
and the secondary income deficit.

The execution of the state budget in 2018 showed that
the primary surplus of the state budget stood at Euro 3.2
billion, lower by Euro 367 million compared to the target
(Euro 3.6 billion), and higher by Euro 1.3 billion compared
to the respective surplus in 2017 (Euro 1.9 billion). The
main elements of the Budget execution in 2018 are the
following: (i) the underperformance of the state revenues
by Euro 1.5 billion against the target, which was due to
the extension of the concession agreement of the Athens
International Airport, the amount of which (Euro 1.1 billion)
was scheduled to be collected in January 2019 instead
of December 2018 that was originally budgeted, (i) the
lower than budgeted tax refunds by Euro 0.9 billion, (iii)
the over-achievement of indirect tax revenues in 2018
compared to 2017 as well as against the target, (iv)

the deviation of the current primary expenditure by Euro
0.6 billion against the target, (v) the continuous under-
execution of the Public Investment Budget expenditure
whose total amount reached Euro 6.2 billion in 2018
(against Euro 6.7 billion that it was budgeted).

In the first nine months of 2018, Greek banks registered
profits before taxes, that were however significantly lower
than the profits in the same period of 2017, whereas the
after-tax losses exceeded the respective losses registered
in January - September 2017. The capital adequacy of the
banking system remained satisfactory, as the Common
Equity Tier 1 (CET1) ratio on a consolidated level stood at
15.6%* in September 2018, while the Capital Adequacy
ratio at 16.2%:*. In addition, according to the EU-wide

L Bank of Greece, Monetary Policy Interim Report, December 2018.

stress testing exercise conducted at the beginning of 2018,
there was no capital shortfall identified for the four systemic
Greek banks.

Liquidity conditions continued to improve in the banking
system, as private sector's deposits amounted to Euro
134.5 billion in December 2018, from Euro 126.3 billion in
December 2017, of which household deposits were Euro
110.0 billion and business deposits were equal to Euro 24.5
billion. Total deposits in the banking system (private sector
and General Government deposits) amounted to Euro 152.4
billion in December 2018, recording an annual increase

of 10.4%. The drivers leading to the increase of deposits

in the banking system were the acceleration of economic
expansion in 2018 and the strengthening of confidence in
the Greek economy, whereas the wider use of means of
electronic payments also contributed positively.

The outstanding amount of credit to the private sector
amounted to Euro 170.3 billion at the end of December
2018, compared to Euro 184.0 billion at the end of
December 2017. More specifically, credit to non-financial
corporations shows signs of gradual improvement, as new
loans disbursements recovered in 2018 compared to 2017
and 2016. This increase, however, was counterbalanced by
increased loan repayments, as a result of the banks’ efforts
to reduce their Non-Performing Exposures (NPEs ) stock. With
regard to household credit, the rate of change of consumer
and mortgage credit remain negative, showing, however,
signs of stabilization.

The progress made in 2018, regarding the non-performing
exposures (NPEs) management was significant, with the
NPEs amounting to Euro 84.7 billion at the end of September
2018, reduced by Euro 9.7 billion compared to December
2017 and by Euro 22.5 billion in March 2016, when the
highest NPEs level was recorded. The ratio of NPEs to
total exposures remains high not only overall (46.7% in
September 2018), but also per individual category (44,7%
for mortgages, 53% for consumer loans and 46,9% for
the business loans’ portfolio). The decrease of NPEs stock
in 2018, is mostly due to write-offs and loans sales (Euro
4.4 billion and Euro 5.2 billion respectively). Although the
NPE ratio is improving, it is still not adequate to lead to a
significant reduction of the NPEs stock.

The dependency of Greek Banks from the Emergency
Liquidity Assistance (ELA) mechanism was reduced further
in the period between January — November 2018. More
specifically, in November 2018, the total funding received by
the Greek Banks from the Eurosystem (ELA plus the funding

8 ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT



@ ALPHA BANK

BOARD OF DIRECTOR’S ANNUAL MANAGEMENT REPORT AS AT 31.12.2018

received directly by the European Central Bank) was equal to
Euro 12.2 billion, from Euro 33.7 billion in December 2017.
Secured borrowing from the interbank market contributed
positively to this development.

INTERNATIONAL ECONOMY

The steady economic expansion which was under way since
the second half of 2016 continued and in 2018. However,
the economic growth rates among countries were uneven,
while high growth rates were observed in some major
economies.

Financial conditions tightened, with rising long-term interest
rates, particularly in the United States, triggered repricing
across many asset markets and caused significant turbulence
in a few emerging-market economies. Higher and more
volatile oil prices added to the challenges for oil-importing
economies. Production in the United States and Russia hit
record levels, the continued uncertainty about potential
supply disruptions in some OPEC economies, particularly
Venezuela and Iran (who collectively account for around

4% of global supply) and expectations that demand growth
might slow, have resulted in considerable price volatility.

In 2018, the economic and political uncertainty elevated

in association with moves by the United States and China

to raise tariffs on bilateral trade. These tensions resulted
from United States tariff actions on several imported
products from China, caused retaliatory and other protective
measures by trading partners. Furthermore, economic
activity was negatively affected by tighter financial
conditions, geopolitical tensions and higher import bills.

According to the latest International Monetary Fund (IMF
World Economic Outlook Update, January 2019) forecasts,
global GDP growth was lowered at 3.7% in 2018 from 3.8%
in 2017 and is projected to weaken to 3.5% in 2019 and
slightly rise to 3.6% in 2020. In particular, growth in advanced
economies is estimated to have slightly slowed from 2.4% in
2017 t0 2.3% in 2018 and is projected to further slow to 2.0%
in 2019 and 1.7% in 2020. Furthermore, global trade volume
growth (goods plus services) is estimated to have decelerated
from 5.3% in 2017 to 4.0% in 2018 and is projected to
remain at 4.0% in 2019 and 2020 (IMF World Economic
Outlook Update, January 2019).

Risks to global growth outlook skew to the downside,
stemming from an escalation of trade tensions and
tightened financial conditions. Further moves by the United
States and China to raise barriers on bilateral trade would
hit output in these economies, with adverse effects on

global growth and trade. Although, the tariffs increase
between US-China have been put on hold for 90 days
since December 1st, 2018 the possibility of tensions
reappearing cannot be excluded. Adverse growth
implications also could be triggered from a “non-deal”
withdrawal of the United Kingdom from the European
Union and a higher-than-projected slowdown in China, is
another potential trigger. On the upside, a quick resolution
of trade tensions, or stronger structural policy ambition
around the world, could improve confidence and limit the
drag on investment.

Across emerging and developing economies, GDP growth
is estimated to have slightly fallen from 4.7% in 2017 to
4.6% in 2018 and for 2019 is projected to slow further

to 4.5%, due to contractions in Argentina and Turkey and
to the impact of trade actions on China and other Asian
economies. However, in 2020, GDP growth rate is expected
to improve to 4.9% (IMF World Economic Outlook Update,
January 2019). Inflationary pressures are easing as a
result of the fall in oil prices, although this easing for some
economies has been partially offset from the depreciation
of the currencies.

GDP growth in the United States, is estimated to have
risen from 2.2% in 2017 to 2.9% in 2018. Tax reforms,
higher government spending, elevated confidence and
the strong labour market continue to support domestic
demand. In 2019, GDP growth is projected to fall to 2.5%
and further decline to 1.8% in 2020 as the fiscal stimulus
will unwind. The US Federal Reserve signaled a more
gradual pace of rate hikes in 2019 and 2020, though

it raised the target range for the federal funds rate to
2.25%-2.50% in December 2018.

GDP growth in China is estimated to have moderated
from 6.9% in 2017 to 6.6% in 2018 and is projected to
ease at 6.2% in 2019 and in 2020, due to the financial
requlatory tightening, demographic reason (the working-
age population is declining), the lower growth of external
demand and the trade tensions with the United States.

GDP growth in Japan is estimated to have decelerated to
0.9% in 2018, from 1.9% in 2017, as natural disasters
weighed on economic activity. In 2019, economic growth is
projected to rise at 1.1% as fiscal support will be provided
to the economy, including measures ahead of the planned
consumption tax rate increase from 8% to 10% in October
2019. For 2020, GDP growth rate is expected to moderate
to 0.5% following the implementation of the fiscal
measures, that will weigh on domestic demand.
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Eurozone

GDP growth in Eurozone is estimated to have decelerated in
201810 1.9% from 2.4% in 2017, due to slower global trade
growth, social tensions, EU budgetary-policy uncertainty

and lower car production in some member states. A further
deceleration of the economic growth is projected for 2019
to 1.3%, while a rise is forecast for 2020 to 1.6% (European
Commission, Winter 2019 Interim Forecast).

The European Central Bank (ECB) in March 2019 confirmed
that monetary policy would remain amply accommodative,
with no increase in policy rates until at least the end of
the current year, full reinvestment of maturing securities
purchased under the asset purchase programme (APP)
continuing well past the first rate increase, as well as a
new series of quarterly targeted longer-term refinancing
operations (TLTRO-III), starting in September 2019 and
ending in March 2021, each with a maturity of two years.
Lastly, ECB, in line with earlier communication, ended in
December 2018 its net asset purchases programme (APP).

Cyprus

GDP growth in Cyprus, remained strong in 2018 buoyed by
private consumption investment and exports. Unemployment
remained on a declining path while large fiscal primary
surpluses backed public debt to follow a downward move.
According to European Commission (Winter 2019 Interim
Forecast), GDP is expected to increase by 3.8% in 2018, from
4.2% in 2017, and become more domestic-demand driven.
Going forward, growth is projected to decelerate further to
3.3% and 2.7% in 2019 and 2020, respectively.

Harmonised annual HICP inflation marginally increased

at 0.8% in 2018 from 0.7% in 2017. Going forward, the
European Commission expects harmonised inflation to fall
marginally to 0.7% in 2019 and increase to 1.2% in 2020,
because of rising disposable income and lower oil prices.

Albeit, public debt increased to 105.0% of GDP in 2018 from
96.1% in 2017 due to banking supports measures related

to the liquidation of Cyprus Cooperative Bank (CCB), it is
projected to decline to 98.4% in 2019 and 91.0% in 2020.

Cyprus has maintained its export competitiveness,
although the current account deficit widened in 2018, as
strong domestic demand pushed up imports. Specifically,
the current account deficit, according to the European
Commission is anticipated to fall marginally from -8.4%
of GDPin 2017 to -8.2% in 2018 and increase at -9.3% in
2019 and -9.5% in 2020.

Romania

GDP growth in Romania is forecast to slow to 4.0% in

2018 from 7.0% in 2017 due to the weakening of private
consumption, because of high inflation mainly due to energy
prices and the fading out of the public policies impact on
disposable income. According to the European Commission
(Winter 2019 Interim Forecast) GDP is expected to grow by
3.8% in 2019 and by 3.6% in 2020.

The National Bank of Romania has tightened monetary
policy and liquidity management, in order to contain inflation
pressures.

Harmonised inflation increased to 4.1% in 2018 from 1.1%
in 2017. According to the European Commission, harmonized
inflation is projected to fall to 3.3% in 2019 and 3.1% in
2020 due to the weakening domestic demand.

The public debt to GDP ratio, according to the European
Commission is anticipated to remain stable at 35.1% in
2018 and rise to 35.9% in 2019 and 38.2% in 2020.

Lastly, the current account deficit is projected to gradually
increase from -3.1% of GDP in 2017 to -3.7% in 2018,
-4.2% in 2019 and -4.5% in 2020.

Albania

The increase of the economic activity has strengthened in
recent years, as Albania benefitted from the implementation
of reforms and from the economic expansion of its main
trading partners. In 2018 economic growth backed by the
good agricultural and hydroelectricity production. Private
consumption and external demand for commodities had also
a positive contribution. According to the European Commission
(Autumn 2018 Economic Forecast), GDP growth in Albania, is
expected to accelerate from 3.8% in 2017 to 4.1% in 2018
supported by private consumption and to decelerate to 3.9%
in 2019 and 2020, as a result of lower electricity production
and the completion of two large energy projects.

Albeit inflation remained stable at 2.0% in 2018, it is
anticipated to increase gradually at 2.6% in 2019 and 2.8%
in 2020.

Regarding public debt, the European Commission predicts
that it will decrease marginally in 2018 to 69.9% of GDP,
from 70.1% in 2017 and further decline to 67.6% in 2019
and 65.2% in 2020. Furthermore, the current account to GDP
ratio, is projected to decline from -14.8% in 2017 to -6.3%
in 2018 and slightly rise to -6.4% in 2019 and 2020.

United Kingdom
GDP growth in United Kingdom (UK), registered a modest
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increase 1.4% in 2018 - the weakest it has been since
2009- because of the heightened uncertainty over the UK’s
future trading relationship with the EU, which has negatively
impacted consumer and business confidence, as well as
spending. According to the European Commission (Winter
2019 Interim Forecast), GDP growth is expected to increase
around 1.3% in 2019 and 2020. The most important
uncertainty concerning this forecast is the possibility of UK
leaving the EU without an agreement, which would have a
large negative impact on growth, especially if it happens in a
disorderly manner and without a transition period.

ANALYSIS OF GROUP FINANCIAL INFORMATION “

0On 31.12.2018, the Alpha Bank Group’s total assets
amounted to € 61.0 billion increased by € 0.2 billion or 0.3%,
compared to 31.12.2017.

At the end of December 2018, the total Group Loans and
advances to customers, before allowance for impairment
losses, amounted to € 51.2 billion, decreased by € 3.2 billion
compared to 31.12.2017 (€ 54.4 billion).This decrease
resulted from the write offs of loans and advances to
customers, performed during the year, as well as from the
transfer of specific non-performing corporate loans and
unsecured retail loans, to assets held for sale.

Accumulated allowance for impairment losses remained
stable, amounting to € 11.0 billion, since the impact from
the implementation of International Financial Reporting
Standard 9 (IFRS 9) of € 1.4 billion and the credit losses of

€ 1.9 billion recognized during the year, were offset by write-
offs amounting to € 1.9 billion. These write-offs reflect the
absence of probability of substantial further receipts and the
transfer of accumulated impairment losses on the portfolios
classified as assets held for sale.

As a result, the balance of loans and advances to customers
after impairment stands at € 40.2 billion against €43.3
billionas at 31.12.2017.

In addition, during the year, the sale of part of the Bank’s
Non Performing and unsecured retail loans portfolio and Non
Performing corporate loans portfolio as well as the sale of
Non Performing corporate loans portfolio of its subsidiary
Alpha Bank Romania S.A., were completed. These portfolios
had been classified as “Held for sale” as of 31.12.2017.

2 According to European Securities and Markets Authority guidelines
(ESMA), the definitions and precise calculations of the ratios are
presented in the Appendix of the Annual Report.

The balance of Group’s investment securities stand

at € 7.0 billion, increased by € 1.1 billion compared to
31.12.2017 as a result of the investment in qualitative
international securities, which are acceptable as collateral
by the European Central Bank, in order to leverage the
lending capacity provided to the Bank, as well as the
reinvestments of funds from the maturity of treasury bills,
to Greek Government Bonds.

Due to customers, included in liabilities, amounted to
€38.7 billion increased compared to 31.12.2017 by € 3.8
billion or 11.0%, resulting to a loans and receivables before
allowance for impairment to deposits ratio of 132.3%. This
ratio is improved compared to 31.12.2017(155.8%), as a
result of the gradual deposit inflow during the year.

During the year, the Bank issued covered bonds of €0.5
billion offsetting the maturities and repayments of
common, subordinated and securitized bonds of €0.3
billion, increasing the balance of “Debt securities in issue
held by institutional investors and other borrowed funds”,
from €0.7 billion as at 31.12.2017 to € 0.9 billion as at
31.12.2018. In addition, during the year the Bank issued
securities of total nominal value € 2.2 billion, used as
collateral for financing activities.

The increase of deposits, bond issuance and sale and
repurchase agreements (repos), led to a decrease in the
Group's dependence on Eurosystem by € 6.8 billion, from
€10.2 billion to € 3.4 billion. Due to banks balance, which
amounted to € 10.5 billion, decreased by € 2.7 billion or
20.4% compared to 31.12.2017.

0On 31.12.2018, the Group’s Equity amounted to € 8.1
billion, decreased by € 1.5 billion compared to 31.12.2017,
reflecting the impact from the transition to IFRS 9 which
amounted to € 1.1 billion after tax. The Capital Adequacy
Ratio declined by 100 base units, standing at 17.4%

as at 31.12.2018, since the amount of deferred tax
recognized by the end of the year, exceeded the maximum
regulatory limit of 10% and was therefore removed from
requlatory capital. It is noted that during the year, the
Bank successfully completed the Stress Test, and based
on its results no capital deficit was found and therefore no
capital needs emerged.

Analyzing the financial performance of the year, Group’s
profit after tax amounted to € 53 million, increased by
€31.9 million compared to profit after tax for the year end
31.12.2017 amounted to € 21.1 million.

Group’s tax expense amounted to credit tax amount of
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€342.3 million against debit amount of € 75.6 million

for the year 2017, mainly due to the reassessment

of the temporary differences between the accounting

and tax base of loans and advances to customers. For

the aforementioned reassessment which took place at
31.12.2018, took into consideration the provisions of Law
4465/2017 and the interpretative circular of tax authority
issued in 2018 and resulted in the recognition of an
additional deferred tax asset of € 290 million.

The Group’s loss before tax amounted to € 289.4 million
against profit of amount € 165.1 million for 2017. The
aforementioned movement resulted mainly from the
increased impairment losses and provisions to cover
credit risk, which amounted to € 1,730.6 million against
€1,005.4 million and represent credit risk cost of 296
basis points (31.12.2017: 172 basis points). It is noted
that the increased impairment losses include the
impact of the action plan undertaken by the Bank in the
context of the updated targets for the reduction of Non-
Performing Exposures and Non-Performing Loans, which
were submitted to the Single Supervisory Mechanism in
September.

The net operating result (before impairments and income
tax) increased by 22.9% or € 268.9 million compared

to 2017. More specifically, total operating income
increased by 5.6% or € 138.2 million as a result mainly
of the increased profits from financial transactions and
impairments on Group’s entities amounted to € 462.8
million (against € 144.7 million in the comparable year)
reflecting the increased profits from the sales of Greek
Government Bonds.

Net interest income amounting to € 1,756 million against
€1,942.6 million, has been negatively affected by the
reduction of interest on loan portfolios derived from the
increased impairment losses recognized during 2018 and
from the implementation of IFRS 9 on 1.1.2018. However,
the aforementioned decrease was partially offset by the
positive impact of the reduction in borrowing from the
Eurosystem and the consequent reduction in borrowing
cost.

Net fee and commission income amounted to € 335.2
million against € 323.5 million compared to prior year,
presenting an increase of 3.6%, positively affected mainly
by the increase of credit cards commission income derived
by the increased volume of transactions.

The total operating expenses before impairment losses and

provisions to cover credit risk amounted to € 1,162.4 million
against € 1,293.0 million, which represents a decrease

of 10.1% or € 130.7 million. In particular, personnel fees
increased by € 0.9 million, from €474.4 million to €475.3
million, positively affected by the Bank's staff reduction of
556 employees (mainly through staff separation scheme),
which was however offset by the provision for cost for
incentives, based on profitability and sales, as well as the
net inflows of executives to specific subsidiaries.

In addition, the general administrative expenses decreased
by € 22.6 million, from € 555 million to € 532.4 million,
mainly due to the decrease of specific costs of collection
companies, due to the implementation of IFRS 9. Other
expenses decreased by € 18.6 million or 26.1%, as a result
of the decreased impairment of Group’s assets (€47.4
million in 2018 against € 79.0in 2017).

As a result of the above, cost to income ratio, excluding

the gains less losses on financial transactions and
impairments on Group entities and other non- recurring
expenses, increased by 3.5% compared to the previous year
(31.12.2018:51.0%, 31.12.2017:47.5%).

Other information

Since in 2017 there were no distributable profits, the Bank’s
Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders on 29.6.2018,
decided the non-distribution of dividend to ordinary
shareholders of the Bank, in accordance with article 44a of
Codified Law 2190/1920.

Bank’s branches as at 31.12.2018 were 432, out of which
431 established in Greece and 1 established in United
Kingdom (London).

Risk Managemet

The Group has established a framework of thorough and
discreet management of all kinds of risks, based on best
practices, the supervisory requirements. This framework is
based on the common European legislation and the current
system of common banking rules, principles and standards,
is improving continuously over the time in order to be
applied in a coherent and effective way in a daily conduct of
the Bank’s activities within and across the borders making
effective the corporate governance of the Bank.

The main objective of the Group during 2018 was to
maintain the high quality internal corporate governance and
compliance within the regulatory and supervisory provisions
risk management in order to ensure the confidence in the
conduct of its business activities through sound provision of

12 ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT



@ ALPHA BANK

BOARD OF DIRECTOR’S ANNUAL MANAGEMENT REPORT AS AT 31.12.2018

suitable financial services.

Since November 2014, the Group falls within the

Single Supervisory Mechanism (SSM) -the new financial
supervision system which involves the European Central
Bank (ECB) and the Bank of Greece - and as a major banking
institution is directly supervised by the European Central
Bank (ECB). The Single Supervisory Mechanism is working
with the European Banking Authority (EBA), the European
Parliament, the Eurogroup, the European Commission

and the European Systemic Risk Board (ESRB) within their
respective competences.

Moreover, since January 1st, 2014, EU Directive 2013/36/
EU of the European Parliament and of the Council dated
June 26, 2013 along with the EU Regulation 575/2013/EU
dated June 26, 2013 (“CRD IV") are effective. The Directive
and the Regulation gradually introduce the new capital
adequacy framework (Basel Ill) of credit institutions.

In this new reqgulatory and supervisory risk management
framework, Alpha Bank Group strengths its internal
governance and its risk management strategy and
redefining its business model in order to achieve full
compliance within the increased regulatory requirements
and the extensive guidelines. The latest ones are related to
the governance of data risks, the collection of such data and
their integration in the required reports of the management
and supervisory authorities.

The Group’s new approach constitutes of a solid foundation
for the continuous redefinition of Risk Management
strategy through (a) the determination of the extent to
which the Bank is willing to undertake risks (risk appetite),
(b) the assessment of potential impacts of activities in the
development strategy by defining the risk management
limits, so that the relevant decisions to combine the
anticipated profitability with the potential losses and

(c) the development of appropriate procedures for the
implementation of this strategy through a mechanism
which allocates the risk management responsibilities
between the Bank units.

More specifically, the Group taking into account the nature,
the scale and the complexity of its activities and risk
profile, develops a risk management strategy based on the
following three lines of defense, which are the key factors
for its efficient operation:
Development Units of banking and trading arrangements
(host functions and handling customer requests,
promotion and marketing of banking products to

the public (credits, deposit products and investment
facilities), and generally conduct transactions (front
line), which are functionally separated from the requests
approval units, confirmation, accounting and settlement.

They constitute the first line of defense and ‘ownership’
of risk, which recognizes and manages risks that will
arise in the course of banking business.

Management and control risk and regulatory compliance
Units, which are separated between themselves and also
from the first line of defense.

They constitute the second line of defense and their
function is complementary in conducting banking
business of the first line of defense in order to ensure
the objectivity in decision-making process, to measure
the effectiveness of these decisions in terms of risk
conditions and to comply with the existing legislative
and institutional framewaork, by involving the internal
regulations and ethical standards as well as the total
view and evaluation of the total exposure of the Bank
and the Group to risk.

Internal Audit, that constitutes the 3rd line of defense.
Internal Audit is an independent function, reports to the
Audit Committee of the Board of Directors and audits the
activities of the Bank and the Group, including the Risk
Management function.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from the potential weakness of borrowers’
or counterparties’ to repay their debts as they arise from
their loan obligations to the Group.

The primary objective of the Group’s strategy for the credit
risk management in order to achieve the maximization of the
adjusted relative to the performance risk is the continuous,
timely and systematic monitoring of the loan portfolio and
the maintenance of the credit risks within the framework of
acceptable overall risk limits. At the same time, the conduct
of daily business within a clearly defined framework of
granting credit is ensured.

The framewaork of the Group’s credit risk management is
developed based on a series of credit policy procedures,
systems and measurement models by monitoring and
auditing models of credit risk which are subject to an
ongoing review process. This happens in order to ensure

full compliance with the new institutional and requlatory
framework as well as the international best practices and
their adaptation to the requirements of respective economic
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conditions and to the nature and extent of the Group’s
business.

In 2017, in the context of the Bank’s and subsidiaries’
compliance with the new International Financial Reporting
Standard (IFRS) 9, the Group carried out additional work
on the development of statistical models, the updating of
risk policies and methodologies and the development of
appropriate IT infrastructures.

Under this perspective and with main scope to further
strengthen and improve the credit risk management
framewaork in 2018, the following actions have been
performed:

Update of Credit Policy Manuals for Wholesale Banking
and Retail Banking in Greece and abroad, taking into
account both regarding the International Financial
Reporting Standard (IFRS) S, so as to ensure their proper
and effective operation, and the supervisory guidelines
for credit risk management issues.

Implementation of the Group Loan Collateral Policy that
includes the framework of the basic principles, the rules
and the criteria governing the process of initial valuation
and revaluation of the value of all types of collateral

of the Bank loan portfolio and the portfolio of Group
Companies.

Implementation of a unified Group Credit Control
Framewaork for Wholesale and Retail Banking credit
facilities, that defines the type, methodology and content
of the credit controls conducted by the Risk Management
Unit for Retail Banking, Wholesale Banking and Private
and Investment Banking credit facilities for the Bank and
the Group Companies in Greece and abroad. At the same
time, second line of defense control mechanisms have
been strengthened to ensure compliance with Credit Risks
Policies at Bank and Group level.

Ongoing validation of the risk models in order to ensure
their accuracy, reliability, stability and predictive power.

Alignment of the credit risk rating systems of Greece
and all Group Subsidiaries abroad based on the
requirements of the new International Financial
Reporting Standard 9 (IFRS 9).

Implementation of Impairment Calculation system
based on the requirements of the new International
Financial Reporting Standard 9 (IFRS 9).

Development of the necessary policies, procedures and
models for the adoption of the International Financial
Reporting Standard (IFRS) 9 at Group level.

Updating the Group Loan Impairment Policy, in
compliance with the new evolving institutional and
supervisory requirements for prudential supervision,
according to the International Financial Reporting
Standard (IFRS) 9 requirements.

Design and implement initiatives in order to enhance

the level of automation, accuracy, comprehensiveness,
quality, reconciliation and validation of data, as part of
the Bank’s strategic objective to a holistic approach for
the development of an effective data aggregation and
reporting framework, in line with BCBS 239 requirements.

The implementation of the mechanism for the submission
of the analytical credit data, the credit risk data, the

data of the counterparties for legal entities financing,

the governance structure, the operational model and

the quality control framework in order to meet the
requirements for the monthly submission of analytical
credit risk data according to the European Union
regulation 2016/867 and the Bank of Greece Governor's
Act 2677/19.5.2017 (AnaCredit).

Implementation of an automated Early Warning
Mechanism, according the Group’s Early Warning Policy.
More specifically, these procedures and actions are
defined to identify borrowers or parts of the loan portfolio
in time, with probability of non-serving the Group’s debts,
so that targeted actions at the borrower level and / or
portfolios by country where the Group operates.

Updating of Environmental and Social Risk Policy. During
the credit approval process, supplementary to the credit
risk assessment, the strict compliance of the principles of
an environmentally and socially responsible credit facility
is also examined.

Systematic estimation and assessment of credit risk per
counterparty and per sector of economic activity.

Periodic stress test exercises as a tool for assessing the
impact of various macroeconomic scenarios on business
strategy formulation, business decisions and the Group’s
capital position. Crisis simulation exercises are conducted
in accordance with the requirements of the supervisory
framework and constitute a key component of the Group’s
credit risk management strategy.

Additionally, the following actions are in progress in order
to enhance and develop the internal system of credit risk
management:

Continuous upgrade of databases for performing
statistical tests in the Group’s credit risk rating models.
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Upgrade and automation of the aforementioned process
in relation to the Wholesale and Retail banking by using
specialized statistical software.

Gradual implementation of an automatic interface of the
credit risk rating systems with the central systems (core
banking systems I-flex) for all Group companies abroad.

Reinforcing the completeness and quality control
mechanism of crucial fields of Wholesale and Retail
Credit for monitoring, measuring and controlling of the
credit risk.

Update of the validation framework for credit risk models
with discrete statistical measures by model type.

Update of the framework and policies for the
management of overdue and non-performing loans, in
addition to the existing obligations, which arise from

the Commission Implementing Regulation 2015/227 of
January 9, 2015 of the European Committee for amending
Executive Committee Act (EU) No. 680/2014 of the
Committee for establishing executive technical standards
regarding the submission of supervisory reports by
institutions. The framework of supervisory commitments
for the management of overdue and non-performing
loans from credit institutions is determined from the
regulation (EU) No. 575/2013 of the European Parliament
and the Council and Executive Committee Act of Bank of
Greece 42/30.5.2014 and the amendment of this with the
Executive Committee Acts 47/9.2.2015, 102/30.8.2016,
134/5.3.2018 and 136/2.4.2018 which define.

This framework develops based on the following pillars:

a. the establishment of an independent operation
management for the “Troubled assets” (Troubled Asset
Committee). This is achieved by the representation of the
Administrative Bodies in the Evaluation and Monitoring of
Denounced Customers Committee as well as in the Arrears
Councils,

b. the establishment of a separate management strategy for
these loans, and

c. the improvement of IT systems and processes in order to
comply with the required periodic reporting to management
and supervisory mechanisms.

Liquidity and interest rate risk of banking portfolio

During 2018 capital controls in the Greek banking system,
which were imposed for the first time in June 29th, 2015,

remains, resulting to the reduction of capital sources from
the banking system. However, since October 1, 2018, cash

withdrawals from institutions in Greece are permitted
without limitation. The deposit gathering campaigns
during the year by offering new improved products has led
to an increase of customer deposits both at Bank and at
Group level by the end of the year Thus, on 31.12.2018
Bank’s customer deposits increased by € 3.24 billion,
almost 10.7% compared to 31.12.2017, whereas during
the respective period, the customer deposits in the Greek
banking system were increased by 6.4%. Respectively,
Group’s customer deposits increased by 11.0% (€ 3.84
billion) mainly due to inflow of deposits in Alpha Bank
Romania. The above amounts include Greek Government
deposits, which increased from null as of 31.12.2017 to
€1.3billionon 31.12.2018.

In 2018, the improvement of the economic climate as well
as the restoration of confidence in the Greek economy
was reflected in interbank transactions. Specifically, an
increase of € 3.2 billion in Group’s sale and repurchase
agreements (both repos and reverse repos transactions)
was evident. In addition, in 2018 there was an increase in
the investment securities portfolio due to the purchase of
securities amounting to € 1.0 billion.

During 2018, the Bank completed successfully three
Covered Bonds issuances of total amount € 2.55 billion.
Two out of three issues (amounting to € 2.05 billion) were
placed in securities repurchase agreements providing
funding of € 1.6 billion to the Bank, while the third issue of
€0.5 billion was sold to third parties.

In addition, within the year the Bank disposed successfully
portfolios of Non-Performing Loans, with a total
outstanding principal of more than Euro 4.2 billion,
through the Venus, Mercury and Jupiter transactions.

As a result, from the above developments on 31.12.2018
Bank’s financing from the Eurosystem decreased by 67%
from 31.12.2017 reaching the level of € 3.4 billion, of
which € 0.3 billion came from the emergency funding
mechanism of Bank of Greece (ELA). At the same time,
the Eurosystem's Long-term Banking Loan (TLTRO-II) was
maintained at € 3.1 billion, despite the return of the waiver
for the Greek government securities on 21.8.2018 by the
European Central Bank. The Greek government securities
were placed in the repurchase agreement. In 2018, the
ECB Governing Council decreased the maximum limit of
Emergency Liquidity Assistance (ELA) to the Greek banking
sector by € 20.8 billion, from € 24.8 billion to € 4.0 billion.

During 2018, the Bank reviewed, in the context of Pillar Il
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requirements, both Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment
Process (ICAAP) and Internal Liquidity Adequacy
Assessment Process (ILAAP). Furthermore, in the second
semester of 2018, the Bank reviewed the policies and
procedures of the Recovery Plan along with the policies
and procedures of the liquidity stress test scenarios. At the
same time, all the Bank Subsidiaries have reviewed both
Contingency Funding Plans and Recovery Plans.

The interbank financing (short, medium to long-term) and
the Early Wamning Indicators of the Bank and of Group’s
subsidiaries are monitored on a daily basis with reports and
checks in order to capture daily variations.

Due to the criticality of the Greek economy, stress tests are
incurred frequently for liquidity purposes in order to assess
potential outflows (contractual or contingent). The purpose
of this process is to determine the level of the immediate
liquidity, which is available in order to cover the Bank’s
needs. These exercises are carried out in accordance with
the approved Liquidity Buffer and Liquidity Stress Scenario
of Group’s policy.

During 2018, the interest rate risk of the banking portfolio
remained at low levels without noticing any exceeding
limits. Interest Rate Risk total limit in terms of Risk Appetite
& Capacity has been updated while an additional buffer
has been approved in order that Bank does not realize limit
breach in case of high market volatility. Furthermore, total
IRBBB Economic Value Group Limit has been allocated to
Subsidiaries, in terms of Risk Appetite and Risk Capacity.

During the year, the new IFRS 9 Chart of Accounts has
been finalized in Sendero Asset-Liability application
differentiating Loans at Amortized Cost & Fair Value
through P&L. Additionally, loans credit risk is presented
based on IFRS9 requirements (i.e. Stage 1, Stage 2 &
Stage 3) while loans portfolio products are analyzed
based on Rate flag & Repricing Index. Consequently,
liquidity & repricing conventions of non-maturing assets-
liabilities have been updated, in cooperation with ALM
Division. Moreover, the project concerning the update
of Sendero system database with the risk parameters
which are necessary for the loans & deposits fair value
calculation has been completed in cooperation with IT
department.

Banking portfolio net interest income & fair value are
estimated based on EBA “Guidelines on the management
of interest rate risk arising from non-trading activities”
(February 2018) with the aim of monitoring the short and

medium to long term interest rate risk in terms of Earmning
at Risk (EaR) and Economic Value of Equity (EVE).

Market, Foreign Currency and Counterparty Risk

The Group has developed a strong control environment
applying policies and procedures in accordance with the
regulatory framework and the international best practices
in order to meet business needs incurring market and
counterparty risk while limiting adverse impact on results
and equity. The framework of methodologies and systems
for the effective management of those risks is evolving

on a continuous basis in accordance with the changing
circumstances in the markets and in order to meet
customer requirements.

The valuation of bonds and derivative positions are
monitored on an ongoing basis. Each new position is
examined for its characteristics and an appropriate
valuation methodology is developed, in case it is required.
On a reqular basis stress tests are conducted in order to
assess the impact on the results and the equity, in the
markets where the Group operates.

A detailed structure for trading limits, investment

limits and counterparty limits have been adopted and
implemented. This structure involves regular monitoring
of trigger events in order to perform extra revisions. The
limit usage is monitored on an ongoing basis and any limit
breaches identified are reported officially.

For the mitigation of the market risk of the banking
portfolio, hedging relationships are applied using
derivatives and hedge effectiveness is tested on a regular
basis.

During 2018, market risk decreased due to the decrease
in the volatility in Greek Government Bond credit spreads.

It should be noted that during 2018, the market risk
internal model was audited by the SSM (Targeted Review
of Internal Models) regarding the procedure, the market
risk management framework and the capital requirement
calculation. According to the audit findings, the model was
considered adequate and there were no material findings
with impact on the market risk capital requirement
calculation. Furthermore, the implementation of the new
market risk system continues during the year.

Operational Risk

Operational Risk is defined as the risk of financial or
qualitative effects resulting from inadequate or failed
internal processes, IT systems, people (intentionally or
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unintentionally) and external events. Operational Risk
includes Legal Risk.

In the context of its Capital Calculation Process for
Operational Risk, the Group implements the Standardized
Approach, as it fulfills all qualitative criteria required for its
adoption.

In 2018, a project related to the establishment of an
Enterprise Fraud Detection and Prevention System has
been initiated. In addition, further progress has been made
towards the upgrading of Information and Communication
Technology (ICT) and Model Risk measurement and
assessment methodologies in response to the increased
regulatory focus on these Operational Risk categories.

The development of Key Risk Indicators (KRIs) as a control
monitoring mechanism has been continued during 2018
at Group level. Concurrently, the operational risk events
management processes have been further strengthened.

In line with the Group’s established Operational Risk
framework, the Risk and Control Self-Assessment (RCSA)
procedure was implemented across the Group. The RCSA
procedure aims to identify and assess risks that may affect
the operations and processes of the Banks’ Units/Group
Companies, recognize potential control gaps, as well as
design and implement action plans for their remediation.

During 2018 the initial risk assessment of the Group’s
outsourcing contracts has been performed. These risk
assessments will be performed on a periodic (annual) basis
going forward. The Assessment’s tools (questionnaires,
scoring templates) have been updated in order to
accommodate emerging risk areas (GDPR).

In addition, a methodology was developed to assess the
ICT Risk Profile of the Group. The first report is estimated to
be released in the first quarter of 2019.

The evolution of Operational Risk Events, the RCSA

results and all other Operational Risk related to the Group
topics, are closely monitored by the Group’s responsible
Operational Risk Committees, which are empowered to
monitor and review the Group’s Operational Risk exposures
and ensure that appropriate measures for their mitigation
are adopted.

Management Non Performing Exposures (NPEs)

As a result of the Greek financial crisis started in 2009, the
NPE/NPL levels increased across all business segments
resulting in the deterioration of the Bank’s loan portfolio.

However, in a challenging economic environment, the Bank

set as a paramount importance the effective management
of NPEs, as this will lead, not only to the improvement of
the Bank’s financial strength but also to the release of
funds towards households and productive business sectors
contributing to the development of the Greek economy in
general.

On the 30th of September 2016 the Bank submitted to the
Single Supervisory Mechanism (SSM) the NPE/NPL targets
along with the NPE Strategy Explanatory Note and the
relevant Action Plan, depicting the Bank’s full commitment
towards the active management and reduction of NPEs
over the business plan period 2016-2019. On the 29th of
September 2017 the Bank submitted the updated NPE/
NPL targets to the SSM including the review of the progress
made in reducing NPEs/NPLs against the first year’s targets,
as well as the key changes to the Bank’s strategy and
Business Plan regarding NPEs.

During the first two years of the Business Plan the Bank
managed to achieve its SSM reduction targets, despite

the non-conducive macroeconomic environment and the
presence of certain impediments in the resolution of NPEs.
More specifically, the balance of NPE of the Bank as of
31.12.2018 is lower by € 48 million compared to the target
included in the Plan.

On 30 September 2018, the Bank submitted a revised
Business Plan, including targets per asset class for the period
2018 — 2021 according to the latest request from SSM. The
Bank’s objective for the management of troubled assets is
to significantly reduce the Solo-level NPE volume at €8.0
billion, implying an NPE ratio of 20%, approximately by 2021
while curtailing new NPE/NPL formation and minimizing
medium term losses for the Bank.

The achievement of objectives is driven by the
implementation of initiatives concerning:

Governance, policies and operating model through
increased oversight and active involvement of the
Management and the BoD with clear roles and

accountabilities through the relevant Committees

Portfolio segmentation and analysis based on detailed
execution roadmaps within a strict and defined
segmentation framework under continuous review,
update and improvement

Establishment of new flexible restructuring products with
additional functionalities, which are based on debtors’
repayment ability and outlook aiming at long-term viable
restructurings
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Effective human resources management focusing
on know-how and training, which is further improved
through attracting specialized executives

Strategic joint venture initiatives:
- With Cepal for Retail exposures

- With Pillarstone (subsidiary of the international
private equity firm KKR) on the management of
selected large corporate non-performing exposures

- With doBank Hellas — in cooperation with the other
Greek systemic banks — an assignment agreement
had been signed for the management of Non
Performing SMEs exposures of approximately € 400
million over total SME’s exposures of the Greek
systemic Banks of € 1.8 billion approximately. The
aim of this common initiative of the 4 Greek systemic
banks is to tackle with SMEs NPEs, in cases where
the banks have common exposure, in coordination
and with a uniform credit policy as well as to provide
common solutions

The development and implementation of a uniform
management strateqgy for repossessed real estate
properties, aiming at:

- Monitoring the repossession procedure (asset
on-boarding) and its assignment to the Group’s
subsidiary Alpha Astika Akinita A.E. or to other
appropriate asset management agency

- Supervising and coordinating asset management and
development

- Supervising and coordinating asset commercialization

- Setting and monitoring appropriate Key Performance
Indicators (KPIs) for the asset management agencies
(internal units and external collaborators).

The successful implementation of the Bank’s NPE Strategy
is affected by a number of external/ systemic factors that
include — among others — the following:

Realization of a continuously improving macroeconomic
condition

Intensification of the electronic auctions to support
liquidations and serve as a credible enforcement threat
to non-cooperative borrowers

Acceleration of L.3869 court decisions — further
legislative changes that facilitate interbank cooperation
in managing cases within L. 3869 framework

New protection scheme on primary residences of
vulnerable households is under discussion

Improvements in management and transfer of NPLs
framewaork; significant transactions are now finalized
while conditions are steadily improving for a series of
portfolios to be transferred within the upcoming period

Realization of NPL Forum’s outcome for the resolution
of common large corporate cases and the cooperation
of the banks aiming at a joint management of SME’s
respectively

Out-of-Court Workout (OCW) recent enhancements are
expected to contribute in the non-performing business
loans resolution

Implementation of the revised legal protection framework
for Bank’s Staff, will further support towards the
acceleration of NPL sales and restructurings with debt
forgiveness

The Bank’s full commitment towards the active
management and reduction of NPEs over the Business

Plan period is reinforced through the constant review and
calibration of the Bank’s strategies, products, and processes
to the evolving macroeconomic environment.

Capital Adequacy

According to article 5 of Law 4303/17.10.2014 as amended
by article 4 of Law 4340/1.11.2015 "Recapitalization of
financial institutions and other provisions of the Ministry
of Finance" deferred tax assets that have been recognized
and are due to the debit difference arising from the PSI
and the accumulated provisions and other general losses
due to credit risk, which were accounted until 30.6.2015,
are converted into final and settled claims against the
Greek State. The abov mentioned are set into force in case
the accounting result for the period after taxes is a loss,
according to the audited and approved by the Ordinary
Shareholders' General Meeting financial statements.

In accordance with article 39 of CRR 575/2013,a risk weight
of 100% will be applied to the above mentioned deferred
tax assets that may be converted into tax credit, instead of
being deducted from regulatory capital.

0On 31.12.2018, the amount of deferred tax assets which
is eligible to the scope of the aforementioned Law for the
Bank and the Group and is included in Common Equity Tier
| amounts to € 3,241 million and constitutes 39.2%. of the
Group’s Common Equity Tier | and 6.8% of the respective
weighted assets.

Any change in the above framework that will result in the
non-recognition of deferred tax assets as a tax credit will
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have an adverse effect on the Bank's and Group's capital
adequacy.

Organizational Structure and Corporate
Governance

Since 2009 discrete units for the management of Retail
and Wholesale NPLs have been established which are
key pillars for the Bank. These independent Units report
directly to the Bank Deputy CEO Non-Performing Loans
and Treasury Management through the Executive General
Managers and the Heads of each division. Moreover, they
are responsible for all the areas which are related to the
exposure management — such as monitoring the portfolio
and the front line services.

Furthermore, the establishment of the Troubled Assets
Committee (TAC) with enhanced / expanded responsibilities
is a key pillar in the governance of NPEs management.

Due to the constant need of intense focus on NPE
management so as to meet the ambitious SSM targets,
the Bank has streamlined the monitoring functions and
the management of past due exposures. Dedicated teams
are in place within the Bank to monitor the evalution of a
wide range of NPL-related strategies and metrics within
the Bank’s NPE Strategy aiming at a significant reduction
of their distressed assets by the end of 2021 within a
challenging environment.

At the same time the Bank completed the setup of an
independed unit, through a specialized Alpha Bank Group
company, which will undertake the development and the
implementation of a uniform management strategy on
repossessed real estate properties.

Prospects for the future

The prospects of the Greek economy are positive for
2019. According to the Bank of Greece forecasts? the
annual growth rate of GDP is expected to accelerate
further to 2.3% in 2019 and 2.2% in 2020. Economic
recovery is expected to rely on exports, investment and
private consumption. Moreover, economic recovery is
expected to benefit from the further strengthening of
economic sentiment, private sector financing, and the rise
in disposable income. Household disposable income is
expected to rise, as a result of the increase in employment
and the gradual increase of wages. In addition, the boost
of private consumption that has been recorded since

3 Bank of Greece, Monetary Policy Interim Report, December 2018.

2017, is largely linked to the positive expectations, that
are supported by the expansionary fiscal policy measures,
embodied in the 2019 Budget.

The forecasts regarding the prospects of the Greek economy
however, also include a range of risks and challenges.

Regarding the internal developments, the excessive taxation,
the pause or the delay in implementing the agreed structural
reforms and the privatization program, may cause a
deterrent effect on the attraction of new investment funds.
Moreover, the international economic environment has
become less favorable and more volatile. The escalation

of tensions regarding the trade protectionism, the turmoil

in financial markets, as well as the possibility of the United
Kingdom leaving the European Union (Brexit) without an
agreed specific framework, may affect negatively the Greek
economy.

Furthermore, the Greek economy in the coming years has

to address specific challenges that were caused by the
long-term economic crisis. The main challenges are: the
high public debt to GDP ratio, the high unemployment rate,
especially the long-term unemployment rate, the migration
of high-skilled labour force, the management of the non-
performing exposures stock of the banking system, the
further improvement of competitiveness and the re-access
of the Greek State to the international financial markets.

It is noted that, despite the successful conclusion of the
economic adjustment program in August 2018, Greek
Government Bonds have not yet received investment grade,
whereas the yields remain relatively high. It is worth noting
however that in January 2019, the Greek State issued a new
five-year bond, raising Euro 2.5 billion from the international
financial markets.

In order for the growth rate to accelerate and the economy
to become intact to external risks, the Greek economy
needs to overcome the aforementioned challenges. The
following steps can contribute towards this direction: (i)
the use of a growth-friendly policy mix oriented towards
the full implementation of the public investment program
and the reduction of tax rates on capital and labor, (i) a
well-functioning public administration supportive to the
institutional framework will contribute positively to a stable
business environment and therefore to the attraction

of foreign direct investment and (iii) the introduction of
incentives for research and development that will enhance
entrepreneurship.

The Bank’s future results will be a function of, among other
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factors, its ability to implement the strategies for
managing non-performing loans, the developments
in the Greek economy, as they will largely define

the potential for positive developments in terms of
the management of non-performing loans and the
restoration of a sound liquidity profile for the Bank, as
well as the final form of the institutional initiatives to
deal with (ie first residence protection, Bank of Greece
proposal, HFSF proposal).

Transactions with related parties

According to the corresponding regulatory framework,
this report must include the main transactions with
related parties. All the transactions between related
parties, the Bank and the Group companies, are
performed in the ordinary course of business, conducted
according to market conditions and are authorized by
corresponding management personnel. There are no
other material transactions between related parties
beyond those described in the following paragraph.

i. Subsidiaries

(Amounts in thousand of Euro)

A. The outstanding balances of the Group transactions with
key management personnel which is composed by members

of the Board of Directors and the Executive Committee of

the Bank, as well as their close family members and the
companies relating to them, as well as the corresponding
results from those transactions are as follows:

(Amounts in thousand of Euro)

Loans and advances to customers 1,299
Due to customers 6,524
Employee defined benefit obligations 251
Letters of guarantee and approved limits 2,022
Interest and similar income 45
Fee and commission income 4
Interest expense and similar charges 193
Fees paid to key management and close family

members 3,716

B. The outstanding balances and the corresponding results
of the most significant transactions of the Bank with Group

companies are as follows:

Letters of guarantee

Name Assets Liabilities Income Expenses | and other guarantees
Banks

1. Alpha Bank London Ltd 15,603 2,212 303 332

2. Alpha Bank Cyprus Ltd 27,791 120,541 1,818 1,712 47,132

3. Alpha Bank Romania S.A. 636,026 173,851 2,867 2,453 292,843

4. Alpha Bank Albania SH.A. 37,250 74,082 2,357 778 21,587
Leasing

1. Alpha Leasing AE. 203,705 491 5,719 247 10,000

2. ABC Factors AE. 400,765 713 11,828 484 74,324
Investment Banking

1. Alpha Finance AEPE.Y. 283 10,989 1,499 525

2. Alpha AE. Investment Holdings 4,069 15 31

3. Alpha AE. Ventures Capital Management - AKES 591 36 12

4. Emporiki Ventures Capital Developed Markets Ltd 10,560

5. Emporiki Ventures Capital Emerging Markets Ltd 9,642
Asset Management

1. Alpha Asset Management AE.D.AK 2,518 32,398 10,526 330 18
Insurance

1. Alpha Insurance Agents AE. 1,970 1,280 10

2. Alphalife AAE.Z. 1,558 15,524 6,992 10,715
Real estate and hotel

1. Alpha Astika Akinita A.E. 283 75,294 913 6,780

2. Emporiki Development and Real Estate AE. 779 3

20 ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT




@ ALPHA BANK BOARD OF DIRECTOR’S ANNUAL MANAGEMENT REPORT AS AT 31.12.2018

Letters of guarantee

Name Assets Liabilities Income Expenses | and other guarantees
Real estate and hotel (continued)
3. Alpha Real Estate Bulgaria E.0.0.D. 22 68
4. Chardash Trading E.0.0.D. 439 5
5. Alpha Investment Property Attikis A.E. 32
6. Alpha Investment Property Attikis Il A.E. 3520 1
7. Stockfort Ltd 2,316 111
8. AGI-RRE Zeus SR.L. 1,152 215 1
9. AGI-RRE Poseidon S.R.L. 337 94
10. AGI-BRE Participations 2 E.0.0.D. 46 19
11. AGI-BRE Participations 2BGE.0.0.D. 8,837 309 15
12. AGI-BRE Participations 3 E.0.0.D. 97
13. AGI-BRE Participations 4 E.0.0.D. 639 (221)
14. APE Fixed Assets AE. 72
15.HT-1 E.0.0.D. 2 2)
16. SC Carmel Residential S.R.L. 224 118
17. AGI-RRE Cleopatra S.R.L. 227 112
18. AGI-RRE Hera SR.L. 540 27
19. Alpha Investment Property Neas Kifisias A.E.. 339 5
20. Alpha Investment Property Kallirois A.E. 481 1
21. Alpha Investment Property Livadias A.E. 807 13
22. Alpha Investment Property Kefalariou A.E. 66
23. Ashtrom Residents S.R.L. 165 129
24. Cubic Center Development S.A. 176 258 86
25. Alpha Investment Property Neas Erythreas AE. 2,973 331 40
26. Alpha Investment Property Chanion A.E. 303
27. AGI SRE Participations 1 DOO 27873 543 5,000
28. Alpha Investment Property Spaton AE. 901 34
29. TH TOP Hotels SRL (138)
30. Alpha Investment Property Kallithea AE. 1,386 1,356 36 (35)
31. AGI - RRE Participations 1 SRL 142
32. Romfelt Real Estate SA 22
33.SC Cordia Residence Srl 51
34. Alpha Investment Property IrakleiouA.E. 19
35. Alpha Investment Property Gl IAE. 23
Special purpose and holding entities
1. Alpha Credit Group Plc 896
2. Alpha Group Jersey Ltd 70 15,294 15,542
3. Alpha Group Investments Ltd 40,477 10
4. Alpha Real Estate Managements and Investments
SA. 337,962 17 1,847
5. lonian Equity Participations Ltd 2612
6. AGI - RRE Participations 1 Ltd 2,002 3
7. Alpha Group Ltd 2,700
8. Katanalotika Plc 1,096
9. Epihiro Plc 1,249
10. Irida Plc 430,067 135,142 34
11. Pisti 2010-1 Plc 142
12. Alpha Shipping Finance Ltd 4 247,055 6,768 19,368
13. Umera Ltd 414,749 34,359 6,716 (274) 843
14. AGI-RRE Poseidon Ltd 5,604 282
15. AGI-BRE Participations 4 Ltd 2,275 15
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Letters of guarantee
Name Assets Liabilities Income Expenses | and other guarantees
Special purpose and holding entities (continued)
16. AGI-RRE Artemis Ltd 1619 13
17. Zerelda Ltd 998
18. AGI-Cypre Ermis Ltd 935,500 21,529 20,149 1,966 702
19. AGI-Cypre Alaminos Ltd 20
20. AGI-Cypre Tochini Ltd 9 3
21. AGI-Cypre Mazotos Ltd 18
22. Alpha Proodos DAC 10 62,548 60 4,207
23. AGI-Cypre Evagoras Ltd 10
32. Asmita Gardens Srl 463
Other companies
1. Kafe Alpha AEE. 278 18 336
2. Alpha Supporting Services A.E 485 29,425 1,119 3,784
3. Real Car Rental AE. 331
4. Emporiki Management AE. 22 2,257 62
5. Alpha Bank Notification Services AE. 200 2,310 537 6,218
ii. Joint ventures
(Amounts in thousand of Euro)
Letters of guarantee
Name Assets Liabilities Income Expenses | and other guarantees
1. APE Commercial Property AE. 179 2 2
2.APE Investment Property AE. 7,890 1,012 10
3. Alpha TANEO AKES 140
4. Rosequeens Properties S.R.L. 7,665 806 1,180
5. APE Athens Commercial Stores S.A. 6,500
iii. Associates
(Amounts in thousand of Euro)
Letters of guarantee
Name Assets Liabilities Income Expenses | and other guarantees
1. AEDEP Thessalias and Stereas Ellados 292
2. Banking Information Systems AE. 277
3. Olganos AE. 757 9 (189)
4. Alpha Investment Property Eleona A.E. 53,075 30 841 372
5. Cepal Holdings AE 1921 12,197 35 16,384
6. Alpha Investment Property | AE. 13514 105 9
Total 3,212,472 1,536,134 87,624 79,111 468,323
C. Other related party transactions
The outstanding balances and the corresponding results are analyzed as follows:
(Amounts in thousand of Euro)
Assets Liabilities Income Expenses
Employees Supplementary Funds — TAP 7
Hellenic Financial Stability Fund — HFSF 10
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CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY - NON FINANCIAL REPORT

Alpha Bank’s Management oversees the Bank’s corporate
responsibility performance. In 2018 Bank Executives met
with members of the Senior Management, the Board of
Directors and the Audit Committee for the presentation and
discussion of the Bank’s actions on corporate responsibility
(e.g. materiality analysis, publication of Alpha Bank’s non-
financial information in line with the Greek legislation etc.).
In addition, Senior Management Executives, some of whom
also serve as members of the Board of Directors, assessed
the risks of non-financial issues for the responsible operation
of the Bank.

Alpha Bank Corporate Responsibility Policy

With a view to ensuring its sustainable development, Alpha
Bank is committed to operating responsibly, taking into
account the economic, social and environmental parameters
of its operation, both in Greece and in the other countries
where it is present. To this end, it promotes communication
and cooperation with all its Stakeholders.

In order to enhance social responsibility and integrate it
into the Group’s principles and values in the best possible
way, Alpha Bank applies the law and aligns its activity

with internationally recognised guidelines, principles and
initiatives on sustainable development, such as the OECD
Guidelines on Responsible Business Conduct, the Principal
Conventions of the International Labour Organisation (ILO),
and the United Nations’ Universal Declaration of Human
Rights (UDHR).

Alpha Bank’s organisation and operation follow the
best banking and business practices. They are governed by
principles such as integrity and honesty, impartiality and
independence, confidentiality and discretion, in line with
the Bank’s Code of Ethics and the principles of Corporate
Governance. Particular significance is attached to the
identification, measurement and management of the
undertaken risk, to the compliance with the applicable legal
and reqgulatory frameworks, to the transparency and to the
provision of full, accurate and truthful information to the
Bank’s Stakeholders.

The Bank’s primary goals are credibility, reliability and
efficiency in banking services. Its key concerns are to
continuously improve the products and services it offers
and to ensure that its Customers’ banking needs are

addressed in a modern and responsible manner. It examines
and incorporates non-financial criteria (on issues related to
the environment, society and corporate governance) in its
financing procedures, as well as in developing and placing
new products and services on the market.

Alpha Bank is responding with increased awareness to
matters concerning the protection of the environment and
the conservation of natural resources, and is committed to
addressing the direct and indirect impacts of its activities on
the environment.

Alpha Bank implements responsible policies with regard to
its Human Resources. In particular, the Bank:

Respects and defends the diversity of its Employees
(age, gender, ethnic origin, religion, disability/special
capabilities, sexual orientation etc.).

Ensures top-quality working conditions and opportunities
for advancement based on merit and equitable treatment,
free of discrimination.

Offers fair remuneration, based on contracts which are in
agreement with the corresponding national labour market
and ensures compliance with the respective national
regulations on minimum pay, working hours and the
granting of leave.

Defends human rights, recognises the right to union
membership and to collective bargaining, and opposes all
forms of child, forced or compulsory labour.

Treats all Employees with respect.

Provides Employees with continuous education and
training.

Ensures the health and safety of Employees at the
workplace and helps them balance their professional and
personal life.

The Bank’s activities are directly linked to the society and
the citizens. Therefore, Alpha Bank seeks to contribute to
the efforts to support the society and the citizens, giving
priority to culture, education, health and the protection of
the environment.

The Bank applies the Corporate Social Responsibility
principles across the entire range of its activities and seeks
to ensure that its suppliers and partners also comply with
the values and business principles that govern its operation.
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Business Model

The Business Model of Alpha Bank aims to create value for
its Stakeholders. Alpha Bank invests in its Employees, in its
network and infrastructures in order to develop and place

on the market high quality services and products. It also
works together with its Stakeholders in order to identify their
requirements in a timely manner, to ensure its responsible

operation and to support the society. Alpha Bank provides a
healthy work environment, in which its Employees broaden
their knowledge and skills and contribute to the development
of new products and services. Alpha Bank supports the

Greek economy, enhances its electronic services, offers
products and services with specific social and environmental
characteristics, and actively contributes to the society.

/\/I'I Financial Capital

i Use of financial capital for
investment in the Group’s
activities, including reserves
generated through equity,
Customers’ deposits and other
funding sources.

ﬁi Human Capital
Investment in Employees, their
management and personal
development, aiming at
improving and developing
Products and Services that meet
Clients’ needs.

GO Manufactured Capital
Investment in infrastructure used
to conduct the Group’s business
activities (e.q. Branches, ATMs,
information systems etc.).

Intellectual Capital

Investment in the development of
innovative Products and Services.

o)

qq Natural Capital Together

Use of natural resources, including
energy involved in the Group’s
operations.

Q, Social and Relationship
Capital
Cooperation with Stakeholders,
aiming at responsible operation
and support of society.

@ ALPHA BANK

Code of Ethics
, Principles and Obligations)
Activities
Retail and Enterprise Banking

Asset Management and Brokerage Services

Investment Banking and Treasury

Other Activities
(Real Estate Management, Hotels)

Corporate Responsibility Strategy

Together
for the with our
Market People

Together

Environment

Responsible Operation

/\/'I Financial Capital

Offering banking and investment
Products and Services;
supporting the Greek economy.

iﬁ Human Capital
Providing a healthy work
environment, Employees with
knowledge, skills and experience.

00 Manufactured Capital
Better infrastructure for Customer
service and the provision of Products
and Services.

Intellectual Capital
Strengthening advisory services;
extension of electronic services to
meet changing Customer needs.

=)

¢ Natural Capital

’ Integrating environmental
criteria in granting credit;
financing investment projects
with environmental benefits;
environmental product offering;
improving the Group’s energy
efficiency and reducing C02
emissions.

Together
for the for the
Society

Q) Social and Relationship
Capital
Network maintenance in
low-populated and economically
disadvantaged areas; offering
social contribution services;
social contribution and increase
in Employee volunteering.

Alpha Bank Business Model
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Corporate Responsibility Strategy

Alpha Bank has built its corporate responsibility strategy

in five pillars. The Bank’s strategy addresses business
ethics, anti-corruption and bribery, supply chain, responsible
products and services, customer care and satisfaction,
social and employee matters, respect for human rights and
environmental aspects.

1. Responsible Operations

Alpha Bank is one of the four systemic banks in Greece and,
as such, its economic performance has a broader effect on
the country’s economy. The Bank’s performance is of high
priority for its Management.

The Bank’s Corporate Governance, Risk Management and
Compliance functions are significant, for the assurance of
the implementation of best practices in the Bank’s business
activities, its management and the rules of conduct that
apply to its Executives and Employees, not only in their
interactions with each other, but also with Customers,
Shareholders and third parties. At the same time, they also
serve the same purpose within the Group, which the Bank has
created through its business growth in Greece and abroad.
Alpha Bank complies with the applicable legal and regulatory
frameworks at national as well as at European level and
regularly monitors and manages operational and market risk.

Alpha Bank has adopted a Corporate Governance Code and a
Code of Ethics. The Corporate Governance Code outlines the
framework and the guidelines for the Bank’s governance. It
also defines the duties and the allocation of responsibilities
between the Board of Directors, the Board Committees,

the Executive Committee and the other Committees of the
Bank. The Code of Ethics describes the Bank's commitments
and practices regarding its activities, its management

and the rules of conduct that apply to its Executives and
Employees not only in their interactions with each other but
also with business parties and with the Shareholders. The
application of the Code of Ethics and of the principles of
Corporate Governance, together with the operation of the
Board Committees, has allowed Alpha Bank to effectively
enhance the principles of integrity and transparency in its
operation and to ensure the optimal risk management.
More information on Alpha Bank’s Corporate Governance is
presented in the Corporate Governance Statement.

Fundamental Codes, Policies and Compliance
Regulations applied by Alpha Bank
Code of Ethics

Corporate Governance Code

Compliance Policy

Human Resources Policy and Procedures Manual
Operational Risk Management Policy

Fraud Risk Management Policy

Credit Risk Early Warning Policy

Group Credit Risk Management Policy

Group Market Risk Management Policy

Group Environmental and Social Risk Management Policy
on Legal Entities Lending

Group Loan Impairment Policy
Avoidance of Conflict of Interest Policy
Policy on Related Parties Transaction

Anti-Money Laundering and Combating the Financing of
Terrorism (AML/CFT) Policy Manual

Outsourcing Policy
Group Personal Data Protection Policy
Corporate Responsibility Policy

Policy and Procedure for the Provision of Financial
Assistance (sponsorships)

Group Environmental Management Policy
Whistleblowing Policy and Procedures

Since 2016, the Group has incorporated the «Environmental
and Social Risk Management Policy on Legal Entities
Lending» in the Group’s existing Credit Risk Management
Framework and the Group’s Credit Policy, thereby enhancing
the effective management of the environmental and

social dimension of financing. The Policy presents the
responsibilities and the approach followed in managing
environmental and social risk at every stage of the lending
process — from identifying the origin of credit risk to its
assessment, granting final approval and monitoring the
Group’s Wholesale Banking Customers. It also provides an
industry-specific Exclusion List (i.e. a list of sectors that the
Group does not finance), as well as a list of crucial industry
sectors/activities associated with environmental and social
risk.

The Group’s «Environmental and Social Risk Management
Policy on Legal Entities Lending» has different application
levels based on a) the environmental and social responsibility
risk category in which each Customer has been classified

and b) the type of financing. In all cases, specialised
questionnaires are used to retrieve a brief history of the
Customer. In specific cases, as identified by certain criteria,

an on-site inspection is conducted by a special adviser so
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as to identify, assess, mitigate and / or eliminate potential
environmental and social responsibility risks. In cases of new
financing arrangements for Project Finance investments, the
environmental and social responsibility risks are assessed
thoroughly by means of an on-site inspection.

The development of a comprehensive and effective Business
Continuity Management Framework by Alpha Bank ensures,
to the maximum extent possible, the protection of the health
and safety of Employees, the uninterrupted provision of
services to Customers and other Stakeholders (Shareholders,
business partners, suppliers, Regulatory and State Authorities
etc.) and the minimisation of the consequences (in terms of
operation, finances, legal issues and reputation) in case of an
unforeseen event which can affect its operation.

The high-level principles of the Business Continuity
Framework for credit institutions were introduced in 2006
by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision. Since then,
the relevant legal and regulatory frameworks are constantly
revised and further developed, in line with international
standards and, in particular, with the ISO 22301 Standard
(Business Continuity Management System), which lays
down the basic principles and the specifications for the
management of business continuity.

Finally, Alpha Bank’s procurement policy aims to ensure
delivery to the Bank’s internal network of services/materials
meeting the required standards, at optimal cost and within
schedule.

2. Together for the Market

The Bank’s strategy and operation are pivotal in developing
and providing quality products and services with consistency
and speed. Modern banking requires a modernised branch
network, alternative networks and electronic services,
facilitation of access to financial services for all and the
support of Customers, so that they can better cope with

the prevailing socio-economic conditions. A well-planned
strategy allows the Bank to keep improving its products and
services in terms of both quality and quantity, to address all
of Customers’ banking needs in a modern and responsible
manner and to ensure a linear day-to-day operation.

Alpha Bank offers products and services to support
households and business, responsible investment choices to
its Customers, and invests in large infrastructure projects and
projects that have a positive environmental impact.

Throughout its operation, the protection of the Customer’s
personal data is significant, given that corporate information
is a critical asset of the Bank, which attaches particular
importance to taking the appropriate measures to protect

this information during its entire life cycle (creation, use,
processing, storage and destruction).

Responsible reporting to Customers and Customer
satisfaction constitute the Bank’s primary goals, while
addressing all Customers’ banking needs in a modern
and responsible manner is the daily responsibility of its
Employees.

3. Together with our People

Alpha Bank’s Employees constitute its most valuable

asset and its comerstone, since the Bank’s growth and

the achievement of its goals largely depend on their
competence. Flexible, committed, united and with a strong
sense of responsibility, they successfully adapt to the ever-
changing circumstances. Additionally, employee training
and development is key to the achievement of the Bank’s
business goals to offer quality and upgraded services

as well as to the Employees’ personal development and
advancement.

Alpha Bank implements fair labor practices and policies
with regards to its Employees, following well established
international guidelines. It strives to build a positive work
environment where an encouraging employee experience
fosters a relationship of mutual trust and reciprocity.

Akey factor in increasing performance and enhancing
creativity and innovation at Alpha Bank is making the
best out of Employees with equal opportunities in terms
of development and advancement, based on uniform
qualification and competence evaluation procedures.

The Bank’s training ensures that the training needs of

the Personnel are covered, thus preventing any gaps or
weaknesses in connection with the human resources
employed. Training needs arise in connection with specific
knowledge areas, areas of experience or even personal skills,
manifesting themselves as behaviour in the workplace.
Through appropriate training programmes, the Training
Division addresses any weaknesses and further bolsters the
comparative strengths of the Bank’s Personnel professional
competence.

Health and safety at the workplace are significant for the
Bank and its Human Resources, as any illnesses, injuries or
other health issues may affect the work environment and the
Employees’ efficiency. The safety of Employees, in particular,
is a matter of the utmost importance in the banking sector.
Therefore, the Bank takes measures to ensure that the
workplace is suitable, to eliminate or reduce occupational risk
and to prevent any injuries.

26 ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT



@ ALPHA BANK

BOARD OF DIRECTOR’S ANNUAL MANAGEMENT REPORT AS AT 31.12.2018

The Bank is aware of the importance for its Employees to be
able to retain control of their personal data, and it reaffirms
its commitment to processing these data responsibly. In this
digital era, Alpha Bank is committed to protect and maintain
the security of its Employees personal data and strengthen
their trust.

4. Together for the Environment

Raising awareness on environmental issues and protecting
the environment are key priorities for the Bank. Alpha
Bank, fully aware of the consequences of climate change
and the way these consequences can affect every aspect
of human activity, develops and provides products that
allow investment in actions aimed at energy saving,

the development of renewable energy sources and the
modernization of production procedures by businesses
(including Small and Medium-sized Enterprises) as well as
corresponding initiatives by households. Additionally, the
Bank enhances the management of its financing operations’
environmental dimension, by incorporating new procedures
for the assessment of environmental risk in its Credit Risk
Management Framework.

Additionally, the Bank aims to reduce its environmental
footprint by promoting the rational use of lighting, heating
and cooling installations in its buildings, the use of
environment-friendly class A++ or higher energy efficiency
equipment as well as distance training, by implementing
initiatives for the efficient use of raw and other materials
and by applying the “reduce, reuse, recycle” principle in the
management of the waste produced.

Furthermore, the Bank organises, supports and participates in
environmental actions to cultivate the ecological conscience
of its Employees and their families and to improve the quality
of the environment.

In 2018, recognizing its responsibility to actively contribute

to prevent climate change, Alpha Bank reviewed its
Environmental Policy, to better capture its commitment
towards an environmentally responsible operation, and
developed environmental management procedures according
to the requirement of 1ISO 14001.

5. Together for the Society

To ensure the transparency of its social investments, the
Bank applies an internal evaluation system, according to
which all proposals are assessed using objective performance
evaluation criteria (economic, social and environmental)

and are approved or rejected depending on the evaluation
result. To assist the evaluation procedure of the sponsorship

requests received, a relevant Sponsoring Manual has been
drawn up. This Manual was updated in 2016, was expanded
with additional topics and is currently available on the Alpha
Bank Intranet as the Bank’s “Policy and Procedure for the
Provision of Financial Assistance (Sponsorships)”.

Alpha Bank continues to invest in activities and initiatives
that support education, culture, healthcare and the
environment.

In addition, the Bank’s Personnel continues to take

active part in blood donation and social solidarity and
environmental events organised in cities where the Bank is
present. Employees are informed about the opportunities
to participate in various social and environmental events by
means of relevant announcements published on the Alpha
Bank Intranet, which includes a special section on matters
related to the Bank’s corporate responsibility.

Risk Analysis

In 2018, Alpha Bank enhanced its process and approach
for the identification and mapping of the most material
issues for its responsible operation (materiality analysis).
Stakeholders and Senior Management Executives were
involved in the process, in accordance with best practices.

Aiming to advance the process, the Bank adopted a risk
management approach for the analysis of priorities by the
Senior Management. The methodology followed was in line
with the existing risk management methodologies and tools
used by Alpha Bank. Eight Senior Management Executives
(i.e. Deputy CEQs, General Managers and Executive General
Managers), some of whom also serve as members of the
Board of Directors, assessed the likelihood of occurrence of
known and potential impacts / risks within the next two years
as well as their severity on the Bank, the society, the economy
and the environment.

Furthermore, Alpha Bank organised focus groups / workshops
with representatives from each Stakeholder group (i.e.
Analysts and Investors, Business Community, Employees,
Media, Customers, Suppliers, Societies — Associations and
other Organisations, Local Communities, the State and
Regulatory Authorities) to collect and evaluate qualitative
data.

The issues that emerged are presented in detail in Alpha
Bank’s Corporate Responsibility Report 2018.

In the following pages the primary potential risks for the five
areas specified by the Greek Law 4548/2018 and the General
Commercial Registry’s Circular 62784/2017 are presented
along with an outline of Alpha Bank’s management approach.
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ENVIRONMENT

Potential Risks

Alpha Bank’s Management

Inability to integrate environmental criteria into the design
of new products and services (e.g. products with positive
environmental impacts), offer of environmentally responsible
investments, participation in the financing of projects with
positive effects on the environment.

Failure to assess environmental risks in customer and project
finance, including inadequate monitoring of risk management
during the implementation of the financed projects. Refraining
to address risks presented by climate change to businesses,
such as the impact of more extreme weather events.

Increased energy use (e.g. from bank branches, buildings and
data centres and consumption during transport and distribution
of mail, information material, employee transportation etc.).

Increased environmental footprint (e.g. paper consumption,
water consumption, insufficient management of hazardous
waste).

Alpha Bank develops and provides banking products with positive
environmental impacts. It offers thematic investments with a
positive direct or indirect impact on humanity and the environment
(Socially Responsible Investing - SRI) as well as on mutual fund
choices that also take into account social responsibility and
corporate governance with regards to the underlying assets

under management (Environmental, Social and Governance - ESG
criteria).

The Bank’s specialised Project Finance Unit works on securing
financing for investments in renewable energy sources and waste
management projects. In order to assess these investments,
project teams collaborate with specialised technical advisors

on the projects’ environmental due diligence. Following the
disbursement of credit, adherence to environmental terms and
commitments is obligatory, throughout the long duration of the
said financings.

Additionally, Alpha Bank manages the environmental dimension of
financing through its "Environmental and Social Risk Management
Policy on Legal Entities Lending". The Policy serves as a brief
declaration of the Bank’s commitment to sustainable finance,
including the effective management of the environmental and
social dimension of its financing activities.

All obligors-legal entities are evaluated, assessed and reviewed
against the possible environmental risks in each stage of the
Group’s corporate credit procedure.

Alpha Bank monitors its environmental impacts related to

its operation and takes actions to reduce energy and water
consumption. The revised Environmental Policy and new
procedures according to the requirement of 1SO 14001 will
improve the management of these issues. It should be noted
that, through these procedures, the Bank identifies and assesses
known and potential environmental risks and opportunities in a
more formal and detailed manner. More information on risks and
opportunities associated with climate change are reported on the
CDP platform, which has been aligned with the recommendations
of the Financial Stability Board’s Task Force on Climate-related
Financial Disclosures (TCFD).
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SOCIAL AND EMPLOYEE MATTERS

Potential Risks

Alpha Bank’s Management

Insufficient human resources management (e.q. resulting

in high Employee turnover, insufficient incentives for new
Employees, unsatisfied and insecure Employees / trade
unions, Employees without a common vision / culture, limited
cooperation between Employees etc.).

Implementation of unfair labour practices (e.g. resulting

in incidents of racial, religious and political racism in the
workplace, unequal treatment of men and women, lack of job
opportunities for people with disabilities, inefficient complaint
handling mechanisms for labour practices etc.).

Insufficient health and safety management at the workplace
(e.g. resulting in injuries of Employees / contractors at work,
lost days of work, breaches of regulations governing workplace
health and safety, lack of Emergency Plans in the Bank's
buildings and branches etc.).

Failure to manage impacts on society and local communities
(e.g. failure to support local economy, reduce awareness of
local communities' needs and dynamics, failure to monitor and
reporting Bank's indirect impacts to society etc.).

Unable to provide social contribution, promote and support
Employee efforts to improve environmental and social
practices.

Inability to integrate social criteria into the design of new

to participate in the financing of projects with positive impacts
on society.

Failure to assess social risks in customer and project finance.

products and services, to offer socially responsible investments,

As stated in its Corporate Responsibility Policy, the Bank respects
and defends the diversity of its Employees and treats all
Employees with respect. It ensures top-quality work conditions
and opportunities for advancement that are based on merit

and equitable treatment, offers fair remuneration and provides
Employees with continuous education and training.

Alpha Bank has established a weekly “Communication Day”. On
this day, any Employee who wishes to do so, can meet the Manager
of the Human Resources Division to discuss any work-related or
personal matter, while similar meetings are also held between
Officers of the Human Resources Division and Employees.
Employees, Customers and suppliers may report through the Bank'’s
whistleblowing mechanism any irregularities, omissions or offences
that came to their attention, such as serious violation of policies
and procedures, acts that arguably offend the code of ethical
practice of the Bank and the Group Companies, acts that endanger
the safety of an Employee etc. Disputes of a labour relations
nature are addressed in accordance with the provisions of the
Personnel Regulation of the Bank.

With regards to the health and safety of its Employees, the Bank
not only complies with the laws in force, but also ensures the
provision of additional benefits and programmes such as training
programmes related to robbery incidents, hostage-taking, fire
safety, earthquake and building evacuation etc.

Alpha Bank continually supports society and local communities
through activities and initiatives that support education, culture,
healthcare and the environment. The Bank promotes corporate
social responsibility and the concept of voluntarism by raising

the awareness of Employees and by increasing the number of

the relevant programmes and initiatives. Furthermore, the Bank
provides humanitarian assistance to people affected by floods,
earthquakes or other natural disasters, offering clothes and long-
life food supplies.

Alpha Bank provides banking and investment products and
services with positive social impacts, along with the coordination
of internal and external (Customer) events focused on the merits
of ESG investing. The Bank’s Project Finance Unit works on securing
financing for investments in large infrastructure projects aiming at
benefiting society.

The Bank manages the social dimension of financing through

its "Environmental and Social Risk Management Policy on Legal
Entities Lending".
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HUMAN RIGHTS

Potential Risks

Alpha Bank’s Management

Violations of human rights (e.g. freedom of association,
collective bargaining, forced or compulsory labour, child labour
etc.).

Inefficient complaint handling mechanisms for human rights
issues.

Alpha Bank through its Corporate Responsibility Policy outlines

its approach and commitment on human rights management.
The Bank ensures its full alignment with the applicable laws and
takes into account the fundamental principles of the Universal
Declaration of Human Rights and the Conventions of the
International Labour Organisation.

The Bank respects human rights, recognises the right to union
membership and collective bargaining and opposes all forms of
child, forced or compulsory labour. Collective bargaining and union
membership rights are protected by national and international
legislation.

It should be noted that all reqular Employees of the Bank are
covered by the Sector Collective Bargaining Agreements and the
Collective Agreements at Bank level.

Employees, Customers and suppliers may report through the
Bank’s whistleblowing mechanism any violations that came to their
attention.

ANTI-CORRUPTION AND BRIBERY

Potential Risks

Alpha Bank’s Management

Corruption / bribery / fraud incidents within the Bank or involving
other entities (e.g. suppliers, distributors etc.) that are doing
business with the Bank.

Legal actions / fines against the Bank.

Lack of or ineffective operation of anonymous reporting
mechanisms (whistleblowing).

Lack of or ineffective operation of grievance mechanisms
regarding incidents of bribery, corruption and fraud etc.

Alpha Bank conducts audits of transactions and Customers for
compliance with the regulatory framewark, aimed at combating
money laundering, financial crime and fraud, using the specialised
control and reporting systems it has put in place and working
closely with the competent Regulatory Authorities. In line with its
firm and unwavering position against corruption, the Bank has
established a system of relevant policies (on the Prevention of
Conflict of Interests, Related Parties Transactions, Whistleblowing)
and examines all cases which could present a risk associated with
corruption and bribery.

Training programmes on anti-money laundering and anti-corruption
policies and procedures are carried out by Bank Employees.
Additionally, the Bank has established the position of Anti-Money
Laundering (AML) Officer in each one of its Branches. These Branch
AML Officers are provided with adequate training on AML and anti-
corruption policies and procedures as well as with daily telephone
support to ensure that they are able to identify and handle such
incidents.

Employees, Customers and suppliers who become aware of serious
irreqularities, omissions or offences, may report them in accordance
with the Bank’s Whistleblowing Policy and Procedures.
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SUPPLY CHAIN

Potential Risks

Alpha Bank’s Management

Doing business with suppliers that fail to respect labour
practices criteria, human and labour rights, with negative impact
on society and/or the environment.

Alpha Bank has identified the Corporate Social Responsibility
principles that should be applied by the Bank, its suppliers and
partners in its Corporate Responsibility Policy. All suppliers are
expected to comply with this Policy and operate responsibly.
When evaluating suppliers’ performance, the Bank assesses
whether they have had their management systems certified
according to international standards such as ISO 9001, ISO 18001
and IS0 14001.

The effective management of all types of risk focuses on
accurate and efficient measurement using specialized methods
and calculation models, and on the adoption of policies and
limits through which the Bank’s exposure to various risks is
monitored. In this context, it should be noted that Alpha Bank
has a special Risk Management Business Unit, which reports

to the General Manager - Chief Risk Officer of the Group, to

the Risk Management Committee and (through the latter) to
the Board of Directors of the Bank. More information regarding
the risk management practices applied by Alpha Bank is
presented in earlier sections of the Board of Directors’ Annual
Management Report, the Corporate Governance Statement and
the Notes to the Financial Statements.
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PERFORMANCE IN 2018

The table below presents sample indicators on Alpha Bank’s
performance in 2018. The indicators have been selected
taking into consideration the internationally recognized
Global Reporting Initiative guidelines. Detailed information

and additional performance indicators for the Bank, together
with information on the corporate responsibility activities

of the Group’s subsidiaries, are presented in the Alpha Bank
Corporate Responsibility Report 2018.

Indicators Alpha Bank A.E. | Alpha Bank Group!
Employees (number of Employees) 7,793 10,810
Employees with disabilities (number of Employees) 142 155
Women Employees (%) 559% 60%
Recruitment of women Employees (%) 40% 70%
Percentage of women in managerial positions (Branch Manager or higher) (%) 36% 42%
Percentage of Employees covered by Collective Labour Agreements (%) 100% 78%
Employee Training (hours of training per Employee) 18 23
Number of fatalities (number of Employees) - -
Number of injuries? (number of Employees) 2 3
Social contribution (Euro) 2,422,453 2,926,267
Percentage of branches accessible by people with disabilities (PwD) (%) 57% 68%
Percentage of monetary transactions made through alternative networks® (%) 85% 83%
Percentage of debit and credit cards for which an electronic monthly bill is sent

(e-statements) (%) 32% 30%
Convictions against the Directors of the Bank* for any offence including those under

Law 4022/2011 for “corruption offences”. - -
L Includes data from the Group’s Banks in Greece, Cyprus, Albania and Romania.

2 Excludes incidents caused by pathological causes.

> Alpha Bank’s alternative networks: Alpha Web Banking Private and Business - Alpha Mobile Banking and Alpha Phone Banking.

4 As the Directors of the Bank are defined the members of the Bank’s Board of Directors and General Managers.

In 2018, Alpha Bank, after its successful assessment by the
FTSE International Organisation, remained a constituent of
the Financial Times Stock Exchange 4Good (FTSE4Good)
Emerging Index, which assesses listed companies in
emerging markets with a positive financial, environmental
and social performance. Moreover, it showed significantly
higher performance than in the previous year in the three
pillars of assessment related to environmental, social

and governance issues. Its inclusion in the FTSE4Good
international index proves that, in parallel with its business
activity, the Bank is also highly aware of environmental
and social issues by investing effectively in sustainable

development. At the same time, it also strongly motivates
it to strengthen its presence in the Corporate Responsibility
domain, both in Greece and internationally.

In January 2019, Alpha Bank was included, for the first
time, in the 2019 Bloomberg Gender-Equality Index (GEI).
The Bloomberg GEl is the world’s only comprehensive
investment-quality data source on gender equality. The
index is global and sector neutral, representing companies
across all sectors and geographies and is comprised of
companies that have scored above a globally-established
threshold.
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In 2018, Alpha Bank reported to the CDP platform the
required information for the climate change questionnaire,
achieving a B- rating. The Bank’s improved score compared
to 2017 reflects its commitment to actively promote a
“green” business operation.

In the framework of the “Social Responsibility Reaction
Excellence Awards 2018” organised by the non-profit
Organisation, “Reaction”, Alpha Bank Cyprus received

an honorary award for its continuous support to the
Organisation as well as a broader contribution towards
society. The annual institution of Reaction Excellence Awards
honors individuals, companies and organisations offering to
society and specifically to young people either in Greece or
Cyprus.

Finally, the Group in an effort to support events that present
key international sustainability issues, which are expected
to affect companies and organisations in the short term,
sponsored:

the 2018 Sustainability Forum, which took place in
Greece,

the 16th Corporate Social Responsibility Conference
organised by the Hellenic-American Chamber of Greece
on "The World of a Better Tomorrow: Sustainability and
the New Disruptive Era”,

the 5th CSR in Action Conference organised by Boussias
Communications, and

the 11th Corporate Social Responsibility Conference held
in Cyprus.

Athens, 28 March 2019

THE CHAIRMAN
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

VASILEIOS T.RAPANOS
ID.No Al 666242
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Explanatory Report of the Board of Directors of Alpha

Bank for the Year 2018

The present Explanatory Report of the Board of Directors of
Alpha Bank (hereinafter the “Bank”) to the Ordinary General
Meeting of Shareholders of the Bank for the year 2018
contains detailed information, pursuant to the provision of
article 4 par. 7 of Law 3556/2007, the reference date being
31.12.2018, in accordance with the order in which they are
written in the provision in question.

In particular:

a. On 1.1.2018 the share capital of the Bank stood at
the total amount of Euro 463,109,814.30 divided into
1,543,699,381 common, nominal, voting, paperless
shares, of a nominal value of Euro 0.30 each. Out of
the said common, nominal, voting, paperless shares,
1,374,525,214 have been subscribed by Private Investors
and 169,174,167 have been issued by the Bank and
have been subscribed by the Hellenic Financial Stability
Fund, pursuant to Law 3864/2010, governed by virtue
of the terms thereof. It is noted that until the end of the
year 2018 (31.12.2018) no change occurred in the share
capital of the Bank.

All shares are listed for trading on the Securities Market of
the Athens Exchange.

The 1,374,525,214 shares that have been subscribed

by Private Investors represent 89% of the total paid-in
share capital of the Bank and embody all the rights and
obligations provided for in the law and the Bank’s Articles
of Incorporation.

The 169,174,167 shares held by the Hellenic Financial
Stability Fund represent 11% of the total paid-in share
capital of the Bank; they have the rights stipulated by law
and are subject to the restrictions of the law. With regard
to these shares, it is noted that the Hellenic Financial
Stability Fund:

became a shareholder of the Bank within 2013, in

the context of the recapitalisation of the Greek credit
institutions, on the basis of Law 3864/2010, having,
however, restricted voting rights at the General Meeting,

has issued, in accordance with Law 3864/2010 and
Cabinet Act No 38/2012, Warrants in order to offer the
Bank-issued shares it undertook to Private Investors.
These Warrants could be exercised within the time
periods referred to in the relevant legislation and,

until 31.12.2017, have either been fully exercised or
automatically expired and have been cancelled by the
Hellenic Financial Stability Fund.

may vote at the General Meeting only on resolutions
pertaining to the amendment of the Articles of
Incorporation, including the increase or reduction of the
share capital or the grant of a relevant authorisation to
the Board of Directors, the merger, split-up, conversion,
revival, extension of the term of operation or winding-
up of the Bank, the transfer of assets, including the sale
of Group Companies or on any other item for which an
enhanced majority is required in accordance with the
stipulations of the law as in force.

also possesses all the other rights stipulated by Law
3864/2010, as each time in force.

. The Articles of Incorporation contain no restrictions on the

transfer of Bank shares, save as otherwise provided for in
the law.

. From the Bank’s records, on 31.12.2018 there are no

qualified, direct or indirect holdings within the meaning of
Law 3556/2007, in its share capital, with the exception of
the Hellenic Financial Stability Fund, which holds common
shares representing 11% of the total paid-in share capital
of the Bank.

. There are no shares issued by the Bank possessing special

rights of control, with the exception of the common shares
held by the Hellenic Financial Stability Fund in reference to
the rights that the Hellenic Financial Stability Fund enjoys
by virtue of Law 3864/2010.

. The Articles of Incorporation contain no restrictions on

voting rights and on the deadlines for exercising the
same on shares issued by the Bank, save the restrictions
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foreseen in Law 3864/2010 with regard to the shares held
by the Hellenic Financial Stability Fund.

f. To the knowledge of the Bank, there are no shareholder
agreements providing for restrictions on share transfers
or restrictions on the exercise of voting rights on shares
issued by the Bank, save as otherwise provided for in the
provisions of the laws stipulating the rights of the Hellenic
Financial Stability Fund.

g. There are no rules in the Articles of Incorporation for the
appointment and replacement of Members of the Board of
Directors as well as for the amendment of the Articles of
Incorporation of the Bank, which are at variance with the
stipulations of the law as in force.

h. The Bank may increase its share capital by virtue of a
resolution of the General Meeting of Shareholders or of
the Board of Directors, in accordance with the law and the
Articles of Incorporation.

Additionally, for as long as the Hellenic Financial Stability
Fund participates in the share capital of the Bank, the
latter may not purchase its own shares without the
former’s approval.

The Bank does not hold any of its own shares.

i. The Bank has entered into no major agreement, which
comes into effect, is amended or expires upon a change of
control of the Bank following a public tender offer.

j. The Bank has entered into no agreement with Members of
Board of Directors of Personell, providing for compensation
upon their resignation or dismissal without just cause,
or upon termination of tenure or employment, owing
to a public tender offer, except in accordance with the
provisions of law.

35 ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT



@ ALPHA BANK

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR 2018

Corporate Governance Statement

for the year 2018

Pursuant to the provision of paragraph 1 of article 152 of
Law 4548/2018 (article 43bb of Codified Law 2190/1920),
the Annual Management Report of the Board of Directors of
Alpha Bank (hereinafter the “Bank”) includes the Corporate
Governance Statement for the year 2018. The reference
date of the Corporate Governance Statement is 31.12.2018.

The items c), d), f), h), i) of article 10 of Directive 2004/25/EC
of the European Parliament and of the Council, as they are
incorporated in items c), d), e), g), h) of article 4 par. 7 of Law
3556/2007, are analysed in the Explanatory Report of the
Board of Directors to the General Meeting of Shareholders,
which is included in the Annual Management Report of the
Board of Directors.

A. Corporate Governance Code and Practices

1. The Corporate Governance Code

The Bank operates within the framework of the Alpha
Bank Corporate Governance Code, which is posted on the
Bank’s website (https://www.alpha.gr/en/group/corporate-
governance).

Effective Corporate Governance constitutes an expressed
goal of the Bank, which is constantly pursued.

In particular, the Corporate Governance Code as well as the
Corporate Governance practices which are implemented by
the Bank are in accordance with the requirements of the
relevant legislative, supervisory and reqgulatory framework,
both of the European Union and of Greece, and with the
international best practices in Corporate Governance. They
aim at increasing the long-term economic value of the Bank,
taking into consideration the interests of the Shareholders,
those transacting with the Bank, the Employees and other
Stakeholders. The Bank complies with the legislation
requirements for corporate governance pertaining to listed
companies, the special legislation of the Hellenic Financial
Stability Fund and the provisions applied to credit institutions
pursuant to European Union and Greek law as well as with
the guidelines issued by the European Banking Authority, the

European Securities and Markets Authority and the European
Central Bank on this thematic area.

The said practices are taken into account in Alpha Bank’s
Corporate Governance Code, which sets the framework and
guidelines for the governance of the Bank as well as in the
policies and the procedures applied by the Bank pertaining
to corporate governance issues, such as, indicatively, conflict
of interests, related parties, remuneration, nomination

of candidate Members of the Board of Directors and the
operation of the Committees of the Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors is responsible for the revision of the
Corporate Governance Code.

The Corporate Governance Code of Alpha Bank defines the
duties and allocates responsibilities among the Board of
Directors, its Committees, the Executive Committee and the
other Committees of the Bank, regulates issues pertaining
to the composition, the operation and the evaluation of the
Board of Directors, the obligations of its Members, issues
pertaining to the General Meeting of Shareholders as well as
issues pertaining to the Internal Control System of the Bank.
The principles on which the Corporate Governance Code is
based correspond to four concepts:

a. responsibility of the Bank’s leaders;

b. accountability to the Board of Directors and the Bank’s
Shareholders;

c. fairmess towards all of the Bank’s Stakeholders; and

d. transparency in the relationship between the Bank’s
leadership and the Board of Directors as well as the Bank
and its Shareholders and Regulators.

The Corporate Governance Code of the Bank stipulates
expressly the distinguished responsibilities of the Chair of
the Board of Directors, the Vice Chair and the Managing
Director - CEO.

The Bank complies with the Corporate Governance Code and
provides explanations in case it deviates from the relevant
provisions. The Bank did not deviate from the Corporate
Governance Code in 2018.
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Alpha Bank has always been implementing principles

of Corporate Governance, enhancing transparency in
communication with the Bank’s Shareholders and keeping
investors promptly and continuously informed. In this
context, the Bank has adopted the following modifications,
prior to their establishment as requlatory and legal
requirements: the separation of the Chair’s duties from those
of the Managing Director - CEO and the establishment of the
Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.

The Bank constantly enhances the corporate governance
framework it applies by adopting practices and measures
beyond those defined in the relevant legislation, such as a
larger number of Non-Executive Independent Members of
the Board of Directors, adopting additional independence
criteria to be fulfilled by the Non-Executive Independent
Members than those provided for in the relevant legislation,
having a Non-Executive Chair of the Board of Directors, the
establishment of monthly meetings of the Audit Committee
of the Board of Directors and the Risk Management
Committee of the Board of Directors as well as the
establishment of joint meetings of the Audit Committee with
the Risk Management Committee.

Furthermore, the Board of Directors examines periodically
corporate governance issues and during 2018 it revised

the Corporate Governance Code and the Charters of all
Board of Directors’ Committees in order for them to be fully
aligned with the relevant regulatory framework and with the
most recent best practices of corporate governance. Each
Committee has been assigned with explicitly defined and
distinct responsibilities.

2. Induction and Training Programmes for the
Members of the Board of Directors

The Bank offers the new Members of the Board of

Directors an induction programme on Legal and Regulatory
requirements, Corporate Governance principles, Risk
Management, Internal Audit, Compliance, Capital Adequacy,
Financial and Accounting Services, Information Technology
and Security, and Strategic Planning as well as the possibility
for relevant information seminars and information meetings.

Moreover, the Bank provides continuous informative sessions
to the Members of the Board of Directors in order to update
them on current issues of the banking market and on the
regulatory developments in the financial sector. In particular,
for the year 2018 all the Members of the Board of Directors
have been offered informative sessions on the following
subjects:

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR 2018

- Policy on Related Parties Transactions
- Non-Executive Directors Remuneration

- Legal framework for providing funding to companies that
are felt to be near bankruptcy

- Single Resolution Mechanism (SRM)
- Ethics Committee

The Bank also provides its Board Members with the
opportunity to participate in training and education sessions
offered by external institutions. Upon request by any
Member, the Bank may offer tailor-made programmes to
further enhance the Members’ knowledge and competences.
One Member of the Board of Directors participated in such a
session during 2018.

3. Composition and Function of the Board of
Directors

The Board of Directors convenes every month or more

often if necessary. The Articles of Incorporation of the Bank
provide the Board of Directors with the option to meet by
teleconference. The calendar of the meetings of the Board
of Directors and its Committees for every year is set and
notified at the end of the previous year. The Minutes of the
meetings of the Board of Directors and its Committees are
signed at the next reqular meeting of the Board of Directors
or of the relevant Committee.

The tenure of the Members of the Board of Directors is
four years, while Codified Law 2190/1920 (as well as Law
4548/2018, in force as of 1 January 2019) stipulates up to
six years.

The current Board of Directors was elected by the Ordinary
General Meeting of Shareholders held on 29.6.2018. The
Board'’s tenure ends at the Ordinary General Meeting of
Shareholders which will take place in 2022.

Article 3 of Law 3016/2002 stipulates, inter alia, that the
number of Non-Executive Members of the Board of Directors
cannot be less than 1/3 of the total number of Members. Out
of a total of thirteen (13) Members of the Board of Directors
of the Bank, the number of Non-Executive Members
amounts to eight (8), i.e. 62% of the total, thus exceeding

by far the minimum number for such Members set by Law
3016/2002 (based on the composition of the Board of
Directors at 31.12.2018).

In accordance with the above-mentioned article of Law
3016/2002, at least two (2) Non-Executive Members should
also be Independent. In the Board of Directors of the Bank,
the respective number exceeds, as in the case mentioned
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above, the minimum requirement set by law and amounts to
five (5), i.e. 38% of the total.

Lastly, it was ascertained that the Members comply with

the stipulations of article 83 of Law 4261/2014 on the
combination of directorships that Board Members may hold
at the same time, that they do not have any personal or
private interests, as defined in article 2 of Law 3016/2002
and that the Non-Executive Independent Members of the
Board of Directors fulfil the conditions for being Independent,
in accordance with Law 3016/2002 and the Corporate
Governance Code.

At the annual Meeting of the Non-Executive Members of the
Board of Directors, the Non-Executive Members recognised
that the Board operations are conducted in an effective
manner and that the Members of the Board of Directors
contribute to very effective and productive Board meetings.
During the meetings, the Members deliberate openly in an
environment of trust and they feel free to express their views
and the relevant arguments. The Non-Executive Members
also evaluated the performance of the Executive Members
and highlighted the contribution of each and every one of
them to the accomplishment of satisfactory results during
these highly volatile economic circumstances which the
country is experiencing as well as their excellent cooperation
with their Non-Executive peers.

The Board has established an attendance objective which
stipulates that the Members should attend more than

85% of the Board of Directors meetings. The Corporate
Governance and Nominations Committee deemed that there
were no Member absences from Board meetings without

a valid reason. The Members of the Board of Directors who
were absent had informed the Bank in time of the relevant
reasons.

During 2018, the following changes took place in relation

to the composition of the Board of Directors, with an

aim to elect persons who possess broad international
experience in Banking, Audit, Risk and Non-Performing
Loans management. Two (2) new Board Members, Mr
J-H.-F.G. Umbgrove (as representative of the Hellenic
Financial Stability Fund) and Mr J. L. Cheval were elected, in
accordance with the legislative and regulatory requirements,
further enriching collective knowledge and performance.
Within the same year, Mr Spyridon-Stavros A. Mavrogalos-
Fotis (representative of the Hellenic Financial Stability Fund)
and Mr Ibrahim S. Dabdoub departed the Board of Directors
of the Bank.

0On 29.6.2018, during the Ordinary General Meeting of
Shareholders, Mr D.P. Mantzounis, Managing Director -
CEO of the Bank, announced his intention to initiate his
succession. On 29.11.2018, following a thorough search
conducted by Egon Zehnder (a recruitment firm) and in
accordance with the Policy for the Succession Planning
of Senior Executives and Key Function Holders, the
Board of Directors unanimously elected Mr V.E. Psaltis
as a Member of the Board of Directors and new CEO to
assume his duties on 2.1.2019.

The Board of Directors, in accordance with the Corporate
Governance Code and the Policy for the Annual
Evaluation of the Alpha Bank Board of Directors it has
adopted, assesses on an annual basis its effectiveness
as well as that of its Committees. Every three years, the
Board of Directors may appoint an external consultant to
conduct these assessments.

The overall evaluation of the Board of Directors and

its Committees, for the year 2017, was conducted by
Nestor Advisors, a London-based corporate governance
consulting firm, with the assistance of the Corporate
Governance and Nominations Committee. The Individual
Evaluation of the Members of the Board of Directors was
conducted by the Chair of the Board of Directors.

The Corporate Governance and Nominations Committee
ascertained that the current composition of all the
Committees of the Board of Directors, namely the Audit
Committee, the Risk Management Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Corporate Governance
and Nominations Committee, meets the requirements of
the requlatory framewaork, is consistent with the principles
of Corporate Governance of the Bank and contributes to
the effective and smooth operation of the Committees
and the Bank.

It also ascertained that the Members of the Board of
Directors represent different business sectors as well

as different geographical areas and are acknowledged
for their character, integrity, ability of leadership,
management, thought and constructive collective
operation in a team environment as well as for their
financial knowledge and other professional and business
experience. The level of experience and knowledge

of all the Members of the Board of Directors and its
Committees was evaluated by the Board of Directors as
very high, while their work was evaluated as extremely
effective.
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4. Communication with Shareholders

In order to enhance the active participation of the
Shareholders in the General Meetings and the genuine
interest in issues relating to its operation, the Bank
develops procedures of active communication with its
Shareholders and establishes the appropriate conditions so
that the policies and strategies adopted are based on the
constructive exchange of views with them.

Within 2018, a roadshow took place, aiming to inform
investors on matters of Corporate Governance of the Bank.
In addition, the Bank enhances its relations with proxy
advisors and institutional investors who focus on corporate
governance, providing them, where necessary, with further
information so as to facilitate their decision-making process
on corporate governance matters of the Bank in view of the
Annual Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders.

In order to ensure the reliable, secure and broad
dissemination of institutional information to its
Shareholders, the Bank declares the “Officially Appointed
Mechanism for the Central Storage of Regulated
Information” of the Hellenic Exchanges S.A. (HELEX), which

is currently managed by the Athens Exchange and operates
through the “HERMES” communication system, in accordance
with the Athens Exchange Rulebook (www.helex.qr), as

the means of disclosure of requlated information and
information provided by law to its Shareholders before the
General Meeting. Through this disclosure, the prompt and
non-discriminatory access to the relevant information is
made available to the general public and particularly to the
Shareholders, given that the above System, as recognised by
law, is considered reliable for the effective dissemination of
information to the investing public and meets the national
and European range requirements of the law.

5. Other issues

The Bank, in accordance with the best practices of corporate
governance, and aiming to further enhance the collaboration
within the Group, has launched a series of meetings between
the Members of the Board of Directors of the Bank and
representatives of the Group Companies. In this context, in
2018 the Board of Directors and Bank Executives visited
Alpha Bank Romania S.A. Alpha Bank’s Board Members had
joint meetings with their counterparts from Alpha Bank
Romania S.A,, including joint Committee meetings. Important
issues of mutual interest were discussed and the necessary
guidance was provided.

The Bank conducted a review of all the Corporate

Governance documents used by Group Companies.
Following a thorough gap analysis, the Group Companies’
Corporate Governance Codes and the Charters of the Board
of Directors’ Committees were fully aligned with legal and
requlatory requirements, EBA guidelines as well as with
Alpha Bank’s corporate governance practices.

Additionally, the Bank has adopted a Code of Ethics for the
performance of duties with the purpose to implement the
standards required by modern corporate governance and
effective Internal Audit. Specifically, the Code describes
the commitments and the practices of the Bank regarding
its activities, the management, the rules of conduct of
Executives and Employees towards each other, but also
towards those transacting with the Bank and towards the
Shareholders. The said Code, as in force, is posted on the
Bank’s website (https://www.alpha.gr/en/group/corporate-
governance/code-of-ethics).

B. Internal Control and Risk Management System

1. Internal Control System

The Internal Control System, on which the Bank places great
emphasis, comprises auditing mechanisms and procedures,
relating to all the activities of the Bank, aiming at its
effective and secure operation.

The Internal Control System is designed to ensure:

- the consistent implementation of the business strategy
with an effective utilisation of the available resources,

- the identification and management of all risks
undertaken,

- the completeness and the reliability of the data and
information required for the accurate and timely
determination of the financial situation of the Bank and
the generation of reliable financial statements,

- the compliance with the current requlatory framework,
the internal requlations, the rules of ethics,

- the prevention and avoidance of erroneous actions that
could jeopardise the reputation and interests of the Bank,
the Shareholders and those transacting with it,

- the effective operation of the IT systems in order to
support the business strategy and the secure circulation,
processing and storage of critical business information.

The Bank has established an Audit Committee, which
is responsible for the monitoring of financial reporting
processes, the effective operation of the internal control and
risk management systems as well as for the supervision and
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monitoring of the regular audit and of the issues pertaining

to the objectivity and independency of the Statutory

Certified Auditors. The Audit Committee cooperates with

the Risk Management Committee regarding the oversight

of certain key areas of risk and capital management and
their repercussions on the Internal Control System. The
specific duties and responsibilities of the Audit Committee
are determined in its Charter which was amended in October
2018 and is posted on the Bank’s website (https://www.alpha.
gr/en/group/corporate-governance/commitees).

The evaluation of the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Internal Control System of the Bank is conducted:

a) On a continuous basis by the Internal Audit Division of the
Bank through audits effected as well as by the Compliance
Division with respect to the observance of the regulatory
framework.

The audit plan of the Internal Audit Division is based on

the prioritisation of the audited areas, by identifying and
assessing the risks and the special factors associated

with them. In addition, any instructions or decisions of the
Management of the Bank, along with regulatory framework
requirements and extraordinary developments in the
overall economic environment are taken into account.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors approves
the audit plan and is updated at least every quarter on the
implementation thereof, the main conclusions of the audits
and the implementation of the audit recommendations as
well as on the compliance with the reqgulatory framework.

b) On an annual basis by the Audit Committee of the Board of
Directors, on the basis of the relevant data and information
from the Internal Audit Division, the findings and
observations from the External Auditors as well as from the
Regulatory Authorities.

In 2018, the Audit Committee evaluated the Internal
Control System of the Bank for 2017.

c) Every three years by External Auditors, other than the
regular ones.These are highly experienced individuals in the
field of internal audit (external auditors or special advisors),
who are independent of the Group.

The Audit Committee determines the criteria and the
selection procedures for external auditors by submitting a
relevant recommendation to the Board of Directors, which
should include at least two possible choices for the audit
engagement and a duly justified preference for one of them,
in accordance with article 16 of Regulation (EU) No 537/2014
of the European Parliament and the Council of the European

Union of 16 April 2014.

Furthermore, the Audit Committee approves the range and
the contents of the audit activities, through the monitoring
of the statutory audit of the annual and consolidated
financial statements and especially its performance, taking
into account any findings and conclusions of the competent
authority, in accordance with par. 6 article 26 of Regulation
(EU) No 537/2014.

The Bank has in place Policies and Procedures for the
preparation of the financial statements and the recognition
of financial events, in accordance with the current legislation
and the accounting standards in force, as defined in the
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), that have
been adopted by the European Union, pursuant to Regulation
(EC) No 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and the
Council of the European Union of 19 July 2002.

The accounting system of the Bank and the Group is
supported by specialised IT systems which have been
adapted to the business requirements of the Bank and the
requirements of the accounting standards.

Audit and accounting reconciliation procedures have been
established in order to ensure the correctness and the
legitimacy of the entries in the accounting books as well as
the completeness and validity of the financial statements.

Furthermore, in order to ensure the independence of the
regular audit of the financial statements of the Group, the
Board of Directors applies specific policies and procedures
in order to formulate a recommendation for the General
Meeting with regard to the election of a regular auditor.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors supervises
and assesses the drafting procedures for the interim and
the annual financial statements of the Bank, in accordance
with the current audit standards, and studies the reports of
the External Auditors as regards deviations from the current
accounting practices, informing accordingly the Board of
Directors about the statutory audit’s result, its contribution
to the integrity of the financial reporting as well as the
Audit Committee’s role in the said process. Finally, the Audit
Committee reviews and monitors the independence of
statutory auditors, in accordance with the laws in force, and,
in particular, as to the provision of non-audit services to the
Bank and the Group.

2. Risk Management

The Bank places great emphasis on the identification,
measurement and monitoring of the risks undertaken
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and, to this end, it has assigned these tasks to the Risk
Management Business Unit. The Risk Management
Business Unit reports to the General Manager - Chief Risk
Officer of the Group, to the Risk Management Committee
and (through the latter) to the Board of Directors of the
Bank.

The effective management of all types of risk relies on
accurate and efficient measurement using specialised
methods and calculation models, and on the adoption of
policies and limits through which the Bank’s exposure to
various risks is monitored. These methodologies allow for
consistent risk management by all the operational Units
of the Bank as well as by the Management Committees
that have been established as described below.

The Operational Risk Committee convenes quarterly

or whenever deemed necessary depending on the
circumstances and ensures that the appropriate
processes, methodologies and infrastructure to manage
the operational risk of the Group exist, while approving
recommendations to limit operational risk.

The Credit Risk Committee convenes monthly, assesses
the adequacy and the efficiency of the credit risk
management policy and procedures of the Bank and
the Group and resolves on the planning of the required
corrective actions.

The Troubled Assets Committee (TAC) convenes monthly
and examines issues related to the portfolios managed
by the Non-Performing Loans Divisions under the
supervision of the Deputy CEO, Non-Performing Loans
and Treasury Management, in order to achieve the
operational goals of the Bank and the Group, pertaining
to which it may propose further decision-making to the
Credit Risk Committee and subsequently to the Board

of Directors for the final approval, through the Risk
Management Committee of the Board of Directors.

The Assets-Liabilities Management Committee (ALCo)
convenes quarterly, examines issues related to Treasury
and Balance Sheet Management and the overall financial
volumes of the Bank and the Group and resolves on
them, approving the respective actions and policies.

The Bank has fully complied with the provisions of the
institutional framework with respect to its troubled
assets. The Risk Management Committee, a Committee
of the Board of Directors as described below, provides
oversight over all the areas of Risk Management of the
Bank.

The Audit Committee and the Risk Management
Committee review in a joint session every quarter the
financial statements of the Bank and the Group, compiled
in accordance with the International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS), and propose to the Board of Directors the
approval thereof. Moreover, they review operational risk
issues.

C. General Meeting of Shareholders, Board of
Directors and Committees of the Board of Directors

1. General Meeting of Shareholders

The General Meeting of Shareholders is the highest governing
body of the Bank and resolves on all corporate matters, apart
from those that fall within the exclusive jurisdiction of the
Board of Directors, unless the latter resolves, on a particular
item of its agenda, to relegate it to the General Meeting.

Its resolutions shall be binding upon all the Shareholders,
including those absent or dissenting.

The General Meeting of Shareholders, unless otherwise
foreseen by law and the Articles of Incorporation, is vested
with exclusive authority to resolve on the following matters:

(@) amend the Articles of Incorporation, including the
resolutions to increase or to reduce the share capital;

(b) elect Members to the Board of Directors and award the
status of Independent Member of the Board of Directors,
as well as appoint Members to the Audit Committee;

(c) appoint reqular auditors and determine their
remuneration;

(d) approve and reform the Annual Financial Statements
and determine the distribution of the annual profits of
the Bank;

(e) issue bond loans pursuant to articles 8 (without
prejudice to article 3a par. 1 section b of Codified Law
2190/1920) and 9 of Law 3156/2003;

(f) merge, split-up, convert, revive, extend the term of
operation or wind-up the Bank;

(g) change the nationality of the Bank;
(h) appoint liquidators; and

(i) resolve on any other issues stipulated by law.

2. Board of Directors

The Board of Directors is responsible for the general
administration and management of corporate affairs as well
as for the representation of the Bank in all its relations and
resolves on all issues concerning the Bank. It performs any
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action for which the relevant authority is bestowed upon it,
apart from those actions for which the General Meeting of
Shareholders is the sole competent authority.

The primary concern of the Board of Directors, while
exercising its powers, is to promote the interests of the
Bank, the Shareholders and its Employees as well as of
other interested parties (as the case may be). The Board of
Directors monitors the compliance and adherence to the
provisions of the law within the framework of the corporate
interest as well as the compliance to procedures of reliable
and timely information and communication.

Pursuant to the Presubscription Agreement of 28 May 2012,
the Hellenic Financial Stability Fund is represented in the
Board of Directors of the Bank. The representative of the
Hellenic Financial Stability Fund is also a Member of the
Audit Committee, the Risk Management Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Corporate Governance and
Nominations Committee of the Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors convenes at least on a monthly basis.
In 2018, it convened 18 times. The average participation rate
of the Members of the Board of Directors in the meetings
stood at 93% (based on the composition of the Board of
Directors at 31.12.2018).

Board of Directors Composition

38%
Non-Executive
Independent
38%
Executive 24%

Non-Executive

(Based on the composition of the Board of Directors at
31.12.2018)

3. Committees of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors may establish permanent or temporary
Committees to assist in the discharge of its responsibilities,

facilitate its operations and effectively support its decision-
making. The Committees have an advisory role but may also
assume delegated authorities, as determined by the Board.
Each Committee has its dedicated Charter prescribing its
composition, tenure, functioning and responsibilities.

The Members of the Committees are appointed by the Board
of Directors, following recommendations by the Corporate
Governance and Nominations Committee. The Committees
consist of Non-Executive Members. They may be assisted in
their work by other persons, including external advisors.

The main mission of the Committees consists in the
examination of issues within their mandate, in the preparation
of draft resolutions to be approved by the Board of Directors
and in the submission of relevant briefings, reports, key
information and recommendations to the Board. The
Committees report regularly to the Board of Directors about
their work.

Audit Committee

Chair: Carolyn G. Dittmeier
Frequency: At least once every month
Number of meetings in 2018: 13

Average participation rate of 96% (based on the
the Members: Committee’s composition at
31.12.2018)

The main responsibilities of the Audit Committee include but
are not limited to those presented below.

The Audit Committee:

Monitors and assesses, on an annual basis, the adequacy,
effectiveness and efficiency of the Internal Control
System of the Bank and the Group.

Supervises and assesses the procedures for drawing up
the annual and interim Financial Statements of the Bank
and of the Group.

Reviews the Financial Statements of the Bank and of the
Group, together with the Statutory Auditors’ Report prior
to their submission to the Board of Directors.

Ensures the independent and unprejudiced conducting of
internal and external audits in the Bank.

Assesses the performance and effectiveness of the
Internal Audit and Compliance Divisions of the Bank and
the Group.

Meets with the Statutory Certified Auditors of the Bank on
a regular basis.

Is responsible for the selection of the Statutory Certified
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Auditors of the Bank and makes recommendations to
the Board of Directors on the appointment or dismissal,
rotation, tenure and remuneration of the Statutory
Certified Auditors, according to the relevant regulatory
and legal provisions.

Ensures the independence of the Statutory Certified
Auditors in accordance with the applicable laws, by
monitoring, inter alia, the provision by them of Non-Audit
Services to the Bank and the Group. In relation to this,
the Committee pre-approves proposals regarding the
provision by the Statutory Certified Auditor of Non-Audit
Services to the Bank and the Group, based on the relevant
Bank policy that the Audit Committee oversees and
recommends to the Board of Directors for approval.
The specific duties and responsibilities of the Audit Committee
are determined in its Charter, which was amended in October
2018 and is posted on the Bank's website (https://www.alpha.
gr/en/group/corporate-governance/commitees).

Audit Committee Composition

60%
Non-Executive
Independent

40%
Non-Executive

(Based on the composition of the Audit Committee at
31.12.2018)

Risk Management Committee

Chair: Jan A. Vanhevel
Frequency: At least once every month
Number of meetings 15

in 2018:

95% (based on the Committee’s
composition at 31.12.2018)

Average participation
rate of the Members:

The main responsibilities of the Risk Management Committee
include but are not limited to those presented below.

The Risk Management Committee:

Reviews and recommends to the Board of Directors for
approval the risk and capital management strategy.

Reviews and recommends annually to the Board
of Directors for approval the Group’s risk appetite
framework and statement.

Determines the principles which govern risk
management across the Bank and the Group in terms
of the identification, measurement, monitoring, control,
and mitigation of risks.

Evaluates on an annual basis or more frequently, if
necessary, the appropriateness of risk identification
and measurement systems, methodologies and
models, including the support of the Bank’s IT
infrastructure.

Reviews regularly, at least annually, the Group’s ICAAP/
ILAAP and related target ratios and recommends their
approval to the Board of Directors.

Assesses the overall effectiveness of capital planning,
allocation processes and systems, and the allocation
of capital requirements to risk types.

Reviews the risk management and the NPE/NPL policy
and procedures of the Bank and the Group.

The specific duties and responsibilities of the Risk
Management Committee are determined in its Charter,
which was amended in October 2018 and is posted

on the Bank’s website (https://www.alpha.qgr/en/group/

corporate-governance/commitees).

Risk Management Committee Composition

75%

Non-Executive
Independent

25%
Non-Executive

(Based on the composition of the Risk Management
Committee at 31.12.2018)
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Joint Meeting of the Audit and Risk Management
Committees

Frequency: Once every quarter
Number of meetings in 2018: 4

Average participation rate of the 100%

Members:

Responsibilities:

Review of the progress of the International Financial
Reporting Standard (IFRS) S implementation project as
well as of Cyber Risk issues

Review of quarterly financial results

Review of Operational Risk issues

Remuneration Committee

Chair: Richard R. Gildea
Frequency: At least twice a year

Number of meetings

in 2018:

Average participation
rate of the Members:

12

95% (based on the Committee’s
composition at 31.12.2018)

The main responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee
include but are not limited to those presented below.

The Remuneration Committee:

Ensures that the Bank has a remuneration philosophy and
practice that is market-based, equitable and focused on
sound performance evaluation-based criteria.

Formulates the Remuneration Policy for the Bank and

the Group as well as for the Members of the Boards of
Directors across the Group and makes recommendations
to the Board of Directors of the Bank for approval thereof.

On an annual basis, reviews and reports findings on
remuneration data from the Bank and the Group to

the Board of Directors, with a view to monitoring the
consistent application of the Remuneration Policy,
assessing alignment with corporate goals and ensuring
the alignment of remuneration practices with the risk
profile.

Assesses the mechanisms and systems adopted to
ensure that the remuneration system properly takes into
account all types of risks, liquidity and capital levels and
that the overall Remuneration Policy is consistent with
and promotes sound and effective risk management and
is in line with the business strategy, objectives, corporate
culture, values and long-term interest of the Bank.

Oversees the implementation and use of sound
evaluation processes within the entire Bank.
The specific duties and responsibilities of the Remuneration
Committee are determined in its Charter, which was amended
in October 2018 and is posted on the Bank’s website (https://

www.algha.grzenzgrou[:_chorgorate—govemancel commitees).

Remuneration Committee Composition

50%
Non-Executive
Independent

50%
Non-Executive

(Based on the composition of the Remuneration Committee
at31.12.2018)

Corporate Governance and Nominations Committee

Chair: Shahzad A. Shahbaz

Frequency: At least twice a year

Number of meetings
in 2018:

Average participation rate of 100% (based on the
the Members: Committee’s composition at
31.12.2018)

12

The main responsibilities of the Corporate Governance and
Nominations Committee include but are not limited to those
presented below.

The Corporate Governance and Nominations Committee:

Ensures that the corporate governance principles

of the Bank and the Group, as embedded in the
Corporate Governance Code of the Bank, as well as the
implementation of these principles reflect the legislation
in force, requlatory expectations and international
corporate governance best practices.

Regularly reviews the Corporate Governance Code of the

Bank and makes appropriate recommendations to the
Board of Directors on its update.
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Facilitates the regular review of the Charters of

Board Committees, in consultation with the relevant
Committees, by providing input to each Committee in
order to ensure that the Charters remain fit-for-purpose
and align with the Bank’s Corporate Governance Code as
well as with corporate governance best practices.

Develops and regularly reviews the selection criteria and
appointment process for the Members of the Board of
Directors.

Identifies and proposes candidates suitable for
appointment or re-appointment in vacant positions in the
Board of Directors and its Committees.

Assesses, at least annually, the structure, size, and
composition of the Board of Directors, after considering
relevant findings of the annual evaluation of the Board of
Directors, in order to ensure that these are fit-for-purpose.

Initiates and oversees the conduct of the annual
evaluation of the Board of Directors in accordance with
the Policy for the Annual Evaluation of the Alpha Bank
Board of Directors and submits the relevant findings and
recommendations to the Board of Directors.

Oversees the design and implementation of the induction
programme for the new Members of the Board of
Directors as well as the ongoing knowledge and skills
development for Members that support the effective
discharge of their responsibilities.

Formulates the Suitability and Nomination Policy for the
Members of the Board of Directors and Key Function
Holders, the Policy for the Succession Planning of Senior
Executives and Key Function Holders and the Policy for
the Evaluation of Senior Executives and Key Function
Holders.

Establishes the conditions required for securing smooth
succession and continuity in the Board of Directors.

The specific duties and responsibilities of the Corporate
Governance and Nominations Committee are determined in its
Charter, which was amended in October 2018 and is posted on
the Bank’s website (https://www.alpha.gr/en/group/corporate-
governance/commitees).

Corporate Governance
and Nominations Committee Composition

50%

Non-Executive
Independent

50%
Non-Executive

(Based on the composition of the Corporate Governance and
Nominations Committee at 31.12.2018)

Non-executive Members Meeting

Frequency: At least once a year
Number of meetings 3
in 2018:

Average participation rate of

0
the Members: 100%

Responsibilities:
Exchanging views on any matter that they deem
pertinent.

Reviewing potential issues of conflict of interests
between the Bank and the Executive Members of the
Board of Directors.

Assessing the overall performance of the Bank’s executive
leadership team.

Verifying that the Board and its Committees have
developed effective procedures.

Reviewing the general principles of the Remuneration
Policy periodically and monitoring their implementation.
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D. Composition of the Board of Directors and the Board of Directors’ Committees for the year 2018

Board of Directors

Audit Committee

Risk Management

Committee

Remuneration
Committee

Corporate
Governance and
Nominations
Committee

Number of meetings
in 2018

18

13

15

12

12

Frequency

At least once a

At least once a

At least once a

At least twice a year

At least twice a year

G.Umbagrove

(as of 26.4.2018)

(as of 26.4.2018)

(as of 26.4.2018)

(as of 26.4.2018)

month month month
Tenure 4 years 2 years 2 years 2 years 2 years
Chair
(Non-Executive Member)
Vasileios T. Rapanos
EXECUTIVE MEMBERS
Demetrios P. Mantzounis Managing Director
- CEO
Spyros N. Filaretos Deputy CEO
Artemios Ch. Theodoridis Deputy CEO
George C. Aronis Deputy CEO
General Manager -
Vassilios E. Psaltis CFO
: Member of the BoD as
of 29.11.2018
Non-Executive Members
Efthimios 0. Vidalis M M M
Non-Executive Independent Members
Jean L. Cheval (as of 29.6.2018) M M M
’ o (as of 29.6.2018) (as of 29.6.2018) (as of 29.6.2018)
C
(until 25.1.2018) M
Ibrahim S. Dabdoub (until 30.8.2018) M '
(from 25.1.2018 (until 30.8.2018)
until 30.8.2018)
Carolyn G.Dittmeier C M
M
(until 25.1.2018)
Richard R. Gildea M
C
(as of 25.1.2018)
Shahzad A.Shahbaz C
Jan A.Vanhevel M C
NON-EXECUTIVE MEMBER
(pursuant to the provisions of Law 3864/2010)
Spyridon-Stavros A. ) M M M M
Mavrogalos-Fotis (until 26.4.2018) (until 26.4.2018) (until 26.4.2018) (until 26.4.2018) (until 26.4.2018)
Johannes Herman Frederik M M M M

(as of 26.4.2018)

C: Chair, M: Member
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CVs of the Members of the Board of Directors
CHAIR

Vasileios T. Rapanos (Non-Executive Member)

He was born in Kos in 1947. He is Professor Emeritus

at the Faculty of Economics of the University of Athens
and he has been an Ordinary Member of the Academy of
Athens since 2016. He studied Business Administration at
the Athens School of Economics and Business (1975) and
holds a Master’s in Economics from Lakehead University,
Canada (1977) and a PhD from Queen’s University,
Canada. He was Deputy Governor and Governor of the
Mortgage Bank (1995-1998), Chairman of the Board of
Directors of the Hellenic Telecommunications Organization
(1998-2000), Chairman of the Council of Economic
Advisors at the Ministry of Economy and Finance (2000~
2004), and Chairman of the Board of Directors of the
National Bank of Greece and the Hellenic Bank Association
(2009-2012). He has been the Chair of the Board of
Directors of the Bank since May 2014.

EXECUTIVE MEMBERS

MANAGING DIRECTOR-CEO

Demetrios P. Mantzounis

He was born in Athens in 1947. He studied Political
Sciences at the University of Aix-Marseille. He joined the
Bank in 1973. In 2002 he was appointed General Manager
and from 2005 to 2018 he served as Managing Director.
Based on the annual international survey conducted by
Extel, he was voted among the 20 best CEOs of European
banks at a Pan-European level in 2014, 2016 and 2018.
Moreover, based on the same survey, he was voted Best
CEO in Greece in 2014 and in 2016 and Second Best CEO
in Greece in 2018. He has been a member of the Board of
Directors of the Bank since 1995.

DEPUTY CEOs

Spyros N. Filaretos

He was born in Athens in 1958. He studied Economics

at the University of Manchester and at the University of
Sussex. He joined the Bank in 1985. He was appointed
Executive General Manager in 1997 and General Manager
in 2005. In October 2009 he was appointed Chief
Operating Officer (CO0) and in March 2017 Deputy CEO

- Chief Operating Officer. He has been a Member of the
Board of Directors of the Bank since 2005.

Artemios Ch. Theodoridis

He was born in Athens in 1959. He studied Economics
and holds an MBA from the University of Chicago. He
joined the Bank as Executive General Manager in 2002.
In 2005 he was appointed General Manager and in March
2017 Deputy CEO, Non-Performing Loans and Treasury
Management. He has been a Member of the Board of
Directors of the Bank since 2005.

George C. Aronis

He was born in Athens in 1957. He studied Economics
and holds an MBA, major in Finance, from the Athens
Laboratory of Business Administration (ALBA). He has
worked for multinational banks for 15 years, mostly at
ABN AMRO BANK in Greece and abroad. He joined Alpha
Bank in 2004 as Retail Banking Manager. In 2006 he
was appointed Executive General Manager, in 2008
General Manager and in March 2017 Deputy CEQ, Retail,
Wholesale Banking and International Network. He has
been a Member of the Board of Directors of the Bank
since 2011.

GENERAL MANAGER - CFO (until 2.1.2019)

Vassilios E. Psaltis (Member of the Board of Directors as
of 29.11.2018 and CEO as of 2.1.2019)

He was born in Athens in 1968 and holds a PhD and an
MBA from the University of St. Gallen in Switzerland. He
has worked as Deputy (acting) Chief Financial Officer

at Emporiki Bank and at ABN AMRO Bank’s Financial
Institutions Group in London. He joined Alpha Bank in
2007.1n 2010 he was appointed Group Chief Financial
Officer (CFO) and in 2012 he was appointed General
Manager. Through these posts, he spearheaded capital
raisings of several billions from foreign institutional
shareholders, diversifying the Bank’s shareholder base,
as well as significant mergers and acquisitions that
contributed to the consolidation of the Greek banking
market, reinforcing the position of the Bank. He was voted
seventh best CFO among European banks (2014 and
2018) by institutional investors and analysts in the Extel
international survey. He has been a Member of the Board
of Directors of the Bank since November 2018 and Chief
Executive Officer since January 2019.
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NON-EXECUTIVE MEMBERS

Efthimios 0. Vidalis

He was born in 1954. He holds a BA in Government from
Harvard University and an MBA from the Harvard Graduate
School of Business Administration. He worked at Owens
Corning (1981-1998), where he served as President of

the Global Composites and Insulation Business Units.
Furthermore, he was Chief Operating Officer (1998-2001)
and Chief Executive Officer (2001-2011) of the S&B
Industrial Minerals Group, where he served on the Board of
Directors for 15 years. He is a non-executive member of the
Board of Directors of TITAN CEMENT COMPANY S.A. and of
Future Pipe Industries. He was a member of the Board of
Directors of the Hellenic Federation of Enterprises (SEV) from
2006 to 2016 as well as founder and Chairman of the SEV
Business Council for Sustainable Development from 2008
to 2016. He has been a Member of the Board of Directors of
the Bank since May 2014.

NON-EXECUTIVE INDEPENDENT MEMBERS

Jean L. Cheval (as of 29.6.2018)

He was born in Vannes, France in 1949. He studied
Engineering at the Ecole Centrale des Arts et Manufactures,
while he holds a DES (Dipléme d’Etudes Spécialisées) in
Economics (1974) from the University of Paris |. After starting
his career at BIPE (Bureau d’Information et de Prévisions
Economiques), he served in the French public sector (1978-
1983) and then worked at BANQUE INDOSUEZ-CREDIT
AGRICOLE INDOSUEZ (1983-2001), wherein he held various
senior management positions. He served as CEO and then as
Chairman of the Banque Audi France (2002-2005), while he
was Head of France at the Bank of Scotland (2005-2009).
As of 2009 he has been working at Natixis in various senior
management positions. He is currently a member of the
Board of Directors of HIME-SAUR, France and of EFG-Hermes,
Egypt. He has been a member of the Board of Directors of the
Bank since June 2018.

Ibrahim S. Dabdoub (until 30.8.2018)

He was born in 1939. He studied at the College des Freres
in Bethlehem, at the Middle East Technical University in
Ankara, Turkey and at Stanford University, California, U.S.A.
He was the Group Chief Executive Officer of the National
Bank of Kuwait from 1983 until March 2014. He is Vice
Chairman of the International Bank of Qatar (IBQ), Doha
and a member of the Board of Directors of the International

Institute of Finance (IIF) as well as Co-Chair of the Emerging
Markets Advisory Council (EMAC), Washington D.C. He is also
a member of the Bretton Woods Committee, Washington
D.C. and of the International Monetary Conference (IMC).
Furthermore, he is a member of the Board of Directors of the
Central Bank of Jordan, Amman, of the Board of Directors
of the Consolidated Contractors Company, Athens, and of
the Board of Advisors of Perella Weinberg, New York. In
1995, he was awarded the title of “Banker of the Year” by
the Arab Bankers Association of North America (ABANA)
and in 1997 the Union of Arab Banks named him “Arab
Banker of the Year”. In 2008 and 2010 he was given a
“Lifetime Achievement Award” by “The Banker” and “MEED”
respectively. He was a Member of the Board of Directors of
the Bank from May 2014 until August 2018.

Carolyn G. Dittmeier

She was born in 1956. She holds a BSc in Economics from
the Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania
(1978). She is a statutory auditor, a certified public
accountant, a certified internal auditor and a certified risk
management assurance professional. She focused her
career on the auditing sector, taking on the role of Chief
Internal Audit Executive of the Poste Italiane Group between
2002 and 2014. Previously, she had gained professional
experience with the auditing firm KPMG and the Montedison
Group as both financial controller and later Head of Internal
Audit. She has carried out various professional and academic
activities focusing on risk and control governance. She was
Vice Chair of the Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA) from
2013 to 2014 (director since 2007), Chair of the European
Confederation of Institutes of Internal Auditing-ECIIA (2011-
2012) and of the Italian Association of Internal Auditors
(2004-2010). Furthermore, she served as Independent
Director and Chair of the Risk and Control Committee of
Autoqrill SpA, as well as Independent Director and Chair of
the Risk and Control Committee of Italmobiliare SpA. She

is currently President of the Statutory Audit Committee of
Assicurazioni Generali SpA. She has been a Member of the
Board of Directors of the Bank since January 2017.

Richard R. Gildea

He was born in 1952. He holds a BA in History from

the University of Massachusetts (1974) and an MA in
International Economics, European Affairs from The Johns
Hopkins University School of Advanced International Studies
(1984). He served in JP Morgan Chase from 1986 to 2015,
wherein he held various senior management positions
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throughout his career. He was Emerging Markets Regional
Manager for the Central and Eastern Europe Corporate
Finance Group, London (1993-1997) and Head of
Europe, Middle East and Africa (EMEA) Restructuring,
London (1997-2003), as well as Senior Credit Officer

in EMEA Emerging Markets, London (2003-2007).

From 2007 to 2015 he was Senior Credit Officer for JP
Morgan’s Investment Bank Corporate Credit in EMEA
Developed Markets, London and was appointed Senior
Risk Representative to senior committees within the
Investment Bank. He is currently a member of the Board
of Advisors at The Johns Hopkins University School of
Advanced International Studies, Washington D.C,, as well
as a member of Chatham House (the Royal Institute of
International Affairs), London and of the International
Institute of Strategic Studies, London. He has been a
Member of the Board of Directors of the Bank since July
2016.

Shahzad A. Shahbaz

He was born in 1960. He holds a BA in Economics from
Oberlin College, Ohio, U.S.A. He has worked at various
banks and investments firms, since 1981, including

the Bank of America (1981-2006), from which he left

as Regional Head (Corporate and Investment Banking,
Continental Europe, Emerging Europe, Middle East and
Africa). He served as Chief Executive Officer (CEQ) of NDB
Investment Bank/Emirates NBD Investment Bank (2006~
2008) and of QInvest (2008-2012). He is currently the
Investment Advisor at Al Mirgab Holding Co. He has been
a member of the Board of Directors of the Bank since
May 2014.

Jan A. Vanhevel

He was born in 1948. He studied Law at the University

of Leuven (1971), Financial Management at Vlekho
(Flemish School of Higher Education in Economics),
Brussels (1978) and Advanced Management at INSEAD
(The Business School for the World), Fontainebleau. He
joined Kredietbank in 1971, which became KBC Bank and
Insurance Holding Company in 1998. He acquired a Senior
Management position in 1991 and joined the Executive
Committee in 1996. In 2003 he was in charge of the
non-Central European branches and subsidiaries, while

in 2005 he became responsible for the KBC subsidiaries
in Central Europe and Russia. In 2009 he was appointed
CEO and implemented the Restructuring Plan of the group

until 2012, when he retired. From 2008 to 2011 he was
President of the Fédération belge du secteur financier
(Belgian Financial Sector Federation) and a member of
the Verbond van Belgische Ondermemingen (Federation of
Enterprises in Belgium), while he has been the Secretary
General of the Institut International d’Etudes Bancaires
(International Institute of Banking Studies) since May
2013. He was also a member of the Liikanen Group on
reforming the structure of the EU banking sector. He has
been a Member of the Board of Directors of the Bank
since April 2016.

NON-EXECUTIVE MEMBER
(Pursuant to the provisions of Law 3864/2010)

Spyridon-Stavros A. Mavrogalos-Fotis
(until 26.4.2018)

He was born in Athens in 1968. He holds a BSc in
Computer Information Systems from the American
College of Greece (1991) and a Master of Business
Administration (MBA) in Finance from the University of
Nottingham (1992). He is a chartered auditor-accountant
(ACCA) and an internal auditor. From 1993 to 1996 he
worked as auditor for KPMG and then for ABN AMRO.
From 1996 to 2002 he served as internal auditor and
subsequently as Risk Management Head at EFG Eurobank
Ergasias. From 2002 to 2007 he was the Cosmote Group
COO0. Additionally, from 2008-2013 he was Assistant
General Manager at the National Bank of Greece. From
October 2013 to March 2016 he served as Managing
Director at the ETHNIKI Hellenic General Insurance
Company and as Chairman at its subsidiaries in Greece,
Cyprus and Romania. He was the General Secretary of
the Hellenic Association of Insurance Companies and
since 2014 he has been Vice Chairman and non-executive
member of the Insurance Company Europe AEGA. He

was a Member of the Board of Directors of the Bank,
representing the Hellenic Financial Stability Fund, from
February 2017 until April 2018.

Johannes Herman Frederik G. Umbgrove
(as of 26.4.2018)

He was born in Vught, the Netherlands in 1961. He holds
an LLM. in Trade Law (1985) from Leiden University
and an MBA from INSEAD (The Business School for the
World), Fontainebleau (1991). He worked at ABN AMRO
Bank N.V. (1986-2008), wherein he held various senior
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management positions throughout his career. He served as
Chief Credit Officer CEEMEA of the Global Markets Division
at The Royal Bank of Scotland group (2008-2010) and as
Chief Risk Officer and member of the Management Board at
Amsterdam Trade Bank N.V. (2010-2013). From 2011 until
2013 he was Group Risk Officer at Alfa Bank Group Holding.
As of 2014 he has been a Risk Advisor at Sparrenwoude
B.V. and as of 2018 he has been the Chairman of the
Supervisory Board of Demir Halk Bank (Nederland) N.V. He
has been a Member of the Board of Directors of the Bank,
representing the Hellenic Financial Stability Fund, since April
2018.

SECRETARY

George P. Triantafyllides

He was born in Athens in 1963. He holds a BSc from Oregon
State University. He has served as a Naval Officer in the
United States Navy. He joined the Bank in 1994 and has
worked in various areas of responsibility, while in 2001 he
was assigned to the Secretariat of the Board of Directors.
He has been the Manager of the Secretariat of the Board of
Directors and the Secretary of the Board of Directors of the
Bank since 2014.

E. Management Committees

The Committees composed by Members of the
Management of the Bank are the Executive Committee,
the Assets-Liabilities Management Committee (ALCo), the
Credit Committees (Performing and Non-Performing Loans)
and the Troubled Assets Committee.

1. The Executive Committee is the senior executive body
of the Bank. The indicative main responsibilities include
but are not limited to: overall service model of the
Bank and the Group, three-year Business Plan, major
investment and de-investment decisions, Credit and
Operational Risk Palicies, the Human Resources Policy,
Capital allocation to Business, High-level Communication
issues, major issues of the Board of Directors.

2. The Assets-Liabilities Management Committee
(ALCo) examines and decides on issues related to
Treasury and Balance Sheet Management and monitors
the course of the results, the budget, the funding plan,
the capital adequacy and the overall financial volumes
of the Bank and the Group, approving the respective
actions and policies. In addition, the Committee approves
the interest rate policy, the structure of the investment

portfolios and the total market, interest rate and liquidity
risk limits.

3. The Credit Committees approve new credit or
restructuring proposals for performing and non-
performing loans.

4. The Troubled Assets Committee designs, and
implements the strategy for managing troubled assets
by Business Unit (Wholesale Banking, Retail Banking),
geographical region, product, activity, sector, etc.

F. Description of the Diversity Policy applied to
management, administration and supervision bodies
Alpha Bank has adopted the Diversity Policy that sets

the principles and the approach for the achievement of
diversity in both the Board of Directors and the Personnel in
accordance with the legislative and regulatory framework in
force as well as with European best practices.

The objectives of the Policy are to support and promote
diversity as well as to engage a broad set of qualities and
competences when recruiting Members of the Board of
Directors and Personnel, to achieve a variety of views and
experiences and to facilitate independent opinions.

1. Board of Directors

Taking into account the existing framework, the Bank
embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board of Directors.
It recognises that diversity can help achieve maximum
team performance and effectiveness, enhance innovation
and creativity and promote critical thinking and team
cooperation within the Board. In this context, a diversified
Board of Directors fosters constructive challenge and
discussion on the basis of different points of view. It can
help improve decision-making regarding strategies and risk-
taking by encompassing a broader range of views, opinions,
experience, perception, values and backgrounds. It reduces
the phenomena of “group think” and “herd behaviour”.

A truly diverse Board of Directors allows and makes good
use of differences in skills, regional and industry experience,
background, abilities, qualifications, professional training,
gender and other distinctions between the Members. All
Board appointments at Alpha Bank are made on merit

in the context of the skills, experience, knowledge and
independence which the Board as a whole requires in order
to be effective.
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Professional Profiles
of the Members of the Board of Directors

Il |

Banking
Risk/NPLs
Audit

Financial Markets
Industry

B International Activities

The table depicts the various sectors in which the Members of the

Board of Directors possess professional experience.

Age Range
of the Members of the Board of Directors

15%

39%

B 50-60
B 61-70

over 70

Nationality
of the Members of the Board Of Directors
8%
8% -
53%

8%

8%
B Greek B French Dutch
B British B Belgian B American

Educational Profiles
of the Members of Board of Directors

8%

15%
62%

15%

B Business Administration/Economics

Law

B Degree in another subject (Political Science) /
Other professional qualification
Mathematics, Physics, Engineering,
other quantitative field of study
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Gender Diversity
in the Board of Directors

8%

92%

B Male

B Female

The Board of Directors’ actual target in relation to the female
gender representation on the Board is to reach at least 30%
in the next three (3) years, while always considering industry
trends and best practices. The Corporate Governance and
Nominations Committee has informed accordingly the Board
of Directors and has made the achievement of the said target
a priority when nominating candidates.

All the candidates for the Board of Directors are assessed on
the basis of the same criteria, irrespective of gender, since

the eligible Members for the Board of Directors must fulfil

all the conditions set in relation to their qualifications. In this
context, men and women have equal opportunities to be
nominated, under the condition that they fulfil all the other
prerequisites. The Bank does not nominate Members to the
Board of Directors with the sole purpose of increasing diversity
to the detriment of the functioning and suitability of the Board
of Directors collectively or at the expense of the suitability of
individual Members of the Board of Directors.

2. Personnel

To Alpha Bank, the provision of equal opportunities for
employment and advancement to all its Employees is not
merely a legal obligation, but also a comerstone of its Human
Resources policy. This Policy is incorporated in the Human
Resources management procedures and practices and
ensures the implementation thereof in every country where
the Bank is present.

Seeking to implement gender equality in action and to
address the issue of the low percentage of women in positions
of responsibility, issues which are typical of the Greek

labour market, the Bank takes a number of measures which

help its Employees balance their professional and family
life, while also promoting equitable treatment and merit-
based Personnel advancement, with equal advancement
opportunities for female Employees.

The Bank applies a uniform, gender-neutral salary policy to all
categories of Personnel.

The Bank respects and defends the diversity of its Employees
irrespective of gender, age, nationality, political and religious
convictions or any other discrimination. Further to the above-
mentioned principles, the Bank recognises the need for
diversity pertaining to skills, background, knowledge and
experience in order to facilitate constructive discussion and
independent thinking. It ensures top-quality work conditions
and opportunities for advancement that are based on merit
and equitable treatment. It offers fair remuneration, based
on contracts which are in agreement with the conditions

of the corresponding national labour market and ensures
compliance with the respective national regulations, inter alia,
on minimum pay, working hours and the granting of leave.

Further to the above, the Bank defends human rights and
opposes all forms of child, forced or compulsory labour.
The Bank respects employee rights and is committed to
safequarding them fully, in accordance with the national
and the European Union Law and the Conventions of the
International Labour Organization.

Employees in position of Responsibility* as of
31.12.2018

Age Breakdown as of 31.12.2018
Gender 18-25| 26-40| 41-50 51+| Total| Percentage
Male 43 263 200| 506 63.65%
Female 22 199 68| 289 36.35%
Total: 65 462 268| 795 100%
Percentage 8.18%|58.11%| 33.71%| 100%

Breakdown

Educational level as of 31.12.2018 | Percentage
Postgraduate Studies
(Master’s, PhD) 319 40.13%
Tertiary Education (graduates of
Universities or Technological
Education Institutes) 253 31.82%
High School (Lyceum) graduates 223 28.05%
Total 795 100%

* Positions of Responsibility are defined as the positions from Branch
Manager and above.

The percentage and number of Employees in managerial
positions per educational level point out that Employees in
managerial positions holding postgraduate degrees represent
in 2018 the highest percentage, i.e. 40.13%.
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G. REMUNERATION POLICY

The Remuneration Policy is consistent with the values,
business strategy, objectives and, in general, the long-
term interests of the Bank and the Group Companies and
complies, inter alia, with the dictates of Law 4261/2014,
Law 4548/2018 and Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 of the
European Parliament and of the Council of the European
Union of 26 June 2013.

In particular, in the context of effective risk management,
the Policy discourages excessive risk taking and prevents or
minimises the emergence of conflicts of interest which are
to the detriment of the proper, wise and moral management
of risks. It also correlates the remuneration received by the
Human Resources of the Bank and Group Companies with
the risks they undertake and manage.

For the determination of the fixed remuneration, further to
the provisions of the labour legislation and the collective
labour agreements, the market practices and the significance

of each position are also taken into account. In order to
establish an objective and fair Remuneration Policy, the
assessment of job positions is required. Furthermore,

the performance management system motivates the
achievement of outstanding long-term results without
encouraging excessive risk taking. More specifically, the
evaluation of the performance of an Executive takes into
account the achievement of his/her goals, which include
operational results, adherence to internal procedures,
customer relations and subordinates management,

but also includes qualitative criteria relating to his/her
personality demonstrated in the performance of his/her
duties. The proper and selective implementation of the
variable remuneration policy is considered a necessary
tool of Human Resources Management and is required for
attracting and/or keeping Executives at Bank and Group
level, thus contributing significantly to the achievement of
the long-term business objectives of the Bank and the Group
Companies.

Information on the Remuneration of the Members of the Board of Directors for the year 2018

1.1-31.12.2018),ina

lication of Requlation (EU) No 575/2013, article 450

Members of the Board of Directors

Non-Executive Executive
Number of beneficiaries 10 5
Fixed remuneration total (amounts in Euro) 1,022,250.07 1,491,494.20

Variable remuneration total split into:

Cash

Shares

Share-linked instruments

Other types

Amounts of outstanding deferred remuneration split into:

Vested

Unvested

through performance adjustments

Amounts of deferred remuneration awarded during the financial year, paid out and reduced

Number of beneficiaries of new sign-on payments

Total amount of new sign-on payments

Number of beneficiaries of severance payments

Total amount of severance payments

Highest severance amount awarded to a single person

Athens, 28 March 2019

THE CHAIRMAN
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

VASILEIOS T. RAPANOS
ID No Al 666242
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders of Alpha Bank S.A.

Report on the Audit of the Separate and Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying separate and consolidated financial statements of Alpha Bank S.A. (the
Bank) and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the separate and consolidated balance sheet as at 31
December 2018, and the separate and consolidated statements of income and comprehensive income, changes
in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the separate and consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying separate and consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the separate and consolidated financial position of the Bank and the Group as at 31 December 2018
and its separate and consolidated financial performance and its separate and consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), as endorsed by the
European Union.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as these have been
incorporated into the Greek legislation. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
“Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Separate and Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our
report. We have been independent of the Bank and the Group during the whole period of our appointment in
accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (IESBA Code) as incorporated into the Greek legislation and the ethical requirements in Greece
relevant to the audit of the separate and consolidated financial statements and we have fulfilled our ethical
requirements in accordance with the applicable legislation and the above mentioned Code of Ethics. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit
of the separate and consolidated financial statements of the current year. These matters and the assessed
risks of material misstatements were addressed in the context of our audit of the separate and consolidated
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.
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Key audit matters

How our audit addressed the Key audit matters

Allowance for loans and advances to customers
at amortized cost

Loans and advances to customers at amortized cost of the
Bank and the Group amounted to € 35,311 million for the
Bank and € 39,910 million for the Group at 31 December
2018 (€38,521 million for the Bank and € 43,318 million
for the Group at 31 December 2017), and impairment
losses on loans (charge for the period) amounted to €
1,440 million for the Bank and € 1,656 million for the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 (€ 810
million for the Bank and € 1,033 million for the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2017).

From 1 January 2018, the Group has adopted IFRS 9,
resulting in impairment charges being recognised when
the losses are expected rather than when they have been
incurred.

Measurement of the allowance for impairments on loans
and advances to customers at amortized cost is
considered a key audit matter given the magnitude of the
specific account balance, as well as the fact that the
determination of the assumptions used is highly
subjective, due to the high level of judgement applied by
Management for expected credit losses (ECL). Moreover,
there is a significant increase in models used and data
inputs required for the impairment calculations and there
is limited experience available to perform back testing of
ECL calculations with actual results.

The Bank and the Group establish allowances for
impairments on loans and advances to customers at
amortized cost for expected credit losses on both an
individual and on a collective basis.

Key judgements and estimates in respect of the
timing and measurement of expected credit
losses (ECL) include:

e Accounting interpretations and modeling assumptions
used in the expected credit loss models to assess the
credit risk related to the exposure and the expected
future cash flows of the customer.

e Inputs and assumptions used to estimate the impact of
multiple economic scenarios.

e Timely identification of exposures with significant
increase in credit risk and credit impaired exposures.

e Valuation of collateral and assumptions of future cash
flows on individually assessed credit-impaired
exposures, including the assessment of multiple
scenarios.

¢ Valuation of post model adjustments.

e Accuracy and adequacy of the financial statement
disclosures.

Management has provided further information about
principles and accounting policies for determining the
allowance for impairment on loans and advances to
customers at amortized cost, management of credit risk
and the review of impairment and charges for impairment
on loans and advances to customers at amortized cost in
Notes 1.13, 11, 19 and 40 to the separate and Notes
1.14, 11, 19 and 43 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Based on our risk assessment and following a risk-based
approach, we have evaluated the impairment
methodologies applied and assumptions made by
Management in relation to this key audit matter, which
included, inter alia, the following audit procedures:

* Assessed design and implementation of internal controls
relevant to the audit, including controls around
methodologies applied, risk models used, significant
assumptions employed by Management, accuracy and
completeness of data inputs and model calculations as
well as controls over manual processes for valuation of
collateral and assumptions of future cash flows for
individually assessed exposures.

e Assessed the appropriateness of impairment
provisioning methodologies and policies adopted by
Management (including SICR criteria used).

e With the support of our credit risk and modeling
specialist, obtained and tested evidence to support the
appropriateness of probability of default, loss given
default and exposure at default assumptions. For a
sample of models, we assessed the reasonableness of
the model predictions by comparing them against actual
results.

e With the support of our internal credit risk and modeling
specialists, we assessed the base case and alternative
economic scenarios, including challenging probability
weights. We assessed whether forecasted
macroeconomic variables were appropriate such as
GDP, unemployment rate, Residential Real Estate Price
Index and Commercial Real Estate Price Index.

e Obtained and tested evidence of timely identification of
exposures with significant increase in credit risk and
timely identification of credit impaired exposures.

e On a sample basis assessed the reasonableness of
significant assumptions used in the measurement of
impairment of individually assessed exposures,
including valuation of collaterals (where we also made
use of our real estate specialist) as well as assumptions
used for estimating future discounted cash flows.

* Assessed the appropriateness of post model
adjustments based on the current economic conditions,
market circumstances and Management’s actions by:

- Assessing the key developments against historical data.

- Assessing the reasonableness of the different identified
post model adjustments by challenging key assumptions
using our industry knowledge and experience.

- Inspecting calculation methodology.

e We assessed whether the disclosures appropriately
disclose and address the uncertainty, which exists when
determining the expected credit losses. As a part of
this, we assessed the sensitivity analysis that is
disclosed. In addition, we assessed whether the
disclosure of the key judgements and assumptions
made was sufficiently clear.
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Deferred Tax Asset Recoverability

The Bank and the Group have recognized a deferred tax
asset of € 5,340 million and € 5,291 million respectively
as at 31 December 2018 compared to € 4,282 million and
€ 4,331 million respectively as at 31 December 2017, out
of which an amount of € 164 million and € 179 million
respectively as at 31 December 2018 relates to deferred
tax on carried forward tax losses, compared to € 305
million and € 325 million respectively as at 31 December
2017.

Measurement of the deferred tax asset is deemed a key
audit matter as it requires assumptions and forecasts on
future taxable profits, evaluation of historical tax losses,
which may not be appropriate under the circumstances.

Management has provided further information about the
deferred tax asset in Notes 1.31.3 and 25 to the separate
and Notes 1.33.3 and 25 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Based on our risk assessment, we have evaluated the
method used to determine the amount of deferred tax
asset recognized and examined the budgets and
assumptions prepared by Management relating to the
future taxable profits.

Our examination included the following elements where
we also made use of our tax specialists:

e Assessing the design and implementation of the
internal controls relevant to the audit, around the
preparation and review of budgets and forecasts,
including the internal controls over the significant
assumptions, inputs, calculation and methodologies
used.

. Evaluating Management’s assessment of recent
changes to the tax law affecting deferred tax
balances.

e Challenging the reasonableness of Management'’s
significant assumptions and forecasts of future
profits and how these affect the deferred tax balance
in light of the historical accuracy of such forecasts
and current results.

General Information Technology Controls systems and

internal controls over financial reporting

The Bank'’s and the Group’s financial reporting processes
are highly dependent on Information Technology (“IT")
systems supporting automated accounting and
reconciliation procedures, thus leading to a complex IT
environment, pervasive in nature in which a significant
number of transactions are processed daily, across
numerous locations.

This is a key audit matter since it is important that
controls over access security, system change control and
data center and network operations, are designed and
operate effectively to ensure complete and accurate
financial records/information.

Based on our risk assessment, we have tested the design
and operating effectiveness of General Information
Technology Controls (GITCs) relevant for financial
reporting. Our assessment included the evaluation of
access over applications, operating systems and
databases, the process followed over changes made to
information systems, as well as data center and network
operations.

In summary, our key audit activities included, among
others, testing of:

. User access provisioning and de-provisioning
process

. Privileged access to applications, operating systems
and databases

. Periodic review of user access right process

. Change management process over applications,
operating systems and databases (i.e. user request,
user acceptance testing and final approval for
promotion to production).

. Data center and network operations.
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Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information, included in the Annual Report
prepared in accordance with Law 3556/2007, comprises the Board of Directors Report, referred to in the
section “Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements”, the Statement by the Members of the Board
of Directors, the Explanatory Report of the Board of Directors and the Corporate Governance Report but does
not include the separate and consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the separate and consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and
we will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the separate and consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to
read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the separate and consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If based on the work we have performed we conclude that there is a
material misstatement in this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Separate and
Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the separate and consolidated
financial statements in accordance with IFRSs, as endorsed by the European Union, and for such internal
control as Management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of separate and consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the separate and consolidated financial statements, Management is responsible for assessing
the Bank’s and the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless Management either intends to
liquidate the Bank and the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee (article 44 of Law 4449/2017) of the Bank is responsible for overseeing the Bank’s and
Group’s financial reporting process.



Deloitte

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Separate and Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the separate and consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs, as these have been transposed into the Greek
legislation, will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these separate and consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, as these have been transposed into the Greek legislation, we
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.

We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the separate and consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Bank’s and Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by Management.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of Management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s and Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the separate and consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Bank and the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the separate and consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the separate and consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the separate and consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.



Deloitte

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the separate and consolidated financial statements of the current year
and are therefore the key audit matters.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1) Board of Director’s Report
Taking into consideration that Management is responsible for the preparation of the Board of Director’s
report which also includes the Corporate Governance Statement, according to the provisions of
paragraph 5 of article 2 (part B) of Law 4336/2015 we note the following:

a) The Board of Director’s report includes the Corporate Governance Statement which provides the
information required by article 43bb of Greek Codified Law 2190/1920.

b) In our opinion, the Board of Director’s report has been prepared in accordance with the applicable
legal requirements of article 43a and 107a and paragraph 1 (cases c and d) of article 43bb of Greek
Codified Law 2190/1920 and its content is consistent with the accompanying separate and
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018.

c) Based on the knowledge we obtained during our audit of the Bank and the Group and its
environment, we have not identified any material inconsistencies in the Board of Director’s Report.

2) Additional Report to the Audit Committee
Our audit opinion on the separate and consolidated financial statements is consistent with the additional
report to the Audit Committee referred to in Article 11 of the European Union (EU) Regulation 537/2014.
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements — Continued

3) Non-audit Services

We have not provided to the Bank and the Group any prohibited non-audit services referred to in Article
5 of EU Regulation 537/2014.

The allowable non-audit services provided to the Bank and the Group by Deloitte Certified Public
Accountants S.A., which is a member firm of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited ("DTTL"), during the
year ended 31 December 2018 are disclosed in Note 44 and 47 to the separate and consolidated
financial statements respectively. In addition, allowable non-audit services amounting to € 0.034 million
and € 0.180 million have been provided to the Bank and the Group respectively by other member firms
of DTTL and their respective affiliates.

4) Appointment
We were first appointed as statutory auditors by the General Assembly of the Shareholders of Alpha
Bank S.A. on 30 June 2017. The year ended 31 December 2018 is the second year we serve as
statutory auditors.

Athens, 28 March 2019

The Certified Public Accountant

Alexandra V. Kostara

Reg. No. SOEL: 19981

Deloitte Certified Public Accountants S.A.
3a Fragoklissias & Granikou Str.

151 25 Maroussi

Reg. No. SOEL: E120

Deloitte Certified Public Accountants S.A., Deloitte Business Solutions S.A., Deloitte Business Process Solutions Societe Anonyme for the Provision of Accounting
Services and Deloitte Alexander Competence Center S.A. are the Greek member firms of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited, a UK private company limited by
guarantee ("DTTL"). “Deloitte Certified Public Accountants S.A.” provides audit and risk advisory services, “Deloitte Business Solutions S.A.” financial advisory, tax
and consulting services and “Deloitte Business Process Solutions Societe Anonyme for the Provision of Accounting Services” accounting outsourcing services.
“Deloitte Alexander Competence Center S.A.” based in Thessaloniki is a center of innovation providing financial advisory, tax, consulting and risk advisory services.

“Koimtzoglou-Bakalis-Venieris-Leventis & Associates Law Partnership” ("KBVL Law Firm") is a Greek law partnership qualified to provide legal services and advice in
Greece.

Co.Reg. No: 001223601000

© 2019. For information, contact Deloitte Greece.
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@ ALPHA BANK GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT 31.12.2018

Consolidated Income Statement

(Amounts in thousands of Euro)

FROM 1 JANUARY TO

Note 31.12.2018 31.12.2017
Interest and similar income 2 2,278,188 2,514,338
Interest expense and similar charges 2 (522,143) (571,746)
Net interest income 2 1,756,045 1,942,592
Fee and commission income 409,388 395,490
Commission expense (74,217) (71,996)
Net fee and commission income 3 335,171 323,494
Dividend income 4 1,344 1,435
Gain less losses on derecognition of financial assets measured at amortised cost 6 (117)
Gains less losses on financial transactions and impairments on Group companies 5 462,789 144,702
Other income 7 49,690 54,508
Total other income 513,706 200,645
Total income 2,604,922 2,466,731
Staff costs 8 (475,325) (474,378)
Provision for separation schemes - (92,719)
General administrative expenses 9 (532,355) (554,960)
Depreciation and amortization 22,23,24 (102,027) (99,743)
Other expenses 10 (52,656) (71,234)
Total expenses before impairment losses and provisions to cover credit risk (1,162,363) | (1,293,034)
Impairment losses and provisions to cover credit risk 11,12 (1,730,647) (1,005,415)
Share of profit/(loss) of associates and joint ventures 21 (1,265) (3,162)
Profit/(loss) before income tax (289,353) 165,120
Income tax 13 342,312 (75,611)
Profit/(loss) after income tax, from continuing operations 52,959 89,509
Profit/(loss) after income tax, from discontinued operations (68,457)
Profit/(loss) after income tax 52,959 21,052
Profit/(loss) attributable to:
Equity owners of the Bank
from continuing operations 14 52961 89,528
from discontinued operations 14 (68,457)

52,961 21,071

Non-controlling interests
from continuing operations (2) (19)
Earnings/(losses) per share
Basic and diluted (€ per share) 14 0.03 0.01
Basic and diluted from continuing operations (€ per share) 14 0.03 0.06
Basic and diluted from discontinued operations (€ per share) 14 (0.04)

The attached notes (pages 71-296) form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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@ ALPHA BANK

GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT 31.12.2018

Consolidated Balance Sheet

(Amounts in thousands of Euro)

Note 31.12.2018 31.12.2017*
Assets
Cash and balances with central banks 15 1,928,205 1,593,850
Due from banks 16 2,500,492 1,715,649
Trading securities 17 8,339 8,685
Derivative financial assets 18 725,173 622,536
Loans and advances to customers 19 40,228,319 43318,193
Investment securities 20
- Measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 20a 6,961,822
- Measured at fair value through profit or loss 20b 42,794
- Available for sale 20c 5,873,768
- Held to maturity 20d 10,870
Investments in associates and joint ventures 21 23,194 18,886
Investment property 22 493,161 553,343
Property, plant and equipment 23 734,663 733,833
Goodwill and other intangible assets 24 434,093 389,809
Deferred tax assets 25 5,290,763 4,330,602
Other assets 26 1,363,685 1,348,785
60,734,703 60,518,809
Assets held for sale 49 272,037 288,977
Total Assets 61,006,740 | 60,807,786
Liabilities
Due to banks 27 10,456,359 13,141,531
Derivative financial liabilities 18 1,147,895 1,029,421
Due to customers (including debt securities in issue) 28 38,731,835 34,890,436
Debt securities in issue held by institutional investors and other barrowed funds 29 943,334 655,567
Liabilities for current income tax and other taxes 30 41,272 42,761
Deferred tax liabilities 25 18,681 24,997
Employee defined benefit obligations 31 86,744 92,038
Other liabilities 32 908,515 870,682
Provisions 33 527,386 433,240
52,862,021 51,180,673
Liabilities related to assets held for sale 49 1,603 422
Total Liabilities 52,863,624 | 51,181,095
EQUITY
Equity attributable to equity owners of the Bank
Share capital 34 463,110 463,110
Share premium 35 10,801,029 10,801,029
Reserves 36 460,025 809,073
Amounts recognized directly in equity related to assets held for sale 36 (122) (122)
Retained earnings 37 (3,624,847) (2,490,040)
8,099,195 9,583,050
Non-controlling interests 28,814 28,534
Hybrid securities 38 15,107 15,107
Total Equity 8,143,116 9,626,691
Total Liabilities and Equity 61,006,740 | 60,807,786

* The consolidated balance sheet of the comparative year has been restated due to the reclassification of specific account balances, as descriped

in detail in note 52.

The attached notes (pages 71-296) form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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@ ALPHA BANK GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT 31.12.2018

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

(Amounts in thousands of Euro)

FROM 1 JANUARY TO
Note 31.12.2018 31.12.2017
Profit/(loss), after income tax, recognized in the Income Statement 52,959 21,052
Other comprehensive income
Amounts that may be reclassified to the Income Statement
Net change in available for sale securities reserve 509,224
Net change in securities reserves measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (556,366)
Net change in cash flow hedge reserve (2,719) 52,774
Exchange differences on translating and hedging the net investment in foreign operations 11,002 (2,192)
Net change in the share of other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures (149) 72
Income tax 13 159,240 (155,234)
Amounts that may be reclassified in the Income Statement from continuing operations (388,992) 404,644
Amounts that may be reclassified in the Income Statement from discontinued
operations 49 - 68,457
Amounts that will not be reclassified in the Income Statement from continuing
operations
Net change in actuarial gains/(losses) of defined benefit obligations 1,171 198
Gains/(losses) from shares measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (7,314)
Income tax 13 493 (56)
(5,650) 142
Amouqts that will not be reclassified in the Income Statement from discontinued
operations
Net change in actuarial gains/(losses) of defined benefit obligations (200)
Income tax 30
- (170)
Total of other comprehensive income recognized directly in equity, after income tax 13 (394,642) 473,073
Total comprehensive income for the year, after income tax (341,683) 494,125
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:
Equity owners of the Bank
- from continuing operations (341,681) 494,149
- from discontinued operations
(341,681) 494,149
Non controlling interests:
- from continuing operations (2) (24)

The attached notes (pages 71-296) form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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@ ALPHA BANK

GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT 31.12.2018

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

(Amounts in thousands of Euro)

Note

Share
capital

Share
premium

Reserves

Retained
earnings

Total

Non-
controlling
interests

Hybrid
securities

Total

Balancel.1.2017

461,064

10,790,870

332,061

(2,506,711)

9,077,284

20,997

15,132

9,113,413

Changes for
the year 1.1 -
31.12.2017

Profit for the year,
after income tax

21,071

21,071

21,052

Other comprehensive
income after income
tax

473,105

(27)

473,078

473,073

Total
comprehensive
income for the year,
after income tax

473,105

21,044

494,149

(24)

494,125

Conversion of
convertible bond loan
into shares

2,046

10,159

12,205

12,205

Share capital
increase expenses,
after income tax

(560)

(560)

(560)

Purchases/sales
and change of
ownership interests
in subsidiaries

and share capital
increases of
subsidiaries

(26)

7,561

7,535

(Purchases),
(redemptions)/sales
of hybrid securities,
after income tax

Appropriation of
reserves

3,785

(3,785)

Other

()

Balance
31.12.2017

463,110

10,801,029

808,951

(2,490,040)

9,583,050

28,534

15,107

9,626,691

The attached notes (pages 71-296) form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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@ ALPHA BANK GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT 31.12.2018

(Amounts in thousands of Euro)

Non-

% Share Share Retained controlling Hybrid

=z capital premium Reserves earnings Total interests securities Total
Balance
31.12.2017 463,110 10,801,029 808,951 (2,490,040) | 9,583,050 28,534 15,107 | 9,626,691
Impact from the
implementation of 44
IFRS9 as at 1.1.2018 37,059 (1,179,336) | (1,142,277) (1,142,277)
Balance 1.1.2018 463,110 10,801,029 846,010 (3,669,376) | 8,440,773 28,534 15,107 | 8,484,414
Changes

for the year
1.1-31.12.2018

Profit for the year,
after income tax 52,961 52961 (2) 52,959

Other comprehensive
income after income
tax (388,992) (5650)| (394,642) (394,642)

Total
comprehensive
income for the year,
after income tax - - (388,992) 47,311 | (341,681) (2)

Purchases/sales
and change of
ownership interests
in subsidiaries

and share capital
increases of
subsidiaries (198) (198) 282 84

Appropriation of
reserves 2,885 (2,885) - -

Other 301 301 301

Balance
31.12.2018 463,110 10,801,029 459,903 (3,624,847) | 8,099,195 28,814 15,107 | 8,143,116

(341,683)

The attached notes (pages 71-296) form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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@ ALPHA BANK GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT 31.12.2018

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

(Amounts in thousands of Euro)

FROM 1 JANUARY TO
Note 31.12.2018 31.12.2017*
Cash flows from continuing operating activities
Profits/(Losses) before income tax (289,353) 165,120
Adjustments for gains/(losses) before income tax for:
Depreciation/impairment/write-offs of fixed assets 89,557 128,998
Amortization/impairment/write-offs of intangible assets 59,910 51,930
Impairment losses on financial assets and other provisions 1,766,576 1,157,336
Result from sales of loans and debt to equity transactions (2,606)
Valuation of financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 68,272 (204,486)
(Gains)/losses from investing activities (635,858) (307,163)
(Gains)/losses from financing activities 51,007 (15,769)
Share of (profit)/loss of associates and joint ventures 21 1,265 3,162
1,108,770 979,128
Net (increase)/decrease in assets relating to continuing operating activities
Due from banks (142,653) 506,008
Trading securities and derivative financial assets (13,529) (41,744)
Loans and advances to customers (558,712) (49,968)
Other assets 337,225 127,998
Net increase/(decrease) in liabilities relating to continuing operating activities:
Due to banks (2,685,172) (5,964,046)
Due to customers 3,884,520 1,926,601
Other liabilities (42,607) (32,359)
Net cash flows from continuing operating activities before taxes 1,888,242 | (2,548,382)
Income taxes and other taxes paid (30,789) (13,748)
Net cash flows from continuing operating activities 1,857,453 | (2,562,130)
Net cash flows from discontinued operating activities - 7,010
Cash flows from continuing investing activities
Investments in associates and joint ventures 21 (5,722) (9,380)
Amounts received from disposal of subsidiaries 2,100 63,636
Dividends received 4 1,344 1,435
Acquisitions of fixed and intangible assets 22,23,24 (174,114) (145,575)
Disposals of fixed and intangible assets 38,827 54,558
Interest received on investment portfolio securities 59,032 145,141
Purchases of Greek State treasury bills (2,164,218) (3,356,877)
Disposals/maturity of Greek State treasury bills 2,594,944 3678213
Purchases of investment securities (excluding Greek state treasury bills) (4,822,335) (2,761,629)
Disposals/Maturity of investment securities (excluding Greek state treasury bills) 3,394,118 5,183,187
Net cash flows from continuing investing activities (1,076,024) 2,852,709
Net cash flows from discontinued investing activities - (52,684)
Cash flows from continuing financing activities
Receipts of debt securities in issue and other borrowed funds 512,279 218,587
Repayments of debt securities in issue and other borrowed funds (300,877) (152,566)
Interests paid for debt securities in issue and other borrowed funds (18,163) (11,879)
Share capital increase expenses (639)
Net cash flows from continuing financing activities 193,239 53,503
Effect of exchange rate differences on cash and cash equivalents 11643 (12,463)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash flows from continuing activities 986,311 331,619
Net increase/(decrease) in cash flows from discontinued activities - (45,674)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 15 1,260,833 974,888
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 15 2,247,144 1,260,833

* Certain figures of the previous year have been restated for comparability purposes.

The attached notes (pages 71-296) form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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@ ALPHA BANK GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT 31.12.2018

Notes to the Financial Statements
GENERAL INFORMATION

The Alpha Bank Group, which includes companies in Greece and abroad, offers the following services: corporate and retail
banking, financial services, investment banking and brokerage services, real estate management, hotel services.

The Bank operates under the brand name of Alpha Bank A.E. using the sign of Alpha Bank. The Bank’s registered office is 40
Stadiou Street, Athens and is listed in the General Commercial Register with registration number 223701000 (ex societe
anonyme registration number 6066/06/B/86/05). The Bank’s duration is until 2100 but may be extended by the General
Meeting of Shareholders.

In accordance with article 4 of the Articles of Incorporation, the Bank’s objective is to engage, on its own account or on behalf
of third parties, in Greece and abroad, independently or collectively, including joint ventures with third parties, in any and

all (main and secondary) operations, activities, transactions and services allowed to credit institutions, in conformity with
whatever rules and regulations (domestic, community, foreign) may be in force each time. In order to serve this objective,

the Bank may perform any kind of action, operation or transaction which, directly or indirectly, is pertinent, complementary or
auxiliary to the purposes mentioned above.

The tenure of the Board of Directors which was elected by the Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders on 29.6.2018 expires
in 2022.

The Board of Directors as at December 31, 2018, consists of:

CHAIRMAN (Non Executive Member) NON-EXECUTIVE INDEPENDENT MEMBERS
Vasileios T. Rapanos Jean L. Cheval */*/****

EXECUTIVE MEMBERS Carolyn Adele G. Dittmeier */***

Richard R. Gildea **/***
MANAGING DIRECTOR Shahzad A Shahbaz
Demetrios P. Mantzounis

Jan Oscar A. Vanhevel */***
DEPUTY MANAGING DIRECTORS NON-EXECUTIVE MEMBER
Spyros N. Filaretos (COO0) B

Arternios Ch-Theodoridis (in accordance with the requirements of Law

George C. Aronis 3864/2010)
Johannes Herman Frederic G. Umbgrove */*/***/***
GENERAL MANAGER

Vassilios E. Psaltis SECRETARY

George P. Triantafyllides
NON-EXECUTIVE MEMBER

Efthimios O. Vidalis */**/****

It is noted that, during the Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders held on 29.6.2018, the Managing Director - CEQ of the
Bank, Mr D. P. Mantzounis announced his intention to initiate his succession. On 29.11.2018, the Board of Directors unanimously
elected Mr V. E. Psaltis as a Member of the Board of Directors, who took over as Chief Executive Officer on 2.1.2019. Additionally,
from 2.1.2019, Mr D. P. Mantzounis has been placed as a Non Executive Member of the Board of Directors.

* Member of the Audit Committee

" Member of the Remuneration Committee

“ Member of the Risk Management Committee

“ Member of Corporate Governance and Nominations Committee
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@ ALPHA BANK GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT 31.12.2018

The Executive Committee is the senior executive body of the Bank. The indicative main responsibilities include the overall
service model of the Bank and the Group, three-year Business Plan, major investment and de-investment decisions, Credit
and Operational Risk Policies, the Human Resources Policy, Capital allocation to Business, High-level Communication issues
and major issues of the Board of Directors.

The executive Committee as of 31.12.2018 consists of the following Executive members:

MANAGING DIRECTOR
Demetrios P. Mantzounis

DEPUTY MANAGING DIRECTORS

Spyros N. Filaretos (CO0)

Artemios Ch. Theodoridis - Non-Performing Loans and Treasury Management
George C. Aronis — Retail and Wholesale Banking

GENERAL MANAGERS
Vassilios E. Psaltis- CFO
Spyridon A. Andronikakis - CRO

On 2.1.2019 Mr. Vassilios E. Psaltis was appointed as Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Mr Lazaros A. Papagaryfallou as
General Manager - Chief Financial Officer (CFO). On 11.2.2019, Mr. Sergiu A. Oprescu was appointed as General Manager of
International Network and on 1.3.2019 Mr. Nikolaos V. Salakas as General Manager, Chief Legal and Governance Officer. The
aforementioned new General Managers will be members of Alpha Bank’s Executive Committee, effective from the date of
their appointment.
The Bank’s shares are listed in the Athens Stock Exchange since 1925 and are included among the companies with the higher
market capitalization. Additionally, the Bank’s share is included in a series of international indices, such as MSCI Emerging
Markets Index, the FTSE All World and the FTSE4Good Emerging Index.
Apart from the Greek listing, the shares of the Bank are traded over the counter in New York (ADRs).
Total ordinary shares inissue as at 31 December 2018 were 1,543,699,381. In Athens Stock Exchange are traded
1,374,525,214 ordinary shares of the Bank, while the Hellenic Financial Stability Fund (“HFSF”) possesses the remaining
169,174,167 ordinary, registered, voting, paperless shares or percentage equal to 10.96% on the total of ordinary shares
issued by the Bank. The exercise of the voting rights for the shares of HFSF is subject to restrictions according to the article 7a
of Law 3864/2010.
During the year of 2018, the average volume of shares trade stood at € 6,621,469.
The credit rating of the Bank performed by three international credit rating agencies is as follows:

Moody’s: Caa2 (Caal from 5.3.2019)

Fitch Ratings: CCG+

Standard & Poor’s: B-

These financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2019.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES APPLIED

1.1 Basis of presentation
These financial statements relate to the fiscal year 1.1-31.12.2018 and they have been prepared:

a) in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the European Union, in accordance
with Regulation 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and the Council of the European Union on 19 July 2002 and

g

on the historical cost convention. As an exception, certain assets and liabilities are measured at fair value. Those assets
are mainly the following:

- Securities held for trading
- Derivative financial instruments

- Loans and advances to customers measured at fair value through profit or loss (applicable to the current reporting
period)

- Investment securities measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (applicable to the current
reporting period)

- Available for sale securities (applicable to 2017)
- Investment securities measured at fair value through profit or loss (applicable to the current reporting period)

- The convertible bond issued by the Bank which, until its conversion into shares that took place in the first quarter of
the previous year, was included in “Debt securities in issue held by institutional investors and other borrowed funds”.

The financial statements are presented in Euro, rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated.

The accounting policies for the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied by the Group to
the years 2017 and 2018. However, the adoption of IFRS 9 resulted in significant modifications to the accounting policies
for financial assets and liabilities. Accounting policies applied until 31.12.2017 are presented in note 1.32. Comparative
information for 2017 was not restated, as permitted by IFRS 9. In addition, the accounting policies applied in the current
reporting period took into account the following new standards and amendments to standards as well as IFRIC 22 which
were issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), adopted by the European Union and applied on
1.1.2018:

» Amendment to International Financial Reporting Standard 2 “Share-based Payment”: Classification and
Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions (Regulation 2018/289/26.2.2018)

0On 20.6.2016 the International Accounting Standards Board issued an amendment to IFRS 2 with which the following were
clarified:

- in estimating the fair value of a cash-settled share-based payment, the accounting for the effects of vesting and non-
vesting conditions shall follow the same approach as for equity-settled share-based payments,

- where tax law requires an entity to withhold a specified amount of tax (that constitutes a tax obligation of the
employee) that relates to share-based payments and shall be remitted to the tax authority, such an arrangement shall
be classified as equity-settled in its entirety, provided that the share-based payment would have been classified as
equity-settled had it not included the net settlement feature,

- if the terms and conditions of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction are modified with the result that it
becomes an equity-settled share-based payment transaction, the transaction is accounted for as such from the date
of the modification.

The above amendment had no impact on the financial statements of the Group.

» Amendment to International Financial Reporting Standard 4 “Insurance Contracts”: Applying IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts (Reqgulation 2017/1988/3.11.2017)
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0n 12.9.2016 the International Accounting Standards Board issued an amendment to IFRS 4 with which:

- It provides insurers, whose activities are predominantly connected with insurance, with a temporary exemption from
application of IFRS 9 until 1.1.2021 and

- following full adoption of IFRS 9 and until applying IFRS 17, it gives all entities with insurance contracts the option to
present changes in fair value on qualifying designated financial assets in other comprehensive income instead of profit
or loss.

The above amendment had no impact on Group’s financial statements since the Group did not make use of the above
exceptions to the application of IFRS 9.

» International Financial Reporting Standard 9 “Financial Instruments” (Regulation 2016/2067/22.11.2016)

0n 24.7.2014, the International Accounting Standards Board completed the issuance of the final text of IFRS S
“Financial Instruments”, which replaced the existing IAS 39. The new standard provides for significant differentiations in
the classification and measurement of financial instruments as well as in hedge accounting. An indication of the new
requirements is presented below:

Classification and measurement

Financial instruments shall be classified, after initial recognition, at either amortised cost or at fair value. The criteria that
should be considered for the initial classification of the financial assets are the following:

i. The entity’s business model for managing the financial assets. Three categories of Business Models are defined:
Hold to collect contractual cash flows
Hold to collect and sell
Other

and

ii. The contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets.

A financial asset shall be measured at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:

the instrument is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows and

the contractual terms of the asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding.

If an instrument meets the above criteria but is held with the objective of both selling and collecting contractual cash flows it
shall be classified as measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Financial assets that are not included in any of the above two categories are mandatorily measured at fair value though
profit or loss.

In addition, IFRS 9 permits, at initial recognition, equity instruments to be classified at fair value through other comprehensive
income. The option precludes equity instruments held for trading. Moreover, with regards to embedded derivatives, if the
hybrid contact contains a host that is within the scope of IFRS 9, the embedded derivative shall not be separated and the
accounting treatment of the hybrid contact should be based on the above requirements for the classification of the financial
instruments.

With regards to the financial liabilities, the main difference is that the change in the fair value of a financial liability initially
designated at fair value through profit or loss shall be recognised in profit or loss with the exception of the effect of change in
the liability’s credit risk which shall be recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

Impairment

Contrary to IAS 39, under which an entity recognizes only incurred credit losses, the new standard requires the recognition
of expected credit losses. In particular, on initial recognition of an asset, 12-month expected credit losses are recognized.
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However, in case the credit risk of the issuers has increased significantly since initial recognition as well as in cases of
purchased or originated credit impaired assets lifetime expected credit losses are recognized.

Hedging
The new requirements for hedge accounting are more aligned with the entity’s risk management. The main changes in
relation to the current requirements of IAS 39 are summarized below:

more items become eligible for participating in a hedging relationship either as hedging instruments or as hedged items,

the requirement for hedge effectiveness tests to be within the range of 80%-125% is removed. Hedge effectiveness
test is performed progressively only and under certain circumstances a qualitative assessment is considered adequate,

in case that a hedging relationship ceases to be effective but the objective of risk management regarding the hedging
relationship remains the same, the entity shall rebalance the hedging relationship in order to satisfy the hedge
effectiveness criteria.

It is noted that the new requirements for hedge accounting do not include those that relate to macro hedging, since they have
not been finalized yet.

It is noted that IFRS 9 allows a company to choose, as an accounting policy, to continue to apply the requirements of IAS 39
for hedge accounting. The Group has made use of this right.

Except for the aforementioned modifications, the issuance of IFRS 9 has resulted in the amendment to other standards and
mainly to IFRS 7 where new disclosures were added.

The impact from the application of IFRS 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements is presented in note 44.

» International Financial Reporting Standard 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (Regulation
2016/1905/22.9.2016) and Amendment to International Financial Reporting Standard 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers”: Clarifications to IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Regulation 2017/1987/31.10.2017)

IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” was issued on 28.5.2014 by the International Accounting Standards Board.
The new standard is the outcome of a joint project by the IASB and the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) to
develop common requirements as far as the revenue recognition principles are concerned.

The new standard shall be applied to all contracts with customers, except those that are in scope of other standards, such as
financial leases, insurance contracts and financial instruments.

According to the new standard, an entity recognizes revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services. A new revenue recognition model is introduced, by applying the following five steps:

- Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

- Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

- Step 3: Determine the transaction price

- Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract
- Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

The performance obligation notion is new and in effect represents a promise in a contract with a customer to transfer to the
customer either: (a) a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct; or (b) a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same and that have the same pattern of transfer to the customer.

The new IFRS 15 supersedes:

(@) IAS 11 “Construction Contracts”;

(b) 1AS 18 “Revenue”;

(c) IFRIC 13 “Customer Loyalty Programmes”;

(d) IFRIC 15 “Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate”;
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(e) IFRIC 18 “Transfers of Assets from Customers”;and
(f) SIG31 “Revenue—Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services”.

0n 12.4.2016 the International Accounting Standards Board issued an amendment to IFRS 15 with which it provided
clarifications on its application.

Impact from the application of IFRS 15

The Group applies the new standard from 1.1.2018 without restating comparative information for 2017. It is noted that the
main part of Group’s income is net interest income which has not been affected by the application of IFRS 15.

In the Group, the contracts that are in the scope of the new standard relate to the provision of the following services:

- Banking services (fees related to the execution of banking operations and to asset management or to loan syndication)
- Management and collection of receivables services

- Real estate services (Valuation Reports and Certification of Projects, Real Estate Management)

For services provided over time, such as management fee income earned for the provision of asset management services (i.e.
performance fee income for management of asset portfolio) and real estate management services, income is recognised as
the service is being provided to the customer.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, it is satisfied at a point in time. For services such as executing
transactions (e.g. currency exchange transactions, customers’ trading in securities) as well as coordinating and arranging
syndicated loan transactions, the execution and completion of the transaction requested by the customer signals the point

in time, in which the service is transferred to the customer and the revenue is recognized. It is noted that most of the Group’s
commissions fall into this category and as result there was no change in the accounting treatment for their recognition due to
the application of IFRS 15.

» Amendment to International Accounting Standard 40 “Investment Property”: Transfers of Investment Property
(Regulation 2018/400/14.3.2018)

0n 8.12.2016 the International Accounting Standards Board issued an amendment to IAS 40 with which it clarified that an
entity shall transfer a property to, or from, investment property when, and only when, there is a change in use. A change in
use occurs when the property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of investment property and there is evidence of the
change in use. Inisolation, a change in management’s intentions for the use of a property does not provide evidence of a
change in use. In addition, the examples of evidence of a change in use were expanded to include assets under construction
and not only transfers of completed properties.

The adoption of the above amendment had no impact on the Group’s financial statements.
» Improvements to International Accounting Standards - cycle 2014-2016 (Regulation 2018/182/7.2.2018)

As part of the annual improvements project, the International Accounting Standards Board issued, on 8.12.2016, non- urgent
but necessary amendments to IFRS 1 and IAS 28.

The adoption of the above amendments had no impact on the Group’s financial statements.

» IFRIC Interpretation 22 “Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration” (Regulation 2018/519/28.3.2018)
0On 8.12.2016 the International Accounting Standards Board issued IFRIC 22. The Interpretation covers foreign currency
transactions when an entity recognizes a non monetary asset or liability arising from the payment or receipt of advance
consideration before the entity recognizes the related asset, expense or income. The Interpretation clarified that the date of
the transaction, for the purpose of determination of exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the asset, the income or
expense, is the date of initial recognition of the non monetary asset or liability (i.e. advance consideration). Additionally, if
there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the entity shall determine a date of the transaction for each payment or
receipt of advance consideration.

The adoption of the above Interpretation had no impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Except for the standards mentioned above, the European Union has adopted the following new standard and amendments
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to standards as well as IFRIC 23 which are effective for annual periods beginning after 1.1.2018 and have not been early
adopted by the Group.

» Amendment to International Financial Reporting Standard 9 “Financial Instruments”: Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation (Regulation 2018/498/22.3.2018)

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1.1.2019

0On 12.10.2017 the International Accounting Standards Board issued an amendment to IFRS 9 that permits some prepayable
financial assets with negative compensation features, that would otherwise been measured at fair value through profit

or loss, to be measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income. The amendment to

IFRS 9 clarifies that a financial asset passes the SPPI criterion regardless of the event or circumstance that cause the

early termination of the contract and irrespective of which party pays or receives reasonable compensation for the early
termination of the contract.

The Group is examining the impact from the adoption of the above amendment on its financial statements.
» International Financial Reporting Standard 16 “Leases” (Regulation 2017/1986/31.10.2017)
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1.1.2019
0On 13.1.2016 the International Accounting Standards Board issued IFRS 16 “Leases” which supersedes:
IAS 17 “Leases”
IFRIC 4 “Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease”
SIC 15 “Operating Leases - Incentives” and
SIC 27 “Evaluating the substance of transactions involving the legal form of a lease”.

The new standard significantly differentiates the accounting of leases for lessees while essentially maintaining the existing
requirements of IAS 17 for the lessors. In particular, under the new requirements, the classification of leases as either
operating or finance is eliminated. A lessee is required to recognize, for all leases with term of more than 12 months, the
right-of-use asset as well as the corresponding obligation to pay the lease payments. The above treatment is not required
when the asset is of low value.

Estimated impact from IFRS 16 Implementation

The Group will apply the standard retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying the standard recognized
directly in equity as at 1.1.2019 and will not restate comparative information.

The Group has decided to apply the practical expedient and not to reassess on initial application whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease and will apply the standard to contracts that were identified as leases in accordance with IAS 17.

Additionally, the Group will make use of the following practical expedients on transition:

- apply a single discount rate to all leases,

- exclude initial direct costs from the measurement of the right-of-use asset,

- use hindsight to determine the lease term if the contract contains options to extend or terminate the lease.

In addition, the Group has elected not to apply the requirements of the standard to leases for which the lease term is less
than 12 months (short term), as well to leases for which the underlying asset is of low value when new (less than 5,000 eur).

It is noted that the Group has made assumptions for extension for leases expiring within 2019 that however are expected to
be renewed.

The Group in order to determine the incremental borrowing rate (IBR) will use as reference rate the secured funding rate of
the parent company Alpha Bank, adjusted for different currencies and taking into consideration government yield curves,
where applicable. The Group estimates that on 1.1.2019 right-of-use assets of € 188.93 million, net investment in the lease
of €10.8 million and lease liabilities of € 253.88 million will be recognized. Impact on equity is estimated at € 39 million
before tax (€ 27.9 million after tax). The impact on CET is estimated to be 16 basis points.
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» Amendments to International Accounting Standard 19 “Employee Benefits”: Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement (Requlation 2019/402/13.3.2019)

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1.1.2019

0On 7.2.2018 the International Accounting Standards Board issued an amendment to IAS 19 with which it specified how
companies determine pension expenses when changes to a defined benefit pension plan occur. In case that an amendment,
curtailment or settlement takes place IAS 19 requires a company to remeasure its net defined benefit liability or asset.

The amendments to IAS 19 require specifically a company to use the updated assumptions from this remeasurement to
determine current service cost and net interest for the remainder of the reporting period after the change to the plan. In
addition, the amendment to IAS 19 clarifies the effect of a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement on the requirements
regarding the asset ceiling.

The Group is examining the impact from the adoption of the above amendment on its financial statements.

» Amendment to International Accounting Standard 28 “Investments in Associates”: Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures (Regulation 2019/237/8.2.2019).Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1.1.2019

0On 12.10.2017 the International Accounting Standards Board issued an amendment to I1AS 28 to clarify that long-term
interests in an associate or joint venture that form part of the net investment in the associate or joint venture —to which the
equity method is not applied—should be accounted using IFRS 9, including its impairment requirements. In applying IFRS S,
the entity does not take account of any adjustments to the carrying amount of long-term interests that arise from applying
IAS 28.

The Group is examining the impact from the adoption of the above amendment on its financial statements.
» Improvements to International Accounting Standards — cycle 2015-2017 (Regulation 2019/412/14.3.2019)
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1.1.2019

As part of the annual improvements project, the International Accounting Standards Board issued, on 12.12.2017, non-
urgent but necessary amendments to various standards.

The Group is examining the impact from the adoption of the above amendments on its financial statements.
» IFRIC Interpretation 23 “Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments” (Requlation 2018/1595/23.10.2018)
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1.1.2019

0On 7.6.2017 the International Accounting Standards Board issued IFRIC 23. The Interpretation clarifies application
of recognition and measurement requirements in IAS 12 when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments. The
Interpretation specifically clarifies the following:

An entity shall determine whether to consider each uncertain tax treatment separately or together with one or more
other uncertain tax treatments based on which approach better predicts the resolution of the uncertainty.

The estimations for the examination by taxation authorities shall be based on the fact that a taxation authority will
examine amounts it has a right to examine and have full knowledge of all related information when making those
examinations.

For the determination of taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates, an entity
shall consider whether it is probable that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment.

An entity shall reassess an estimate if the facts and circumstances change or as a result of new information.
The Group is examining the impact from the adoption of the above Interpretation on its financial statements.

In addition, the International Accounting Standards Board has issued the following standards and amendments to standards
which have not yet been adopted by the European Union and they have not been early applied by the Group.

» Amendment to International Financial Reporting Standard 3 “Business Combinations”
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1.1.2020

0On 22.10.2018 the International Accounting Standards Board issued an amendment to IFRS 3 aimed at resolving the
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difficulties that arise when an entity determines whether it has acquired a business or a group of assets. The amendments
clarify the minimum requirements to be a business, remove the assessment of a market participant’s ability to replace
missing elements, narrow the definition of outputs, add guidance to assess whether an acquired process is substantive,
introduce an optional fair value concentration test and add illustrative examples.

The Group is examining the impact from the adoption of the above amendment on its financial statements.

» Amendment to International Financial Reporting Standard 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements” and to International
Accounting Standard 28 “Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures”: Sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture. Effective date: To be determined.

0On 11.9.2014 the International Accounting Standards Board issued an amendment to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 in order to clarify
the accounting treatment of a transaction of sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. In particular, IFRS 10 was amended in order to be clarified that in case that as a result of a transaction with an
associate or joint venture, a parent loses control of a subsidiary, which does not contain a business, as defined in IFRS 3, it
shall recognise to profit or loss only the part of the gain or loss which is related to the unrelated investor’s interests in that
associate or joint venture. The remaining part of the gain from the transaction shall be eliminated against the carrying
amount of the investment in that associate or joint venture. In addition, in case the investor retains an investment in the
former subsidiary and the former subsidiary is now an associate or joint venture, it recognises the part of the gain or loss
resulting from the remeasurement at fair value of the investment retained in that former subsidiary in its profit or loss only
to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interests in the new associate or joint venture. The remaining part of the gain is
eliminated against the carrying amount of the investment retained in the former subsidiary.

In IAS 28, respectively, it was clarified that the partial recognition of the gains or losses shall be applied only when the
involved assets do not constitute a business. Otherwise, the total of the gain or loss shall be recognised.

0On 17.12.2015, the International Accounting Standards Board deferred the effective date for the application of the
amendment that had been initially determined. The new effective date will be determined by the International Accounting
Standards Board at a future date after taking into account the results of its project relating to the equity method.

» International Financial Reporting Standard 14 “Regulatory deferral accounts”
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1.1.2016

0On 30.1.2014 the International Accounting Standards Board issued IFRS 14. The new standard, which is limited-scope,
addresses the accounting treatment and the disclosures required for requlatory deferral accounts that are maintained in
accordance with local legislation when an entity provides rate-requlated goods or services. The scope of this standard is limited
to first-time adopters that recognized regulatory deferral accounts in their financial statements in accordance with their previous
GAAP. IFRS 14 permits these entities to capitalize expenditure that non-rate-requlated entities would recognize as expense.
It is noted that European Union has decided not to launch the endorsement of this standard and to wait for the final standard.
The above standard does not apply to the financial statements of the Group.
» International Financial Reporting Standard 17 “Insurance Contracts”
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1.1.2021
On 18.5.2017 the International Accounting Standards Board issued IFRS 17 which replaces IFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts”. In
contrast to IFRS 4, the new standard introduces a consistent methodology for the measurement of insurance contracts. The
key principles in IFRS 17 are the following:
An entity:

identifies as insurance contracts those contracts under which the entity accepts significant insurance risk from another

party (the policyholder) by agreeing to compensate the policyholder if a specified uncertain future event adversely
affects the policyholder;

separates specified embedded derivatives, distinct investment components and distinct performance obligations from
the insurance contracts;
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divides the contracts into groups that it will recognise and measure;
recognises and measures groups of insurance contracts at:

i. arisk-adjusted present value of the future cash flows (the fulfilment cash flows) that incorporates all of the available
information about the fulfilment cash flows in a way that is consistent with observable market information; plus (if
this value is a liability) or minus (if this value is an asset)

ii. an amount representing the unearned profit in the group of contracts (the contractual service margin);

recognises the profit from a group of insurance contracts over the period the entity provides insurance cover, and as the
entity is released from risk. If a group of contracts is or becomes loss-making, an entity recognises the loss immediately;

- presents separately insurance revenue, insurance service expenses and insurance finance income or expenses; and

. discloses information to enable users of financial statements to assess the effect that contracts within the scope of IFRS
17 have on the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of an entity.

It is also noted that in November 2018 the International Accounting Standards Board proposed to defer the IFRS 17 effective
date to 1.1.2022.

The Group is examining the impact from the adoption of the above standard on its financial statements.

» Amendments to International Accounting Standard 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” and International

Accounting Standard 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors”: Definition of material
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1.1.2020

On 31.10.2018 the International Accounting Standards Board issued, as part of the Disclosure Initiative, amendments to IAS
1 and IAS 8 to align the definition of ‘material’ across the standards and to clarify certain aspects of the definition.

The new definition states that information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected
to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements, which provide financial information about a specific reporting entity. The amendments include examples of
circumstances that may result in material information being obscured.

The IASB has also amended the definition of material in the Conceptual Framework to align it with the revised definition of
material in IAS 1 and IAS 8.

The Group is examining the impact from the adoption of the above amendment on its financial statements.

1.2 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the parent company Alpha Bank, its subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.
The financial statements used to prepare the consolidated financial statements have been prepared as at 31.12.2018 and
the accounting policies applied in their preparation, when necessary, were adjusted to ensure consistency with the Group
accounting policies.

a. Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.

The Group takes into account the following factors, in assessing control:

- power over the investee,

- exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and

- the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s return.

Power arises from currently exercisable rights that provide the Group with the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee. In a straightforward case, rights that provide power are derived from voting rights granted by equity instruments
such as shares. In other cases, power results from contractual arrangements.

The Group’s returns are considered variable, when these returns have the potential to vary as a result of the investee’s
performance. Variability of retumns is judged based on the substance of the arrangement, regardless of their legal form.
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The Group, in order to evaluate the link between power and returns, assesses whether it exercises its power for its own benefit
or on behalf of other parties, thus acting as either a principal or an agent, respectively. If the Group determines that it acts

as a principal, then it controls the investee and consolidation is required. Otherwise, control does not exist and there is no
requirement to consolidate.

In cases where the power over an investee arises from voting rights, the Group primarily assesses whether it controls the
investee through holding more than 50% of the voting rights. However, the Group can have power even if it holds less than
509% of the voting rights of the investee, through:

- acontractual arrangement between the investors and other vote holders,

- rights arising from other contractual arrangements,

- the size of the investor’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders,
- potential voting rights.

In cases of structured entities where the voting rights relate to administrative tasks only and the relevant activities are
directed by means of contractual arrangements (i.e. securitization vehicles or mutual funds), the Group assesses the
existence of control based on the following:

the purpose of the entity and the contractual rights of the parties involved,

- the risks to which the investee was designed to be exposed, the risks it was designed to pass on to the parties involved
with the investee and the degree of exposure of the Group to those risks,

indications of a special relationship with the entity, which suggests that the Group has more than a passive interest in
the investee.

Furthermore, regarding the structured entities that are managed by the Group, the Group assesses if it acts as principal or
an agent based on the extent of its decision — making authority over the entity’s activities, the rights of third parties and the
degree of its exposure to variability of returns due to its involvement with the entity.

The Group, based on the above criteria, controls structured entities established for the securitization of loan portfolios.

The Group reassess whether it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the elements of control.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date that control commences until the date that
control ceases.

The acquisition method is applied when the Group obtains control of other companies or units that meet the definition of a
business. Application of the acquisition method requires identifying the acquirer, determining the acquisition date and measuring
the consideration transferred, the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed and any non controlling interest in the
acquiree, in order to determine the amount of goodwill or gain arising from the business combination.

The consideration transferred is measured at fair value on acquisition date. Consideration includes also the fair value of any
contingent consideration. The obligation to pay contingent consideration is recognized as a liability or as an equity component,
in accordance with IAS 32. The right to the return of a previously transferred consideration is classified as an asset, if specified
conditions are met. Subsequently, and to the extent that changes in the value of the contingent consideration do not constitute
measurement period adjustments, contingent consideration is measured as follows:

- Incase it has been classified in equity, it is not re-measured.

- Inall other cases it is measured at fair value through profit or loss.

The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are initially recognised on acquisition date at their fair value,
except from specific assets or liabilities for which a different measurement basis is required. Any non controlling interests
are recognised at either fair value or at their proportionate share in the acquiree’s identifiable net assets, as long as they

are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event of
liquidation. Otherwise, they are measured at their acquisition date fair values.
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Any difference between:

a. the sum of the consideration transferred, the fair value of any previously held equity interest of the Group in the acquiree
and the amount of any non - controlling interests, and

b. the net of the acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed,
is recognised as goodwill if the above difference is positive or as a gain in profit or loss if the difference is negative.

During the measurement period, the provisional amounts recognized at the acquisition date are adjusted in order to reflect
new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date and, if known, would have
affected the measurement of the amounts recognized as of that date. These adjustments affect accordingly the amount
of goodwill. The measurement period ends as soon as the information about facts and circumstances existed as of the
acquisition date has been obtained. However, the measurement period shall not exceed one year from the acquisition date.

When the Group’s interest in a subsidiary increases as a result of an acquisition, the difference between the consideration
paid and the share of net assets acquired is recognized directly in retained earnings.

Sales of ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control for the Group are accounted for as equity
transactions and the gain or loss arising from the sale is recognized directly in retained earnings.

Intercompany transactions are eliminated, unless the transaction provides evidence of impairment of the asset transferred, in
which case, it is recognized in the consolidated balance sheet.

b. Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control. Significant influence is generally
presumed to exist when the Group holds, directly or indirectly, more than 20% of the share capital of the company concerned
without having control or joint control, unless the ownership of more than 20% does not ensure significant influence, e.qg. due
to lack of representation of the Group in the company’s Board of Directors or due to the Group’s non-participation in the policy
making process.

Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. The investment is initially recognised at
cost and adjusted thereafter for the post acquisition change in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate. In case the
losses according to the equity method exceed the investment in ordinary shares, they are recognized as a reduction of other
elements that are essentially an extension of the investment in the associate.

The Group’s share of the associate’s profit or loss and other comprehensive income is separately recognized in the income
statement and in the statement of comprehensive income, accordingly.

c. Joint ventures

The Group applies IFRS 11 which deals with the accounting treatment of interests in joint arrangements. All joint
arrangements in which the Group participates and has joint control are joint ventures, which are accounted for by using the
equity method.

A detailed list of all Group subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, as well as the Group’s ownership interest in them, is
provided in note 40.

1.3 Operating Segments

Operating segments are determined and measured based on the information provided to the Executive Committee of
the Bank, which is the body responsible for the allocation of resourses between the Group’s operating segments and the
assessment of their performance.

Based on the above, and given the Group’s administrative structure and activities, the following operating segments have
been determined:

« Retail Banking
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Corporate Banking
Asset Management and Insurance
Investment Banking and Treasury
« South Eastern Europe
- Other

Since the Group operates in various geographical areas, apart from the operating segments identified above, the financial
statements contain information based on the below distinction:

Greece
Other Countries

It is noted that the methods used to measure operating segments for the purpose of reporting to the Executive Committee
are not different from those required by the International Financial Reporting Standards.

Detailed information relating to operating segments is provided in note 42.

1.4 Transactions in foreign currency and translation of foreign operations

a. Transactions in foreign currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Euro, which is the functional currency and the currency of the country of
incorporation of the parent company Alpha Bank.

Items included in the financial statements of the subsidiaries are measured in the functional currency of each subsidiary which is
the currency of the company’s country of incorporation or the currency used in the majority of the transactions held.
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency of each subsidiary at the closing exchange rate
at the date of the transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at the closing
exchange rate at the balance sheet date. Foreign exchange differences arising from the translation are recognized in the
income statement.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated using the rate of exchange at the transaction date, except for non-
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value which are translated at the exchange rate
of the date that the fair value is determined . The exchange differences relating to these items are part of the change in fair
value and they are recognized in the income statement or recorded directly in equity depending on the classification of the
non-monetary item.

b. Translation of foreign operations

The financial statements of all group entities that have a functional currency that is different from the presentation currency
of the Group financial statements are translated as follows:

i. Assets and liabilities are translated to Euro at the closing rate applicable on the balance sheet date. The comparative
figures presented are translated to Euro at the closing rates at the respective date of the comparative balance sheet.

ii. Income and expense items are translated to Euro at average exchange rates applicable for each period presented.

The resulting exchange difference from the retranslation and those arising from other monetary items designated as a part of
the net investment in the entity are recorded in equity. When a foreign entity is sold, the exchange differences are reclassified
to the income statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.

1.5 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents consists of:
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a. Cashonhand

b. Non-restricted balances with Central Banks and

c. Short-term balances due from banks and Reverse Repo agreements

Short-term balances are amounts that mature within three months of the balance sheet date.

Non-restricted placements with Central Banks, short-term balances due from banks and Reverse Repo agreements are
measured at amortised cost.

1.6 Classification and measurement of financial instruments

Initial recognition

The Group recognises financial assets or financial liabilities in its statement of financial position when it becomes a party to
the terms of the contract.

At initial recognition the Group measures financial assets and liabilities at fair values. Financial instruments not measured at
fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs and minus income or fees that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial instrument.

Regular way purchases and sales of financial instruments are recognized at the settlement date with the exception of equity
shares and derivatives that are recognized on trade date. For bonds that are measured at fair value, the change in fair value
during the period between the trade date and the settlement date is recognized in profit or loss or in other comprehensive
income based on the bond’s classification category.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets
The Group classifies its financial assets as:
- Financial assets measured at amortised cost

- Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, with gains or losses recycled to profit or
loss on derecognition

- Equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, with no recycling of gains or losses to
profit or loss on derecognition

- Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss.

For each of the above categories the following apply:

a) Financial assets measured at amortised cost
In this category are classified the financial assets that satisfy both of the following criteria:
- are held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,

- the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding.

The above category is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method and is periodically assessed for
expected credit losses, as it is further described in notes 1.14 and 1.15.

b) Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, with gains or losses recycled
to profit or loss on derecognition

In this category are classified the financial assets that satisfy both of the following criteria:
- are held within a business model whose objective is a both to collect contractual cash flows and selling financial assets,

- the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding.
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The above category is periodically assessed for expected credit losses, as it is further described in notes 1.14 and 1.15.

¢) Equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, with no recycling of gains or
losses to profit or loss on derecognition

In this category are classified equity instruments that are neither held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by
an acquirer in a business combination and that Group decides, at initial recognition, to measure at fair value through other
comprehensive income. This decision is irrevocable. With the exception of dividends, which are directly recognized in profit or
loss, all other gains and losses arising from those instruments are directly recognized in other comprehensive income and are
not reclassified to profit or loss. For those equity instruments there is no impairment assessment.

d) Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets included in this category are:

i. those acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near term to obtain short term profit (held for trading).
The Group has included in this category bonds, treasury bills and a limited number of shares.

ii. those that do not meet the criteria to be classified into one of the above categories

those the Group designated, at initial recognition, as at fair value through profit or loss. This classification option, which
is irrevocable, is used when the designation eliminates an accounting mismatch which would otherwise arise from
measuring financial assets and liabilities on a different basis (i.e. amortised cost) in relation to another financial asset or
liability (i.e. derivatives which are measured at fair value through profit or loss).

As at the reporting date, the Group had not designated, at initial recognition, any financial assets as at fair value through
profit or loss.

Business Model assessment

The business model reflects how the Group manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. That is, the Group’s
business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling financial assets or
both. The Group’s business model is determined at a level that reflects how groups of financial assets are managed together
to achieve a particular business objective. Accordingly, business model does not depend on management’s intentions for an
individual instrument but it is determined on a higher level of aggregation.

The business models of the Group are determined by the Asset Liability Committee (ALCO) or the Executive Committee (ExCo)
which decide on the determination of the business model both for the loans and advances to customers and the securities
portfolio. In this context:

Loans and advances to customers and due from banks are included in the business model whose objective is to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows (hold to collect)

For bonds and in general for fixed income investments, the Group has identified the following business models:

- Business model whose objective is to hold financial instruments in order to collect their contractual cash flows (hold
to collect)

- Business model that aims both at collecting contractual cash flows and selling (hold to collect and sell)
- Trading portfolio.
The determination of the above business models has been based on:

The way the performance of the business model and the financial assets held within that business model are evaluated
and reported to the Group key management personnel.

The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business
model) and, specifically, the way those risks are managed.

The way the managers are evaluated (e.g., whether the evaluation is based on the fair value of the assets managed or
the contractual cash flows collected).
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Past and expected frequency and value of sales from the portfolio

The Group, at each reporting date, reassesses its business models in order to confirm that there has been no change
compared to the prior period or application of a new business model. In the context of the reassessment of the hold to collect
business model past sales as well as expected future sales are taken into account. In this assessment, the following cases of
sales are considered consistent with a hold to collect business model:

a) Sales of non performing loans due to the credit deterioration of the debtor, excluding those sales of loans considered as
credit impaired at origination.

b) Sales made close to the maturity of the financial assets so that the proceeds from the sales approximate the collection
of the remaining contractual cash flows. In these cases, the Group defines as ‘close’, what is less than 5% of the total life
of the instrument remaining at the time of sale.

c) Sales (excluding a and b) which are infrequent (even if significant in value) or insignificant in value both individually and
in aggregate (even if frequent). The Group has defined the following thresholds:

- Significance: Sales exceeding 5% the previous reporting period gross balance of the respective portfolio

- Frequency: Significant sale transactions occurring more than twice a year.

Solely Payments of Principal and Interest (SPPI) assessment of the contractual cash flows
For the purposes of applying the SPPI assessment:

- Principal is the fair value of the asset at initial recognition, which may change over the life of the financial asset (for
example if there are repayments of principal).

- Interest is the consideration for the time value of money, for the credit risk associated with the principal amount
outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks (i.e. liquidity risk) and costs, as well as a
profit margin.

Contractual terms that introduce exposure to risks and volatility in the contractual cash flows that are not related to a basic
lending arrangement, such as exposure to changes in equity prices or commaodity prices, do not give rise to contractual cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

In this context, in assessing whether contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Group assesses whether the instrument contain
contractual terms that change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows. More specifically, the following are taken into
account:

- Leveraged payments

- Payments linked with the variability in exchange rates
- Conversion to equity terms

- Interest rates indexed to non-interest variables

- Prepayment or extension options

- Terms that limit the Group’s claim to the cash flows from specified assets or based on which the Group has no
contractual right to unpaid amounts

- Interest-free deferred payments
- Terms based on which the performance of the instruments is affected by equity or commaodity prices

Especially in the case of financing of a special purpose vehicle, in order for the loan to meet the criterion that its cash flows
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, among other, at least one of the following
conditions should apply:

- Atinitial recognition, LTV (Loan to Value) shall not exceed the threshold of 80% or LLCR (Loan Life Coverage Ratio) shall
be at least equal to the threshold of 1.25.

- The equity of the special purpose vehicle shall amount to at least 20% of its total assets.
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- There are sufficient collaterals that are not related to the asset being funded.

In addition, in determining whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding, it is assessed whether time value of money element has been modified. Time value of money is the
element of interest that provides consideration for only the passage of time. That is, the time value of money element does
not provide consideration for other risks or costs associated with holding the financial asset. However, in some cases, the
time value of money element may be modified. That would be the case, for example, if a financial asset’s interest rate is
periodically reset but the frequency of that reset does not match the tenor of the interest rate or if a financial asset’s interest
rate is periodically reset to an average of particular short- and long-term interest rates. In such cases, the Group assesses
the modification to determine whether the contractual cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding. The objective of the assessment is to determine how different the contractual (undiscounted)
cash flows could be from the (undiscounted) cash flows that would arise if the time value of money element was not modified
(benchmark test). The effect of the modified time value of money element must be considered in each reporting period and
cumulatively over the life of the instrument. If the Group concludes that the contractual (undiscounted) cash flows could be
significantly different from the (undiscounted) benchmark cash flows, the contractual cash flows are not solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. According to the policy set by the Group, the above assessment
test does not result in significant different contractual cash flows when the cumulative difference over the life of the
instrument does not exceed 10% and at the same time the number of individual cash flows with a difference of more than
10% do not exceed 5% of total reporting periods of the asset until maturity.

Reclassification of financial assets

Reclassifications of financial assets between measurement categories occur when, and only when, the Group changes its
business model for managing the assets. In this case the reclassification is applied prospectively. Changes in the business
model of the Group are expected to be rare. They arise from decisions of the Asset Liability Committee (ALCO) or the
Executive Committee (ExCo) as a result of external or internal changes which must be significant to the entity’s operations
and demonstrable to external parties.

If the Group reclassifies a financial asset out of the amortised cost measurement category and into the fair value through
profit or loss measurement category, its fair value is measured at the reclassification date. Any gain or loss arising from a
difference between the previous amortised cost of the financial asset and fair value is recognized in profit or loss. The same
happens if the Group reclassifies a financial asset out of the amortised cost measurement category and into the fair value
through other comprehensive income measurement category, however in this case the difference between the previous
amortised cost of the financial asset and fair value is recognized in other comprehensive income. The effective interest

rate and the measurement of expected credit losses are not adjusted as a result of the reclassification. However, the loss
allowance would be derecognized (and thus would no longer be recognized as an adjustment to the gross carrying amount)
but instead would be recognized as an accumulated impairment amount in other comprehensive income.

If the Group reclassifies a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss measurement category and into the
amortised cost measurement category, its fair value at the reclassification date becomes its new gross carrying amount. At
this date, the effective interest rate of the asset is calculated while the date of the reclassification is treated as the date of
initial recognition for impairment calculation purposes.

If the Group reclassifies a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss measurement category and into the
fair value through other comprehensive income measurement category, the financial asset continues to be measured at
fair value. As in the above case, at this date, the effective interest rate of the asset is calculated while the date of the
reclassification is treated as the date of initial recognition for impairment calculation purposes.

If a financial asset is reclassified out of the fair value through other comprehensive income measurement category and into
the amortised cost measurement category, the asset is reclassified at its fair value at the measurement date. However, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in other comprehensive income is reversed and adjusted against the fair value
of the financial asset at the reclassification date. As a result, the financial asset is measured at the reclassification date as

if it had always been measured at amortised cost. This reversal affects other comprehensive income but does not affect
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profit or loss and therefore is not a reclassification adjustment under IAS 1. The effective interest rate and the calculation of
expected credit losses are not affected. However, the loss allowance is recognized as an adjustment to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the reclassification date.

If the Group reclassifies a financial asset out of the fair value through other comprehensive income measurement category
and into the fair value through profit or loss measurement category, the financial asset continues to be measured at fair
value. The cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss as a reclassification adjustment (in accordance with IAS 1) at the reclassification date.

Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognizes financial assets when:
the contractual rights to the assets cash flows expire,

the contractual right to receive the cash flows of the financial assets are transferred and at the same time all the risks
and rewards of ownership are substantially transferred,

loans or investments in securities are no longer recoverable and consequently are written off,
the contractual cash flows of the assets are significantly modified.

In the case of transactions where despite the transfer of the contractual right to receive the cash flows from financial assets
both the risk and rewards remain with the Group, no derecognition of these financial assets occurs. The amount received

by the transfer is recognized as a financial liability. The accounting practices followed by the Group in such transactions are
discussed in notes 1.22 and 1.23.

In the case of transactions, whereby the Group neither retains nor transfers risks and rewards of the financial assets, but
retains control over them, the financial assets are recognized to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. If the Group
does not retain control of the assets then they are derecognised, and in their position the Group recognizes, distinctively, the
assets and liabilities which are created or retained during the transfer. No such transactions occurred upon balance sheet
dateln case of a change in the contractual terms of a financial asset, the change is considered significant and therefore it
results in the derecognition of the original financial asset and the recognition of a new one when one of the following criteria
is met:

- (Change of issuer/debtor

- Change in denomination currency

- Consolidation of different types of contracts

- Consolidation of contracts that do not entirely satisfy the criterion that cash flows are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding

- Addition or deletion of equity conversion terms

- Separation of a non-SPPI debt instrument into two or more new instruments so that the reason that leads to SPPI failure
of the original instrument is not included in all of the new instruments.

- Significant modifications occurring due to the commercial renegotiation of the contractual terms of performing
borrowers.

In case of derecognition due to significant modification, the difference between the carrying amount of the original asset and
the fair value of the new asset is directly recognized in the Income Statement, as specifically mentioned in notes 1.28 and
1.29. Additionally, in case the original asset was measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, the cumulative
gains or losses recognized in other comprehensive income are recycled to profit or loss.

In contrast, if the change in contractual cash flows is not significant, the gross carrying amount of the asset is recalculated

by discounting new contractual cash flows with the original effective interest rate and the difference compared to the current
gross carrying amount is directly recognized in profit or loss (modification gain or loss) in the line item “Impairment losses and
provisions to cover credit risk”. Fees related to the modification adjust the carrying amount of the asset and are amortised
over the remaining term of the modified financial asset through the effective interest method.
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Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities

The Group classifies financial liabilities in the following categories for measurement purposes:

a) Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss
i. This category includes financial liabilities held for trading, that is:

- financial liabilities acquired or incurred principally with the intention of selling or repurchasing in the near term for
short term profit, or

derivatives not used for hedging purposes. Liabilities arising from either derivatives held for trading or derivatives
used for hedging purposes are presented as “derivative financial liabilities” and are measured according to the
principles set out in note 1.7.

ii. this category also includes financial liabilities which are designated by the Group as at fair value through profit or loss
upon initial recognition, when:
doing so results in more relevant information, because either:

- it eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise
from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases; or

- agroup of financial liabilities or financial assets and financial liabilities is managed and its performance is
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy, and
information about the group is provided internally on that basis to the Group’s key management personnel; or

. the contract contains one or more embedded derivatives and the Group measures the compound financial
instrument as a financial liability measured at fair value through profit or loss unless:

- the embedded derivative does not significantly modify the cash flows that otherwise would be required by the
contract or

- itis clear with little or no analysis when a similar hybrid instrument is first considered that the separation of the
embedded derivative(s) is prohibited.

It is noted that in the above case, the amount of the change in fair value attributable to the Group’s credit risk is
recognized in other comprehensive income, unless this treatment would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in
profit or loss. Amounts recognized in other comprehensive income are never recycled to profit or loss.

In the context of the acquisition of Emporiki Bank, the Group issued a bond which was classified in the above mentioned
category. The bond was converted into shares in the first quarter of the preceding year.

b) Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost
The liabilities classified in this category are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Liabilities to credit institutions and customers, debt securities issued by the Group and other loan liabilities are classified
in this category.

In cases when financial liabilities included in this category are designated as the hedged item in a hedge relationship, the
accounting principles applied are those set out in note 1.7.

c) Liabilities arising from financial guarantees and commitments to provide loans at a below market interest
rate

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make a payments when due in accordance with the agreed terms.

The financial guarantee contracts and the commitments to provide loans at a below market interest rate are initially
recognized at fair value, and measured subsequently at the higher of:

- the amount of the provision determined during expected credit loss calculation (note 1.14),
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the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortization which is calculated based on the term of the instrument.

d) Financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does not qualify for derecognition or when
the continuing involvement approach applies

In the first case the liability should be equal to the amount received during the transfer while in the second case it should

measured in such a way that the net carrying amount of the transferred asset and the associated liability is:

- The amortised cost of the rights and obligations retained by the Group, if the transferred asset is measured at amortised
cost or

Equal to the fair value of the rights and obligations retained by the Group when measured on a stand-alone basis, if the
transferred asset is measured at fair value.

e) Contingent consideration recognized by an acquirer in a business combination

Such contingent consideration is subsequently measured at fair value with changes recognized in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

Financial liabilities (or part thereof) are derecognized when the contractual obligation is been discharged, cancelled or
expires.

When a financial liability is exchanged for another liability with substantially different terms, the exchange is accounted

for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new one. The same applies in cases of a
substantial modification of the terms of an existing financial liability or a part of it (whether or not attributable to the financial
difficulty of the debtor). The terms are considered substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows
under the new terms (including any fees paid net of any fees received), discounted using the original effective interest rate, is
at least 10% different from the present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability.

In cases of derecognition, the difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability (or part of the financial
liability) extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or
liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the amount are reported net on the balance sheet, only in cases when the Group
has the legally enforceable right to offset recognized amounts and there is the intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

1.7 Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are financial instruments that upon inception have a minimal or zero fair value that subsequently changes in
accordance with a particular underlying instrument or indices defined in the contract (foreign exchange, interest rate, index or
other variable).

All derivatives are recognized as assets when their fair value is positive and as liabilities when their fair value is negative.
Derivatives are entered into for either hedging or trading purposes and they are measured at fair value irrespective of the
purpose for which they have been transacted.

In case a derivative is embedded in a financial asset, the embedded derivative is not separated and the hybrid contract is
accounted for based on the classification requirements mentioned in note 1.6.

In case a derivative is embedded in a host contract, other than a financial asset, the embedded derivative is separated and
measured at fair value through profit or loss when the following conditions are met:
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the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely related to the economic
characteristics and risks of the host,

a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and
the hybrid contract is not measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

The Group uses derivatives as a means of exercising Asset-Liability management within the guidelines established by the
Asset-Liability Committee (ALCO).

In addition the Group uses derivatives for trading purposes to exploit short-term market fluctuations, within the Group risk
level set by the Asset-Liability Committee (ALCO).

Valuation differences arising from derivatives are recognized in Gains less losses on financial transactions and impairments
on Group companies except when derivatives participate in hedging relationships in which case the principles for hedge
accounting mentioned below apply.

When the Group uses derivatives for hedging purposes hedge relationships are formally designated and documented at
inception and effectiveness is monitored on an ongoing basis at each balance sheet date.

We emphasize the following:

a. Synthetic Swaps
The parent company (Alpha Bank), in order to increase the return on deposits to selected customers, uses synthetic swaps.

This involves the conversion of a Euro deposit to JPY or other currency with a simultaneous forward purchase of the related
currency to cover the foreign exchange exposure.

The result arising from the forward transaction is recognized as interest expense, which is included in deposits’ interest
expense, foreign exchange differences and other gains less losses on financial transactions.

b. FX Swaps

These types of swaps are entered into primarily to economically hedge the exposures arising from customer loans and
deposits.

For those cases for which no hedge accounting is applied, swaps are accounted for as trading instruments.

The result arising from these derivatives is recognized as interest and foreign exchange differences, in order to match with
the interest element and foreign exchange differences resulting from the deposits and loans, and as other gains less losses
on financial transactions.

Hedge accounting

Hedge accounting establishes the valuation rules to offset the gain or loss of the fair value of a hedging instrument and a
hedged item which would not have been possible if the normal measurement principles were applied. It is noted that the
Group has opted to continue to apply the provisions for hedge accounting of IAS 39.

Documentation of the hedging relationship upon inception and of the effectiveness of the hedge on an on-going basis are
the basic requirements for the adoption of hedge accounting.

The hedge relationship is documented upon inception and the hedge effectiveness test is carried out upon inception and is
repeated at each reporting date.

A hedge is regarded as highly effective only if both of the following conditions are met:

- at the inception of the hedge and in subsequent periods the hedge is expected to be highly effective in achieving
offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk during the period for which the hedge is
designated,

- the results of the hedge are within a range of 80%-125% of the results of the hedged item.
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a. Fair value hedges

A fair value hedge of a financial instrument offsets the change in the fair value of the hedged item in respect of the risks
being hedged.

Changes in the fair value of both the hedging instrument and the hedged item, in respect of the specific risk being hedged,
are recognized in the income statement.

When the hedging relationship no longer exists, the hedged items continue to be measured based on the classification and
valuation principles set out in note 1.6. Specifically any adjustment, due to the fair value change of a hedged item for which
the effective interest method is used, up to the point that the hedging relationship ceases to be effective, is amortised to
interest income or expense based on a recalculated effective interest rate, over its remaining life.

The Group uses interest rate swaps (IRS’s) to hedge risks relating to borrowings and loans.

b. Cash flow hedge
A cash flow hedge changes the cash flows of a financial instrument from a variable rate to a fixed rate.

The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognized directly in other comprehensive income,
in cash flow hedge reserve, whereas the ineffective portion is recognized in gains less losses on financial transactions and
impairments on Group companies. The accounting treatment of the hedged item does not change.

When the hedging relationship is discontinued, the amount recognized in equity remains there separately until the cash flows
or the future transaction occur. When the cash flows or the future transaction occur the following apply:

- If theresult is the recognition of a financial asset or a financial liability, the amount is reclassified to profit or loss in the
same periods during which the hedged forecast cash flows affect profit or loss.

- If the result is the recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability or a firm commitment for which fair
value hedge accounting is applied, the amount recognized in equity either is reclassified to profit or loss in the same
periods during which the asset or the liability affect profit or loss or adjusts the carrying amount of the asset or the
liability.

When a forecasted transaction or the expected cash flows are no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that

was recognized in equity is reclassified to profit or loss.

The Group applies cash flow hedge accounting for specific groups of term deposits as well as for the currency risk of specific

assets. The amount that has been recognized in equity, as a result of revoked cash flow hedging relationships for term

deposits, is linearly amortised in the periods during which the hedged cash flows from the aforementioned term deposits
affect profit or loss.

c. Hedges of net investment in a foreign operation

The Group uses foreign exchange derivatives or borrowings to hedge foreign exchange risks arising from investment in foreign
operations.

Hedge accounting of net investment in a foreign operation is similar to cash flow hedge accounting. The cumulative gain or
loss recognized in equity is reversed and recognized in profit or loss, at the time that the disposal of the foreign operation
takes place.

1.8 Fair Value Measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, in the principal market for the asset or liability or, in the absence of a principal
market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The Group measures the fair value of assets and liabilities traded in active markets based on available quoted market prices. A

market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, pricing service
or requlatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.
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Especially, for the measurement of securities, the Group uses a particular range of prices, within the bid-ask spread, in order

to characterize the prices as prices of an active market (the difference between bid and ask prices quoted should not exceed
1.5/100 nominal value). Furthermore, if quoted market prices are not available on the measurement date, but they are available
during the three last working days of the reporting period and there are quoted prices for 15 working days during the last month
of the reporting period and the criteria of the bid-ask spread is met, then the market is considered to be active.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by the use of valuation techniques,
appropriate in the circumstances, and for which sufficient data to measure fair value are available, maximizing the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs. If observable inputs are not available, other model
inputs are used which are based on estimations and assumptions such as the determination of expected future cashflows,
discount rates, probability of counterparty default and prepayments. In all cases, the Group uses the assumptions that ‘market
participants’ would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

Assets and liabilities which are measured at fair value or for which fair value is disclosed are categorized according to the inputs
used to measure their fair value as follows:
- Level 1 inputs: quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets
Level 2 inputs: directly or indirectly observable inputs
- Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs used by the Group, to the extent that relevant observable inputs are not available

In particular, the Group applies the following:

Financial instruments

For financial instruments the best evidence of fair value at initial recognition is the transaction price, unless the fair value
can be derived by other observable market transactions relating to the same instrument, or by a valuation technique using
mainly observable inputs. In these cases, if the fair value differs from the transaction price, the difference is recognized in
the statement of comprehensive income. In all other cases, fair value is adjusted to defer the difference with the transaction
price. After initial recognition, the deferred difference is recognized as a gain or loss only to the extent that it arises from a
change in a factor that market participants would take into account when pricing the instrument.

When measuring fair value, the Group takes into consideration the effect of credit risk. Specifically, for derivative contracts,
the Group estimates the credit risk of both counterparties (bilateral credit valuation adjustments).

The Group measures fair value for all assets and liabilities separately. Regarding derivative exposures, however, that the
Group manages as a group on a counterparty basis and for which it provides information to the key management personnel,
the fair value measurement for credit risk is performed based on the net risk exposure per counterparty. Credit valuation
adjustments arising from the aforementioned process are allocated to either assets or liabilities, depending on whether the
net exposure to the counterparty is long or short respectively.

Furthermore, the fair value of deposit accounts with a demand feature (such as saving deposits) is no less than the amount
payable on demand, discounted from the first date that the amount could be required to be paid.

The principal inputs to the valuation techniques used by the Group are:
- Bond prices - quoted prices available for government bonds and certain corporate securities.

Credit spreads - these are derived from active market prices, prices of credit default swaps or other credit based
instruments, such as debt. Values between and beyond available data points are obtained by interpolation and
extrapolation.

Interest rates - these are principally benchmark interest rates such as the LIBOR, OIS and other quoted interest rates in
the swap, bond and futures markets. Values between and beyond available data points are obtained by interpolation
and extrapolation.

Foreign currency exchange rates - observable markets both for spot and forward contracts and futures.

- Equity and equity index prices - quoted prices are generally readily available for equity shares listed on stock exchanges
and for major indices on such shares.
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Price volatilities and correlations - Volatility and correlation values are obtained from pricing services or derived from
option prices.
- Unlisted equities - financial information specific to the company or industry sector comparables.

-« Mutual Funds- for open-ended investments funds listed on a stock exchange the published daily quotations of their
net asset values (NAVs).

Loans and Deposits- market data and Bank/customer specific parameters.

Non financial assets and liabilities
The most important category of non financial assets for which fair value is estimated is real estate property.
The process, mainly, followed for the determination of the fair value is summarized below:
- Assignment to the engineer - valuer
- Case study- Setting of additional data
- Autopsy - Inspection
Data processing - Calculations
Preparation of the valuation report
To derive the fair value of the real estate property, the valuer chooses among the three following valuation techniques:

- Market approach (or sales comparison approach), which measures the fair value by comparing the property to other
identical ones for which information on transactions is available.

Income approach, which capitalizes future cash flows arising from the property using an appropriate discount rate.

Cost approach, which reflects the amount that would be required currently to replace the asset with another asset
with similar specifications, after taking into account the required adjustment for impairment.

Examples of inputs used to determine the fair value of properties and which are analysed to the individual valuations,
are the following:

Commercial property: price per square meter, rent growth per annum, long-term vacancy rate, discount rate, expense
rate of return, lease term, rate of non leased properties/units for rent.

- Residential property: Net return, reversionary yield, net rental per square meter, rate of continually non leased
properties/units, expected rent value per square meter, discount rate, expense rate of return, lease term etc.

General assumptions such as the age of the building, residual useful life, square meter per building etc are also
included in the analysis of the individual valuation assessments.

It is noted that the fair value measurement of a property takes into account a market’s participant ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in it's highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would
use the asset in it's highest and best use.

1.9 Property, Plant and Equipment

This caption includes: land, buildings used by branches or for administrative purposes, additions and improvements of
leased property and equipment.

Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost which includes any expenditure directly attributable to the
acquisition of the asset.

Subsequently, property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses.

Subsequent expenditure is recognized on the carrying amount of the item when it increases future economic benefit.

Expenditure on repairs and maintenance is recognized in profit or loss as an expense as incurred.
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Depreciation is charged on a straight line basis over the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment and it is
calculated on the asset’s cost minus residual value.

The estimated useful lives are as follows:
Buildings: up to 50 years
Additions to leased fixed assets and improvements: duration of the lease
Equipment and vehicles: up to 40 years

Land is not depreciated but is tested for impairment.

The right to use of land for indefinite period that is held by Alpha Real Estate D.0.0. Belgrade, a subsidiary of the Group, is
recorded as land and is not depreciated. It is noted that on 28.11.2017 the aforementionned company was sold.

The residual value of property and equipment and their useful lives are periodically reviewed and adjusted if necessary at each
reporting date.

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is an indication of impairment
and if they are impaired the carrying amount is adjusted to its recoverable amount with the difference recorded in profit or loss.

Gains and losses from the sale of property and equipment are recognized in profit or loss.

1.10 Investment property

The Group includes in this category buildings or portions of buildings together with their respective portion of land that are
held to earn rental income.

Investment property is initially recognised at cost which includes any expenditure directly attributable to the acquisition of
the asset.

Subsequently investment property is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent expenditure is recognized on the carrying amount of the item when it increases future economic benefit. All costs
for repairs and maintenance are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

The estimated useful lives over which depreciation is calculated using the straight line method are the same as those applied
to property, plant and equipment.

Transfers to and from the category of investment property are made when the property meets (or ceases to meet) the
definition of investment property and there is evidence of change in its use. In particular, the property is reclassified in
“Property, plant and equipment” if the Group decides to use it while it is reclassified in the category of property held for sale
if a decision is taken to sell it and if the criteria referred to in paragraph 1.18 are met. Conversely, property not classified as
“Investment Property” is transferred to this category in case a decision for its lease is made.

1.11 Goodwill and other intangible assets

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the difference between the cost of an acquisition as well as the value of non-controlling interests and the
fair value of the assets and liabilities of the entity acquired, as at the acquisition date.

Positive goodwill arising from acquisitions after 1/1/2004 is recorded to “Goodwill and other intangible assets”, if it relates
to the acquisition of a subsidiary, and it is tested for impairment at each balance sheet date. Goodwill on acquisitions of
associates or joint ventures is included in “Investment in associates and joint ventures”.

Negative goodwill is recognized in profit or loss.

Other intangible assets

The Group has included in this caption:
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a) Intangible assets which are recognized from business combinations in accordance with IFRS 3 or which were individually
acquired. The intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment losses.

Intangible assets include the value attributed to the acquired customer relationships, deposit bases and mutual funds
management rights. Their useful life has been determined from 2 to 9 years.

b) Software, which is measured at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment losses. The cost of separately
acquired software comprises of its purchase price and any directly attributable cost of preparing the software for its

intended use, including employee benefits or professional fees. The cost of internally generated software comprises of
expenditure incurred during the development phase, including employee benefits arising from the generation of the software.
Amortization is charged over the estimated useful life of the software which the Group has estimated between 1 to 15 years.
Expenditure incurred to maintain software programs is recognized in the income statement as incurred. Software that is
considered to be an integral part of hardware (hardware cannot operate without the use of the specific software) is classified
in property, plant and equipment.

c) Brand names and other rights are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment losses. The
amortization is charged over the estimated useful life.

Intangible assets are amortised using the straight line method, excluding those with indefinite useful life, which are not
amortised. All intangible assets are tested for impairment.

No residual value is estimated for intangible assets.

1.12 Leases

The Group enters into leases either as a lessee or as a lessor.

When the risks and rewards incident to ownership of an asset are transferred to the lessee they are classified as finance leases.
All other lease agreements are classified as operating leases.

The accounting treatment followed depends on the classification of the lease, which is as follows:
a) When the Group is the lessor

i. Finance leases:
For finance leases where the Group is the lessor the aggregate amount of lease payments is recognized as loans and advances.

The difference between the present value (net investment) of lease payments and the aggregate amount of lease payments
is recognized as unearned finance income and is deducted from loans and advances.

The lease rentals received decrease the aggregate amount of lease payments and finance income is recognized on an
accrual basis.

The finance lease receivables are subject to the same impairment testing as applied to customer loans and advances as
described in note 1.14.

ii. Operating leases:

When the Group is a lessor of assets under operating leases, the leased asset is recognized and depreciation is charged over
its estimated useful life. Income arising from the leased asset is recognized as other income on an accrual basis.

b) When the Group is the lessee

i. Finance leases:

For finance leases, where the Group is the lessee, the leased asset is recognized as property, plant and equipment and a
respective liability is recognized in other liabilities.

At the commencement of the lease the leased asset and liability are recognized at amounts equal to the fair value of leased

96 ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT The amounts are presented in thousands of Euro unless otherwise indicated



@ ALPHA BANK GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT 31.12.2018

property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The discount rate used in calculating the present
value of the minimum lease payments is the interest rate implicit in the lease or if, this is not available, the Group’s borrowing
rate for similar financing.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the leased assets are depreciated over their useful lives unless the duration of the lease is less
than the useful life of the leased asset and the Group is not expected to obtain ownership at the end of the lease, in which case
the asset is depreciated over the term of the lease.

The lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding liability.

ii. Operating leases:

For operating leases the Group, as a lessee, does not recognize the leased asset but charges in general administrative
expenses the lease payments on an accrual basis.

1.13 Insurance activities

a) Insurance contracts

An insurance contract is a contract with which significant insurance risk is transferred from the policyholder to the insurance
company and the insurance company agrees to compensate the policyholder if a specified uncertain future event affects him
adversely. Insurance risk is significant if, and only if an event could force the company to pay significant additional benefits.
For the Group, insurance risk is significant when the amount paid in the event of insurance risk exceeds 10% of the total
benefit arising from the contract.

b) Distinction of insurance products

In accordance with IFRS 4 contracts that do not transfer significant insurance risk are characterized as investment and/or
service contracts, and their accounting treatment is covered by IAS 32 and IFRS 9 for financial instruments and IFRS 15 for
revenue.

All types of contracts offered by the Group are classified as insurance life contracts, as they represent individual, traditional
insurance contracts that provide earnings participation based on surplus revenue from investment (in relation to the technical
interest rate) on the mathematical reserves.

¢) Insurance reserves

The insurance reserves are the current estimates of future cash flows arising from insurance life contracts. The reserves
consist of:

i. Mathematical reserves

The insurance reserves for the term life contracts (e.g. term, comprehension, investment) are calculated on actuarial
principles using the present value of future liabilities less the present value of premiums to be received.

The calculations are based on technical assumptions (mortality tables, interest rates) in accordance with the respective
supervisory autharities on the date the contract was signed.

If the carrying amount of the insurance reserves is inadequate, the entire deficiency is provided for.

ii. Outstanding claims reserves

They concern liabilities on claims occurred and reported but not yet paid at the balance sheet date. These claims are
determined on a case-by-case basis based on existing information (loss adjustors’ reports, court decisions etc) at the balance
sheet date.

They include also provisions for claims incurred but not reported at the balance sheet date (IBNR). The calculation of these
provisions is based on statistical experience and the estimated average cost of claim.
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d) Revenue recognition

Revenue from life insurance contracts is recognized when it becomes payable.

e) Reinsurance

The Group currently does not use reinsurance contracts.

f) Liability adequacy test

In accordance with IFRS 4 an insurer shall assess at each reporting date whether its recognized insurance reserves less
deferred acquisition costs are adequate to cover the risk arising from the insurance contracts.

The methodology applied for life insurance products was based on current estimates of all future cash flows from insurance
contracts and of related handling costs. These estimates were based on assumptions representing current market conditions
and regarding parameters such as mortality, cancellations, future changes and allocation of administrative expenses as
well as the discount rate. The guaranteed return included in certain insurance contracts has also been taken into account in
estimating cash flows.

If that assessment shows that the carrying amount of its insurance reserves is inadequate, the entire deficiency is recognized
against profit or loss.

1.14 Credit impairment losses on loans and advances to customers, undrawn loan commitments,
letters of credit and letters of guarantee

The Group, at each reporting date, recognizes a loss allowance for expected credit losses on loans and advances to customers
not measured at fair value through profit or loss as well as for off-balance sheet exposures (letters of guarantee, letters of
credit, undrawn loan commitments).

The loss allowance for loans and off-balance sheet exposures is based on expected credit losses related to the probability
of default within the next twelve months, unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk from the date of initial
recognition in which case expected credit losses are recognized over the life of the instrument. In addition, if the financial
asset falls under the definition of purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI) financial assets, a loss allowance equal to
the lifetime expected credit losses is recognized.

a) Default definition

The Group has adopted as default definition non-performing exposures (NPE), as defined in the EBA Guidelines (GL/2016/07),
thus harmonizing the definition of default used for accounting purposes with the one used for regulatory purposes.

b) Classification of exposures into stages based on credit risk (Staging)
For the purposes of calculating expected credit losses, the exposures are classified into stages as follows:

Stage 1: Stage 1 includes performing exposures that do not have significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. Stage 1 also includes exposures for which credit risk has been improved and the exposure has been
reclassified from Stages 2 or 3. In this stage, expected credit losses are recognized based on the probability of default
within the next twelve months.

Stage 2: Stage 2 includes performing exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. Stage 2 also includes exposures for which credit risk has been improved and the exposure has been
reclassified from Stage 3. In this stage, lifetime expected credit losses are recognized.

Stage 3: Stage 3 includes non performing/impaired exposures. In this stage, lifetime expected credit losses are
recognized.

As an exception to the above, for purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI) exposures, lifetime expected credit losses are
always recognized. Purchased or originated credit impaired exposures include:
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- Exposures that at the time of acquisition meet the criteria to be classified as non- performing exposures.

- Exposures for which there has been a change in repayment terms, either due to financial difficulty or not, which resulted
in derecognition and recognition of a new impaired asset (POCI) expect when derecognition is due to the change of
debtor of a corporate loan in which case the creditworthiness of the new debtor is reassessed.

¢) Significant increase in credit risk

In determining significant increase in credit risk of an exposure since initial recognition and the recognition of lifetime
expected credit losses instead of 12 months expected credit losses, the Group assesses, at each reporting date, the risk
of default compared to the risk of default at initial recognition for all its performing exposures including those with no
delinquencies.

The assessment of the significant increase in credit risk is based on the following:

Quantitative Indicators: refers to the quantitative information used and more specifically to the comparison of the
probability of default (PD) between the reporting date and the date of initial recognition.

Qualitative Indicators: refers to the qualitative information used which is not necessarily reflected in the probability

of default, such as the classification of an exposure as forborne performing (FPL, according to EBA ITS). Additional
qualitative indicators, both for corporate and retail portfolios are also reflected through the Early Warning indicators
where depending on the underlying assessment, an exposure can be considered to have a significant increase in credit
risk or not. Especially for special lending portfolio, additional qualitative indicators are captured through slotting category.

Backstop Indicators: in addition to the above, and in order to capture cases for which there are no triggers reflecting
the increase in credit risk, based on qualitative and quantitative indicators, the 30 days past due indicator is used as a
backstop.

d) Calculation of expected credit loss

The measurement of expected credit losses is made as follows:

- For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the difference between:

(a) the contractual cash flows and

(b) the cash flows that the Group expects to receive

- Forundrawn loan commitments, a credit loss is the present value of the difference between:

(a) the contractual cash flows that are due if the holder of the loan commitment draws down the loan; and
(b) the cash flows that the Group expects to receive if the loan is drawn down.

- For letters of guarantee and letters of credit, the loss is equal to the expected payments to reimburse the holder for a
credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group expects to receive from the holder.

For present value calculation, original effective interest rate is used as a discount rate. Especially for POCI assets credit—
adjusted effective interest rate is used.

The Group calculates impairment losses either on a collective (collective assessment) or on an individual basis (individual
assessment), taking into account the significance of an exposure or the borrower’s limit. In addition, exposures that do not
have common credit risk characteristics or for which there are no sufficient historical behavioral data are assessed on an
individual basis.The Group calculates expected credit losses based on the weighted probability of three scenarios. More
specifically, the Economic Research Division produces forecasts for the possible evolution of macroeconomic variables that
affect the level of expected credit losses of loan portfolios under a baseline and under alternative macroeconomic scenarios
and also generates the cumulative probabilities associated with these scenarios.

The mechanism for calculating expected credit loss is based on the following credit risk parameters:
Probability of Default (PD): It is an estimate of the probability of a debtor to default over a specific time horizon.

Exposure at default (EAD): Exposure at Default is an estimate of the amount of the exposure at the time of the default
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taking into account: (a) expected changes in the exposure after the reporting date, including principal and interest
payments; (b) the expected use of credit limits and (c) accrued interest. The approved credit limits that have not been
fully disbursed represent a potential credit exposure and are converted into a credit exposure equal to the approved
undrawn credit limit multiplied by a Credit Conversion Factor (CCF). The Credit Conversion factor of credit exposure is
calculated based on statistical models.

Loss given default (LGD): Loss given default is an estimate of the loss that will occur if the default occurs at a given time.
It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those expected to be received, including the
liquidation of collaterals and cure rate.

e) Measurement of expected credit losses on receivables from customers

Receivables from customers are derived from the Group’s commercial, other than loan, activity. The loss allowance for
receivables from customers is measured at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses (there is no stage
allocation) based on the simplified approach provided by IFRS 9.

f) Presentation of expected credit losses in financial statements
Loss allowances for expected credit losses are presented in the Balance Sheet as follows:

- Financial assets measured at amortised cost and finance lease receivables: loss allowance is presented as a deduction
from the gross carrying amount of the assets.

- Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income: for those assets no loss allowance is
recognized in the Balance Sheet, however, its amount is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

- Letters of credit/letters of guarantee: loss allowance is recognized in line “Pravisions” of liabilities in Balance Sheet.

- Undrawn loan commitments: When there is not also a loan, loss allowance is recognized in line “Provisions” of liabilities
in Balance Sheet. If a financial asset includes both a loan and an undrawn loan commitment, the accumulated expected
credit losses of the loan commitment are presented together with the accumulated expected credit losses of the loan,
as a deduction from its gross carrying amount. To the extent that the combined expected credit losses exceed the gross
carrying amount of the loan, the expected credit losses are recognized in line “Provisions” of liabilities in Balance Sheet.

The amount of expected credit losses for the period is presented in the caption “Impairment losses and provisions to cover credit
risk”. In the same caption the following are also recognized: recoveries from written-off loans measured at amortised cost or at
fair value through other comprehensive income, modification gains or losses of loans measured at amortised cost or at fair value
through other comprehensive income and the favourable changes in expected credit losses of POCI assets in case expected credit
losses are less than the amount of expected credit losses included in the estimated cash flows on initial recognition.

g) Write-offs

The Group proceeds with the write-off of loans and advances to customers when it has no reasonable expectations for their
recovery. In this case, the loss allowance is used against the carrying amount of the financial asset.

1.15 Credit impairment losses on due from banks and bonds

The Group, at each reporting date, recognizes a loss allowance for expected credit losses on due from banks and bonds not
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

The loss allowance is based on expected credit losses related to the probability of default within the next twelve months, unless
there has been a significant increase in credit risk from the date of initial recognition in which case expected credit losses are
recognized over the life of the instrument. In addition, if the financial asset falls under the definition of purchased or originated
credit impaired (POCI) financial assets, a loss allowance equal to the lifetime expected credit losses is recognized.

a) Default definition

Due from banks and bonds are considered impaired when the external rating of the issuer/counterparty is equivalent to
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default (D). In case there is no external rating, then the instrument is characterized as impaired based on internal rating. If
there is also an exposure to the corporate issuer/counterparty to the loan portfolio which has been classified as impaired, the
instrument is also characterized as impaired.

b) Classification of due from banks and bonds into stages based on credit risk (Staging)
For the purposes of calculating expected credit losses, the exposures are classified into stages as follows:

Stage 1: Stage 1 includes non impaired instruments that do not have significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. Stage 1 also includes instruments for which credit risk has been improved and the instrument has been
reclassified from Stages 2 or 3. In this stage, expected credit losses are recognized based on the probability of default
within the next twelve months.

Stage 2: Stage 2 includes non impaired instruments for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. Stage 2 also includes instruments for which credit risk has been improved and the instrument has
been reclassified from Stage 3. In this stage, lifetime expected credit losses are recognized.

Stage 3: Stage 3 includes impaired instruments. In this stage, lifetime expected credit losses are recognized.

As an exception to the above, for purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI) instruments, lifetime expected credit losses
are always recognized. An instrument is characterized as purchased or originated credit impaired when:

The instrument (or the issuer) has an external rating that corresponds to default at the time of acquisition

Corporate bonds resulting from debt restructuring are classified as purchased or originated credit impaired, based on the
guidelines applicable to the loan portfolio.

When a debt security has been purchased at a large discount and does not fall into any of the categories mentioned above,
the Group examines the transaction in detail (transaction price, recovery rate, issuer’s financial condition at the time of
purchase, etc.) in order to determine whether it should be recognised as purchased or originated credit-impaired (POCI).
Classification in this category requires documentation and approval by the relevant committees of the Group.

¢) Significant increase in credit risk

The classification into stages for the purpose of expected credit loss measurement is based on the credit rating of rating
agencies or, for corporate securities issued by Greek issuers for which there is also an exposure in loan portfolio, on the
issuer’s internal rating.

The Group defines as low credit risk all investment grade securities, which are classified in Stage 1.

The determination of significant increase in credit risk for non-investment grade securities is based on the following two
conditions:

- Downgrade in the issuer / counterparty’s credit rating on the reporting dates compared to the credit rating on the date of
the initial recognition.

- Increase in the probability of default of the issuer / counterparty for the 12-month period compared to the corresponding
probability of default at initial recognition.

Additionally, the Group monitors the change in the credit spread since initial recognition. A change in credit spread at the
reporting date that exceeds a specific threshold compared to the credit margin prevailing at the date of initial recognition is a
trigger for reviewing the securities classification stage.

d) Calculation of expected credit loss

The expected credit loss is the present value of the difference between:
(a) the contractual cash flows and

(b) the cash flows that the Group expects to receive

For present value calculation, original effective interest rate is used as a discount rate. Especially for POCI assets credit—
adjusted effective interest rate is used.
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For the calculation of the expected credit loss, the following parameters are used:

Probability of default (PD): the probability of default over the next 12 months is used to calculate the expected credit
loss for 12 months, and the probability of default over the life of the instrument is used to calculate the lifetime
expected credit losses.

Exposure at default (EAD): In the case of securities, the Group estimates the future unamortised cost in order to
calculate the EAD. In particular, for each period, EAD is the maximum loss that would result from issuer / counterparty
potential default.

- Loss given default (LGD) is the percentage of the total exposure that the Group estimates as unlikely to recover at the
time of the default. The Group distinguishes sovereigns from non-sovereign issuers / counterparties as regards to the
LGD estimation. In case the Group has also granted a loan to the issuer / counterparty of the security, the estimated
LGD is aligned to corresponding estimate for the loan portfolio (taking into account any potential collaterals the loan
portfolio is likely to have against the unsecured debt securities).

e) Presentation of expected credit losses in financial statements
Loss allowances for expected credit losses are presented in the Balance Sheet as follows:

- Financial assets measured at amortised cost: loss allowance is presented as a deduction from the gross carrying
amount of the assets.

- Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income: for those assets no loss allowance is
recognized in the Balance Sheet, however, its amount is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

The amount of expected credit losses for the period is presented in the caption “Impairment losses and provisions to cover
credit risk”. The caption includes also the favourable changes in expected credit losses of POCI assets in case expected
credit losses are less than the amount of expected credit losses included in the estimated cash flows on initial recognition.

1.16 Impairment losses on investments and non-financial assets

The Group assess as at each balance sheet date its investments in associates and joint ventures as well as non-financial
assets for impairment, particularly property, plant and equipment, investment property, goodwill and other intangible
assets.

In assessing whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired both external and internal sources of information
are considered, of which the following are indicatively mentioned:

- The asset’s market value has declined significantly, more than would be expected as a result of the passage of time or
normal use.

- Significant changes with an adverse effect have taken place during the period or will take place in the near future, in
the technological, economic or legal environment in which the entity operates or in the market to which the asset is
dedicated.

- Significant unfavorable changes in foreign exchange rates.

- Market interest rates or other rates of return of investments have increased during the period, and those increases are
likely to affect the discount rate used in calculating an asset’s value in use.

- The carrying amount of the net assets of the entity is greater than its market capitalization.
- Evidence is available of obsolescence or physical damage of an asset.

An impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss when the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount.
The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.

Fair value less costs to sell is the amount received from the sale of an asset (less the cost of disposal) in an orderly
transaction between market participants.

Value in use is the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from an asset or cash —generating unit
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through their use and not from their disposal. For the valuation of property, plant and equipment, value in use incorporates the
value of the asset as well as all the improvements which render the asset perfectly suitable for its use by the Group.

1.17 Income tax
Income tax consists of current and deferred tax.

Current tax for a period includes the expected amount of income tax payable in respect of the taxable profit for the current
reporting period, based on the tax rates enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is the tax that will be paid or for which relief will be obtained in future periods due to the different period
that certain items are recognized for financial reporting purposes and for taxation purposes. It is calculated based on the
temporary differences between the tax base of assets and liabilities and their respective carrying amounts in the financial
statements.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated using the tax rates that are expected to apply when the temporary
difference reverses, based on the tax rates (and laws) enacted at the balance sheet date.

A deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which
the asset can be utilized.

Income tax, both current and deferred, is recognized in profit or loss except when it relates to items recognized directly in
equity. In such cases, the respective income tax is also recognized in equity.

1.18 Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets or disposal groups that are expected to be recovered principally through a sale transaction, along with the
related liabilities, are classified as held-for-sale.

The above classification is used if the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition and its sale is highly probable.
The sale is considered highly probable when it has been decided by Management, an active programme to locate a buyer has been
initiated, the asset is actively marketed for sale at a price which is reasonable in relation to its current fair value and the sale is
expected to be completed within one year. Non-current assets that are acquired exclusively with a view to their subsequent disposal
are classified as held for sale at the acquisition date when the one-year requirement is met and it is highly probable that the
remaining criteria will be met within a short period following the acquisition (usually within three months).

Before their classification as held for sale, the assets are remeasured in accordance with the respective accounting standard.

Assets held for sale are initially recognised and subsequently remeasured at each balance sheet date at the lower of their carrying
amount and fair value less cost to sell. Any loss arising from the above measurement is recorded in profit or loss and can be
reversed in the future. When the loss relates to a disposal group it is allocated to assets within the disposal group with the exception
of specific assets that are not within the scope of IFRS 5. The impairment loss on a disposal group is first allocated to goodwill and
then to the remaining assets and liabilities on a pro-rata basis.

Assets in this category are not depreciated.
Gains or losses from the sale of these assets are recognized in the income statement.

Non - current assets that are acquired through enforcement procedures but are not available for immediate sale or are not expected
to be sold within a year are included in Other Assets and are measured at the lower of cost (or carrying amount) and fair value less
cost to sell. Non-current assets held for sale, that the Group subsequently decides either to use or to lease, are reclassified to the
categories of property, plant and equipment or investment property respectively. During their reclassification, they are measured

at the lower of their recoverable amount and their carrying amount before they were classified as held for sale, adjusted for any
depreciation, amortization or revaluation that would have been recognized had the assets not been classified as held for sale.

1.19 Employee benefits
The Group has both defined benefit and defined contribution plans.
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A defined contribution plan is where the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity and the Group has no legal

or constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the fund does not have sufficient assets to pay all employees the
benefits relating to employee service in current or prior years. The contributions are recognized as employee benefit expense
on an accrual basis. Prepaid contributions are recognized as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the
future payments is available.

A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on
retirement which is dependent, among others, on years of service and salary on date of retirement and it is guaranteed by the
entity of the Group.

The defined benefit obligation is calculated, separately for each plan, based on an actuarial valuation performed by
independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method.

The net liability recognized in the consolidated financial statements is the present value of the defined benefit obligation (which

is the expected future payments required to settle the obligation resulting from employee service in the current and prior periods)
less the fair value of plan assets. The amount determined by the above comparison may be negative, an asset. The amount of the
asset recognised in the financial statements cannot exceed the total of the present value of any economic benefits available to
the Group in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan.

The present value of the defined benefit obligation is calculated based on the return of high quality corporate bonds with a
corresponding maturity to that of the obligation, or based on the return of government bonds in cases when there in no deep
market in corporate bonds.

Interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset), which is recognised in profit or loss, is determined by multiplying the net
defined benefit liability (asset) by the discount rate used to discount post-employment benefit obligation, as determined at
the start of the annual reporting period, taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit liability (asset).

Service cost, which is also recognised in profit or loss, consists of:

Current service cost, which is the increase in the present value of the defined benefit obligation resulting from employee
service in the current period;

Past service cost, which is the change in the present value of the defined benefit obligation for employee service in
prior periods, resulting from the introduction or withdrawal of, or changes to, a defined benefit plan or a curtailment (a
significant reduction by the entity in the number of employees covered by a plan) and

Any gain or loss on settlement.

Before determining past service cost or a gain or loss on settlement, the Group remeasures the net defined benefit liability
(asset) using the current fair value of plan assets and current actuarial assumptions, reflecting the benefits offered under the
plan before its amendment, curtailment or settlement.

Past service cost, in particular, is directly recognized to profit or loss at the earliest of the following dates
When the plan amendment or curtailment occurs; and
When the Group recognizes related restructuring costs (according to IAS 37) or termination benefits.
Likewise, the Group recognizes a gain or loss on the settlement when the settlement occurs.
Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability (asset) which comprise:
actuarial gains and losses;
return on plan assets, excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset); and
any change in the effect of the limitation in the asset recognition, excluding amounts included in net interest on the
net defined benefit liability (asset),
are recognized directly in other comprehensive income and are not reclassified in profit or loss in a subsequent period.
Finally, when the Group decides to terminate the employment before retirement or the employee accepts the Group’s offer
of benefits in exchange for termination of employment, the liability and the relative expense for termination benefits are
recognized at the earlier of the following dates:
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a. when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and

b. when the Group recognizes restructuring costs which involve the payment of termination benefits.

1.20 Share options granted to employees

The granting of share options to the employees, their exact number, the price and the exercise date are decided by the
Board of Directors in accordance with the Shareholders’ Meeting approvals and after taking into account the current legal
framework.

The fair value calculated at grant date is recognized over the period from the grant date to the exercise date and recorded

as an expense in payroll and related costs with an increase of a reserve in equity respectively. The amount paid by the
beneficiaries of share options on the exercise date increases the share capital of the Group and the reserve in equity from the
previously recognized fair value of the exercised options is transferred to share premium.

1.21 Provisions and contingent liabilities

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be
estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.

Provisions are, also, recognized in cases of restructuring plans with which management attempts either to change the subject
of a corporate activity or the manner in which it is conducted (e.g. close down business locations). The recognition of provision
is accompanied with the relevant, authorized by the Management, program and with the suitable actions of disclosure. A
restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those that are both
necessarily entailed by the restructurings and not associated with the ongoing activity of the Group.

The amount recognized as a provision shall be the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period. Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount of the provision is
equal to the present value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Amounts paid for the settlement of an obligation are set against the original provisions for these obligations. Provisions are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period.

If it is no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation,
the provision is reversed. Additionally, provisions are not recognized for future operating losses.

Future events that may affect the amount required to settle the obligation, for which a provision has been recognized, are
taken into account when sufficient objective evidence exists that they will occur.

Reimbursements from third parties relating to a portion of or all of the estimated cash outflow are recognized as assets, only
when it is virtually certain that they will be received. The amount recognized for the reimbursement does exceed the amount
of the provision. The expense recognized in profit or loss relating to the provision is presented net of the amount of the
reimbursement.

The Group does not recognize in the statement of financial position contingent liabilities which relate to:

- possible obligations resulting from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or mare uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group, or

present obligations resulting from past events for which:
- itis not probable that an outflow of resources will be required, or
- the amount of liability cannot be measured reliably.

The Group provides disclosures for contingent liabilities taking into consideration their materiality.

1.22 Sale and repurchase agreements and securities lending

The Group enters into purchases of securities under agreements to resell at a certain date in the future at a fixed price (reverse
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repos). Securities purchased subject to commitments to resell them at future dates are not recognized in the balance sheet.

The amounts paid are recognized in loans and advances to either banks or customers. The difference between the purchase
price and the resale price is recognized as interest income on an accrual basis.

Securities that are sold under agreements to repurchase (repos) are not derecognized but they continue to be measured in
accordance with the accounting policy of the category that they have been classified.

The proceeds from the sale of the securities are reported as liabilities to either banks or customers. The difference between the
sales price and the repurchase price is recognized on an accrual basis as interest expense.

Securities borrowed by the Group under securities lending agreements are not recognized in the consolidated balance sheet
except when they have been sold to third parties whereby the liability to deliver the security is recognized and measured at fair
value.

1.23 Securitization
The Group securitises financial assets by transferring these assets to special purpose entities, which in turn issue bonds.

In each securitization of financial assets the assessment of control of the special purpose entity is considered, based on
the circumstances mentioned in note 1.2, so as to examine whether it should be consolidated. In addition, the contractual
terms and the economic substance of transactions are considered, in order to decide whether the Group should proceed
with the derecognition of the securitised financial assets, as referred in note 1.6.

1.24 Equity

Distinction between debt and equity

Financial instruments issued by Group companies to obtain funding are classified as equity when, based on the substance of
the transaction, the Group does not undertake a contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset or to exchange
financial instruments under conditions that are potentially unfavorable to the issuer.

In cases when Group companies are required to issue equity instruments in exchange for the funding obtained, the number of
equity instruments must be fixed and determined on the initial contract, in order for the obligation to be classified as equity.

Incremental costs of share capital increase

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from
retained earnings.

Share premium

Share premium includes the difference between the nominal value of the shares and the consideration received in the
case of a share capital increase.

It also includes the difference between the nominal value of the shares issued and their market value, in cases of
exchanges of shares as consideration for the acquisition of a business by the Group.

Treasury shares

The cost of acquiring treasury shares is recognized as a reduction of equity. Subsequent gains or losses from the sale of
treasury shares, after deducting all direct costs and taxes, are recognized directly in retained earnings.

Retained earnings

Dividends are deducted from retained earnings and recorded as a liability in the period that the dividend is approved by
the Shareholders in General Meeting.
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1.25 Interest income and expense
Interest income and expense is recognized in the income statement for all interest bearing financial assets and liabilities.

Interest income and expense is recognised on an accrual basis and measured using the effective interest method.
Especially for POCI assets, interest income is calculated using credit-adjusted effective interest rate.

Effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset or to the amortised cost of a
financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Group estimates the expected cash flows by considering
all the contractual terms of the financial instrument but does not consider the expected credit losses. The calculation
includes all fees and points paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate.

For financial assets, in particular, the following apply:

- For those financial assets classified within Stage 1 or Stage 2 for the purpose of expected credit losses measurement,
interest income is calculated by applying effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the asset.

- For those financial assets classified within Stage 3 for the purpose of expected credit losses measurement, interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the asset.

- For purchased or originated credit impaired financial assets interest income is calculated by applying the credit-
adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the asset.

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to assets that require a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale are capitalized as part of the cost of the asset. Capitalisation ceases when substantially all the
activities necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use are complete.

1.26 Fee and commission income

Fees and commission income from contracts with customers are recognized based on the consideration specified in
the contract when the Group satisfies the performance obligation by transferring the service to the customer. With the
exception of specific portfolio management fees which are calculated on the basis of the size and performance of the
portfolio, the services provided have a fixed price. Variable portfolio management fees are recognized when all related
uncertainties are resolved.

For commissions on services provided over time, revenue is recognized as the service is being provided to the customer,
such as commissions to provide account management services, fees for administration of syndicated loans, fees for
portfolio management and investment services advice as well as management fees and fees for collection of receivables.
For transaction-based fees, the execution and completion of the transaction executed signals the point in time, in which
the service is transferred to the customer and the revenue is recognized, such as currency transactions, purchases / sales
of securities as well as issue and disposal of syndicated loans and bonds.

Transaction revenues relating to the recognition of a financial instrument not measured at fair value through profit or loss
are capitalized and amortised in the income statement using the effective interest method over the life of the financial
instrument.

1.27 Dividend Income

Dividend income from investments in shares is recognised in the income statement when the dividend distribution is
approved by the appropriate body of the company that the Group has invested in.

1.28 Gains less losses on financial transactions and impairments on Group companies

Gains less losses on financial transactions and impairments on Group companies include:
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- fair value changes of financial assets and liabilities,

- gains and losses arising from the modification of the contractual terms of financial assets measured at fair value
through profit or loss,

- gains and losses arising from the derecognition of financial assets and liabilities due to early repayment, disposal or
significant modification of the contractual terms, except for gains and losses arising from the derecognition of financial
assets measured at amortised cost which are recognized in a separate line item of the Income Statement,

- gains and losses arising from the impairment or disposal of Group entities that have not been classified as discontinued
operations,

- exchange differences arising from the translation of financial instruments denominated in foreign currencies.

1.29 Gains less losses on derecognition of financial assets measured at amortised cost
Gains less losses on derecognition of financial assets measured at amortised cost include:
- Gains and losses from the derecognition of financial assets measured at amortised cost

- The difference, at initial recognition, between the nominal and the fair value of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost that is the result of the derecognition of another financial asset due to significant modification of its contractual
terms.

1.30 Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group that either has been disposed of, or has been classified as held for sale
and represents:

- amajor line of Group’s business; or
- ageographical area of operations; or
a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

The assets and liabilities of discontinued operations are presented separately from other assets and liabilities in the balance
sheet and are not offset.

Any cumulative income or expense recognized directly in equity relating to a discontinued operation is presented separately
(as a separate line in equity).

The profit or loss after tax from discontinued operations and any losses recognized on the measurement to fair value less
costs to sell of the disposal group are presented in a separate line in the face of the income statement after net profit from
continuing operations.

The comparative financial statements are restated only for the income statement and the cash flow statement.

1.31 Related parties definition

According to IAS 24, a related party is a person or entity that is related to the entity that is preparing its financial statements.
For the Group, in particular, related parties are considered:

a) An entity that constitutes for the Group:

i) ajoint venture,

ii) an associate and

iii) a Post-Employment Benefit Plan, in this case the Supplementary Fund of former Alpha Credit Bank’s employees,
b) A person or an entity that have control, or joint control, or significant influence over the Group.

This category includes Hellenic Financial Stability Fund and its subsidiaries because, in the context of the L.3864/2010,
the HFSF participates in the Board of Directors and in significant committees of the Bank and as a result is considered to
have significant influence over the Group.
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¢) A person and his close family members, if that person is a member of the key management personnel.

The Group considers as key management personnel all the members of the Bank’s Board of Directors and of the Bank’s
Executive Committee while as their close family members it considers their children and spouses or domestic partners
and their dependants and the dependants of their spouses or domestic partners.

Moreover, the Group discloses all transactions and outstanding balances with entities which are controlled or jointly
controlled by the above mentioned persons. This disclosure concerns participations of the above persons in entities that
exceed 20%.

1.32 Comparatives

To the extent considered necessary the comparatives have been adjusted to facilitate changes in presentation of the current
year amounts.

It is noted, however, that the adoption of IFRS 9 resulted in significant changes in the accounting policies for financial assets
and liabilities and in particular in the classification, measurement and impairment. The Group, making use of the exception
provided by IFRS 9, did not adjust comparative information. The main accounting policies for financial instruments that
were applied until 31.12.2017, in accordance with IAS 39, are presented below. The full set of those accounting policies is
presented in the annual financial statements as at 31.12.2017.

Accounting policies applied for financial instruments until 31.12.2017
1. Classification and measurement of financial instruments

Financial Assets
The Group classifies its financial assets as:

Loans and receivables

Held-to-maturity investments

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
- Available-for-sale financial assets

For each of the above categories the following apply:

a) Loans and receivables

Non derivative financial assets, with fixed or determinable payments, that are not quoted in an active market and for which
the Group does not expect not to recover substantially its investment other than because of credit deterioration of the issuer,
can be classified as loans and receivables.

This category is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method and is periodically tested for impairment
based on the procedures described in section 2 “Impairment losses on loans and advances” below.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial instrument and of allocating
the interest income or expense during the relative period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash payments or receipts through the contractual life of a financial instrument or the next repricing date.

b) Held-to-maturity investments

Non derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity that the Group has the positive
intention and ability to hold until maturity can be classified as Held-to-maturity investments.

Held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method and are tested for
impairment at each reporting date. In cases when objective evidence exists that an impairment loss has occurred, the
carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced to the recoverable amount, and the difference is recognised in profit or loss.
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¢) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets included in this category are:

i. Financial assets which are acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near term to obtain short term profit (held
for trading).

ii. Financial assets the Group designated, at initial recognition, as at fair value through profit or loss. This classification is
used in the following circumstances:

When management monitors and manages the financial instruments on a fair value basis in accordance with a
documented risk management or investment strategy.

When the designation eliminates an accounting mismatch which would otherwise arise from measuring financial
assets and liabilities on a different basis (i.e. amortised cost) in relation to another financial asset or liability (i.e.
derivatives which are measured at fair value through profit or loss).

When a financial instrument contains an embedded derivative that significantly modifies the cash flows, or the
separation of these derivatives from the main financial instruments is not prohibited.

As at the reporting date, the Group had not designated, at initial recognition, any financial assets as at fair value through
profit or loss.

d) Available-for-sale
Available-for-sale financial assets are financial assets that have not been classified in any of the previous categories.

This category is measured at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognized directly in equity until the financial asset is sold,
where upon, the cumulative gains and losses previously recognized in equity are recognized in profit or loss.

The financial assets included in this category are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is any
indication of impairment. For investments in shares, in particular, a significant or prolonged decline in their fair value below
their acquisition cost is considered as an objective evidence of impairment. The Group considers as “significant” a decrease of
over 20% compared to the cost of the investment. Respectively, “prolonged” is a decrease in the fair value below amortised
cost for a continuous period exceeding one year. The above criteria are assessed in conjunction with the general market
conditionsiIn case of impairment, the cumulative loss already recognised in equity is reclassified in profit or loss. When

a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss recognised on an available-for-sale bond or debt security to
decrease, the impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss, if it can objectively be related to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognized. However, impairment losses recognised for investments in shares and mutual funds are not
reversed through profit or loss.

The measurement principles noted above are not applicable when a specific financial asset is the hedged item in a hedaging
relationship, in which case the principles set out in note 1.7 apply.

Financial Liabilities

The Group classifies financial liabilities in the following categories for measurement purposes:

a) Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss
i. This category includes financial liabilities held for trading, that is:

financial liabilities acquired or incurred principally with the intention of selling or repurchasing in the near term for
short term profit, or

- derivatives not used for hedging purposes. Liabilities arising from either derivatives held for trading or derivatives used
for hedging purposes are presented as “derivative financial liabilities” and are measured according to the principles
set outinnote 1.7.

ii. this category also includes financial liabilities which are designated by the Group as at fair value through profit or loss
upon initial recognition, according to the principles set out above for financial assets (point cii).
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In the context of the acquisition of Emporiki Bank, the Group issued a bond which was classified in the above mentioned
category.

b) Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost
The liabilities classified in this category are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

In cases when financial liabilities included in this category are designated as the hedged item in a hedge relationship, the
accounting principles applied are those set out in note 1.7.

c) Liabilities arising from financial guarantees and commitments to provide loans at a below market interest
rate

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment.
The financial guarantee contracts and the commitments to provide loans at a below market interest rate are initially
recognized at fair value, and measured subsequently at the higher of:
the amount of the provision (determined in accordance with IAS 37) when an outflow of resources is considered
probable and a reliable estimate of this outflow is possible,

the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortization.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

The accounting principles applied for derivatives until 31.12.2017 are no different from those applicable from 1.1.2018.
Exceptions are derivatives embedded in other financial assets, which are mandatorily separated, measured at fair value
and included within derivative financial assets or liabilities when:

a. host contract is not measured at fair value through profit or loss

b. the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivatives are not closely related to those of the host
contract

2. Impairment losses on loans and advances

The Group assess at each balance sheet date whether there is evidence of impairment in accordance with the general
principles and methodology set out in IAS 39 and the relevant implementation guidance.

Specifically, the steps performed are the following:

a. The criteria of assessment on an individual or collective basis

The Group assesses for impairment on an individual basis the loans that it considers individually significant. Loans that
are considered individually significant are mentioned in note 41.1 of the annual financial statements as at 31.12.2017.
For the remaining loans impairment test is performed on a collective basis.

The Group has determined the criteria that consist trigger events for the assessment of impairment.

Loans which are individually assessed for impairment and found not impaired are included in groups, based on similar
credit risk characteristics, and assessed for impairment collectively.

The Group groups the portfolio into homogenous populations, based on common risk characteristics, and has a historical
statistical basis, in which it performs an analysis with which it captures and defines impairment testing, by segment
population.

In addition, as part of the collective assessment, the Group recognizes impairment for loss events that have been incurred
but not reported (IBNR). The calculation of the impairment loss in these cases takes into account the period between the
occurance of a specific event and the date it becomes known (Loss Identification Period).

A detailed analysis of the loans that belong to the wholesale and the retail sectors, of the trigger events for impairment as
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well as of the characteristics used for the determination of the groups for the collective assessment is included in note 41.1 of
the annual financial statements as at 31.12.2017

b. Methodology in determining future cash flows from impaired loans

The Group has accumulated a significant amount of historical data, which includes the loss given default for loans after the
completion of forced recovery, or other measures taken to secure collection of loans, including the realization of collaterals.

Based on the above, the amount of the recoverable amount of each loan is determined after taking into account the time
value of money. The cash flows are discounted at the loans’ original effective interest rate.

An impairment loss is recognized to the extent that the recoverable amount of the loan is less than its carrying amount.

c. Interest income recognition

Interest income on impaired loans is recognized based on the carrying value of the loan net of impairment at the original
effective interest rate.

d. Impairment recognition - Write - offs
Amounts of impaired loans are recognized on allowance accounts until the Group decides to write them down/write them off.

The policy of the Group regarding write downs/write offs is presented in detail in note 41.1 of the annual financial statements
asat 31.12.2017.

e. Recoveries

If in a subsequent period, after the recognition of the impairment loss, events occur which require the impairment loss to
be reduced, or there has been a collection of amounts from loans and advances previously written-off, the recoveries are
recognized in impairment losses and provisions to cover credit risk.

1.33 Estimates, decision making criteria and significant sources of uncertainty

The Group, in the context of applying accounting policies and preparing financial statements in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards, makes estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts that are
recognized as income, expenses, assets or liabilities. The use of estimates and assumptions is an integral part of
recognizing amounts in the financial statements that mostly relate to the following:

Fair value of assets and liabilities

For assets and liabilities traded in active markets, the determination of their fair value is based on quoted, market prices.
In all other cases the determination of fair value is based on valuation techniques that use observable market data to the
greatest extent possible. In cases where there is no observable market data, the fair value is determined using data that
are based on internal estimates and assumptions eg. determination of expected cash flows, discount rates, prepayment
probabilities or potential counterparty default.

Business Model Assessment

Classification of financial assets is based on the assessment of business model and contractual cash flows. Business
model, in particular, is determined at a level that reflects how groups of financial assets are managed together to achieve
a particular business objective. This assessment requires judgement in which the following are taken into account: the
way the performance of the business model is evaluated, the risks that affect the performance of the asset portfolios held
within the business model, the way managers of the Group are evaluated and the expected frequency and value of sales.
For financial assets included in hold to collect business model, the Group assesses past sales as well as expected future
sales in order to confirm consistency with a hold to collect business model.
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Expected credit losses of financial assets

The measurement of expected credit losses requires the use of complex models and significant estimates of future
economic conditions and credit behavior, taking into account the events that have occurred until reporting date.
Significant estimates are also required to identify the criteria that indicate a significant increase in credit risk, the
choice of appropriate methodologies for measuring expected credit risk losses and the determination of the alternative
macroeconomic scenarios and the cumulative probabilities associated with these scenarios as well as the assumptions
included in the Group’s business plan for the reduction of non-performing exposures. Estimates are also required for the
determination of the expected duration, the date of initial recognition of revolving facilities as well as the grouping of
financial assets based on similar credit risk characteristics.

Impairment losses on investments in associates and joint ventures and on non - financial assets

The Group, at each year end balance sheet date, assesses for impairment non — financial assets, and in particular property,
plant and equipment, investment property, goodwill and other intangible assets, as well as its investments in associates and
joint ventures. Internal estimates are used to a significant degree to determine the recoverable amount of the assets, i.e. the
higher between the fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

Income Tax

The Group recognizes assets and liabilities for current and deferred tax, as well as the related expenses, based on
estimates concerning the amounts expected to be paid to or recovered from tax authorities in the current and future
periods. Estimates are affected by factors such as the practical implementation of the relevant legislation, the
expectations regarding the existence of future taxable profit and the settlement of disputes that might exist with tax
authorities etc. Future tax audits, changes in tax legislation and the amount of taxable profit actually realised may result
in the adjustment of the amount of assets and liabilities for current and deferred tax and in tax payments other than
those recognized in the financial statements of the Group. Any adjustments are recognized within the year that they
become final.

Employee defined benefit obligations

Defined benefit obligations are estimated based on actuarial valuations that incorporate assumptions regarding discount
rates, future changes in salaries and pensions, as well as the return on any plan assets. Any change in these assumptions
will affect the amount of obligations recognized.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

The Group recognises provisions when it estimates that it has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be
estimated reliably, and it is almost certain that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.

In contrast, when it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required, or when the amount of liability cannot be
measured reliably, the Group does not recognise a provision but it provides disclosures for contingent liabilities, taking into
consideration their materiality. The estimation for the probability of the outflow as well as for the amount of the liability are
affected by factors which are not controlled by the Group, such as court decisions and the practical implementation of the
relevant legislation.

The estimates and judgments applied by the Group in making decisions and in preparing the financial statements are
based on historical information and assumptions which at present are considered appropriate. The estimates and
judgments are reviewed on an ongoing basis in order to take into account current conditions, and the effect of any
changes is recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised.

1.33.1 Going concern principle

The Group applied the going concern principle for the preparation of the financial statements as at 31.12.2018.
For the application of this principle, the Group takes into consideration current economic developments in order to
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make projections for future economic conditions of the environment in which it operates. The main factors that cause
uncertainties regarding the application of this principle relate to the economic environment in Greece and abroad and to
the liquidity levels of the Hellenic Republic and the banking system.

The prolonged recession that the Greek economy has experienced in recent years led to the significant deterioration in the
creditworthiness of corporate and individuals and, consequently, to the rapid increase in non performing loans, resulting in
the recognition of significant impairment losses by the Bank and by the Greek banking system in general.

In addition, as a result of the Greek sovereign debt crisis and the measures taken to deal with it, combined with the
uncertainties created during the negotiations of the Hellenic Republic with the European Commission, the European Central
Bank and the International Monetary Fund for the financing of the Hellenic Republic during the first half of 2015, there

was a significant outflow of deposits and the imposition of capital controls and of a bank holiday which was announced

on 28.6.2015 and lasted until 19.7.2015. Capital controls have been removed to a significant extent while the detailed
provisions for their application are amended where appropriate by the adoption of a legislative act. As at the date of the
financial statements, the liquidity needs of Greek credit institutions continue to be partially met by the Eurosystem’s
mechanisms, and the total amount of borrowing is gradually being reduced.

Within the year, in particularly in August 2018, the third financial support program of the Hellenic Republic was successfully
completed, while providing the possibility of forming a cash buffer of € 24.1 billion, which is estimated to be able to cover
the needs of the Hellenic Republic for a period of around 22 months, beginning from August 2018, a fact which significantly
reduces potential financial risks after the completion of the program. It is also noted that the Hellenic Republic is taking
steps to gradually recover its access to the financial markets to meet its financing needs, as specifically described in note
1332

In addition, the Group successfully completed the European stress testing exercise by the ECB in accordance with the
methodology of the European Banking Authority. Based on the exercise, under the adverse scenario, 2020 CET1 ratio stood
at 9.7% while under the baseline scenario 2020 CET1 ratio reached 20.4%. Based on feedback received from the Single
Supervisory Mechanism (SSM) no capital plan is required.

Based on the above and taking into account:

- the Group’s high capital adequacy, with which the impact from the application of IFRS S is also covered (notes 44 and
45)

- the fact that there is an increase in deposits and financing from non-Eurosystem sources

- the amount of available eligible collaterals through which liquidity is ensured, to the extent required, through the
mechanisms of the eurosystem.

the Group estimates that, at least for the next 12 months, the conditions for the application of the going concern principle
for the preparation of its financial statements are met.

1.33.2 Estimation of the Group’s exposure to the Hellenic Republic

The Group’s total exposure to Greek Government securities and loans related to the Hellenic Republic is presented in
note 43.1. The main uncertainties regarding the estimations for the recoverability of the Group’s total exposure relate to
the debt service capacity of the Hellenic Republic, which, in turn, is affected by the development of the macroeconomic
environment in Greece and the Eurozone as well as by the levels of liquidity of the Hellenic Repubilic.

As far as debt sustainability is concerned and in accordance with the relevant framework set out in the previous meetings
of Eurogroup, it is noted that the short-term measures for enhancing the Greek debt sustainability were implemented.

In addition, in the Eurogroup meeting held in 21.6.2018 the medium-term measures for enhancing the Greek debt
sustainability were described. In particular, it was confirmed that the gross financing needs of the Greek government should
be less than the 15% of GDP in the medium-term and subsequently less than the 20% of GDP while ensuring that the debt
remains on a sustained downward path. In order to achieve the aforementioned targets, it was decided:
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The abolition of the step-up interest rate margin related to the debt buy-back tranche of the second Greek program.

The use of profits from Central Banks (Securities Markets Products, Agreement on Net Financial Assets) from bond’s
markets realized in previous periods. These amounts will be used to reduce gross financing needs or to finance other
agreed investments.

A deferral of European Financial Stability Fund (EFSF) interest and amortization by 10 years and an extension of the
maximum weighted average maturity by 10 years, respecting the program authorized amount.

The first two measures mentioned above are subject to the continuance and implementation of the agreed reforms, as well
as to the fiscal commitments to achieve a primary surplus of 3.5% of GDP until 2022 and a primary surplus of 2.2% of GDP
on average in the period from 2023 to 2060.

In the long- term and in the event of an adverse scenario further exceptional debt measures could be implemented. The
further deferral of debt in conjunction with the cash buffer represent a significant backstop to the financing risks for the next
two years.

Finally, it is noted that the Hellenic Republic is taking steps to gradually recover its access to the financial markets to cover its
financing needs. In particular, the Hellenic Republic, following the successful completion of the exchange of its bonds issued
in the context of Private Sector Involvement (PSI) in the Greek debt restructuring in 2012, with new bonds aiming at aligning
the terms of the bonds with market standards, normalizing the Republic’s yield curve and enhancing titles’ marketability,
proceeded, in January 2019, with a new five-year bond issue, as a result of which funds of € 2.5 billion were raised. In
addition, in March 2019, the Hellenic Republic issued a new ten-year bond raising funds of an amount of € 2.5 billion while
the credit rating agency Moody’s raised Greece’s sovereign credit rating to B1 from B3.

Based on the above, the Group considers that there has been no significant increase in credit risk on the Greek Government
securities that it held as at 31.12.2018 since initial recognition, however, it assesses the developments relating to the Greek
Government debt in conjunction with the market conditions and it reviews its estimations for the recoverability of its total
exposure at each reporting date.

1.33.3 Recoverability of deferred tax assets

The Group recognizes deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that it will have sufficient future taxable profit

available, against which, deductible temporary differences and tax losses carried forward can be utilized. The estimation of

future taxable profits is based on forecasts for the development of the accounting results, as these are formulated in accordance

with the business plan of the Group. In particular, the business plan includes actions aimed at enhancing profitability th

- the reduction of the amount of non-performing exposures, based on the plan submitted to the Single Supervisory
Mechanism (SSM),

- further reduction of operating costs,

- interest income increase through targeted financing of business segments,

- increase in commission income from services and products offered to individuals and corporates and

- the active management of the sources and the financing costs of the Group.

The main categories of deferred tax assets which have been recognized by the Group relate to tax losses carried forward, to

losses from the Greek government bonds exchange program (PSI) and the December 2012 Greek government bond buyback
program and to deductible temporary differences arising from loans’ impairment.

Deferred tax assets on tax losses carried forward mainly arise from the Bank. Tax losses can be offset against taxable profits
within five years from their formation. In particular, Bank’s tax losses relate only to the year 2014 and are expected to be fully
offset by tax profits of 2019.

Deferred tax assets associated with tax losses incurred by the PSI and the participation of the Bank in the December 2012
Greek government bond buyback program were recognized as a “debit difference” according to Law 4046/14.2.2012, Law
4110/23.1.2013 and a respective legal opinion. According to Law 4110/23.1.2013 the “debit difference” is deductible for tax
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purposes, gradually in equal installments, within 30 years, a fact which, according to the Group’s estimation, provides a
sufficient time period for its gradual utilization against taxable profits.

Regarding the temporary differences arising from loans’ impairment, there are no time constraints concerning their
recovery, as is the case for the other deferred tax assets categories. The Group assessed their recoverability based on
estimates for future taxable profits, as these are forecasted on the basis of the aforementioned business plan, after
extending the period of estimation for a limited number of years compared to the business plan. In addition, taking into
account the fact that losses resulting from the write-down of debts and the sale of loans, as specifically mentioned in note
13, are recognized gradually and equally over a period of 20 years, it is estimated that there is sufficient time for offsetting
against taxable profits.

The Group, based on the above, estimates that the total deferred tax assets recognized and that relate to temporary
differences and to tax losses carried forward is recoverable.

In addition, and regardless of the assessment of the recoverability of deferred tax assets that is carried out based on what is
mentioned above, Law 4303/2014 provides that in case that the after tax accounting result for the period is a loss, deferred
tax assets arising from the PSI debit difference and from the accumulated provisions and other general losses due to credit
risk are eligible to be converted into a final and settled claim against the Greek State, as described in detail in note 13.

The main uncertainties concerming the estimations for the recoverability of the deferred tax assets relate to the achievement
of the goals set in the Group’s business plan, which is affected by the general macroeconomic environment in Greece and
internationally. At each balance sheet date, the Group reassesses its estimation regarding the recoverability of deferred tax
assets in conjunction with the development of the factors that affect it.
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INCOME STATEMENT

2. Net interest income

FROM 1 JANUARY TO

31.12.2018 31.12.2017*
Interest and similar income
Due from banks (1,394) 1,049
Loans and advances to customers 1,948,548 2,191573
Loans and advances to customers measured at fair value through profit or loss 13,280
Trading securities 263 304
Investment securities measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 164,650
Investment securities measured at fair value through profit or loss 932
Available for sale securities 214,157
Held to maturity securities 558
Loans and receivables securities 828
Derivative financial instruments 149,546 97597
Other 2,363 8,272
Total 2,278,188 2,514,338
Interest expense and similar charges
Due to banks (67,126) (188/421)
Due to customers (197,459) (184,273)
Debt securities in issue and other borrowed funds (24,232) (13,457)
Derivative financial instruments (154,765) (104,758)
Other (78,561) (80,837)
Total (522,143) (571,746)
Net interest income 1,756,045 1,942,592

During the year 2018, net interest income decreased compared to the year 2017, mainly due to a) the reduction of interest
income from loans derived from the increased impairment losses recognized both during 2017 and 2018 as well as directly in
equity of 1.1.2018, following the transition to IFRS 9 and b) the reduction of interest income on investment portfolio securities.
The aforementioned decrease in net interest income was partially offset by the reduction of the financing from Eurosystem and
consequently of the relevant borrowing cost.

In addition to the reduction of the Eurosystem funding balance, on 5.6.2018, it was announced from ECB that the interest
rate, applicable to the Bank’s financing of € 3.1 billion from the second series of Targeted Longer Term Refinancing operations
(TLTRO 11) is set at -0.4% retrospectively from 29.6.2016 until its maturity. The positive effect from the retrospective
application of the negative interest rate up to 5.6.2018 amounts to € 18,959 and is included in the caption “Due to banks”.

The following table presents interest income and interest expense calculated using the effective interest rate method, by
financial asset category:

FROM 1 JANUARY TO

31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Financial assets measured at amortised cost 1,873,852 2,123,389
Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 164,650 214,157
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 14,475 304
Total 2,052,977 2,337,850
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (288,817) (386,151)

* Several figures of the previous year have been restated in order to be comparable.
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3. Net fee and commission income

FROM 1 JANUARY TO

31.12.2018 31.12.2017
Loans 48,302 45616
Letters of guarantee 50,394 57,353
Imports-exports 9,428 10,182
Credit cards 78,310 65,350
Fund Transfers 45,581 46,481
Mutual funds 34,625 38,424
Advisory fees and securities transaction fees 1,228 1,178
Brokerage services 5,955 4,436
Foreign exchange trades 18,491 19,139
Other 42,857 35,335
Total 335,171 323,494

During 2018, net fee and commission income presents an increase which is mainly attributed to a) the increase in commissions
from credit cards resulting from the increased volume of transactions, b) to the increase in commissions from the issuance of
loans resulting from the increase in Bank’s activities and c) to the provision of banking and insurance products resulting from
higher volume of transactions. The aforementioned increase was partially offset by the decrease in commissions from letters of
guarantee resulting from lower business volume and the decrease in commisions from mutual fund mainly due to unfavorable

market conditions.

The table below presents income from contracts per operating segment, that fall within the scope of IFRS 15:

FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31.12.2018
Asset Investment South- Other/
Retail Corporate | Management/ Banking/ Eastern Elimination
Banking Banking Insurance Treasury Europe Center Total
Fee and commision income
Loans 5418 39,565 154 3,391 765 49,333
Letters of guarantee 2,113 45,756 5 709 1811 50,394
Imports-exports 2473 6,316 17 622 9,428
Credit cards 85,992 51,423 12 157 8,019 145,603
Fund Transfers 21,031 10,046 260 2,132 12,112 45,581
Mutual funds 34,541 84 34,625
Advisory fees and securities
transaction fees 996 232 1,228
Brokerage services 135 6,253 177 6,565
Foreign exchange trades 13,470 4527 2 492 18,491
Other 23,209 3,684 9,850 118 11,279 48,140
Total 153,841 161,317 44,864 13,857 35,509 = 409,388
Other income
Hotel services 2,173 2,173
Disposals of fixed assets 10 2,385 1,304 3,699
Other 2,111 1,116 10 2,572 1,200 4,499 11,508
Total 2,111 1,126 10 2,572 5,758 5,803 17,380

“Other income” of Income Statement includes additionally Income from insurance activities, insurance indemnities (note 7)
and Operating lease income which are not presented in the above table since they do not fall within the scope of IFRS 15.
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4. Dividend income

FROM 1 JANUARY TO
31.12.2018 31.12.2017
Shares of trading portfolio 1
Shares of investing portfolio measured at fair value through other Comprehensive Income 1,309
Shares of investment measured at fair value through profit or loss 34
Shares available for sale 1,435
Total 1,344 1,435

5. Gains less losses on financial transactions and impairments on Group companies

FROM 1 JANUARY TO

31.12.2018 31.12.2017
Foreign exchange differences 11,227 23216
Trading securities:
- Bonds 1,685 1,098
- Shares (778) 141
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss:
- Bonds 445
- Other securities (1,605)
- Loans (34,036)
Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income:
- Bonds 497,447
- Other securities (390)
Securities available for sale and held to maturity:
- Bonds 101,047
- Shares (40,382)
- Other securities 3274
Impairments/sale of holdings (5,376) 5,074
Derivative financial instruments 7,404 79,735
Other financial instruments (13,234) (28,501)
Total 462,789 144,702

Current period’s “Gains less losses on financial transactions and impairments on Group companies” were affected mainly by:

Gains of €£497,447 included in the caption «Bonds at fair value through other comprehensive income» that relates to gains
of sales of Greek Government Bonds and Greek T-bills of €489,137 and other corporate and government bonds of € 8,310.

Loss of € 34,036 resulting from loans measured at fair value through profit or loss following the change in their valuation

within 2018, as well as from derecognition.

Loss of €7,300 included in the caption «From impairments / sale of holdings» and concerns the valuation of APE Investment
Property A.E., which is classified as assets held for sale according to IFRS 5 (note 49).

The "Gains less losses on financial transactions and impairments on Group companies* from financial transactions of the period

2017 were affected mainly by:

- Gains of €101,047 included in the caption “Bonds” of investment portfolio concern mainly gains of disposals of Greek
Government Bonds of € 79,158 and other corporate bonds of amount of € 18,543. In the aforementioned amount of gains
from the disposal of Greek Government Bonds, an amount of € 30,540 is included, arising from the participation of the Bank
in the exchange of Greek Government Bonds, as thoroughly presented in note 20.

Loss of €37,525 included in the caption “Shares” of investment securities portfolio and concerns the impairment of shares.
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- Gains of €£58,546 included in “Derivative Financial Instruments” concerns the credit valuation adjustment of transactions
with the Greek Government due to the reduce of its credit risk as well as the guarantee’s endowment.

Loss of €37,264 included in the caption “Other financial instruments” and concerns the Group’s initial recognition of
financial receivables, in the context of the loans and receivables restructuring.

- Gains of €13,491 resulting from the sale of loans’ portfolio included in the caption “Other financial instruments”. In details,
during 2017, Bank’s subsidiary Alpha Bank Romania S.A., entered into an agreement with a prospective buyer, regarding
the sale of a portion of its retail loan portfolio. After the partial completion of the sale agreement the corresponding gain
resulted, whilst details of the transaction are included in note 49.

6. Gains less losses on derecognition of financial assets measured at amortised cost

The table below presents gains less losses on derecognition of financial assets measured at amortised cost for the year 2018
as well as their carrying amount before derecognition.

FROM 1 JANUARY TO 31.12.2018

Losses from Gains from Gains less losses

Carrying Amount derecognition derecognition from derecognition
Early repayments
- Loans 712,400 (1,400) 1,733 333
Sales
- Loans 495,943 (22,357) 24,033 1,676
- Securities
Significant modifications
- Loans 254,098 (12,325) 9,270 (3,055)
- Securities
Debt to equity
- Loans 87,128 (1,170) 2,099 929
Total 1,549,569 (37,252) 37,135 (117)

The caption “Early repayments” includes gains and losses recognized due to the recognition in the income statemenent of the
unamortised amounts of commissions and expenses that were capitalised for loans that were early repaid.

The caption “Sales” includes loans which were sold during the year 2018. Part of these loans is described in detail in note 49.

The caption “Significant modifications” includes the carrying amount of loans which were derecognized during the year 2018
following the significant modification of their contractual terms, as well as gains and losses resulting from the difference
arisen between the carrying amount of loans derecognised and in the fair value of the new loans recognized.

The caption “Debt to equity” includes loans for which the Bank in the context of renegotiation of their terms, participated in

debt to equity agreements.

7. Other income

FROM 1 JANUARY TO

31.12.2018 31.12.2017
Insurance activities (984) (4,652)
Hotel activities 2,173 1,239
Operating lease income 19,981 18,566
Sale of fixed assets 3,699 17,114
Other 24,821 22,241
Total 49,690 54,508
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The income from “Hotel activities” concerns the subsidiary TH Top Hotels which was acquired on 20.6.2017.
The caption “Other” includes insurance indemnities of € 13,000 which relates to prior years’ losses.

It is noted that the caption “Sale of Fixed Assets” of 2017 includes gains of € 14,455 arising from the sale of building of the
subsidiary Alpha Bank London Ltd, while the caption “Other” includes income of € 2,000, which relates to unused provisions
to cover operational risk.

Income from insurance activities is analyzed as follows:

FROM 1 JANUARY TO
31.12.2018  31.12.2017

Life insurance
Premiums and other related income 55,586 43,386
Less:

Reinsurance premium

- Commissions (358) (290)
- Claims from policyholders (56,212) (47,748)
Total (984) (4,652)

8. Staff costs

FROM 1 JANUARY TO
31.12.2018  31.12.2017

Wages and salaries 340,665 337,869
Social security contributions 90,567 96,869
Employee defined benefit obligation of Group (note 31) 5,701 4,905
Other charges 38,392 34,735
Total 475,325 474,378

The total number of employees in the Group as at 31.12.2018 was 11,314 (31.12.2017: 11,727) out of which 8,147
(31.12.2017: 8,667) were employed in Greece and 3,167 (31.12.2017: 3,060) were employed abroad.

Staff wages and salaries have been positively affected by the reduction of staff employed by the Bank, by 556, which was
partially offset by the recognition of a provision for the performance incentives scheme to employees, amounting to € 9,450 and
adjustments in other companies of the Group.

Defined contribution plans

All the employees of the Bank are insured for their main pension plans by the Social Insurance Fund (IKA-ETAM). The Social
Insurance Fund (IKA-ETAM) as of 1.1.2017 consists part of the Single Social Security Body (E.FK.A.), a public law entity
established under the provisions of Law 4387/2016. In addition for the Bank’s employees, the following also apply:

a. The supplementary pension plan for employees of the former lonian and Popular Bank of Greece is TAPLLTA.T, a multi-
employer plan. The Bank has obtained legal opinions that indicate that it has no obligation if this fund does not have sufficient
assets to pay employee benefits. Therefore the Bank considers that the fund is a defined contribution plan and has accounted for
it as such.

b. Employees of former lonian and Popular Bank of Greece and former Emporiki Bank are insured for the lump sum benefit in the
“Bank Employee and Companies Common Benefit Plan” (T.A.Y.T.E.K.O.) which is a defined contribution plan with contributions paid
only by employees. In accordance with article 74 of Law 4387/2016, the Care Sectors of the “Bank Employee and Companies
Common Benefit Plan” (TA.Y.T.EK.O.) consist part of the “Joint Supplementary Insurance Fund” (E.T.E.A.) which is renamed to
“Joint Supplementary Insurance Fund and Lump Sum Benefits” (ET.E.AE.P).
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c. All employees of the Bank receive medical benefits from the National Organization of Health Care (EOPYY) and either in the
health care sector of former TA.Y.T.EK.O. or former E.-T.AA,, both of which have been incorporated into Single Social Security
Body (E.FK.A.) since 1.1.2017.

d. Employees of former Alpha Credit Bank, which were insured, for supplementary pension in T.A.P. (the Insurance Fund of
employees of Alpha Credit Bank), from 1.1.2008, onwards are insured for supplementary pension in E.T.A.T according to
article 10, Law 3620/2007. During the first three months of 2017, the Bank settled its relevant obligation amounted to € 543
million, of 10 annual interest bearing installments.

According to the Law 3455/2006, the pensioners and members insured by Emporiki Bank, who were also insured for
supplementary pension in T.E.A.PE.TE. were absorbed by LKA-ETEAM. and ETA.T on 31.12.2004. Emporiki Bank S.A. paid
a total amount of specific contribution of € 786.6 million in ten annual interest bearing installments. The repayment of the
total amount was completed with the payment of the last installment on January 2014.

When ETA.T. was absorbed by E.T.E.A. (Joint Supplementary Insurance Fund) and up to 31.12.2016, ETA.T. provided for

the pre-pension amount based on the provisions of Article of Association of both TA.P. and TE.APE.TE, as well as for the
difference between the amount of pensions which arose from the calculation of supplementary pension in accordance with
the provisions of Article of Association of E-T.EA. (former ET.EAAM) and TEAAPETE.

Law 4387/2016 provides for the incorporation of both E.TA.T. and the pre-retirement scheme pensioners of ETEA. to EFKA,,
asof 1.1.2017.
e. Savings Insurance Plans
i) The Bank, in cooperation with AXA Insurance, has created a savings plan. The plan’s effective date is January 1, 2011
and its aimis to provide a lump sum monetary benefit to retiring employees.
The plan assets consist of investment from the fixed monthly contributions of the Bank and its employees.

Initially the plan included Bank’s personnel that were hired and insured for the first time on 1.1.1993 and onwards. After
signing the Collective Labor Agreement for the 3-year period of 2016-2019, the personnel of the Group may be included
in the savings plan.

Except for a certain group that was hired by the Group and were members of under the main pension scheme for the
period from 1.1.1993 until 31.12.2004 (Law 2084/1992), are considered as a defined contributions plan as the beneft is
paid from a savings fund that was accumulated up to the date they left the plan.

Following the Board of Directors’ and General Assebly’s decision, the Bank provides to its senior management a group
Savings Insurance Plan with effect from 1.1.2018. The plan is a defined contribution plan and aims to provide a lump-
sum benefit upon retirement. The savings capital sums up from the investment of defined monthly contributions paid by
the senior management and the Bank.

The Bank’s “Investment Committee for Group insurance employee plans of Alpha Bank” is responsible for determining
the appropriate structure of the portfolio of the aforementioned saving plans.

Employee defined benefit obligations

An analysis of liabilities arising from defined benefit plans is included in note 31.

Separation Scheme

In 2015, the Bank committed to further reduce its Greek Personnel (including non-financial subsidiaries), in accordance to the
framework for implementation of the updated restructuring plan resulting in 9.504 maximum number of employees until 2017.
Following the above commitments and relevant decisions for their implementation, on 31.12.2015 the Bank recorded a

provision amounting to € 64,300. During the fiscal years 2016 and 2017, provision was utilized amounted of € 35,262 and
18,457, respectively (Note 33).
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Additionally, in the context of the three year Restructuring Plan concerning the period 2017-2019, the Bank through the
facilitation of Key Restructuring Projects intends to the optimization of both efficiency and effectiveness of the operational
functions, reduction of operational costs, digital transformation and in the exploitation of new solutions and infrastructures.
Due to the need for reduction of personnel, as a result of the forthcoming restructuring and the necessary reallocation of roles
and responsibilities, during the fourth quarter of 2017, it was decided to extend the separation scheme and consequently a
new provision of €92,719, was recognized, resulting in a total balance of € 103,300 as of 31.12.2017. In 2018, an amount
of €44,256 was used for the departure of 626 employees, resulting in a provision balance of € 59,004 as of 31.12.2018. This
provision also covers the choice of the long term paid leave for up to three years, which was used by 98 employees in 2018.

9. General administrative expenses

FROM 1 JANUARY TO

31.12.2018  31.12.2017
Operating lease rentals for buildings 38,249 39,932
Rent and maintenance of EDP equipment 18937 18,639
EDP expenses 24,206 26,977
Marketing and advertisement expenses 29,290 27454
Telecommunications and postage 16,877 20,008
Third party fees 72,465 76,618
Consultants fees 8,884 8,639
Contribution to the Deposit Guarantee Fund - Investment fund and Resolution Scheme 54,798 51,203
Insurance 8,890 5,365
Consumables 5,784 5,070
Electricity 9,145 9,859
Third party fees for client list expansion 60 62
Taxes (VAT, real estate etc) 92,036 94,352
Services from collection agencies 16417 32,844
Building and equipment maintenance 8,461 7831
Security of buildings-money transfers 13931 12,728
Cleaning 5,381 4890
Commission for the amount of Deferred tax Asset guaranteed by the Greek Government (note 13) 5618 11,510
Other 102,926 96,979
Total 532,355 554,960

General administrative expenses present a decrease in 2018 compared to the previous year, mainly due to (a) the fact that the
comparative year was burdened with the amount of €5,784, relating to the annual commission on the amount of deferred tax
asset guaranteed by the Greek State for the year 2016 that was accounted for in 2017, along with the relevant commission for
the year 2017, since according to the provisions of article 82 of Law 4472/19.5.2017, the payment of the commission is made
within six months from the end of each tax year, with first application on 30.6.2017, and (b) the reduction of certain collection
costs which under IFRS 9 adjust the carrying amount of the relevant loans and are amortised over their remaining life using the
effective interest rate method.

The above reductions were partially offset by the increase of the contribution to the Hellenic Deposit & Investment Guarantee
Fund, as a result of the increase of the Bank’s share in the calculation of the total annual contributions attributable to the
Hellenic Deposit & Investment Guarantee Fund, by the participating Banks, for the repayment of liabilities to Resolution
Scheme that were recognised from the date that Law 4021/2011 (A'2018) came into force up to the date of the enforcement
of Law 4335/2015 (A'87).
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10. Other expenses

FROM 1 JANUARY TO
31.12.2018  31.12.2017

Losses from write-off/impairments on fixed and intangible assets 47441 81,184
Other provisions (note 33) 4,751 11,351
Other 464 (21,301)
Total 52,656 71,234

The caption “Losses from write-off/impairments on fixed and intangible assets” as at 31.12.2018 includes an amoun of
€46,717 that resulted from the recognition of impairment losses of Investment Property, property, plant and equipment,
property obtained through auctions, intangible assets of the Group and other held for sale assets (notes 22, 23, 24 and 49)
(31.12.2017:€79,281).The aforementioned impairment losses are included in the operating segment “Other / Elimination
Center” in note 42 “Operating segments”.

Other provisions relate to legal cases against the Group (31.12.2017: 10,349), (note 33).

The caption “Other” as at 31.12.2017 relates to revenue from unused provisions.

11. Impairment losses and provisions to cover credit risk on loans and advances to customers

The caption of “Impairment losses and provisions to cover credit risk” amounting to € 1,730,647 for the fiscal year 2018
and € 1,005,415 for the fiscal year 2017, includes the impairment losses and provisions to cover credit risk on loans
and advances to customers, which are presented in the table below, along with the impairment losses on other financial

instruments, which are presented in note 12.

FROM 1 JANUARY TO

31.12.2018  31.12.2017

Impairment losses on loans 1,640,997 1,028,523

Impairment losses on advances to customers 15,218 4373

Provisions to cover credit risk on off balance sheet items (note 33) (17,957) (2,233)
Gains/(Losses) on modifications of contractual terms of loans and advances to customers 108,202

Recoveries (25,302) (25,248)
Impairment losses of other assets 1,932

Total 1,723,090 1,005,415

In contrary to IAS 39, under which the Group recognized incurred credit losses, IFRS 9,implemented from 1.1.2018, requires
the recognition of expected credit losses. As a result ,the above figures for years 2017 and 2018 are not comparable.

For the year 2018, Impairment losses and provisions to cover credit risk amounted to € 1,723,090 and included the following:

- Impairment losses on loans and provision to cover credit risk relating to off balance sheet items, which resulted from the
impairment assessment exercises that the Group performs on a quarterly basis. The methodology for the calculation
of the expected credit losses as well as explanation regarding of how significant changes in the gross carrying amount
contribute to the change in the expected credit losses and impairment losses of the year, are described in note 43.1.

- Impairment losses which related to advances to customers for which the Group applies the simplified approach for the

calculation of expected credit loss, as provided by IFRS 9.

- Lastly, losses on modification of contractual terms of loans and advances to customers, which relate to cases for which
the expected change in contractual cash flows is not substantial and does not result in a derecognition, the carrying
amount of the loan will be adjusted to reflect the present value of the modified cash flows discounted with the original

effective interest rate.
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(Gains)/Losses on modifications of contractual terms of loans and advances to customers

The Group, in the context of renegotiation with borrowers and restructurings, proceeds with the modifications of the
contractual cash flows of the loans in order to ensure their regular repayment.

The following table presents Loans and Advances to customers modified (which were not derecognised) during the year when
they had a life time expeted credit loss.

FROM 1 JANUARY TO

31.12.2018

Net carrying amount before the modification 9,298,292
Net profit or (loss) due to the modification (100,323)

The following table presents the carrying amount of Loans and Advances to customers modified since initial recognition at a
time they had a life time expected credit loss and for which the allowance is measured based on 12-month expected credit
risk losses at the end of the year.

31.12.2018

Gross carrying amount at the end of the year 2,026,181

12. Impairment losses on other financial instruments

FROM 1 JANUARY TO
31.12.2018 31.12.2017
Impairment losses on debt securites and other securities measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income 7,575
Impairment losses on due from banks (18)
Total 7,557 -

During the transition to IFRS 9, the Group recognized in retained earnings, impairment losses of €87,411 for debt securities
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income and of € 274 for due from banks, resulting in accumulated
impairment of € 70,235.

Impairment losses on debt securities for the year 2018 were positively by the upgrade of the Greek Government credit rating,
despite the increase of the placements resulting in the recognition of new impairment losses (note 43.1).

There was no material change in credit parameters used for the calculation of impairment losses on due from Banks.

13. Income tax

In accordance with Article 1 par 4 of Law 4334/2015 “Urgent prerequisites for the negotiation and conclusion of an
agreement with the European Stability Mechanism (ESM)” the corporate income tax rate for legal entities in Greece increased
from 26% to 29%. The increased rate has been applied for profits arising in fiscal years commencing on or after 1 January
2015.

Based on Article 23 of Law 4579/2018 “Obligations of air carriers concerning passenger records-adaptation of legislation

to Directive (EU) 2016/681 and other provisions” which amends article 58 of the Income Tax Code, the corporate income tax
rate for legal entities will be gradually reduced from 29% effective today, to 25% for income earned in the tax year 2022 and
onwards. The tax rate will be reduced by one percent each year, effective from the tax year 2019, for which the tax rate is set at
289%. With explicit reference to the law, this reduction does not apply to credit institutions, for which the tax rate remains at 29%.
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For the Bank’ subsidiaries and branches operating in other countries, the applicable nominal tax rates for the year 2018 are
as follows, with no changes compared to the tax rates of year 2017:

Cyprus 125 Albania 15
Bulgaria 10 Jersey 10

Serbia = United Kingdom Ler
Romania 16 (from 142017)

FYROM 10 Ireland 125

In accordance with article 65A of Law 4174/2013, from 2011, the statutory auditors and audit firms conducting statutory
audits to a Societe Anonyme (AE), are obliged to issue an Annual Tax Certificate on the compliance on tax issues. This tax
certificate is submitted to the entity being audited within the first ten days of the tenth month after the end of the audited
financial year, as well as, electronically to the Ministry of Finance, no later than the end of the tenth month after the end of
the audited financial year. In accordance with article 56 of Law 4410/03.08.2016 for the fiscal years from 1.1.2016 and
onwards, the issuance of tax certificate is optional. However, the Group and its companies intended to continue to obtain the
tax certificate.

For the fiscal years 2011 up to 2017, the tax audit based on article 65A of L. 4174/2013 has been completed for both the
Bank and the Group companies in Greece, and they have received the relevant tax certificates without any qualifications on

the tax issues covered. The tax audit for the fiscal year 2018 is in progress.

The income tax in the income statement is analysed in the table below:

FROM 1 JANUARY TO

31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Current tax 29,300 22,740
Audit tax difference and other provisions 52,631 15,638
Deferred tax (424,243) 37,233
Total (342,312) 75,611

Deferred tax recognized in the income statement is attributable to temporary differences, the effect of which is analysed in

the table below:

FROM 1 JANUARY TO

31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Debit difference of Law 4046/2012 44,554 44,554
Debit difference of Law 4465/2017 (692,028) 1,685
Write-offs and depreciation of tangible assets 9,855 6,604
Loan portfolio 135,130 (107,797)
Valuation of loans due to hedging (80) (209)
Defined benefit obligation and insurance funds 1,344 19,480
Valuation of derivatives 6,454 29,247
Effective interest rate 799 1,145
Valuation of liabilities to credit institutions and other borrowed funds due to fair value hedge (3,842) (39,705)
Valuation/Impairment of investments (158,514) 59,606
Valuation/Impairment of bonds and other securities 87,948 (58,035)
Tax losses carried forward 144,148 125,282
Other temporary differences (11) (44,624)
Total (424,243) 37,233

* Upto 31.3.2017 the tax rate was 20%.
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Caption “Debit difference of Law 4046/2012” relates to the deferred tax asset on tax losses, due to the Bank’s participation in
the Greek government bonds exchange program (PSI) and the Greek government bond buyback program on December 2012,
which have been recognized as a debit difference in accordance with Law 4046/14.2.2012 and Law 4110/23.1.2013. According
to Law 4110/23.1.2013 the “debit difference” is deductible for tax purposes, gradually in equal installments, within 30 years.

Moreover, according to article 5 of Law 4303/17.10.2014 “Ratification of the Legislative Act Emergency legislation to replenish
the General Secretary of Revenue due to early termination of his service (A" 136) and other provisions”, which replaced article
27A of law 4172/2013, deferred tax assets of legal entities supervised by the Bank of Greece, under article 26 paragraphs 5,
6 and 7 of Law 4172/2013 that have been or will be recognized and are due to the debit difference arising from the PSI and
the accumulated provisions and other general losses due to credit risk, with respect to amounts up to 31 December 2014, are
considered final and settled claims against the State, if, the accounting result for the period, after taxes, is a loss, based on the
audited and approved financial statements by the Ordinary Shareholders’ General Meeting.

The inclusion in the Law is performed with the approval of the General Meeting of Shareholders and relates to tax assets arising
from 2016 onwards, and refers to the fiscal year 2015 and onwards, while there is provision for the termination of inclusion with
the same procedure and after obtaining relevant approval from the regulatory authority.

According to article 4 of Law 4340/1.11.2015 «Recapitalization of financial institutions and other provisions of the Ministry
of Finance» the above were amended regarding the time of the application which is postponed for a year. In addition the
amount of the relevant deferred tax asset which is included in the above provisions of article 5 of Law 4303/17.10.2014
and relates to accumulated provisions and other general losses due to credit risk, is limited to the amount related to the
provisions for credit risk, which were accounted until 30.6.2015.

In connection with the amount included in caption “Debit difference of Law 4465/2017”, according to article 43 of Law
4465/4.4.2017 “Integration of Directive 2014/92/EU of the European Parliament and Council held on 23.7.2014 for the
comparability of charges related to payment accounts, the change of payment account and the access to payment accounts
with basic characteristics and other provisions”, the articles 27 and 27A of the Income Tax Code were amended (Law
4172/2013). According to the new legislation, the debit difference that relates to the loss, that will arise from the write-off of
debtors’ debts and from the sale of loans of the legal entities supervised by the Bank of Greece, is recognised as a deduction
from gross income and is amortised equally over a period of 20 years. The deferred tax asset which will be recognized for the
abovementioned debit difference as well as of any accounting write-offs of loans or credits, not converted into debit difference
until the end of the year when the accounting write-off took place, are converted into a definite and cleared claim against the
State, based on the abovementioned terms and conditions.

Based on the above mentioned Law, the total amount of deferred tax asset from (a) the debit difference from the write-off of
debtors’ debts and the sale of loans, (b) the temporary differences from any accounting write-off of loans and credits and (c) the
temporary differences from accumulated provisions and other losses due to credit risk, is limited to the total tax amount related
to accumulated provisions and other losses due to credit risk, recognised until 30.6.2015.

This amendment ensures that the loan write-offs and disposals, aiming to decrease the non performing loans, will not result in
the loss of reqgulatory capital.

The above apply from 1.1.2016.

0On 31.12.2018 the amount of deferred tax assets which is estimated to be within the scope of the Law 4465/2017, as well as
the unamortised balance of the debit difference of PSI amounts to € 3,240.6 million (31.12.2017: € 3,296 million).

According to article 82 of Law 4472/19.5.2017 “Public Pension Provisions and amendment of provisions of Law 4387/2016,
measures for the implementation of budgetary targets and reforms, social support measures and labor regulations, Medium-
term Fiscal Strategy Framework 2018-2021 and other provisions” credit institutions and other entities that fall under the
provisions of article 27A of Law 4172/2013, are required to pay an annual commission to the Greek State for the amount of
the quaranteed deferred tax asset that results from the difference between the tax rate currently in force (29%) and the tax
rate that was in force until 31.12.2014 (26%). The respective amount has been included in caption “General and administrative
expenses”.
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The Bank, taking into account the provisions of Law 4465/2017 and the interpretative circular of AADE (DEAF B1049915 /
28.3.2018), according to which, in case of recognition of debit difference, there is obligation to reverse only any recognized specific
provision for individual loans, and based on its Business Plan, reassessed the temporary differences between the accounting and
tax base of loans and advances to customers as at 31.12.2018 and recognized an additional deferred tax asset of € 290.000.

As at 31.12.2018 the Group has not recognized deferred tax asset of € 170,217 (31.12.2017: € 148,681) originated mainly over
tax losses carried forward from subsidiaries, which are reassesed at every reporting date, in the process of the recoverability of

deferred tax assets.

The following table summarizes the deferred tax assets that have not been recognized as of 31.12.2018, per year of maturity of

the related tax losses:

Year of maturity of tax losses Deferred Tax Assets
2019 16,842
2020 42,065
2021 16,037
2022 54,519
2023 22,108
2024 953
2025 169
Total 152,693

As at 31.12.2018 the Group has not recognized deferred tax asset of € 59,300, on the temporary differences between the
accounting and tax base of investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures of the Bank, as they are not expected

to be sold in the foreseeable future.

A reconciliation between the effective and nominal tax rate is provided below:

FROM 1 JANUARY TO
31.12.2018 31.12.2017
% %

Profit/(loss) before income tax (289,353) 165,120
Income tax (nominal tax rate) 14.49 (41,920) 46.29 76431
Increase/(decrease) due to:

Non taxable income 2.09 (6,059) (10.06) (16,607)
Non deductible expenses (2.03) 5875 7.21 11,907
Impact from the reassessment of the tax base of loans portfolio 100.22 (290,000)

Adjustment in tax rates for the estimation of deferred tax (3.17) 9,169

Tax audit difference 947 15,638
Deferred Tax recognition for temporary differences of previous years (1.88) (3,100)
Non-recognition of deferred tax for temporary differences of the current period (9.34) 27,024 2362 38,997
Other provisions (18.19) 52,631

Other temporary differences 3423 (99,032) (28.86) (47,655)
Total 118.30 (342,312) 45.79 75,611

The nominal tax rate is the weighted average nominal tax rate which is calculated using the income tax ratio on profit/loss
before taxes, for the Bank and each of the Group’s subsidiaries.
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Income tax of other comprehensive income

FROM 1 JANUARY TO
31.12.2018 31.12.2017
Before After Income Before After Income
Income tax Income tax tax Income tax Income tax tax

Amounts that may be reclassified to the
Income Statement
Net change in available for sale securities’
reserve 507,665 (139,208) 368,457
Net change in securities' reserve measured
at fair value through other comprehensive
income (556,366) 160,830 (395,536)
Net change in cash flow hedge reserve (2,719) 788 (1,931) 52,774 (15,304) 37470
Foreign exchange differences on translating
and hedging the net investment in foreign
operations 11,002 (2,378) 8,624 67,824 (722) 67,102
Changes in the share of other comprehensive
income of associates and joint ventures (149) (149) 72 72

(548,232) 159,240 (388,992) 628,335 (155,234) 473,101
Amounts that will not be reclassified to
the Income Statement
Net change in actuarial gains/(losses) of
defined benefit obligations 1,171 (357) 814 (2) (26) (28)
Gains/(Lossses) from shares measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income (7,314) 850 (6,464)

(6,143) 493 (5,650) (2) (26) (28)

Total (554,375) 159,733 (394,642) 628,333 (155,260) 473,073

0On 1.1.2018, a credit amount of deferred tax of € 412,173 was recognized in “Retained earnings”, as well as a debit amount
of deferred tax of € 20,244 was recognized in “Reserves” (note 44), as a result of the implementation of IFRS 9.

During 2017 “Retained earnings” included a tax credit of € 79 resulting from the share capital increase expenses held on
23.2.2017.

Finally, pursuant to the provisions of Law 2238/1994, as in force until 2012, interest income from T-bills and Greek
Government bonds, as well as interest from corporate bonds issued by Greek companies, was taxed under a special regime
subject to withholding. Furthermore, the above income was included in the total taxable income of credit institutions and was
taxed at the applicable tax rate, in force, while the withholding tax was offset against the corporate income tax. Based on
prior decisions of the Hellenic Council of State (Council of State 1463/2014, Council of State 1833/2015) it has been decided
that, in the absence of an explicit provision, any credit balance resulting from the above offsetting should be refunded from
the Greek State. Additionally, article 386 of Law 4046/2012 provided that “The credit balance resulting from the income

tax returns of the banks, irrespective of the legal form operating in Greece, for the financial year 2011 and afterwards,

in so far as it is due to a tax deducted on interest from bonds or treasury bills of Greek Government and bonds of Greek
companies, with the Greek State’s guarantee, is offset against income tax successively in the next five (5) years from the
creation of the credit balance, according to the remaining balance”. In October 2018, the Hellenic Council of State issued its
decision N0.1526/2018, which is in contrast with the case Law of the same court rendered on similar cases (Council of State
1463/2014, Council of State 1833/2015). Based on this decision, the Hellenic Council of State accepted the arguments of
tax authority and cancelled the decision No 1253/2015 of the Administrative Court of Appeal of Athens, based on which an
amount of €21,302 concerning former Emporiki Bank’s (which has already been merged through absorption by the Bank)
withholding taxes on interest from bonds and treasury bills for the year 2008, was refunded. The above mentioned decision
No0.1526/2018 of Hellenic Council of State interpreted the Greek Tax Law applicable for the year 2008, concluding that such
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withholding taxes are allowed to be offset only against the banks” annual corporate income tax, and any excess part «is not
refundable but remains to be deducted at the time of distribution of profits that correspond to the income taxed under special
regime, as also remains to be deducted for the same distribution time the aggregated withholding tax in case of loss». The
Hellenic Council of State decision does not make any judgment regarding the amounts that have been incurred pursuant to
article 386 of Law 4046/2012.

In addition to the amount mentioned above, the Bank's receivables from the Greek State, affected by the above mentioned
decision N0.1526/2018, amounted to € 63,854, of which an amount of €11,816 has already been returned as a result of
prior court decisions.

In addition to the above, a receivable from the Greek State amounting to € 47,106 regarding withholding tax on interest from
Greek Government bonds and corporate bonds guaranteed by the Greek State for fiscal years up to 2012, pursuant to the
provisions of article 386 of law 4046/2012.

The Bank has appealed against the Greek State in the European Court of Human Rights invoking violation of Article 1 of
Protocol 1 (Protection of Property) of the European Convention of Human Rights and estimates, following relevant legal
opinion, that the appeal will be in favor of the Bank. According to the assessment of the Legal Department, a positive
decision in favor of the Bank will also be res judicata for the other disputed cases for the refunding of withholding taxes,
including the credit balances under the provisions of Law 4046/2012.

0On 27.3.2019 an amendment to the draft law «Alignment of Greek legislation with the European Parliament and Council
Directive (EU) 2016/943 of 8.6.2016 on the protection of undisclosed know-how and business information (trade secrets)
against their unlawful acquisition, use and disclosure (EEL 157, 15.6.2016). Measures for accelerating the work of the
Ministry of Economy and other provisions « was submitted. Based on this amendment:

The credit balances of fiscal years 2008 and 2010 up to 2012 that arose from withholding taxes on specially taxed
income are transferred and will be offset at the time when income tax is incurred and in proportion to that tax. This set-
off procedure also includes any amounts refunded by virtue of court decisions, for which the obligation to return them to
the Greek State is borne at the time and proportionally to the amount of the income tax recognized.

The credit balances that arose under Law 4046/2012 and have not been offset after the end of the five-years period
from their recognition, will be offset starting from 1.1.2020 in ten equal annual installments with any tax liability of the
banks.

Following the ratification of the draft law (including the above mentioned amendment), the amounts of withholding taxes
affected by the decisions of the Hellenic Council of State will be subject to the offset procedure as described above.
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14. Earnings/(losses) per share

a. Basic

Basic earnings/(losses) per share are calculated by dividing the net profit/(losses) after income tax for the year attributable

to ordinary equity owners of the Bank, by the weighted average number of outstanding ordinary shares, after deducting the

weighted average number of treasury shares held by the Bank, during the period.

b. Diluted

Diluted earnings/(losses) per share are calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding

to the presumed conversion amount of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. The Bank does not have any dilutive potential

ordinary shares and consequently the basic and dilutive earnings/(losses) per share should not differ.

FROM 1 JANUARY TO

31.12.2018 31.12.2017
Profit/(losses) attributable to equity owners of the Bank 52,961 21,071
Weighted average number of outstanding ordinary shares 1543699381 | 1,542,690,664
Basic and diluted earnings/(losses) per share (in €) 0.0343 0.0137

FROM 1 JANUARY TO

31.12.2018 31.12.2017
Profit/(losses) from continuing operations attributable to equity owners of the Bank 52,961 89,528
Weighted average number of outstanding ordinary shares 1,543699,381 | 1,542,690,664
Basic and diluted earnings/(losses) per share (in € ) from continuing operations 0.0343 0.0580

FROM 1 JANUARY TO

31.12.2018 31.12.2017
Profit/(losses) from discontinued operations attributable to equity owners of the Bank = (68,457)
Weighted average number of outstanding ordinary shares 1,543699,381 | 1,542,690,664
Basic and diluted earnings/(losses) per share (in €) from discontinued operations - (0.0444)

0n 23.2.2017, as a result of exercising the conversion right of all bondholders, the Bank increased its share capital, due to
the conversion of the convertible bond that was issued on 1.2.2013, under the agreement with Credit Agricole S.A. for the

acquisition of former Emporiki Bank.

From the conversion, 6,818,181 new common shares were issued representing 0.44% of total shares, which were taken

under consideration for the calculation of the weighted average number of outstanding ordinary shares of period 1.1.2017 to

31.12.2017.
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ASSETS

15. Cash and balances with Central Banks

31.12.2018 31.12.2017
Cash 403,038 382,417
Cheques receivables 11,221 8,044
Balances with Central Banks 1,514,038 1,203,389
Allowance for impairment losses (92)
Total 1,928,205 1,593,850
Less: Deposits pledged to Central Banks (722,351) (763,146)
Balance 1,205,854 830,704

The Bank is required to maintain a current account with the Bank of Greece (Central Bank) in order to facilitate interbank
transactions with the Central Bank and other financial institutions through the Trans European — Automated Real Time Gross
Settlement Express Transfer System (TARGET).

The Bank of Greece also requires, that all financial institutions established in Greece to maintain reserve deposits with the
Central Bank equal to 1% of customer deposits.

These deposits are interest bearing based on the refinancing rate set by the European Central Bank. On 31.12.2018, the
abovementioned interest rate was 0% (31.12.2017: 0%).

The subsidiaries that operate abroad and offer banking services, maintain pledged deposits in accordance with the rules set
by the respective Central Banks in their countries.

Cash and cash equivalents (as presented in the Statement of Cash Flows)

31.12.2018 31.12.2017
Cash and balances with central banks 1,205,854 830,704
Reverse Repos 547,180 39,654
Short-term placements with other banks 494110 390,475
Total 2,247,144 1,260,833

16. Due from banks

31.12.2018  31.12.2017

Placements with other Banks 926,885 760,816
Guarantees for coverage of derivative securities and sale and repurchase agreement (note 39e) 1,059,932 947,939
Sale and repurchase agreements (Reverse Repos) 547,180 39,654
Loans to credit institutions 36,620 5,201
Less:

Allowance for impairment losses (note 43.1) (70,125) (41,961)
Total 2,500,492 1,715,649

The increase in "Due from banks" is mainly due to Reverse Repos, which were used for the assignement to the Bank of
Eurozone securities used as collaterals for the targeted refinancing operation from ECB (TLTRO).
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17. Trading securities

The following table presents an analysis of the carrying amount of trading portfolio per type of security.

31.12.2018  31.12.2017

Bonds:

Greek Government 6,669 5,969
Shares:

Listed 1670 2,716
Total 8,339 8,685
18. Derivative financial instruments (assets and liabilities)

31.12.2018
Contractual Fair value
Nominal amount Assets Liabilities

Derivatives held for trading purposes

a. Foreign Exchange Derivatives

Foreign exchange forwards 339,591 5610 4,082
Foreign exchange swaps 1,113,270 6,254 7,859
Cross currency swaps 1,442,251 67171 55018
Currency options 81,928 1573 1,568
Currency options embedded in customer products 365 1 135
Total non-listed 2,977,405 80,609 68,662
Futures

Total-listed = = =
b. Interest rate derivatives

Interest rate swaps 10,772,660 580,644 687,386
Interest rate options (caps and floors) 275,758 10,987 3,601
Total non-listed 11,048,418 591,631 690,987
Futures

Total-listed = = =
c. Commodity derivatives

Commodity swaps 55,633 8,002 7,702
Commodity forwards 1644 68 67
Commodity options 639 70 7
Commodity options embedded in customer products 204 62
Total non-listed 58,120 8,140 7,838
d. Index derivatives

OTC options 177,000 14,565

Total non-listed 177,000 14,565 =
Futures 455 19 5
Total-listed 455 19 5
e. Credit derivatives

Total return swap

Total non-listed = = =
f. Other derivatives

GDP linked security 1,216,609 3,528

Total listed 1,216,609 3,528 =
Derivatives for hedging purposes

a. Foreign exchange derivatives

Fx swaps 103,432 684
Cross currency swaps 410,603 10,756 4816
Total non-listed 514,035 10,756 5,500
b. Interest rate derivatives

Interest rate swaps 2,073,286 15,925 374,903
Total non-listed 2,073,286 15,925 374,903
Grand Total 18,065,328 725,173 1,147,895
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In the context of the daily process for setting off and providing collateral for derivatives with credit institutuions counterparties the
Bank has pledged as collateral a net amount of €968,411 on 31.12.2018 (31.12.2017:€872,171). The respective net fair
value of derivatives with credit institutions amounted to € 919,329 on 31.12.2018 (31.12.2017: €822,154).

31.12.2017
Contractual Fair value
Nominal amount Assets Liabilities
Derivatives held for trading purposes
a. Foreign Exchange Derivatives
Foreign exchange forwards 260,117 5,797 1,000
Foreign exchange swaps 510,350 3,028 4,928
Cross currency swaps 1,780,885 88,260 43,053
Currency options 73174 1,486 723
Currency options embedded in customer products 2,950 18 180
Total non-listed 3,027,476 98,589 49,884
Futures
Total non-listed = = =
b. Interest rate derivatives
Interest rate swaps 6,314,578 462412 588,643
Interest rate options (caps and floors) 217911 11,098 3,692
Total non-listed 6,532,489 473,510 592,335
Futures
Total listed = = =
c. Commodity derivatives
Commodity swaps 88,143 6,523 6,022
Commodity options 715 81 81
Total non-listed 88,858 6,604 6,103
d. Index derivatives
OTC options 177,283 14,820 3
Total non-listed 177,283 14,820 3
Futures 160 3
Total-listed 160 3 =
e. Other derivatives
GDP linked security 1,492,397 7462
Total-listed 1,492,397 7,462 =
Derivatives for hedging purposes
a. Foreign Exchange Derivatives
FX swaps 23,725 24
Cross currency swaps 360,613 21,010 2,363
Total non-listed 384,338 21,010 2,387
b. Interest rate derivatives
Interest rate swaps 1,129,225 538 378,709
Total non-listed 1,129,225 538 378,709
Grand total 12,832,226 622,536 1,029,421

Hedging accounting

a. Fair value hedges

The Group uses interest rate swaps to hedge the volatility in the fair value due to changes in market rates: a) of the covered
bond issued in January 2018, b) part of the targeted refinancing operation from ECB (TLTRO) and c) of fixed rate loan.

The Group determines the interest rate relating to the hedged risk (euro rate) at the inception of the hedging relationship and
calculates the changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument with respect to the euro interest rate curve.

In order to measure hedge effectiveness, the changes in the fair value of the hedged item are compared to the changes in the
fair value of the hedging instrument and in order for the hedge to qualify as effective, the ratio of the change in the fair value
of the hedging instrument over the change in the fair value of the hedged item is required to be within 80% -125% (dollar
offset method).
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The Group has identified the following sources which may lead to ineffective hedging:

a) The credit risk (counterparty risk) of the hedging instruments used to hedge the interest rate risk which is minimized by
entering into derivatives with high credit quality counterparties.

b) The difference in the timing of settlement of hedging instruments and hedged items.
No other sources of ineffectiveness were identified during the year.

The hedging instruments of 31.12.2018 are summarized as follows:

Duration
Risk category 1-5 years
Interest rate risk
Covered bond issued by the bank
Nominal amount of the derivative 500,000
Average fixed interest 0.41%
Targeted long-term refinancing operations from ECB (TLTRO)
Nominal amount of the derivative 1,000,000
Average fixed interest 0.02%
Corporate loan
Nominal amount of the derivative 23,286
Average fixed interest 0.02%

The balance sheet and the income statement amounts relating to fair value hedging instruments and the hedge effectiveness
are analyzed as follows:

2018
Line item in Change in fair . - .
X Ineffectiveness Line item in
) _ Carrying amount of the balance value of hedging recognised in the Income
Hedging Derivative hedging instrument sheet where instrument using the income statement that
relationship category the hedging for calculating the -
. ? . statement for included hedge
instrument is | hegde effectiveness 2018 ineffectiveness
Assets Liabilities included for 2018
Interest rate risk
Covered bond Gains less losses on
issued by the Interest rate 10,447 Derivatives 8,331 23 ﬁnangal tr_ansactlons
Bank swap and impairments on
Group companies
Targeted long- Gains less losses on
term rgﬁnancmg Interest rate 5478 Derivatives 4791 260 ﬁnanqal tr_ansactlons
operations ECB swap and impairments on
(TLTRO) Group companies
Gains less losses on
Corporate loan Interest rate 85 Derivatives 68) ﬁnanqal transactlons
swap and impairments on
Group companies
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The amounts related to balance sheet items designated as hedged items are analyzed as follows:

2018
Accumulated amount of fair| . Change in fair value of

o elationshi Carrying Amount value hedge adjustments on L";ne 'ter: |nhthe balance | . jged item used for

Hedging relationship the hedged item wi ereiz iidzggezd item calculating the hedge
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities effectiveness
Interest rate risk
Covered bond issued by Debt securities in issue and
the Bank 511845 8,308 other borrowed funds (8308)
Targeted long-term
refinancing operations 994,848 5,026 Due to banks (4,531)
ECB (TLTRO)
Loans and advances to
Corporate loan 23,980 68 68
customers

b. Cash flow hedges

The Group uses interest rate swaps to hedge the volatility attributed to funding from a group of term deposits in Euro. It also
uses foreign exchange swaps to hedge foreign exchange risk arising from currency loans (Swiss franc).

The Group determines the referenced interest rate relating to the hedged risk (euro rate) at the inception of the hedging
relationship and calculates the changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument and that of a hypothetical derivative
relating to the euro interest rate curve changes.

The floating leg of the hypothetical derivative simulates the cash flows of the hedged item, whereas the fixed leg cash flows
are determined so that the hypothetical derivative has a value equal to zero at inception.

To hedge the foreign currency risk of the loans in foreign currency, the hypothetical derivative component in the foreign
currency, simulates the cash flows of the hedged item while the cash flows in the euro component are defined so as to make,
at the inception of the hedge, the hypothetical derivative valuation at zero.

In order for the hedge to qualify as effective the ratio of the change in the fair value of the hypothetical derivative over the
change in the fair values of the hedged item should be between 80% - 125% (dollar offset method).

The Group recognizes the following sources which may lead to ineffective hedging:

a) The credit risk (counterparty risk) of the hedging instruments used to hedge the interest rate and the foreign currency risk
which is minimized by entering into derivatives with high credit quality counterparties.

b) The difference in the timing of settlement of hedaging instruments and hedged items.
No other sources of ineffectiveness were identified during the year.

The hedging instruments as at 31.12.2018 are summarized as follows:

Risk classification

Duration greater
than 5 years

Interest rate risk

Floating financing from term deposits and their renewals

Nominal amount of the derivative 550,000

Average fixed interest 2.32%

Duration <1 year

Foreign currency risk

Loans in foreign currency (CHF)

Nominal amount of the derivative 360,603
Average Foreign Exchange rate EUR/CHF 1.1093
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The balance sheet and the income statement amounts relating to cash flow hedging instruments and the effectiveness of the

hedging are analyzed as follows:

2018
Carrying amount Amount
of hedging . . reclassified
instrument Ch‘ange in Ch;nge in the Change in the from the cash Line item in
fair value fair value of fair value of Line item in flow hedge the income
of hedging the hedging the hedgin the income Ineffectiveness | Line item in reserve to statement
. Type of instruent used instrument . aing recognised in the income ¥
Hedging N . . : instrument statetement > the income affected
4 . deriva- for calculating | recognized in " : the income | statement that N .
relationship tive " g hedge the cash flow recognized in category statement for | includes hedge statement in by hedging
o S effectivgeness hedge reserve the income | affected by the the year 2018 ineﬁ’ectivenegss 2018 from relationships
a o 9 statement for | reclassification Y hedging that have been
< © for the year for the year . . y
] the year 2018 relationship terminated
2018 2018
that have been
terminated
Interest risk
Gains less losses
Term Interest Net interest on financial Net interest
deposits and 374818 (26,482) (7,832) (18,505) - (144) transactions and (5,482) -
rate swap income - - income
renewals impairments on
Group companies
Foreign
currency
risk
Gains less losses
on financial
(13,134) transactions and Gamséess {‘?SISES
Loans in cur- impairments on on fnancla Net interest
rency (CHF) FXswaps | 10483 | 4816 (11,823) (255) Group companies 404 ;ransactlons and 114 income
impairments on
Net interest Group companies
1163 et interes
income

Amounts recognized in the cash flow hedge reserve are analyzed as follows:

31.12.2018
Line item in the balance | Cash flow hedge reserve Cash flow hedge reserve Cash flow hedae
sheet where the hedge |(before tax) from existing| (before tax) from discontinued 9
- L . - : . - - reserve (before tax)
item is included hedging relationships hedging relationships
Interest risk
Term deposits in Euro Due to customers (131,372) (74,045) (205,417)
Foreign currency risk
Loans in currency (CHF) Loans and advances 19 (10) 10
to customers
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c. Hedging of net investment in foreign subsidiaries

The Group hedges part of the net investment in RON through lending transactions in RON and foreign exchange swap
derivatives. In addition, the Group hedges part of the net investment in GBP in the subsidiary Alpha Bank London through
forward foreign exchange derivative transactions that are renewed. For the hedging of the foreign currency risk of the net
investment in foreign operations, valuation of the net assets takes place using the spot exchange rate, while any foreign
exchange differences arising from this valuation are compared to exchange rate differences from the derivative. In order
to measure the effectiveness of the hedge, the changes in the hedged item are compared to the changes in the hedging
instrument, and in order for the hedge to qualify as effective the ratio of the change in the fair value of the hedging
instrument over the change in the fair value of the hedged item should be between 80% - 125% (dollar offset method).

The Group recognizes the following sources which may lead to ineffective hedging:

a) The credit risk (counterparty risk) of the hedging instruments used to hedge the foreign currency risk which is minimized by
entering into derivatives with high credit quality counterparties.

b) The difference in the timing of settlement of hedging instruments and hedged items.

No other sources of ineffectiveness were identified during the year.

The hedging instruments as at 31.12.2018 are summarized as follows:

Currency Nominal amount in Euro

Investment in Alpha Bank London Duration < 1 year

FX Swaps - EUR/GBP GBP 54,383
Exchange rate EUR/GBP 0.90

Investment in Alpha Bank Romania Duration < 1 year
Deposit amount RON RON 300,204
Exchange rate EUR/RON 466

Forward transactions CCIRS and FX Swaps-EUR/RON RON 99,330
Exchange rate RON/EUR 468

The balance sheet and the income statement amounts relating to hedging of net investment in foreign subsidiaries and the
effectiveness of the hedge are analyzed as follows:

31.12.2018
o . Changg in 'fair value Change in the fa.ir Change in the
Line item in the of hedging instrument| value of the hedging fair value of the
L ... | balance sheet where | for the measurement |instrument recognized| hedging instrument
Hedging instrument | Assets | Liabilities the hedge item is of the hedge in the cash flow _ recognized in the
included effectiveness for the | hedge reserve for the | income statement in
year 2018 year 2018 the year 2018
FX Swaps - EUR/GBP) 243 Derivatives 469 469
Deposit amountn 300204 | Due to customers 322 322
Forward transactions
CCIRS and FX Swaps- 273 441 Derivatives 6) 6)
EUR/RON

The amounts related to hedged items are analyzed as follows:

2018

Change in fair value for the

Balance of foreign exchange

Foreign Exchange differences differences reserve due

measurement of the hedge

. reserve to discontinued hedging
effectiveness - .
relationships
Investment in Alpha Bank London (1677) 16,925
Investment in Alpha Bank Romania 38,405 28,515
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19. Loans and advances to customers

31.12.2018 31.12.2017
Loans measured at amortised cost 50,021,398 53,427,725
Leasing 676,673 693,705
Less:
Allowance for impairment losses (10977,339) | (11,031,961)
Total 39,720,732 | 43,089,469
Receivables from customers measured at amortised cost 189,127 228,724
Loans measured at fair value through profit or loss 318,460 -
Loans and advances to customers 40,228,319 | 43,318,193

As at 31.12.2018, the caption “Receivables from customers, measured at amortised cost” includes accumulated impairments
of £€31,862 (31.12.2017: €6,323).

The tables below present an analysis of the loan portfolio per type and valuation method.

It should be noted that the Bank has proceeded in securitization of consumer, corporate loans, credit cards, while Alpha
Leasing S.A. has proceeded in securitization of leasing through special purpose entities controlled by them. Based on the
contractual terms and structure of the above transactions (e.g. allowance of guarantees or/and credit enhancement or due
to the Bank owing the bonds issued by the special purpose entities) the Bank and Alpha Leasing S.A. retained in all cases the
risks and rewards deriving from securitized portfolios. These loans are presented separately in the following tables.

Loans measured at amortised cost

31.12.2018  31.12.2017
Individuals
Mortgages 18,325,092 19,063,348
Consumer:
- Non-securitized 3,111,220 3,320,412
- Securitized 1,205,259 1,450,276
Credit cards:
- Non-securitized 738,038 906,224
- Securitized 589,300 548,642
Other 975 1,232
Total loans to individuals 23,973,884 25,290,134
Companies:
Corporate loans:
- Non-securitized 23,060,515 25,180,988
- Securitized 2,441,014 2,495,437
Leasing:
- Non-securitized 358,871 360,268
- Securitized 317,802 333,437
Factoring 545,985 461,166
Total corporate loans 26,724,187 28,831,296
Total 50,698,071 | 54,121,430
Less: Allowance for impairment losses (10977,339) | (11,031,961)
Total loans measured at amortised cost 39,720,732 43,089,469

As at 31.12.2018 mortgage loans included loans amounting to € 4,624,700 (31.12.2017: € 1,112,325) that have been
granted as collateral in the following covered bonds programe of the Bank Covered Bond Programe |, Covered Bond Programe
[l and Securitized Securities Program.
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0On 31.12.2018 the nominal value of the Covered Bond Issuance Program | amounted to € 500,000, Covered Bond Issuance
Program Il amounted to € 2,000,000 and the Secured Note Program amounted to € 1,050,000 (note 29).

On 30 September 2016 the Bank submitted to the SSM its Business Plan which included the targets for both Non-Performing
Exposures (NPE) and Non-Performing Loans (NPL), along with the NPE Strategy Explanatory Note and the relevant action plan,
depicting the Bank’s full commitment towards the active management and reduction of NPEs by the end of 2019. In the context
of the annual update of the NPE and NPL reduction target, the Bank submitted to SSM on September 2018 new targets for the
following years, endorsing that by the end of 2019 NPE (on a standalone base) would not exceed € 16.8 billion.

During the first two years of the Business Plan, the Bank accomplished to achieve its NPL/NPE reduction target for that
period, despite the adverse macroeconomic environment and the presence of certain impediments in the resolution of non-
performing exposures, which were reflected in a different from the initial estimated evolution of different portfolios of the
Bank, some with improved return and other with slightly worse. At the same time, the Bank at its updated Business Plan
submitted has significantly revised its management structure, as well as its strategy to address NPL/NPE by applying among
other the recommendations, guidelines and the relevant decisions of Bank of Greece, SSM and EBA.

0On 31.12.2018 the balance of NPE in the Bank’s total portfolio is € 21.7 billion, lower by approximately € 50 million
compared to the target set in the current Business Plan.

It is noted that in the context of the European Central Bank's requirement for the Bank and the Group to be in line with other
European banks, regarding the monitoring of past due exposures and the inclusion of additional data and strategic solutions
until the end of March 2019, the Bank is obliged to submit and monitor an updated past due loan portfolio management
plan for the years 2019 to 2021, according to the new methology and new models of the Supervisory Authorities, both at the
level of the business plan development and at the level of its achievement monitoring through reporting to the Supervisory
Authorities.

The movement of accumulated allowance for impairment losses on loans that are measured at amortised cost is as follows:

Accumulated allowance for impairment losses

Balance 1.1.2017 12,558,253
Changes in the period 1.1 - 31.12.2017

Impairment losses for the year 1,028,523
Transfer of accumulated allowance for impairment losses to assets held for sale (849,099)
Disposal of impaired loans/Disposal of subsidiaries (70,427)
Change in the present value of the impairment losses 263,357
Foreign exchange differences (94,518)
Loans written-off during the year (1,952,064)
Other movements 154,259
Balance 31.12.2017 11,038,284
Reclassification of other receivables (6,323)
Balance 31.12.2017 including reclassification 11,031,961
Impact from the implementation of IFRS 9 1,423,042
Balance 1.1.2018 12,455,003
Changes in period 1.1 - 31.12.2018

Impairment losses for the year 1,861,063
Transfer of accumulated allowance for impairment losses to assets held for sale (1,394,343)
Derecognizing due to significant modifications in loans' contractual terms (177,703)
Change in present value of the impairment losses 123,184
Foreign exchange differences 42,191
Sales of impaired loans (15,907)
Loans written-off during the year (1,853,194)
Other movements (62,955)
Balance 31.12.2018 10,977,339
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Some of the captions in the table above, have been affected by the transfer of loans to “Assets available for Sale” and from
the sales of loan portfolios as described in note 49.

The caption “Other movements” for the current year relates to accumulated allowance for impairment of loans for which the
Group, in the context of renegotiation of their terms, participated in debt to equity exchange.

In the context of the reassessment of the hold to collect business model of loans and advances to customers, past sales are
taken into account.

Considering that:

- the majority of the Group’s sales are in accordance with the Bank’s business model as they concern sales of non
performing loans due to the credit rating deterioration of the debtor and

- sales are insignificant in value both individually and in aggregate,
sales are considered consistent with the Bank’s business model for loans and advances to customers.

The finance lease receivables by duration are as follows:

31.12.2018  31.12.2017

Up to 1 year 337,604 336,976
From 1 year to 5 years 247468 225371
Over 5 years 161,144 209,078
746,216 771,425

Non accrued finance lease income (69,543) (77,720)
Total 676,673 693,705

The net amount of finance lease receivables by duration is analyzed as follows:

31.12.2018 31.12.2017
Up to 1 year 325,490 323,800
From 1 year to 5 years 213,856 193,289
Over 5 years 137,327 176,616
Total 676,673 693,705

Loans measured at fair value through profit or loss

31.12.2018  31.12.2017

Individuals

Consumer

- Non-securitized 1,152
Total 1,152
Companies:

Corporate loans

- Non-securitized 301,076
- Securitized 16,232
Total 317,308
Total of loans and advances to customers at fair value through profit or loss 318,460
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20. Investment securities

31.12.2018  31.12.2017
Securities measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 6,961,822
Securities measured at fair value through profit or loss 42,794
Available for sale securities 5,873,768
Securities held to maturity 10,870
Total 7,004,616 5,884,638

An analysis of investment securities is provided in the following tables per classification category pri

or to and after the

implementation of IFRS 9 for the comparative and the current period respectively distincted, per type of security.

a. Securities measured at fair value through other comprehensive income

31.12.2018
Greek Government
- Bonds 2945977
-Treasury bills 814,650
Other Governments
- Bonds 1,129,524
-Treasury bills 200,548
Other issuers
-Listed 1,748,004
-Non listed 17,351
Shares
- Listed 16,091
- Non listed 89,677
Total 6,961,822

Investment portfolio shares valued at fair value through other comprehensive income

The Group has opted to classify the shares that meet the following characteristics as shares measured at fair value through

other comprehensive income:

a) Investments in companies in the financial sector (shares of credit institutions and interbank comp
b) Investments in private equity (shares of venture capital or private equity) and

c) Long-term share investments

The following table presents the shares of investment portfolio measured at fair value through othe
as of 31.12.2018.

anies)

r comprehensive income

Dividend income/interim

Fair value dividends from 1.1.2018

31.12.2018 to 31.12.2018

Investments in financial companies 42,240 1,220
Private equity investments 25,250

Long-term investments 38,278 89

Total 105,768 1,309

The Group during the fiscal year, either for liquidity purposes or due to the fact that the major shareholders of certain shares
acquired shares from the minority (squeeze out), proceeded with the disinvestment of Piraeus Bank S.A,, Titan S.A. and
Andreou & Paraskevaidis S.A. shares of total fair value of € 30,108 at the date of disposal. The above sales resulted in a total

cumulative loss of € 40,889, compared to their initial cost of acquisition.
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b. Securities measured at fair value through profit or loss

31.12.2018
Other Governments
- Bonds 9,084
Other issuers
- Listed 11,192
- Non listed 2,735
Shares
- Non listed 468
Other variable yield securities 19,315
Total 42,794

Securities measured at fair value through profit or loss include securities for which it was assessed that their contractual cash
flows do not meet the definition of capital and interest, as provided by IFRS 9 (Solely Payments of Principal and Interest -SPPI).

c. Available for sale

31.12.2017
Greek Government:
- Bonds 2,487,043
- Treasury bills 1,231,351
Other Governments:
- Bonds 521,844
- Treasury bills 220,064
Other issuers:
- Listed 1,256,949
- Non listed 20,364
Shares:
- Listed 50,963
- Non listed 64,867
Other variable yield securities 20,323
Total 5,873,768

During 2017 the Bank recognized impairment losses amounting to € 39,806 which is analysed to € 2,197 corresponding to

other bonds, € 37,525 corresponding to shares and €84 corresponding other variable yield. The aforementioned amounts are
included in the caption "Gains less losses on financial transactions and impairments on Group companies”.

On 15.11.2017 the Hellenic Republic announced the exchange of the 20 bonds, maturing from 2023 to 2042 (issued on
24.2.2012, in the context of Hellenic Republic debt restructuring) with 5 debt securities with maturity on 2023, 2028, 2033,
2037 and 2042. This exchange took place in the context of a broader program implemented by the Hellenic Republic in
order to manage its obligations. This exchange aimed at aligning the terms of the outstading debt of the Greek Republic with
market standards for the issuers of government bonds in order to normalise the yield curve. At the same time, the liquidity
of the new securities would be strengthened due to the higher volume of issuances. Each security was exchanged with one
or two new securities based on its maturity, with a defined exchange ratio which was applied to the nominal value. New debt
securities generated fixed coupon payments, bearing an interest rate between 3.5% and 4.2%. In the exchange on 5.12.2017
the Bank participated with a nominal value of € 1,917,086 and the subsidiary insurance company of the Alphalife with a
nominal value of € 150,600, which received in return new securities with a nominal value of €1,938,556 and € 152,239
respectively. The transaction was treated from accounting prospective as an amendment of the contractual terms of the
exchanging bonds thus the profit recognized amounted to € 27,849 for the Bank and € 2,691 for Alphalife was determined
as the difference between the discounted cash flows of the new bonds, using the original effective interest rate of the bonds
exchanged and the cost of these bonds.

According to the Ministerial Decision POL. 1174/16.11.2017 of the Independent Public Revenue Authority, the gain resulting
from the Bank’s participation in the Greek government bonds Exchange program, exempt from tax under the provisions of
paragraph 6 of article 42 of Law 4172/2013.
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d. Held to maturity

31.12.2017
Bonds
- Other Governments 10,551
-Other issuers 319
Total 10,870

21. Investments in associates and joint ventures

31.12.2018 31.12.2017
Opening balance 18,886 21,792
New associates/joint ventures 4,550 964
Disposal of share in associates - (263)
Increases/(Returns) of share capital 1,172 (517)
Share of profit/(loss) and other comprehensive income (1,414) (3,090)
Total 23,194 18,886

In 2018, the caption “New associates / joint ventures” relates to the joint venture Alpha Investment Property Commercial
Stores A.E. (note 40), while in 2017 it relates to Panarae Saturn LP. The “Disposal of share in associate” is related to the
successive stake disposal of the company Cepal Holdings S.A., of 1% and 1.23 % on 4.5.2017 and on 18.5.2017 respectively.
The caption “Returns/increases of share capital” concerns the increase of share capital amounting to € 1,000 of the associate
Alpha Investment Property Elaionas A.E and of the joint venture Alpha TANEO AKES amounting to € 172 (return of share
capital of € 56 and share capital increase of € 228).

The corresponding caption of the previous year refers to the return of share capital amounting to € 600 of the associate A.L.C.
Novelle Investments Ltd and the share capital increase of € 83 of the Alpha TANEO S.A. joint venture.

The associates and joint ventures of the Group are the following:

Group's ownership interest %
Name Country 31.12.2018 31.12.2017
a. Associates
AEDEP Thessalias and Stereas Ellados Greece 50.00 50.00
A.L.C Novelle Investments Ltd Cyprus 33.33 3333
Olganos AE. Greece 30.44 30.44
Bank Information Systems A.E Greece 2377 2377
Propindex A.E.D.A. Greece 35.58 35.58
Cepal Holdings AE. Greece 3861 38.90
Selonda AE.GE. Greece 2197 2197
Nireus S.A. Greece 20.65 20.65
Famar S.A. Luxembourg 47.04 47.04
Alpha Investment Property Elaionas AE. Greece 50.00 50.00
b. Joint ventures
APE Commercial Property A.E Greece 72.20 72.20
APE Investment Property AE.* Greece 71.08 71.08
Alpha TANEO AKE.L Greece 51.00 51.00
Rosequeens Properties Ltd* Cyprus 33.33 33.33
Panarae Saturn LP Jersey 61.58 62.50
Alpha Investment Property Commercial Stores AE. Greece 70.00

* Companies are parent group entities as mentioned in note 40.

144 ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT The amounts are presented in thousands of Euro unless otherwise indicated



@ ALPHA BANK

GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT 31.12.2018

During 2017, the Bank acquired 47.04% of the share capital of the company Famar S.A., which is the parent company of

a group of entities, at a price of four euro and seventy cents. The acquisition of the shares by the Bank as well as by three
other Greek Banks, lenders of the company, took place within the context of the French pre-bankruptcy procedure, that Famar
entered into with a view to its restructuring. At the same time, the banks and a loan management company entered into

an agreement, which determines the way of decision making regarding the management of Famar, in order to maximize
the recovery potential of the value of the loans granted to the company by the Greek Banks. In addition, it is noted that
according to Famar’s Articles of Association, there are corporate issues for which decision making is based on the number
of shareholders instead of the percentage of shares held. The company’s shares are pledged for loans granted by the
aforementioned Greek banks to the previous shareholder of Famar S.A, both before and after the restructuring agreement.
The Bank assessed the above and classified the participation of Famar S.A. in the caption “Investments in associates”.
However, it is noted that following further financial restructuring operations in December 2018, Famar S.A. became inactive
and out of business as it ceased holding shares in the Famar Business Group.

Additionally, the subsidiary of the Group, Alpha A.E. Investment Holdings participated in the joint venture Panarae Saturn LP
on 29.3.2017 amounting to € 964 which has the exclusive purpose of the direct investment in the entity Orbital Systems.

Bank’s participation in Cepal Holdings S.A. reclassified from joint ventures to associates following the agreement of
company'’s shareholders, signed during the second quarter of 2017, and to the company’s amended Articles of Association,
that took place on 4.5.2017.

The Bank participates in companies “Selonda A.E.G.E.” and “Nireus S.A.” as a consequence of their restructuring agreements of

loan liabilities which signed during 2016. The Bank intends to dispose these companies and as a result they were classified
as “Assets held for sale” at fair value, which was determined in the amount of € 1.

The Group’s share in equity and profit/(loss) of each associate and joint venture is set out below:

Share of other
Group's share on equity Share of profit/(loss) comprehensive income
in equity
FROM 1 JANUARY TO FROM 1 JANUARY TO FROM 1 JANUARY TO
Name 31.12.2018 31.12.2017 31.12.2018 31.12.2017 31.12.2018 31.12.2017
a.Associates
AEDEP Thessalias and Stereas Ellados 73 74 (1)
AL.C. Novelle Investments Ltd 421 578 (8) (8) (149) 173
Bank Information Systems AE 162 267 (105) 1
Propindex A.E.D.A. 78 86 8)
Alpha Investment Property Elaionas AE. 10,305 10,351 (1,046) (993)
Cepal Holdings AE. 3,699 3,849 (150) (1,671)
Total (a) 14,738 15,205 (1,318) (2,671) (149) 173
b. Joint ventures
Alpha TANEO AKES. 3054 2,853 29 (444)
Rosequeens Properties Ltd 1 6 (5) 6)
Panarae Saturn LP 858 822 36 (41) (101)
Alpha Investment Property Commercial
Stores AE. 4,543 (7)
Total (b) 8,456 3,681 53 (491) = (101)
Total (a) + (b) 23,194 18,886 (1,265) (3,162) (149) 72
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Investments in material associates and joint ventures

The Group considers as material the associate companies and joint ventures that it participates in, by taking into
consideration the activities of strategic importance carried out, but also the book value of the Group’s investments as well
as the loans and receivables that consist part of the Group’s net investment in the companies, if any.

On the basis of the above, the associate company AEP Elaionas A.E. and Cepal Holdings S.A., and the joint ventures APE
Commercial Property A.E. and APE Investment Property A.E. are considered material.

AEP Elaionas mainly carries out activities relating to building construction and real estate exploitation in general.

Cepal Holdings S.A. is the parent company of the group of companies (note 40), which operates in the administration of
claims from loans and advances to customers.

APE Commercial Property A.E. carries out activities mainly relating to the management and exploitation of real estate
activities, as well as the acquisition and management of shareholding, while APE Investment Property AE. activities
relating to the acquisition of securities and any kind of assets in general. The last two are classified as joint ventures, since,
under a contractual agreement, the exercise of control requires a consensus decision of the shareholders.

All the above mentioned companies are established in Greece, are not listed on a requlated market and therefore there is
no official reference regarding their fair value.

Condensed financial information about AEP Elaionas A.E. and Cepal Holdings S.A., which are accounted for under the equity
method, are presented below. For APE Commercial Property A.E. and APE Investment Property A.E. that have been classified
as Held for Sale, the applicable disclosures of IFRS 5 are provided in note 49.

Alpha Investment Property Elaionas A.E.

Condensed Statement of Total Comprehensive Income

31.12.2018  31.12.2017

Interest and similar expenses (1,689) (1,652)
Other expenses (403) (334)
Profit/(losses) before income tax (2,092) (1,986)
Income tax

Profit/(losses) after income tax (2,092) (1,986)
Other comprehensive income recognized directly in Equity

Other comprehensive income for the year after income tax (2,092) (1,986)
Amount attributed to the participation of the Group to profits/(losses) of the joint venture (1,046) (993)

Amount attributed to the participation of the Group to other comprehensive income recorded directly in equity

No dividends have been received from the entity within the year 2018.
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Condensed Balance Sheet

ASSETS 31.12.2018  31.12.2017
Cash and cash equivalents - -
Other current assets 31 288
Total current assets 31 288
Non current assets 106,881 104,907
Short-term liabilities 67 65
Total Short-term liabilities 67 65
Long-term liabilities 105,707 103,830
Total long-term liabilities 105,707 103,830
Total equity 1,138 1,300
Group participation (%) 50 50
Equity share 569 650
Goodwill from the acquisition 9,701 9,701
Carrying amount of participation 10,305 10,351
Loan that is part of the net investment 53,066 52,024
Net investment 63,371 62,375

Cepal Holdings A.E.

Condensed Statement of Total Comprehensive Income

31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Commission expense (4) 4)
Gains less losses on financial transactions and impairments on Group companies 6 (11)
Other income 15,235 7,742
General Administrative Expenses (19,130) (12,388)
Depreciation (318) (91)
Profit/(losses) before income tax (211) (4,752)
Income tax (142) 901
Profit/(losses) after income tax (353) (3,851)
Other comprehensive income recognized directly in Equity - -
Total comprehensive income after income tax (353) (3,851)
Amount attributed to the participation of the Group to profits/(losses) of the joint venture (150) (1671)

No dividends have been received from the entity within the year 2018.

Condensed Balance Sheet

ASSETS 31.12.2018 31.12.2017
Cash and cash equivalents 1 3
Other current assets 15,485 14,564
Total current assets 15,486 14,567
Non current assets 6,685 6,285
Short-term liabilities 8013 6,311
Total short-term liabilities 8,013 6,311
Total Equity 14,158 14,541
Less: Preference shares (18,938) (18,938)
Equity excluding preference shares (4,780) (4,397)
Group's share of results (2,577) (2,427)
Cost of acquisition 6,276 6,276
Book value of participation 3,699 3,849

The Group does not participate in joint operations schemes.
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Other information for associates and joint ventures and significant restrictions

Apart from the associated companies and the joint ventures that have been classified as Assets Held for Sale and are
accounted for in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 5, the rest of the associates and the joint ventures are accounted for
using the equity method.

No cases exist where the Group has ceased recognizing its portion to losses of associates and joint ventures due to the full
impairment of its participation to them.

The Group has no contingent liabilities regarding its participation in associates or joint ventures. The Bank has undertaken the
obligation to participate in additional investments in the joint venture Alpha TANEO AKES amounting up to € 64. Further to
this, there are no other unrecognized commitments of the Group relating with its participation in joint ventures which could
result in future cash or other outflows.

No significant restrictions exist on associates or joint ventures to transfer capital in the Group or to repay loans that have
been financed by the Group apart from the restrictions imposed by Codified Law 2190/1920 on Greek companies regarding
the minimum of share capital and equity required, and the ability to distribute dividends.

Moreover, restrictions imposed by the adoption of Ministerial Legislative Act within 2015 exist which refer to cash

withdrawals and free capital flows as well as any ministerial or other decision issued, which apply to all companies operating
in Greece.
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22. Investment property

Land - Buildings

Balance 1.1.2017

Cost 800,527
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (186,435)
1.1.2017 - 31.12.2017

Net book value 1.1.2017 614,092
Additions 46,124
Additions from companies consolidated for the first time in 2017 21,501
Reclassification from "Property, Plant and Equipment" 6,826
Reclassification to "Property, Plant and Equipment" (1,142)
Reclassification to "Assets held for sale" (21,467)
Foreign Exchange differences (3,431)
Disposals/Write-offs (34,740)
Reclassification of Investment Property of Chardash Trading E.0.0.D. to "Other Assets" (note 52) (23,769)
Subsidiary disposal (3,666)
Depreciation charge for the year from continuing operations (12,407)
Impairment losses (34,578)
Net book value 31.12.2017 553,343
Balance 31.12.2017

Cost 737,609
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (184,266)
1.1.2018 - 31.12.2018

Net book value 1.1.2018 553,343
Additions 21,552
Additions from companies consolidated for the first time in 2018 54,094
Reclassification from/to "Property, Plant and Equipment" (797)
Reclassification to "Assets available for sale” (127,575)
Reclassification to "Other Assets" (268)
Reclassification to Investment Property from "Assets available for sale" 54,354
Foreign Exchange differences (121)
Disposals/Write-offs (35,963)
Depreciation charge for the year (10,691)
Impairment losses (14,767)
Net book value 31.12.2018 493,161
Balance 31.12.2018

Cost 639,497
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (146,336)

The fair value of investment property as at 31.12.2018 amounts to € 595,166 (31.12.2017: £600,584).

In 2018 an impairment loss amounting to € 14,767 was recognized, in order for the carrying amount of investment property

not to exceed their recoverable amount as at 31.12.2018, as estimated by certified valuators.

The impairment amount was recognized in ‘Other Expenses’. The recoverable amount of investment property which was
impaired during the current year amounted to €57,453 (31.12.2017: €185,439) and it was calculated as the fair value less

costs to sell.

The fair value of the investment property is calculated in accordance with the methods mentioned in note 1.7 and are
classified, in terms of fair value hierarcy, in Level 3 since they have made use of research inputs, assumptions and inputs
relating to properties of relevant characteristics and therefore encompass a wide range of non-observable market inputs. The

capitalization rate used ranges between 7.0% and 8.5%.

The additions of current and prior period as well as the additions from companies consolidated for the first time in 2017
and 2018 relate mainly to investment property which were obtained as collateral for loans and acquired by the Group in the

context of its credit risk methodology.

Finally, information about the caption of transfer to “Assets held for sale” is presented in note 49.
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23. Property, plant and equipment

Land and Leasehold

buildings improvements Equipment Total
Balance 1.1.2017
Cost 1,097,399 3,389 462,904 1,563,692
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (371,849) (2,668) (395,207) (769,724)
1.1.2017 - 31.12.2017
Net book value 1.1.2017 725,550 721 67,697 793,968
Foreign exchange differences (434) (6) (171) (611)
Additions 12,498 86 16,438 29,022
Additions from companies consolidated for the first time in 2017 4 4
Subsidiary disposal (3,620) (858) (4,478)
Disposals/Write-offs (3,306) 4) (518) (3,828)
Reclassification of Property, Plant and Equipment of Chardash Trading
E.0.0.D. to "Other Assets" (note 52) (1,417) (1,417)
Reclassification to "Investment Property" (6,816) (10) (6,826)
Reclassification from "Investment Property” 1,142 1,142
Reclassification to "Other Assets" (6,550) (6,550)
Depreciation charge from continuing operations (20,412) (270) (17,624) (38,306)
Impairment losses (28,172) (115) (28,287)
Net book value 31.12.2017 669,880 527 63,426 733,833
Balance 31.12.2017
Cost 1,051,956 3,366 444,650 1,499,972
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (382,076) (2,839) (381,224) (766,139)
1.1.2018 - 31.12.2018
Net book value 1.1.2018 669,880 527 63,426 733,833
Additions 10,473 87 37,815 48,375
Disposals/Write-offs (812) (817) (1,629)
Reclassification from/to "Investment Property" 797 797
Reclassification internally to "Property, Plant and Equipment" (2,638) (57) 2,695 -
Reclassification to "Other Assets' (2,933) (2,933)
Reclassification to "Assets held for sale" (4,956) (69) (5,025)
Foreign exchange differences 267 15 1 283
Depreciation charge (18,632) (221) (17,645) (36,498)
Impairment losses (2,540) - (2,540)
Net book value 31.12.2018 648,906 351 85,406 734,663
Balance 31.12.2018
Cost 896,655 3237 471,635 1,371,527
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (247,749) (2,886) (386,229) (636,864)

The carrying amount of owned land and buildings included in the above balances amounts to € 608,085 as at 31.12.2018
(31.12.2017: €635,291).

In 2018, an impairment loss of €2,540 (31.12.2017: € 28,287) was recorded in “Other Expenses”.

During the impairment test of property, plant and equipment, the estimation of the recoverable amount is based on the value
in use, which incorporates in the carrying amount of the asset all the improvements which render it suitable for use by the
Group.

The recoverable amount of “Property, plant and equipment” which was impaired during the current year amounts to € 6,472
(31.12.2017: €139,364).

Finally, information relating with the caption “Assets held for sale’are presented in note 49.
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24. Goodwill and other intangible assets

Software Other intangible Total
Balance 1.1.2017
Cost 617,620 140,128 757,748
Accumulated amortization and impairment loss (326,811) (59,623) (386,434)
1.1.2017 - 31.12.2017 -
Net book value 1.1.2017 290,809 80,505 371,314
Additions 70,429 70,429
Additions from companies consolidated for the first time during the year 2017 5 5
Foreign exchange differences 80 3 83
Disposals/Write-offs (93) (93)
Amortization charge for the year from continuing operations (30,737) (18,293) (49,030)
Impairment losses (2,899) (2,899)
Net book value 31.12.2017 327,594 62,215 389,809
Balance 31.12.2017
Cost 685,756 141,486 827,242
Accumulated amortization and impairment loss (358,162) (79,271) (437,433)
1.1.2018 - 31.12.2018
Net book value 1.1.2018 327,594 62,215 389,809
Additions 104,185 2 104,187
Foreign exchange differences 50 1 51
Disposals/Write-offs (44) (44)
Amortization charge for the year (36,547) (18,292) (54,839)
Impairment losses (5,071) (5,071)
Net book value 31.12.2018 390,167 43,926 434,093
Balance 31.12.2018
Cost 787,082 141,487 928,569
Accumulated amortization and impairment loss (396,915) (97,561) (494,476)

The additions of current year mainly concern acquisitions of user rights for computer applications.

In 2018, an impairment loss of €5,071 was recorded in “Other Expenses”.

During the year 2017 an impairment loss of € 2,899 on intangible assets was recognized. Relevant amounts were recorded in

caption “Other expenses”.
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25. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

31.12.2018  31.12.2017
Assets 5,290,763 4,330,602
Liabilities (18,681) (24,997)
Total 5,272,082 4,305,605

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are analyzed as follows:

1.1-31.12.2018

Reclassification Recognized in
Impact from the due to Foreign
Balance implementation Balance |Implementation of Income Reclassification | exchange | Balance
31.12.2017 of IFRS 9 1.1.2018 | Law 4465/2017 Statement Equity to Held for Sale |differences|31.12.2018

Debit difference
of Law
4046/2012 1,065,316 1,069,316 (44,554) 1,024,762

Debit difference
of Law
4465/2017 15,165 15,165 30,465 692,028 737,658

Write-offs,
depreciation
and impairment
of fixed assets 32,418 32,418 (10,031) (6,840) 15,547

Loans portfolio 2,569,971 390611 | 2,960,582 (30,465) (135,130) 2,794,987

Valuation of
loans due to
hedging (105) (105) 80 (25)

Employee
defined benefit
and insurance
funds 26,743 26,743 (1,335) (339) 25,069

Valuation of
derivatives 127,733 127,733 (5,001) 788 123,520

Effective
interest rate 10,573 10,573 (799) 9774

Valuation

of liabilities

to credit
institutions and
other borrowed
funds due to
fair value hedge (14562) (14,562) 3,842 (10,720)

Valuation/
impairment of
investments (524) (524) 158,514 157,990

Valuation/
impairment of
bonds and other
securities 2,735 2,735 (87,006) 161,680 77,409

Tax losses
carried forward 325,445 325,445 (144,148) (1,918) 179,379

Other temporary
differences 140,689 1318 142,007 (2,230) (256) 139,521

Exchange
differences
from translating
and hedging

of foreign
operations 8 8 (2,378) (445) (2,815)

Total 4,305,605 391,929 | 4,697,534 = 424,230 159,751 (9,014) (445) | 5,272,082
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1.1-31.12.2017
Reclassification Recognized in
due to Reclassification
Implementation to Held for Foreign
Balance of Law Income Sale and other | exchange Balance
1.1.2017 4465/2017 statement Equity movements differences | 31.12.2017
Debit difference of Law
4046/2012 1,113870 (44,554) 1,069,316
Debit difference of Law
4465/2017 = 16,850 (1,685) 15,165
Write-offs, depreciation and
impairment of fixed assets 38,689 (6,604) 333 32418
Loans portfolio 2,479,024 (16,850) 107,797 2,569,971
Valuation of loans due to
hedging (314) 209 (105)
Employee defined benefit
and insurance funds 46,326 (19,480) (26) (77) 26,743
Valuation of derivatives 172,284 (29,247) (15,304) 127,733
Effective interest rate 11,718 (1,145) 10,573
Valuation of liabilities to
credit institutions and other
borrowed funds due to fair
value hedge (54,267) 39,705 (14,562)
Valuation/impairment of
investments 59,082 (59,606) (524)
Valuation/impairment of
bonds and other securities 83,908 58,035 (139,208) 2,735
Tax losses carried forward 450,647 (125,282) 80 325445
Other temporary differences 956,361 44624 (296) 140,689
Exchange differences from
translating and hedging of
foreign operations 499 (721) 230 8
Total 4,497,827 = (37,233) (155,179) (40) 230 4,305,605

Reclassification due to implementation of Law 4465/2017" presents the impact of the formation of debit difference,
pursuant to the provisions of Law 4465/2017, which was finalized upon the submission of the Bank’s income tax statement
after the publication of Financial Statements as of 31.12.2017 and 31.12.2016, respectively.

The amount of €80 which is recognized in Equity in the category “Tax losses carried forward” relates to share capital increase
expenses which according to Law 4308/14 (Greek Accounting Standards) are recognized in the tax results of the year 2017.
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26. Other assets

31.12.2018  31.12.2017
Tax advances and withholding taxes 164,533 221,771
Deposit and Investment Guarantee Fund 635,007 632,813
Assets obtained from auctions 215,446 231,071
Prepaid expenses 25999 18,862
Accrued income 5,496 6,677
Other 317,204 237,591
Total 1,363,685 1,348,785

“Deposit and Investment Guarantee Fund” included in other assets relates to the Bank’s participation in assets of investment
and deposit cover scheme. The above figure consists of:

1. the amount contributed relating to investment cover scheme and

2. the difference between the regular annual contribution of credit institutions resulting from the application of article 6 of
Law 3714/2008 “Borrowers protection and other regulations”, which raised the amount of deposits covered by the Deposit
Guarantee scheme from € 20 to € 100 per depositor.

The above difference is included according to Law 4370/7.3.2016 in “Deposit Gurantee Scheme (incorporating Directive
2014/49/EU), Deposit and Investment Guarantee Fund and other requlations” in a special group of assets, whose elements
are owned in common by the participant credit institutions, according to the participation percentage of each one.

The caption “Tax advances and withholding taxes” is presented, after provisions, amounted to € 101,037 in year 2018
(31.12.2017: £49,449).

In addition, as at 31.12.2018 the Group measured its assets obtained from auctions which have been classified in other
assets at the lowest value between the carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. In cases where the fair value was
lower than the carrying amount, an impairment loss was recognized of € 18,546 and recorded in “Other expenses” of the
Income Statement. As at 31.12.2017 the relevant impairment loss amounted to € 13,386.

The fair value of the assets has been estimated in accordance with the methods mentioned in note 1.8 and are classified in
terms of fair value hierarchy in Level 3, since they have made use of research inputs, assumptions and inputs from properties
of relevant characteristics and therefore encompass a wide range of non-observable market inputs. The capitalization rate
used was between 7.0% and 8.5%.

In 2018, the Group transferred fixed assets from auctions with a carrying amount of € 27,835 to “Assets held for Sale”, as
described in detail in note 49.
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LIABILITIES

27. Due to banks

31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Deposits:
- Current accounts 37456 49,398
- Term deposits:

Central Banks 3,378,846 10,206,372

Other credit institutions 26,096 28,879
Cash collateral for derivative margin account and repurchase agreements 68,858 71,550
Sale and repurchase agreements (Repos) 6,421,829 2,306,720
Borrowing funds 518,021 474,333
Deposits on demand:
- Other credit institutions 5,253 4,279
Total 10,456,359 13,141,531

Eurosystem funding decreased by €6,827,526 in 2018 mainly due to increase in customer deposits, the issuance of covered
bonds and repurchase agreements (Repos).

In June 2016, the European Central Bank carried out a new program of targeted long term refinancing operations (TLTRO-II)
with a four year duration.

The Bank participates in this program with an amount of € 3,100,000.

The caption “Borrowed funds” mainly includes liabilities due to European Investment Bank.

28. Due to customers

31.12.2018  31.12.2017
Deposits:
- Current accounts 10,957,383 9,835,938
- Saving accounts 9,734,581 9,377274
- Term deposits 17919453 15,455,782
Debt securities in issue 47,319
Sale and repurchase agreements (Repos) 46,115
Deposits on demand 35,258 37,832

38,646,675 | 34,800,260
Chegues payable 85,160 90,176
Total 38,731,835 | 34,890,436

29. Debt securities in issue and other borrowed funds

i. Covered bonds*

In the context of the existing of Direct Covered Bond Issuance Program | of amount € 8 billion the Bank issued, on 1.8.2017,
a bond with a nominal value of € 1 billion collateralized with mortgage loans of a nominal value of € 1.2 billion, maturity
date on 23.10.2018 and bearing an interest rate corresponding to three month Euribor plus a margin of 1.2%. The issuance
was wholly purchased by the Bank and was used as collateral in financing operations. On 5.12.2017, the above issuance was
redeemed.

* Financial disclosures regarding covered bonds issues, as determined by the directive of Bank of Greece 2620/28.8.2009 are published at the
Bank’s website.
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In the context of the direct Covered Bond Issuance Program Il, amounting to € 8 billion, the Bank, on 6.12.2017 and on
18.5.2018, issued bonds with a total nominal value of € 1 billion collateralized with mortgage loans of € 2.2 billion, with
maturity date on 23.1.2021 and on 23.10.2019 respectively and bearing an interest rate corresponding to three month
Euribor plus a margin of 1.65%. These bonds are used as collateral in financing operations and are not included in the caption
“Debt securities in issue and other borrowed funds” as they are held by the Bank.

0On 25.1.2018, and settlement date on 5.2.2018, the Bank issued a € 500 million covered bond collateralized with mortgage
loans of €0.7 billion, with a 5-year tenor, bearing a fixed annual interest rate of 2.5% and 2.75% vield to maturity, as part of
its € 8 billion direct issuance Covered Bond Programme I.

Balance 1.1.2018 -
Changes for the period 1.1 - 31.12.2018

New Issues 491,985
Change in the fair value due to hedging 8,308
Accrued interest 11,550
Balance 31.12.2018 511,843

The following table presents additional information for the above mentioned issues:

Nominal value
Issuer Currency Interest Rate Maturity
31.12.2018 31.12.2017
A. Covered Bonds held by the Bank
Alpha Bank S.A. Euro 3m Euribor+1.65% 23.10.2019 1,000,000
Alpha Bank S.A. Euro 3m Euribor+1.65% 23.1.2021 1,000,000 1,000,000
Total 2,000,000 1,000,000
B. Third Parties
Alpha Bank S.A. Euro 2.5% 522023 500,000
Total 500,000

ii. Secured Note Program

On 22.11.2018 the Bank issued bonds of nominal value of € 1.05 billion, collateralized with mortgage loans of amount €1.8
billion with maturity date on 25.10.2020 and bearing an interest rate corresponding to three months Euribor plus a margin of
1.8%. These bonds are used as collateral in financing operations and are not included in the caption “Debt securities in issue

and other borrowed funds” as they are held by the Bank.

The following table presents additional information for the above mentioned issues:

Nominal value
Issuer Currency Interest Rate Maturity
31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Alpha Bank S.A. Euro 3m Euribor+1.8% 25.10.2020 1,050,000

Total 1,050,000
iii. Senior debt securities

Balance 1.1.2018 9,977
Changes for the period 1.1 — 31.12.2018

Maturities/Repayments (4,635)
Accrued interest 837
Balance 31.12.2018 6,179
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The following table presents additional information for the above mentioned issues:

Nominal value
Issuer Currency Interest Rate Maturity
31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Alpha Bank S.A. Euro 2.50% 20.6.2022 350 350
Alpha Bank S.A. Euro 2.50% 20.6.2022 1,345 1,345
Alpha Bank S.A. Euro Linked to interest rate index 26.2.2019 5,000 5,000
Alpha Bank S.A. Euro 2% 17.5.2018 5,753
Total 6,695 12,448
iv. Liabilities from the securitization of shipping loans

Balance 1.1.2018 317,066
Changes for the period 1.1 - 31.12.2018

New Issues 20,294
Maturities/Repayments (94,872)
Accrued interest 13115
Foreign exchange differences 12674
Balance 31.12.2018 268,277

The Bank has proceeded to a shipping loan securitization transaction, transferring them to the fully consolidated Special
Purpose Entity, Alpha Shipping Finance Ltd, which raised funding from third parties.

The following table presents additional information for the above mentioned issues:

Nominal value
Issuer Currency Interest Rate Maturity
31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Alpha Shipping Finance Ltd usD 1m USD Libor+2.25% 22.9.2022 13529 11617
Alpha Shipping Finance Ltd usD 3m USD Libor+2.25% 22.9.2022 254,040 305,096
Total 267,569 316,712
v. Liabilities from the securitization of corporate loans (SMEs)

Balance 1.1.2018 319,656
Changes for the period 1.1 - 31.12.2018

Maturities/Repayments (168,057)
Accrued interest 4785
Balance 31.12.2018 156,384

The Bank has proceeded in the securitization of SME’s loans, transferring the aforementioned loans to the fully consolidated
special purpose entity, Proodos Designated Activity Company (D.A.C.), which in turn raised funding from third parties and from
the Bank.

The following table presents additional information for the above mentioned issues:

. Nominal value
Issuer Currency Interest Rate Maturity 31122018 31.12.2017

A. Covered Bonds held by the Bank

Alpha Proodos DAC - CLASS B Euro 3M Euribor+2.5%, minimum 0% 23.1.2040 100,000 100,000
ALPHA PROODOS DAC - CLASS C Euro 3M Euribor+39%, minimum 0% 23.1.2040 220,000 220,000
Total 320,000 320,000
B. Third Parties

Alpha Proodos DAC - CLASS Al Euro 3M Euribor+29%, minimum 0% 23.1.2040 122,389 250,000
Alpha Proodos DAC - CLASS A2 Euro 3M Euribor+29%, minimum 0% 23.1.2040 24478 50,000
Alpha Proodos DAC - CLASS A3 Euro 3M Euribor+29%, minimum 0% 23.1.2040 9,791 20,000
Total 156,658 320,000
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vi. Liabilities from the securitization of other loans

Liabilities arising from the securitization of consumer loans, corporate loans, credit cards and leasing are not included in
“Debt securities in issue and other borrowed funds” since these securities of nominal value € 4,174,400 have been issued by
special purpose entities and are held by the Bank

The following table presents additional information for the above mentioned issues:

Nominal value

Issuer Currency Interest Rate Maturity
31.12.2018 31.12.2017
Katanalotika Plc LDN - CLASS A Euro 3m Euribor +0.4%, minimum 0% 17.12.2029 912,000 912,000
Katanalotika Plc LDN - CLASS Z Euro 3m Euribor +19%, minimum 0% 17.12.2029 608,000 608,000
Epihiro Plc LDN - CLASS A Euro 6&m Euribor +0.3%, minimum 0% 20.1.2035 785,600 785,600
Epihiro Plc LDN - CLASS B Euro 6m Euribor, minimum 0% 20.1.2035 807,800 807,800
Pisti 2010-1 Plc LDN - CLASS A Euro 2.5% 24.2.2026 369,300 369,300
Pisti 2010-1 Plc LDN - CLASS B Euro 1m Euribor, minimum 0% 24.2.2026 216,900 216,900
Irida Plc LDN - CLASS A Euro 3m Euribor +0.3%, minimum 0% 3.1.2039 261,100 261,100
Irida Plc LDN - CLASS B Euro 3m Euribor, minimum 0% 3.1.2039 213,700 213,700
Total 4,174,400 4,174,400
vii. Subordinated debt

Balance 1.1.2018 56,188
Changes for the period 1.1 - 31.12.2018

Maturities/repayments (56,111)
Accrued interest 574
Balance 31.12.2018 651

On 30.5.2018 subordinated debt of nominal value € 100 million matured, from which an amount of € 26.6 million and an

amount of € 18 million was owned by the Bank and the Group respectively.

The following table presents additional information for the above mentioned issues:

Nominal value

Issuer Currency Interest Rate Maturity
31.12.2018 31.12.2017
Alpha Bank S.A. Euro 3m Euribor+1.5% indefinite 650 650
Alpha Bank Cyprus Ltd Euro 3m Euribor+2.8% 30.5.2018 55415
Total 650 56,065
Total of debt securities in issue and other borrowed funds as at 31.12.2018 943,334
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The changes in liabilities arised from financing activities, including the cash flow and non-cash flow changes, are presented in

the table below :

Cash flows from
financing activities

1.1.2018

Cash Flows

Non Cash Flows

Accrued interest

Foreign exchange
differences

Other

31.12.2018

Senior debt securities

9977

(4,635)

837

6,179

Liabilities from the
securitization of shipping
loans

317,066

(74,578)

13115

12,674

268,277

Liabilities from the
securitization of
corporate loans (SMEs)

319,656

(168,057)

4,785

156,384

Subordinated loans

56,188

(56,111)

574

651

Liabilities from the
securitization of other
loans

- 491,985

11,550

8,308

511,843

Cash flows from
financing activities

1.1.2017 Cash Flows

Non Cash Flows

Accrued interest

Foreign exchange
differences

Fair value
change

Conversion of
bond loan to
shares

31.12.2017

Senior debt securities

26,834 (17,719)

862

9977

Liabilities from the
securitization of
shipping loans

252,320 86,720

7,896

(25,870)

317,066

Liabilities from
the securitization
of corporate loans
(SMEs)

320,053 (5,990)

5593

319,656

Subordinated loans

82,338 (26,588)

438

56,188

Convertible bond
loans

13,995

(1,790)

(12,205)

The above cash flows are incuded in the net cash flows from financing activities in the cash flow statement of the year with
exception of the cash flows from senior debt securities, which are included in the net cash flows from operating activities.

30. Liabilities for current income tax and other taxes

31.12.2018 31.12.2017
Current income tax 15821 17,862
Other taxes 25451 24,899
Total 41,272 42,761

31. Employee defined benefit obligations

The total amounts recognized in the financial statements for the defined benefit obligations are presented in the table below:

Balance Sheet - Liabilities

31.12.2018 31.12.2017
Bank employee’s indemnity provision due to retirement in accordance with Law 2112/1920 73611 79,526
Savings program guarantee 3,325 3,232
Plans for Diners (pension and health care) 6,811 6,683
Group employees in Greece indemnity provision due to retirement in accordance with Law 2112/1920 2,559 2,597
Other provision for retirement benefits 438
Total Liabilities 86,744 92,038
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Income statement
Expenses/(Income)
FROM 1 JANUARY TO
31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Bank employee’s indemnity provision due to retirement in accordance with Law 2112/1920 (note 8) 3,847 4,039
Savings program guarantee 216 301
Plans for Diners (pension and health care) 122 124
Group employees in Greece indemnity provision due to retirement in accordance with Law 2112/1920 1,078 441
Other provision for retirement benefits 438

Total 5,701 4,905

Balance Sheet and Income Statement amounts are analyzed per fund and type of benefit as follows:
i. Bank
a. Employee indemnity due to retirement in accordance with Law 2112/1920

The employment contracts of the employees are considered open term employee contracts and when cancelled, the
provisions of Law 2112/1920 and Law 3198/1955 apply, as amended by Law 4093/2012, which provide a lump sum benefit
payment.

The amounts recognized in the balance sheet are as follows:

31.12.2018 31.12.2017
Present value of defined obligations 73611 79,526
Liability/(Asset) 73,611 79,526

The amounts recognized in the income statement are as follows:

FROM 1 JANUARY TO
31.12.2018  31.12.2017

Current service cost 2,272 2,289
Net interest cost resulted from net asset/liability 1,333 1411
Past service cost

Settlement/Curtailment/Termination (gain)/loss 242 339
Total (included in staff costs) 3,847 4,039

The movement in the present value of the defined benefit obligation is as follows:

2018 2017
Opening balance 79,526 78,597
Current service cost 2,272 2,289
Interest cost 1,333 1411
Benefits paid (8,747) (3,994)
Settlement/Curtailment/Termination (gain)/loss 242 339
Past service cost -
Actuarial (gain)/loss — financial assumptions (479) 1,568
Actuarial (gain)/loss — experience assumptions (536) (684)
Closing balance 73,611 79,526
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The amounts recognized directly in equity during the year are analyzed as follows:

31.12.2018  31.12.2017
Change in liability gain/(loss) due to changes in financial and demographic assumptions 479 (1,568)
Change in liability gain/(loss) due to experience adjustments 536 684
Total actuarial gain/(loss) recognized in Equity 1,015 (884)

The movement in the obligation in the balance sheet is as follows:

2018 2017
Opening balance 79,526 78,597
Benefits paid (8,747) (3,994)
Loss /(Gain) recognized in Income Statement 3,847 4,039
Loss/(Gain) recognized in equity (1,015) 884
Closing balance 73,611 79,526

b. Guarantee of the minimum benefit for newly insured employees (after 1993) that were hired up to
31.12.2004 and joined the new Bank’s savings plan

For employees hired by the Bank and insured from 1.1.1993 until 31.12.2004 the final amount to be received upon
retirement has, according to the provisions of the insurance plan, as minimum limit the benefit as defined in Law 2084/1992
and the Cabinet Act 2/39350/0022/2.3.99.

The amounts included in the balance sheet are analyzed as follows:

31.12.2018  31.12.2017
Present value of defined obligation 3,325 3,232
Fair value of Fund's assets
Liability/(asset) 3,325 3,232

The amounts included in the income statement are as follows:

FROM 1 JANUARY TO
31.12.2018  31.12.2017

Current service cost 162 225
Net interest cost resulted from the net asset/liability 54 76
Total (included in staff costs) 216 301

The movement in the present value of liability is as follows:

2018 2017
Opening balance 3,232 4,225
Current service cost 162 225
Interest cost 54 76
Actuarial (gain)/loss - financial assumptions (23) 70
Actuarial (gain)/loss — experience adjustments (100) (1,364)
Closing balance 3,325 3,232

The amounts recognized directly in equity during the year are analyzed as follows:

2018 2017
Change in liability gain/(loss) due to assumptions 23 (70)
Change in liability gain/(loss) due to experience adjustments 100 1,364
Total actuarial gain/(loss) recognized in equity 123 1,294
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The movement in the obligation is as follows:

2018 2017
Opening balance 3,232 4,225
(Gain)/loss recognized in Income Statement 216 301
(Gain)/loss recognized in Equity (123) (1,294)
Closing balance 3,325 3,232

c. Supplementary Pension Fund and Health Care of Diners

The Bank guarantees from 30.9.2014, date of acquisition of Diners Club Hellas S.A. the Supplementary Pension Fund and
Health Care Plan of the company, which is managed by an independent insurance company. On 2.6.2015, the merger via
absorption of the company was completed. These plans cover the pensioners and those who have retired and have the right
to receive suplementary penion in the future.

The amounts included in the balance sheet are analyzed as follows:

31.12.2018  31.12.2017
Present value of defined obligation 9,528 9,752
Fair value of plan assets (2,717) (3,069)
Liability/(asset) 6,811 6,683

The amounts included in the income statement are analyzed as follows:

FROM 1 JANUARY TO
31.12.2018  31.12.2017

Net interest cost resulted from the net asset/liability 112 114
Expenses 10 11
Total (included in staff costs) 122 125

The movement in the present value of benefits is as follows:

2018 2017
Opening balance 9,753 9,727
Interest cost 161 172
Benefits paid directly by the Bank 9) (23)
Benefits paid (352) (343)
Actuarial (gain)/loss - financial assumptions (84) 162
Actuarial (gain)/loss — experience adjustments 60 58
Closing balance 9,529 9,753
The movement in the fair value of plan assets is as follows:
2018 2017
Opening balance 3,069 3,422
Expected retumn 49 58
Benefits paid (352) (343)
Expenses (10) (11)
Actuarial losses (39) (57)
Closing balance 2,717 3,069
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The amounts recognized directly in equity during the year are analyzed as follows:

2018 2017
Change in liability gain/(loss) due to financial and demographic assumptions 84 (162)
Change in liability gain/(loss) due to experience adjustments (60) (58)
Return on plan assets excluding amounts included in income statement — gain / (loss) (39) (57)
Total actuarial gain/(loss) recognized in equity (15) (277)
The movement of the liability/(asset) in the balance sheet is as follows:
2018 2017
Opening balance 6,684 6,305
Benefits paid directly by the Bank 9) (23)
(Gain)/loss recognized in Income Statement 122 125
(Gain)/loss recognized in Equity 15 277
Closing balance 6,812 6,684
The results of the abovementioned valuations are based on the assumptions of the actuarial studies.
The principal actuarial assumptions used for the above mentioned defined benefit plans are as follows:
31.12.2018 31.12.2017
Discount rate 1.72% 1.68%
Inflation rate 1.5% 1.5%
Return on plan assets 2.0% 2.0%
Future salary growth 1.8% 1.8%
Future pension growth 0% 0%
The discount rate was based on the iBoxx Euro Corporate AA+ adopted to the characteristics of the programs.
The average duration per program is depicted in the table below:
31.12.2018 31.12.2017
Bank employee’s indemnity provision due to retirement in accordance with Law 2112/1920 17.1 172
Saving program guarantee 176 186
Plans for Diners (pension and health care) 156 16.0
The table below presents the sensitivity of the obligations of the above programs on the financial assumptions:
Percentage
variation in liability (%)
Increase in discount rate by 0.5% (7.7)
Decrease in discount rate by 0.5% 86
Increase in future salary growth rate by 0.5% 86
Decrease in future salary growth rate by 0.5% (7.8)
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ii. Group companies
The employees of the Greek subsidiaries with open ended employment contracts receive a lump sum payment on retirement,
which is defined by Law 2112/1920 as modified by Law 4093/2012.

The total amounts recognized in the financial statements regarding the defined benefit obligations of the Group are analyzed
as follows:

Balance Sheet - Liabilities
31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Bank's employees indemnity of greek subsidiaries due to retirement in accordance with Law 2112/1520 2,559 2,597
Other provision for retirement benefits 438
Total Liabilities 2,997 2,597

Income Statement
Expenses/(Income)
FROM 1 JANUARY TO
31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Bank’s employees indemnity of greek subsidiaries due to retirement in accordance with Law 2112/1920 1,078 441
Other provision for retirement benefits 438
Total 1516 441

The amount of actuarial gain/losses that was recognized in equity for the defined benefit programs of the Group companies’
amounts to € 50 gain for 2018 against €65 gain for 2017.

For all the programs mentioned above, no contributions are expected to be paid during 2019.

32. Other liabilities

31.12.2018 31.12.2017
Liabilities to third parties 123,605 108,727
Brokerage services 12,545 15,379
Deferred income 8,777 3,252
Accrued expenses 83,139 65,504
Liabilities to merchants from credit cards 299,085 306,153
Other 381,364 371,667
Total 908,515 870,682
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33. Provisions

31.12.2018  31.12.2017
Insurance 313,685 262,626
Provisions to cover credit risk and other provisions 213,701 170,614
Total 527,386 433,240

a. Insurance

31.12.2018  31.12.2017

Life insurance

Mathematical reserves 313,281 262,287
Outstanding claim reserves 404 339
Total 313,685 262,626

b. Provisions to cover credit risk and other provisions

Balance 1.1.2017 102,174
Changes for the period 1.1-31.12.2017

Provisions to cover credit risk relating to off-balance sheet items (note 11) (2,233)
Used provision for Alpha Bank S.A. separation scheme (18,457)
Other provisions used (6,805)
Reclassification of the provision of the legal case Chardash (note 52) (8,000)
Provisions from legal cases and other contingent liabilities (note 10) 11,351
Provision for Alpha Bank S.A. separation scheme 52,719
Foreign exchange differences (135)
Balance 31.12.2017 170,614
Impact from the implementation of IFRS 9 on provisions to cover credit risk (note 44) 109,311
Balance 1.1.2018 279,925
Provisions to cover credit risk relating to off-balance sheet items (note 11) (17957)
Used provision for Alpha Bank S.A. separation scheme (44,296)
Other provisions used during the year (5,680)
Other provisions 4,751
Reclassification to assets available for sale (131)
Foreign exchange differences (2912)
Balance 31.12.2018 213,701

The caption “Other Expenses”, includes the amounts of other provisions , while the caption “Impairment losses and provisions
to cover credit risk” of Income Statement, include the provisions to cover credit risk relating to off- balance sheet items.

0On 31.12.2018 the balance of expected credit loss relating to off-balance sheet items amounts to €92,221 (31.12.2017:
€787) of which an amount of € 4,407 relates to provisions of undrawn credit limits, and an amount of € 87,815 relates to
provisions for Letters of Guarantee and Letters of Credit.

The balance of other provisions as at 31.12.2018, amounts € 121,479 (31.12. 2017: € 177,827) of which:
- Anamount of €30,575 (31.12.2017: € 32,905) relates to pending legal cases.
An amount of €59,004 (31.12.2017: € 103,300) relates to provision of the voluntary separation scheme (note 8).
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EQUITY

34. Share capital

The Bank’s share capital as at 31.12.2018 is analysed as follows:

Opening balance
of shares as at

Changes for the period from 1.1.2017
to 31.12.2017 (units)

Shares from the conversion

Balance of shares
as at 31.12.2017

Paid in capital as
at 31.12.2017/

1.1.2017 of convertible bond loan /31.12.2018 31.12.2018
a. Ordinary shares
Number of ordinary shares 1,536,881,200 1,536,881,200 461,064
Share capital increase 6,818,181 6,818,181 2,046
Total 1,536,881,200 6,818,181 1,543,699,381 463,110

0n 23.2.2017, as a result of exercising the conversion right of all bondholders, the Bank’s Board of Directors, approved the
share capital increase of € 2,046, due to the conversion of the convertible bond of € 150,000 that was issued on 1.2.2013,
under the agreement with Credit Agricole S.A., Crédit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank.

As a result of the above the Bank’s share capital on 31.12.2017 and 31.12.2018 amounts to € 463,110.

From the conversion, 6,818,181 new ordinary, registered, voting, paperless shares of the Bank with a nominal value of €0.30
each, were issued and registered to Athens Stock Exchange on 18.4.2017.

Regarding the warrant’s exercise on the shares held by the Hellenic Financial Stability Fund, on 14.12.2017, 6,608 warrants
were exercised by the shareholders which corresponded to 979 ordinary shares. The exercise of warrants did not affect the
Bank’s share capital but the number of shares held by the Hellenic Financial Stability Fund.

35. Share premium

Balance 1.1.2017 10,790,870
Conversion of convertible bond loan to shares 10,159
Balance 31.12.2017 / 31.12.2018 10,801,029
Following the above share capital increase “Share premium” was increased by € 10,159.
36. Reserves
Reserves are analyzed as follows:
a. Statutory reserve
31.12.2018 31.12.2017
Statutory reserve ‘ 536,370 533,485

According to article 158 of Codified Law 4548/2018 (for which relevant clause included in the article 26 of the Bank’s Article
Association, as in force), one-twentieth (1/20) of the net profit of the year is deducted annually from each year’s net profit for
the formation of the statutory reserve. The deduction for the formation of the statutory reserve ceases to be mandatory when
the reserve amounts one-third (1/3) of the share capital. The aforementioned article provides that this reserve shall be used
only before any dividend distribution to equalize any debit balance of the income statement

For the remaining companies of the Group the statutory reserve is established according to local regulations.
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b. Bonds reserves measured at fair value through other comprehensive income

2018
Balance 31.12.2017 according to IAS 39 472,614
Impact of the implementation of IFRS 9 as at 1.1.2018 (note 44) 37,059
Opening Balance 1.1 509,673
Changes in period 1.1 - 31.12
Valuation of bonds measured at fair value through other comprehensive income, after income tax (62,201)
Reclassification to income statement of reserve for bonds measured at fair value through other comprehensive income,
after income tax (333,335)
Total (395,536)
Balance 31.12 114,137

The movements for the year of the securities reserves measured at fair value through other comprehensive income relating
to the change in fair value and the transfer of the reserve to profit or loss, amount before tax to debit amounts of € 86,880
and € 469,486, respectively.

c. Available for sale securities reserve

2017

Opening Balance 1.1 102,638
Changes in period 1.1 - 31.12

Net change in fair value of available for sale securities, after income tax 413916

Reclassification to income statement of reserve for available for sale securities, after income tax (43,940)

Total 369,976

Balance 31.12 472,614

The movements for the year of the available for sale securities reserve relating to change in fair value and the transfer of the
reserve to profit or loss amount before tax to credit amount € 572,608 and debit amount of € 64,943, respectively.

d. Cash flow hedge reserve recognised directly in equity

31.12.2018  31.12.2017

Opening Balance 1.1 (143,907) (181,377)
Change in cash flow hedge reserve after income tax (1,931) 37470
Balance 31.12 (145,838) (143,907)

e. Exchange differences on translating and hedging the net investment in foreign operations

2018 2017

Opening Balance 1.1 (53,079) (50,209)
Change of Foreign Exchange differences on translating and hedging the net investment in foreign operations 8,624 (2,870)
Balance 31.12 (44,455) (53,079)

f. Share of other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures

2018 2017

Balance 1.1 (40) (112)
Change in the share of other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures (149) 72
Balance 31.12 (189) (40)
Total Reserves (a+b+c+d+e+f) 460,025 809,073
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g. Reserves relating to assets held for sale

2018 2017

Opening Balance 1.1 (122) (68,579)
Changes in period 1.1 - 31.12

Reserves of assets available for sale and foreign exchange difference transferred to income statement 68,457

Total - 68,457

Balance 31.12 (122) (122)

37. Retained earnings

a. Since 2017 there were no distributable profits, in accordance with article 44a of Codified Law 2190/1920, the Ordinary
General Meeting of Shareholders on 29.6.2018 decided the non-distribution of dividends to ordinary shareholders of the
Bank.

b. Pursuant to article 159 of Law 4548/ 2018 and due to the fact that there are no distributable profits for the year 2018,
the Board of Directors of the Bank at the Ordinary General Assembly Meeting of Shareholders will propose the non-
distribution of dividends to the shareholders of the Bank.

C. “Retained Earnings” as of 31.12.2017 include expenses concerning the share capital increase, amounting to € 560 after
income tax.

38. Hybrid securities

31.12.2018 31.12.2017
Perpetual with 1st call option on 18.2.2015 and per year 15,232 15,232
Securities held by Group companies (125) (125)
Total 15,107 15,107
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

39. Contingent liabilities and commitments

a. Legal issues

The Group, in the ordinary course of business, is a defendant in claims from customers and other legal proceedings. In the
context of managing the operational risk events and on the basis of the accounting principles followed, the Group records
all the filed lawsuits or similar actions performed by third parties against the Group and considers any possibility of their
success, as well as the possible outcome.

For cases where there is a significant probability of a negative outcome, and the result may be sufficiently estimated, the
Group creates a provision that is included in the Balance Sheet under the caption “Provisions”. On 31.12.2018 the amount
of the provision stood at € 30,575 (31.12.2017: € 32,905).

For cases where according to their progress and the evaluation of the Legal department on December 31, 2018, a
negative outcome is not probable or the potential outflow cannot be estimated reliably due to the complexity of the
cases, the time period they will last and the uncertainty of their outcome, the Group has not recognized a provision. As of
31.12.2018 the legal claims against the Group for the above cases amount to € 347,895 (31.12.2017: €402,342).

According to the estimations of the legal department, the ultimate settlement of these matters is not expected to have a
material effect on the financial position or the operations of the Group.

b. Tax issues

Alpha Bank has been audited by the tax authorities for the years up to and including 2010. The years 2011 and 2012
are considered prescribed as per the circular POL.1208/20.12.2017 of the Independent Public Revenue Authority. For the
years 2011 up to 2017, the Bank has obtained a tax certificate with no qualifications according to the article 82 of Law
2238/1994 and the article 65a of Law 4174/2013. The former Emporiki Bank has been audited by the tax authorities
for the years up to and including 2008. Years 2009-2012 are considered as closed, in accordance with the Circular
POL.1208/20.12.2017 of the Independent Public Revenue Authority. For the years 2011 up to 2013 a tax certificate with
no qualifications was issued.

Alpha Bank’s branch in London has been audited by the tax authorities for 2015.

0On 2.6.2015, the merger via absorption of Diners Club of Greece A.E.P.P. was completed. Diners Club of Greece A.E.P.P. has
been audited by the tax authorities for the years up to and including 2010.

Years 2011 and 2012 are considered as closed, in accordance with the circular POL.1208/20.12.2017 of the Independent
Public Revenue Authority. For the year 2013 it has obtained a tax certificate with no qualifications.

Based on circular POL.1006/5.1.2016 there is no exemption from tax audit by the tax authorities to those entities that
have been tax audited by the independent auditor and they have received an unqualified tax audit certificate. Therefore,
the tax authorities may reaudit the tax books for previous years.

Additional taxes and penalties may be imposed for the unaudited years the amount of which cannot be accurately
determined.
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The Group’s subsidiaries have been audited by the tax authorities up to and including the year indicated in the table below:

Name Year
Banks
1. Alpha Bank London Ltd (voluntary settlement of tax obligation) 2015
2. Alpha Bank Cyprus Ltd (tax audit is in progress for the years 2013 - 2014) 2012
3. Alpha Bank Romania S.A. 2006
4. Alpha Bank Albania SH.A. 2011
Leasing Companies
1. Alpha Leasing A.E.** 2012
2. Alpha Leasing Romania IFN S.A. 2014
3. ABC Factors AE™ 2012
Investment Banking
1. Alpha Finance AEPEY. ™ [ ** 2012
2. SSIF Alpha Finance Romania S.A. 2002
3. Alpha Ventures AE. ** / *** 2012
4. Alpha AE. Ventures Capital Management - AKES ** [ *** 2012
5. Emporiki Venture Capital Developed Markets Ltd 2007
6. Emporiki Venture Capital Emerging Markets Ltd 2008
Asset Management
1. Alpha Asset Management AED.AK* [ ** 2012
2. ABL Independent Financial Advisers Ltd (voluntary settlement of tax obligation) 2015
Insurance
1. Alpha Insurance Agents A.E** [ *** 2012
2. Alpha Insurance Brokers Srl 2005
3. Alphalife AAE.Z** [ ** 2012
Real Estate and hotel
1. Alpha Astika Akinita A.E** 2012
2. Emporiki Development and Real Estate Management A.E. 2012
3. Alpha Real Estate Management and Investments S.A. (former lonian Holdings — the name changed on 10/2018) 2012
4. Alpha Real Estate Bulgaria E.0.0.D. (commencement of operation 2007) *
5. Chardash Trading E.0.0.D. (commencement of operation 2006) *
6. Alpha Real Estate Services Srl (commencement of operation 1998) *
7. Alpha Investment Property Attikis A.E. (commencement of operation 2012) *r
8. Alpha Investment Property Attikis Il A.E. (commencement of operation 2012) *x
9. Alpha Investment Property | A.E. (commencement of operation 2012) *x
10. AGI-RRE Participations 1 Srl (commencement of operation 2010) *
11. Stockfort Ltd (commencement of operation 2010) *
12. Romfelt Real Estate S.A. (commencement of operation 1991) *
13. AGI-RRE Zeus Srl (commencement of operation 2012) *
14. AGI-RRE Poseidon Srl (commencement of operation 2012) *
15. AGI-RRE Hera Srl (commencement of operation 2012) *
16. AGI-BRE Participations 2 E.0.0.D. (commencement of operation 2012) *
17. AGI-BRE Participations 2BG E.0.0.D. (commencement of operation 2012) *
18. AGI-BRE Participations 3 E.0.0.D. (commencement of operation 2012) *
19. AGI-BRE Participations 4 E.0.0.D. (commencement of operation 2012) *
20. APE Fixed Assets AE** [ *** 2012
21.SC Cordia Residence Srl 2013

These companies have not been audited by the tax authorities since the commencement of their operations.

" These companies received tax certificate for the years 2011 up to and including 2017 without any qualification whereas the years up to and

including 2012 are considered as closed in accordance with the circular POL.1208/20.12.2017 (note 13).

" These companies have been audited by the tax authorities up to and including 2009 in accordance with Law 3888/2010 which relates to

voluntary settlement for the unaudited tax years.
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Name Year
Real Estate and Hotel (continued)
22.HT-1 £.0.0.D (commencement of operation 2013 and sold on 19.12.2018) *

23. AGI - RRE Cleopatra Srl (commencement of operation 2014)

24. AGI - RRE Hermes Srl (commencement of operation 2014)

25. SC Carmel Residential Srl (commencement of operation 2013)

26. Alpha Investment Property Neas Kifissias A.E. (commencement of operation 2014)

27. Alpha Investment Property Kallirois A.E. (commencement of operation 2014) *

28. Alpha Investment Property Livadias A.E. (commencement of operation 2014) *

29. Alpha Investment Property Kefalariou A.E. (commencement of operation 2015)

30. Alpha Investment Property Neas Erythreas A.E. (commencement of operation 2015)

31. Alpha Investment Property Chanion A.E. (former Anaplasis Plagias A.E.) (commencement of operation 2011)

32. Alpha Investment Property Kallitheas A.E. (commencement of operation 2017) *

33. Asmita Gardens Srl 2010

34. Ashtrom Residents Srl (commencement of operation 2006)

35. Cubic Center Development S.A. (commencement of operation 2010)

36. AGI — BRE Participations 5 E.0.0.D. (commencement of operation 2015 - the company was sold on 25.6.2018)

37. AGI — SRE Participations 1 DOO (commencement of operation 2016) *
38. Alpha Investment Property Spatwn A.E. (commencement of operation 2017) *
39. TH Top Hotels S.R.L (commencement of operation 2009) *

Hkkokk

40. Kestrel Enterprise E.0.0.D. (commencement of operation 2013)

kR

41. House Properties Investments E.0.0.D. (commencement of operation 2013-the company was sold on 25.6.2018)

42. Residence Properties Investments E.0.0.D. (commencement of operation 2013-the company was sold on 25.6.2018) e
43, Beroe real estate E.0.0.D. (commencement of operation 2018) *
44. Alpha Investment Property Irakleiou A.E. (commencement of operation 2018) *

45, Alpha Investment Property Gl | AE. (commencement of operation 2018)

46. AGI-Cypre Property 1 Ltd (commencement of operation 2018)

47. AGI-Cypre Property 2 Ltd (commencement of operation 2018

48. AGI-Cypre Property 3 Ltd (commencement of operation 2018

49. AGI-Cypre Property 4 Ltd (commencement of operation 2018

51. AGI-Cypre Property 6 Ltd (commencement of operation 2018

52. AGI-Cypre Property 7 Ltd (commencement of operation 2018

53. AGI-Cypre Property 8 Ltd (commencement of operation 2018

( )

( )

( )

50. AGI-Cypre Property 5 Ltd (commencement of operation 2018)
( )

( )

( )

)

54. AGI-Cypre Property 9 Ltd (commencement of operation 2018

55. AGI-Cypre Property 10 Ltd (commencement of operation 2018

56 .AGI-Cypre Property 11 Ltd (commencement of operation 2018

57. AGI-Cypre Property 12 Ltd (commencement of operation 2018

58. AGI-Cypre Property 13 Ltd (commencement of operation 2018

59. AGI-Cypre Property 14 Ltd (commencement of operation 2018

60. AGI-Cypre Property 15 Ltd (commencement of operation 2018

61. AGI-Cypre Property 16 Ltd (commencement of operation 2018

63. AGI-Cypre Property 18 Ltd (commencement of operation 2018

64. AGI-Cypre Property 19 Ltd (commencement of operation 2018

65. AGI-Cypre Property 20 Ltd (commencement of operation 2018

66. AGI-Cypre Property 21 Ltd (commencement of operation 2018

67. AGI-Cypre Property 22 Ltd (commencement of operation 2018

68. AGI-Cypre Property 23 Ltd (commencement of operation 2018

)

( )
( )
( )
( )
( )
( )
62. AGI-Cypre Property 17 Ltd (commencement of operation 2018)
( )
( )
( )
( )
( )
( )
)

69. AGI-Cypre Property 24 Ltd (commencement of operation 2018

70. AGI-Cypre Pafos Ltd (commencement of operation 2018) *

These companies have not been audited by the tax authorities since the commencement of their operations.

These companies became Group companies during 2017 as per bankruptcy procedures and since then have not been audited by tax authorities.
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Name

Year

Real Estate and Hotel (continued)

71. AGI-Cypre P&F Nicosia Ltd (commencement of operation 2018)

72. AGI-Cypre RES Nicosia Ltd (commencement of operation 2018)

73. AGI-Cypre P&F Limassol Ltd (commencement of operation 2018)

74. AGI-Cypre Alaminos Ltd (commencement of operation 2014)

75. AGI-Cypre Tochni Ltd (commencement of operation 2014)

76. AGI-Cypre Mazotos Ltd (commencement of operation 2014)

77.ABCRE L1 Ltd (commencement of operation 2018)

78. ABC RE L2 Ltd (commencement of operation 201

8)
79. ABC RE L3 Ltd (commencement of operation 2018)

81. ABC RE P2 Ltd (commencement of operation 2018

82. ABC RE P3 Ltd (commencement of operation 2018

(
(

80. ABC RE P1 Ltd (commencement of operation 2018)
( )
( )
( )

83. ABC RE P4 Ltd (commencement of operation 2018

84. ABC RE P5 Ltd (commencement of operation 2018)

85. ABC RE P&F Limassol Ltd (commencement of operation 2018)

86. Kitma Holdings Ltd (commencement of operation 2006)

87. Vic City Srl

88. Alpha Real Estate Services LLC (commencement of operation 2010)

Special purpose and holding entities

1. Alpha Credit Group Plc (voluntary settlement of tax obligation)

2. Alpha Group Jersey Ltd

3. Alpha Group Investments Ltd (commencement of operation 2006)

4. lonian Equity Participations Ltd (commencement of operation 2006)

5. Emporiki Group Finance Plc (voluntary settlement of tax obligation — the company was liquidated on 20.12.2018)

6. AGI - BRE Participations 1 Ltd (commencement of operation 2009)

7. AGI - RRE Participations 1 Ltd (commencement of operation 2009)

8. Alpha Group Ltd (commencement of operation 2012)

9. Katanalotika Plc (voluntary settlement of tax obligation)

10. Epihiro Plc (voluntary settlement of tax obligation)

11. Irida Plc (voluntary settlement of tax obligation)

12. Pisti 2010 - 1 Plc (voluntary settlement of tax obligation)

13. Alpha Shipping Finance Ltd (voluntary settlement of tax obligation)

14. Alpha Proodos DAC (commencement of operation 2016)

15. AGI - RRE Athena Ltd (commencement of operation 2011)

16. AGI - RRE Poseidon Ltd (commencement of operation 2012)

17. AGI - RRE Hera Ltd (commencement of operation 2012)

18. Umera Ltd (commencement of operation 2012)

19. AGI - BRE Participations 2 Ltd (commencement of operation 2011)

20. AGI - BRE Participations 3 Ltd (commencement of operation 2011)

21. AGI - BRE Participations 4 Ltd (commencement of operation 2010)

22. AGI - RRE Ares Ltd (commencement of operation 2010)

23. AGI — RRE Venus Ltd (commencement of operation 2012)

24. AGI - RRE Artemis Ltd (commencement of operation 2012)

25. AGI - BRE Participations 5 Ltd (commencement of operation 2012)

26. AGI — RRE Cleopatra Ltd (commencement of operation 2013)

27. AGl — RRE Hermes Ltd (commencement of operation 2013)

28. AGI-Cypre Arsinoe Ltd (commencement of operation 2013)

29. AGI - SRE Ariadni Ltd (commencement of operation 2014)

30. Zerelda Ltd (commencement of operation 2012)

These companies have not been audited by the tax authorities since the commencement of their operations.
" These companies are not subject to a tax audit.
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Name Year
Special purpose and holding entities (continued)
31. AGI-Cypre Evagoras Ltd (commencement of operation 2014) *
32. AGI-Cypre Tersefanou Ltd (commencement of operation 2014) *
33. AGI-Cypre Ermis Ltd (commencement of operation 2014) *
34. AGl - SRE Participations 1 Ltd (commencement of operation 2016) *
Other companies
1. Alpha Bank London Nominees Ltd .
2. Alpha Trustees Ltd (commencement of operation 2002) *
3. Kafe Alpha AE* [ ** 2012
4. Alpha Supporting Services AE* | *** 2012
5. Real Car Rental AE**/** 2012
6. Emporiki Management A.E.*** 2012

7. Alpha Bank Notification Services A.E. (commencement of operation 2015)

c. Operating leases

The Group’s obligations with respect to leases relate to buildings used as branches and other operating units.

Specifically for the Bank, the duration of the lease agreements for new branches is set to three years with a unilateral
renewal option by the Bank , for an additional nine years under the same terms and conditions as the original lease, while

retaining the right to terminate the lease at any time during the nine year period. The policy of the Bank is to renew these

contracts.

In the case of renewals of existing leases, the new lease is set to three years with a unilateral renewal option by the Bank

for a further three years under the same terms and conditions as the original lease, while retaining the right to terminate the

lease at any time during the second three years. The Bank’s policy is also to renew these contracts

The minimum future lease payments are:

31.12.2018 31.12.2017
less than one year 39,723 39,166
between one and five years 89,757 85,924
over five years 98,503 108,374
Total 227,983 233,464

The main differences between the minimum future lease payments and the estimated impact of the new IFRS 16 “Leases”

are attributed to the following reasons:
« Future rentals are discounted,

The following assumptions are used:

- exlusion of leased properties for which the lease contract expires in 2019 and will not be renewed (short-term

exemption),

- assumption relating to the extension of the duration of leases for which although the lease contract expires within

20189, the Group will renew the contract,

These companies have not been audited by the tax authorities since the commencement of their operations.

" These companies received tax certificate for the years 2011 up to and including 2017 without any qualification whereas the years up to and

including 2012 are considered as closed in accordance with the circular POL.1208/20.12.2017 (note 13).

" These companies have been audited by the tax authorities up to and including 2009 in accordance with Law 3888/2010 which relates to

voluntary settlement for the unaudited tax years.
" These companies are not subject to a tax audit.
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- where there is a clause in the lease contract regarding increases in lease, future leases are adjusted on the date the
respective increase becomes effective .

The Group’s receivables from leases relate to leases from buildings to third parties

The minimum future lease fees are:

31.12.2018 31.12.2017
less than one year 15,084 17,107
between one and five years 44,349 50,514
over five years 38,829 47523
Total 98,262 115,144

d. Off balance sheet commitments

The Group as part of its normal operations, is bound by contractual commitments, that in the future may result in changes in
its asset structure. These commitments are monitored in off balance sheet accounts and relate to letters of credit, letters of
guarantee, undrawn credit facilities and credit limits.

Letters of credit are used to facilitate trading activities and relate to the financing of contractual agreements for the transfer
of goods locally or abroad, by undertaking the direct payment on behalf of the third party bound by the agreement on behalf
of the Group’s client. Letters of credit, as well as letters of guarantee, are commitments under specific terms and are issued
by the Group for the purpose of ensuring that its clients will fulfill the terms of their contractual obligations.

The outstanding balances are as follows:

31.12.2018  31.12.2017
Letters of credit 30,695 29313
Letters of guarantee and other guarantees 3,572,091 3,355,650

In addition, contingent liabilities for the Group arise from undrawn loan agreements and credit limits that may not be fulfilled
immediately or may be partly fulfilled as long as the agreed upon requirements are fulfilled by counterparties.

From 1.1.2018, following the implementation of IFRS 9, the Group measures the expected credit losses for all the undrawn
loan commitments and letters of credit / letters of guarantee, which are included in the caption “Provisions”.

The balance of the above expected credit risk losses as of 31.12.2018 amounts to €92,221 (note 33).
The Bank has committed to contribute in the share capital of the joint venture Alpha TANEO AKES up to the amount of €64.

e. Assets pledged
Assets pledged, as at 31.12.2018 are analyzed as follows:
Cash and balances with Central Banks
i. Cash and balances with Central Banks amounting to € 722,351 (31.12.2017: € 763,146) concerning the Group’s
obligation to maintain deposits in Central Banks according to percentages determined by the respective country.
The amount of reserved funds that the Bank has to maintain to the Bank of Greece on average for the period from

19.12.2018 t0 29.1.2019, amounts to € 347.652 (31.12.2017: €312,991) and is included in the above balance. As at
31.12.2018, the pledged cash of the Bank amounts to €300.411.

ii. Placements of €93,000 (31.12.2017:0) have been pledged to Central Banks for the purpose of participating in main
refinancing operations.
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Due from Banks:

i. Pledged placements amounting to € 213,074 (31.12.2017: € 216,195) relate to guarantees provided on behalf
of the Greek Government.

ii. Pledged placements to credit institutions amounting to € 1,059,932 (31.12.2017: € 947,939) which have been
provided as guarantee for derivative and other repurchase agreements (repo).

iii. Pledged placements to credit institutions amounting to € 28,707 (31.12.2017: € 18,905) which have been
provided for Letter of Credit or Guarantee Letters that the Bank issue for facilitating customer imports.

iv. Pledged placements of €9,493 (31.12.2017: £6,214) have been provided to the Resolution Fund as irrevocable
payment commitment, as part of the 2016 up to 2018 contribution. This commitment must be fully covered by
collateral exclusively in cash, as decided by the Single Resolution Board.

v. Placements of €35,230 (31.12.2017: €5,100) has been given as collateral for the issuance of bonds with
nominal value of €3,550,000 (31.12.2017: €1,000,000), out of which bonds of 3,050,000 (31.12.2017:
€1,000,000) held by the Bank, as mentioned below under “Loans and advances to customers.

Loans and advances from customers:
i. Loansof €3,700,146 (31.12.2017:€17,736,225) pledged to central banks for liquidity purposes.

ii. Acarryingamount of €3,323,619 (31.12.2017: €3,390,710) which relates to corporate, consumer loans and
credit cards has been securitized for the issuance of Special Purpose Entities’ corporate bond of a nominal value
of €4,174,400 (31.12.2017:€4,174,400), held by the Bank, of which an amount of € 2,541,700 (31.12.2017:
€2,066,900) has been given as collateral for repurchase agreements (repo).

iii. A carrying amount of €498,904 (31.12.2017: €523,422) which relates to shipping loans, has been securitized
for the purpose of financing the Group through a Special Purpose Entity, which amounts to € 267,589
(31.12.2017: €317,066). An amount of €21,720 (31.12.2017: € 23,125) included in “Due from Banks” has been
given as collateral for the aforementioned transaction.

iv. A carrying amount of €401,803 (31.12.2017: €586,680) which relates to corporate loans have been securitized
for the issuance of the Group’s special purpose entitie’s bonds, which amounts to € 476,658 (31.12.2017:
£€640,000) at 31.12.2018, out of which € 320,000 have been distributed to investors and € 320,000 is held by
the Bank. As far as the amount held by the Bank is concerned, an amount of € 100,000 (31.12.2017: €100,000)
has been given as collateral for repurchase agreements (repo). An amount of €93,644 (31.12.2017: €80,886)
included in “Due from Banks” has been given as collateral for the aforementioned transaction.

v. An amount of nominal value € 22,791 (31.12.2017: nominal value € 46,048) which relates to corporate loans,
has been given as collateral for other loan facilities.

An amount of mortgage loans of a nominal value of €4,624,700 (31.12.2017:1,112,325) has been used as
collateral in the following covered bond issuance programs: Covered Bonds Issuance Program | and Il and the
Bank’s Securitized Securities Program. On 31.12.2018 the nominal value of the above bonds amounted to
€3,550,000(31.12.2017:€1,000,000), of which the Bank owns € 3,050,000 (31.12.2017: € 1,000,000) and
have been used as collateral in the context of repurchase agreements amounting to € 3,050,000 (31.12.2017:
£€1,000,000).

Trading securities and investment securities:

i. Acarryingamount of €2,884,458 (31.12.2017: 3,436,247) of Greek Government securities, of which a carrying
amount of €2,883,561 (31.12.2017: 297,226) has been given as collateral for repurchase agreements

(repo), while a carrying amount of €897 has been given as collateral for customers’ derivatives transactions.
Moreover, Greek Government treasury bills of nominal value of € 400,000 received as collateral for derivatives
transactions with the Greek State, have been given as collateral for repurchase agreements (repo). Additionaly,

Vi.
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on 31.12.2017, Greek Government Securities of a carrying amount of €3.133.717 has been pledged to Central Banks
for liquidity and Greek government securities with a carrying amount of € 5,304 were given as collateral for other
financing operations. Also, the nominal value of Treasury Bills received as a collateral for derivative contracts with the
Greek State as counterparty was € 300,000.

ii. Acarryingamount of €423,660 (31.12.2017: €251,507) relates to securities issued by the European Financial
Stability Facility (EFSF), which has been pledged to Central Banks with the purpose to participate in main refinancing
operations. Maoreover, on 31.12.2017, a carrying amount of € 237,507 had been given as collateral for repurchase
agreement (repo), while securities of a carrying amount of € 35,510 that have been used as collateral for reverse
repurchase agreements (Reverse repo), has been given as collateral for repurchase agreements .

iii. Acarryingamount of €42,433(31.12.2017: €263,460) of other corporate securities, has been given as a collateral
of repo agreements.

iv. A carrying amount of €1,380,748 (31.12.2017: € 138,124) which relates to bonds issued by Other Governments
and other issuers, have been given to Central Banks for liquidity purposes. In addition, bonds with a nominal value
of €464,700 and a fair value of € 504,012 refer to securities received as collateral in the context of reverse repo
agreements and have been given to Central Banks for liquidity purposes.

v. A carryingamount of €13,219 (31.12.2017: € 15,424) which relates to other government bonds, has been pledged as
a collateral for repurchase agreements (repo) to Central Banks.

40. Group Consolidated Companies

The consolidated financial statements, apart from the parent company Alpha Bank include the following entities:

a. Subsidiaries

Group’s ownership interest %

Name Country 31.12.2018 31.12.2017
Banks
1| Alpha Bank London Ltd United Kingdom 100 100
2| Alpha Bank Cyprus Ltd (notes 51s, v, w, X, v, z, ad, al, am, as, aw, ba, bc, be, bp, 53 a,b) | Cyprus 100 100
3| Alpha Bank Romania S.A. (note 51m) Romania 99.92 99.92
4| Alpha Bank Albania SHA Albania 100 100
Leasing companies
1| Alpha Leasing AE Greece 100.00 100.00
2| Alpha Leasing Romania IFN S.A. Romania 100.00 100.00
3| ABC Factors AE Greece 100.00 100.00
Investment Banking
1| Alpha Finance AEPE.Y. Greece 100.00 100.00
2| SSIF Alpha Finance Romania S.A. Romania 99.98 99.98
3| Alpha Ventures AE (note 51bm) Greece 100.00 100.00
4| Alpha AE Ventures Capital Management-AKES Greece 100.00 100.00
5| Emporiki Venture Capital Developed Markets Ltd (note 51bn) Cyprus 100.00 100.00
6| Emporiki Venture Capital Emerging Markets Ltd Cyprus 100.00 100.00
Asset Management
1| Alpha Asset Management AEDAK Greece 100.00 100.00
2| ABL Independent Financial Advisers Ltd United Kingdom 100.00 100.00
Insurance
1| Alpha Insurance Agents AE Greece 100.00 100.00
2| Alpha Insurance Brokers Srl Romania 100.00 100.00
3| Alphalife AAEZ Greece 100.00 100.00
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Group’s ownership interest %

Name Country 31.12.2018 31.12.2017
Real estate and hotel

1 | Alpha Astika Akinita AE (note 51bi) Greece 93.17 93.17

2 | Emporiki Development and Real Estate Management A.E. (note 51bm) Greece 100.00 100.00

3 Alpha Real Est_ate Management and Investments S.A. /former lonian Holdings

(notes 51ap, bi) Greece 100.00

4 | Alpha Real Estate Bulgaria E.0.0.D. (note 51q) Bulgaria 9317 93.17

5 | Chardash Trading E.0.0.D. (notes 510, 52) Bulgaria 93.17 93.17

6 | Alpha Real Estate Services Srl Romania 93.17 93.17

7 | Alpha Investment Property Attikis AE Greece 100.00 100.00

8 | Alpha Investment Property Attikis Il AE Greece 100.00 100.00

9 | Alpha Investment Property | AE (note 51bi) Greece 100.00 100.00
10| AGI-RRE Participations 1 Srl (note 51e) Romania 100.00 100.00
11| Stockfort Ltd (note 51c) Cyprus 100.00 100.00
12| Romfelt Real Estate S.A. (note 51h) Romania 99.99 98.86
13| AGI - RRE Zeus Srl (note 51e) Romania 100.00 100.00
14| AGI - RRE Poseidon Srl (note 51e) Romania 100.00 100.00
15| AGI — RRE Hera Srl (note 51e) Romania 100.00 100.00
16| AGI-BRE Participations 2 E.0.0.D. (note 51f) Bulgaria 100.00 100.00
17| AGI-BRE Participations 2BG E.0.0.D. Bulgaria 100.00 100.00
18| AGI-BRE Participations 3 E.0.0.D. (note 51f) Bulgaria 100.00 100.00
19| AGI-BRE Participations 4 E.0.0.D. (note 51g) Bulgaria 100.00 100.00
20| APE Fixed Assets AE (note 51ab) Greece 7220 72.20
21| SC Cordia Residence Srl (note 51e) Romania 100.00 100.00
22| HT-1 E.0.0.D. (notes 51f, bh) Bulgaria 100.00
23| AGI-RRE Cleopatra Srl (note 51e) Romania 100.00 100.00
24| AGI-RRE Hermes Srl (note 51j) * Romania 100.00 100.00
25| SC Carmel Residential Srl (note 51e) Romania 100.00 100.00
26| Alpha Investment Property Neas Kifissias AE (note 51a) Greece 100.00 100.00
27| Alpha Investment Property Kallirois (note 51a) Greece 100.00 100.00
28| AGI-Cypre Alaminos Ltd (note 51b) Cyprus 100.00 100.00
29| AGI-Cypre Tochni Ltd (note 51b) Cyprus 100.00 100.00
30| AGI-Cypre Mazotos Ltd (notes 51b, t, bd) Cyprus 100.00 100.00
31| Alpha Investment Property Livadias AE (note 51a) Greece 100.00 100.00
32| Asmita Gardens Srl (note 51q) Romania 100.00 100.00
33| Alpha Investment Property Kefalariou AE Greece 54.17 54.17
34| Ashtrom Residents Srl (note 51e) Romania 100.00 100.00
35| AGI-BRE Participations 5 E.0.0.D. (note 51u) Bulgaria 100.00
36| Cubic Center Development S.A. (note 51e) Romania 100.00 100.00
37| Alpha Investment Property Neas Erythraias AE. (note 51a) Greece 100.00 100.00
38| Alpha Investment Property Chanion AE Greece 100.00 100.00
39| AGI-SRE Participations 1 DOO Serbia 100.00 100.00
40| Alpha Investment Property Spaton AE (note 51a) Greece 100.00 100.00
41| TH Top Hotels Srl Romania 97.50 97.50
42| Alpha Investment Property Kallitheas AE Greece 100.00 100.00
43| Kestrel Enterprise E.0.0.D. Bulgaria 100.00 100.00
44| House Properties Investments E.0.0.D. (note 51u) Bulgaria 100.00
45| Residence Properties Investments E.0.0.D. (note 51u) Bulgaria 100.00
46| Beroe Real Estate E.0.0.D. Bulgaria 100.00 100.00

The company does not have financial activity.
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Group’s ownership interest %

Name Country 31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Real estate and hotel (continued)

47| Alpha Investment Property Irakleiou AE (note 511) Greece 100.00

48| Alpha Investment Property Gl | AE (note 51r) Greece 100.00

49| AGI-Cypre Property 1 Ltd (notes 51s, vy, bd) Cyprus 100.00

50| AGI-Cypre Property 2 Ltd (notes 515, v, bd) Cyprus 100.00

51| AGI-Cypre Property 3 Ltd (notes 51s, v, bd) Cyprus 100.00

52| AGI-Cypre Property 4 Ltd (notes 51s, v, bd) Cyprus 100.00

53| AGI-Cypre Property 5 Ltd (notes 51v, v, bd) Cyprus 100.00

54| AGI-Cypre Property 6 Ltd (notes 51v, v, bd) Cyprus 100.00

55| AGI-Cypre Property 8 Ltd (notes 51v, bd) Cyprus 100.00

56| Kitma Holdings Ltd (notes 51k, 53e) Cyprus 100.00

57| Vic City Srl (notes 51k, 53e) Romania 99.95

58| AGI-Cypre Property 7 Ltd (notes 51x, bd) Cyprus 100.00

59| ABCRE L1 Ltd (notes 51w, aw) Cyprus 100.00

60| AGI-Cypre Property 9 Ltd (notes 51ad, ba, bd) Cyprus 100.00

61| AGI-Cypre Property 10 Ltd (notes 51ae, bd) Cyprus 100.00

62| AGI-Cypre Property 11 Ltd (notes 51ae, bd, bg) Cyprus 100.00

63| AGI-Cypre Property 12 Ltd (notes 51af, bd, bg) Cyprus 100.00

64| AGI-Cypre Property 13 Ltd (notes 51af, au, bd) Cyprus 100.00

65| AGI-Cypre Property 14 Ltd (notes 51ah, at, bd) Cyprus 100.00

66| AGI-Cypre Property 15 Ltd (notes 51af, at, bd) Cyprus 100.00

67| AGI-Cypre Property 16 Ltd (notes 51ag, ar, bd) Cyprus 100.00

68| AGI-Cypre Property 17 Ltd (notes 51af, aq, bd) Cyprus 100.00

69| AGI-Cypre Property 18 Ltd (notes 51af, au, bd) Cyprus 100.00

70| AGI-Cypre Property 19 Ltd (notes 51af, aq, bd) Cyprus 100.00

71| AGI-Cypre Property 20 Ltd (notes 51af, at, bd) Cyprus 100.00

72| AGI-Cypre RES Pafos Ltd (notes 51ai, bd) Cyprus 100.00

73| AGI-Cypre P&F Nicosia Ltd (notes 51ak, bd, bg) Cyprus 100.00

74| ABC RE P1 Ltd (note 51al) Cyprus 100.00

75| ABCRE P2 Ltd (note 51al) Cyprus 100.00

76| ABCRE P3 Ltd (note 51am) Cyprus 100.00

77| ABCRE L2 Ltd (note 51as) Cyprus 100.00

78| ABC RE P4 Ltd (note 51as) Cyprus 100.00

79| AGI-Cypre RES Nicosia Ltd (notes 51ax, 53q) Cyprus 100.00

80| AGI-Cypre P&F Limassol Ltd (note 51ax) Cyprus 100.00

81| AGI-Cypre Property 21 Ltd (notes 51ay, bd) Cyprus 100.00

82| AGI-Cypre Property 22 Ltd (notes 51az, bd) Cyprus 100.00

83| AGI-Cypre Property 23 Ltd (notes 51bb, bd) Cyprus 100.00

84| AGI-Cypre Property 24 Ltd (notes 51bf, 53q) Cyprus 100.00

85| ABC RE L3 Ltd (note 51bp) Cyprus 100.00

86| ABC RE P5 Ltd (note 51bc) Cyprus 100.00

87| ABC RE P&F Limassol Ltd (note 51be) Cyprus 100.00

88| Alpha Real Estate Services LLC Cyprus 93.17 93.17

Special purpose and holding entities
1 | Alpha Credit Group Plc United Kingdom 100.00 100.00
2 | Alpha Group Jersey Ltd (note 51bq) Jersey 100.00 100.00
3 | Alpha Group Investments Ltd (notes 511, 1, av, bl, bn, 53f) Cyprus 100.00 100.00
4 | lonian Holdings A.E. (note 51ap) Greece 100.00
5 | lonian Equity Participations Ltd Cyprus 100.00 100.00
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Group’s ownership interest %
Name Country 31.12.2018 31.12.2017
Special purpose and holding entities (continued)
6 | Emporiki Group Finance Plc (note 51bj) United Kingdom 100.00
7 | AGI — BRE Participations 1 Ltd (notes 51d, t) Cyprus 100.00 100.00
8 | AGI — RRE Participations 1 Ltd (note 51¢) Cyprus 100.00 100.00
9 | Alpha Group Ltd Cyprus 100.00 100.00
10| Katanalotika Plc United Kingdom
11| Epihiro Plc United Kingdom
12| Irida Plc United Kingdom
13| Pisti 2010-1 Plc United Kingdom
14| Alpha Shipping Finance Ltd United Kingdom
15| Alpha Proodos DAC Ireland
16| AGI - RRE Athena Ltd (notes 51d, t) Cyprus 100.00 100.00
17| AGI - RRE Poseidon Ltd (notes 51¢, h) Cyprus 100.00 100.00
18| AGI — RRE Hera Ltd (notes 51¢, t) Cyprus 100.00 100.00
19| Umera Ltd Cyprus 100.00 100.00
20| AGI-BRE Participations 2 Ltd (note 51f) Cyprus 100.00 100.00
21| AGI-BRE Participations 3 Ltd (note 51f) Cyprus 100.00 100.00
22| AGI-BRE Participations 4 Ltd (notes 51f, t, bh) Cyprus 100.00 100.00
23| AGI-RRE Ares Ltd (note 51c¢, t) Cyprus 100.00 100.00
24| AGI-RRE Venus Ltd (note 51d, t) Cyprus 100.00 100.00
25| AGI-RRE Artemis Ltd (note 51c) Cyprus 100.00 100.00
26| AGI-BRE Participations 5 Ltd (note 51d) Cyprus 100.00 100.00
27| AGI-RRE Cleopatra Ltd (notes 51¢, t) Cyprus 100.00 100.00
28| AGI-RRE Hermes Ltd (notes 51¢, t) Cyprus 100.00 100.00
29| AGI-RRE Arsinoe Ltd (note 51c) Cyprus 100.00 100.00
30| AGI-SRE Ariadni Ltd (note 51d) Cyprus 100.00 100.00
31| Zerelda Ltd (notes 51d, t) Cyprus 100.00 100.00
32| AGI-Cypre Evagoras Ltd (note 51c) Cyprus 100.00 100.00
33| AGI-Cypre Tersefanou Ltd (notes 51d, k;t) Cyprus 100.00 100.00
34 AGI-Cypre Ermis Ltd (notes 51s, v, x, y, ae, af, ag, ah, ai, ak, aq, ar, at, au, ax, ay, az,
ba, bb, bd, bf, bg, bo, 53 ¢, d, g) Cyprus 100.00 100.00
35| AGI-SRE Participations 1 Ltd (note 51d, t) Cyprus 100.00 100.00
Other companies
1 | Alpha Bank London Nominees Ltd United Kingdom 100.00 100.00
2 | Alpha Trustees Ltd (note 51d) Cyprus 100.00 100.00
3 | Kafe Alpha AE Greece 100.00 100.00
4 | Alpha Supporting Services AE Greece 100.00 100.00
5 | Real Car Rental AE Greece 100.00 100.00
6 | Emporiki Management S.A. (note 51aj) Greece 100.00 100.00
7 | Alpha Bank Notification Services AE Greece 100.00 100.00
b. Joint Ventures
Group’s ownership interest %
Name Country 31.12.2018 31.12.2017
1 | APE Commercial Property AE (notes 51aa, an) Greece 72.20 72.20
2 | APE Investment Property A.E. (note 51p) Greece 71.08 71.08
3 | Alpha TANEO AKES (notes 511, ac, ao, bk) Greece 51.00 51.00
4 | Rosequeens Properties Ltd Cyprus 33.33 33.33
5 | Panarae Saturn LP Jersey 61.58 62.50
6 | Alpha Investment Property Commercial Stores A.E. Greece 70.00
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c. Associates

Group’s ownership interest %

Name Country 31.12.2018 31.12.2017
1 | AEDEP Thessalias and Stereas Ellados Greece 50.00 50.00
2 | ALC Novelle Investments Ltd Cyprus 33.33 33.33
3 | Banking Information Systems A.E. Greece 2377 2377
4 | Propindex AEDA Greece 35.58 35.58
5 | Olganos AE Greece 3044 3044
6 | Alpha Investment Property Elaiona A.E. (notes 51av, 53f) Greece 50.00 50.00
7 | Selonda Aquaculture AE.G.E. Greece 2197 2197
8 | Nireus Aquaculture AE. Greece 20.65 20.65
S | Famar SA. Luxembourg 47.04 47.04
10| Cepal Holdings AE. Greece 3861 38.90

On Subsidiaries the following are noted:

The subsidiary company Stockfort Ltd is a group of companies, that includes the following companies: Sheynovo Offices
E.0.0.D., Sheynovo Apartments E.0.0.D., Sheynovo Residence E.0.0.D., Serdica 2009 E.0.0.D. and Pernik Logistics Park
E.0.0.D. With the exception of Pernik Park E.0.0.D., the rest of the four entities of the Group are classified as assets held of
sale and they are measured in accordance to IFRS 5 (note 49).

During 2018, three Mutual Funds under management of the subsidiary Alpha Asset Management are not included in the
consolidated financial statements, since according to the Group’s participation there is no control over the mutual funds.

Consolidated financial statements do not include Commercial Bank of London Ltd which is a dormant company and Smelter
Medical Systems A.E.B.E., Aris Diomidis Emporiki S.A., Metek S.A. and Flagbright Ltd, which have been fully impaired and are in
the process of liquidation.

The Group hedges the foreign exchange risk arising from the net investment in subsidiaries through the use of derivatives in
their functional currency.

During current year, the Group completed the valuation of TH-Top Hotels Srl net assets, which was acquired during the second
quarter of 2017. Moreover, following the completion of the valuation of net assets of Kestrel Enteprise E.0.0.D., which was
acquired in the fourth quarter of 2017, no goodwill has been recognized.

Additionally, 2018, the Group gained control over the entities Kitma Holdings Ltd and Vic City Srlin the context of transactions
for reposession of collaterals from financing, which has been given by the Group. The valuation of the assets and liabilities
acquired in the aforementioned transactions has not yet been.

Finally, during 2018, AGI-BRE Participations 5 E.0.0.D., House Properties Investments E.0.0.D. and Residence Properties
Investments E.0.0.D. were sold for a total price of € 1 , and the subsidiary HT-1 E.0.0.D. for a consideration of € 2,100.

Regarding the associates and Joint Ventures, the following are noted:

Cepal Holdings S.A. is the parent company of the group companies with subsidiaries the companies Cepal Hellas Financial
Services Societe Anonyme for the Management of Receivables from Loans and Credits, Kaican Services Limited and Kaican
Hellas S.A.

APE Investment Property is the parent company of a group of companies, in which the subsidiaries SYMET A.E., Astakos
Terminal A.E., Akarport AE. and NA.VI.PE. AE. are included. Furthemore, Rosequeens Properties Ltd is the parent company of a
group of companies where its subsidiary is Rosequeens Properties Srl.

In addition, in the year 2018 Alpha Investment Property Commercial Stores A.E., was established by Alpha Group Investments
Ltd, subsidiary of the Bank with a stake of 70%. The purpose of establishing the company is mainly related to the
management, rental and sale of real estate. Under the terms of the company’s Articles of Association, it was assessed that
joint control was exercised with the other shareholder and therefore the company was classified as a joint venture.
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The Group accounts the aforementioned groups under the equity method, based on their consolidated financial statements,

except APE Investment Property A.E. which is classified as assets held for sale and is valued according to IFRS 5 (note 49).

Group subsidiaries with non controlling interests

The table below presents information concerning the Group’s subsidiaries with non controlling interests.

Other comprehensive
Profit/(loss) attributable income recognized
Non controlling to non controlling directly in Equity for non Non controlling
Name Country interests % interests controlling interests interests
FROM 1 JANUARY TO FROM 1 JANUARY TO
31.12.2018 31.12.2017| 31.12.2018 31.12.2017 | 31.12.2018 31.12.2017| 31.12.2018 31.12.2017
1. APE Fixed Assets AE. Greece 27.80 27.80 (92) (70) 10,938 10,947
2. Alpha Astika Akinita A.E. Greece 6.83 6.83 182 196 9,483 9,301
3. Alpha Real Estate Bulgaria E.0.0.D. Bulgaria 6.83 6.83 4 (2) 24 20
4. Chardash Trading E.0.0.D. Bulgaria 6.83 6.83 (16) (62) (48) (32)
5. Alpha Bank Romania S.A. Romania 0.08 0.08 4 38 (8) 315 311
6. Romfelt Real Estate S.A. Romania 001 1.14 (1) (13) 5 (198)
7. Alpha Real Estate Services Srl Romania 6.83 6.83 17 13 (2) 75 58
8. Alpha Real Estate Services LLC Cyprus 6.83 6.83 17 5 19 2
9. SSIF Alpha Finance Romania S.A. Romania 0.02 0.02
10. Alpha Investment Property Kefalariou AE | Greece 45.83 4583 (112) (122) 7,999 8111
11. TH Top Hotels Srl Romania 2.50 2.50 (5) (2) 9 14
Total (2) (19) - (5) 28,814 28,534

The percentage of voting rights of non controlling interests in subsidiaries does not differ from their participation in the share
capital.

From the above subsidiaries significant percentage of voting rights of non controlling interests exist is Alpha Astika Akinita
AE., Alpha Investment Properties Kefalariou A.E, due to the share capital increase on 3.2.2017 in which the minority
shareholders participated with the amount of €8,260 and in APE Fixed Assets A.E.

Condensed financial information for Alpha Astika Akinita, Alpha Investment Property Kefalariou A.E. and APE Fixed Assets AE.,
are presented below. Their respective data is based on amounts before the elimination of intercompany transactions.

Condensed Statement of Comprehensive Income

Alpha Investment Property
Alpha Astika Akinita A.E. Kefalariou AE APE Fixed Assets A.E.
FROM 1 JANUARY TO FROM 1 JANUARY TO FROM 1 JANUARY TO

31.12.2018 31.12.2017| 31.12.2018 31.12.2017| 31.12.2018 31.12.2017
Total income 12,650 13,387 100 100
Total expenses (8,650) (9,113) (294) (305) (412) (260)
Profit/(loss) for the year after income tax 2,668 3,391 (243) (266) (332) (251)
Total comprehensive income for the year,
after income tax 2,668 3,391 (243) (266) (332) (251)
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Condensed Balance Sheet

Alpha Astika Akinita A.E.

Alpha Investment Property
Kefalariou AE

APE Fixed Assets A.E.

FROM 1 JANUARY TO

FROM 1 JANUARY TO

FROM 1 JANUARY TO

31.12.2018  31.12.2017| 31.12.2018 31.12.2017| 31.12.2018 31.12.2017
Total non-current assets 56,749 67,944 17,369 17,535 39,496 39,647
Total current assets 77874 72,471 66 256 73 23
Total short-term liabilities 3,222 2,502 26 27 19 6
Total long-term liabilities 1,522 1,698 132 66 207 287
Total Equity 125,880 136,215 17,277 17,698 39,343 39,378

Condensed Statement of Cash Flows

Alpha Astika Akinita A.E.

Alpha Investment Property
Kefalariou AE

APE Fixed Assets A.E.

FROM 1 JANUARY TO

FROM 1 JANUARY TO

FROM 1 JANUARY TO

31.12.2018 31.12.2017| 31.12.2018 31.12.2017| 31.12.2018 31.12.2017
Total inflows/(outflows) from operating
activities 976 2441 (12) (17,553) (248) (115)
Total inflows/(outflows) from investing
activities 2,223 8,839 (81)
Total inflows/(outflows) from financing
activities (179) 17,880 297 129
Total inflows/(outflows) for the year 3,199 11,280 (191) 246 49 14
Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the year 68,962 57,682 257 11 23 9
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of
the year 72,161 68,962 66 257 72 23

No dividends were distributed by the aforementioned companies, for the years 2018 and 2017.

Significant Restrictions

Group’s significant restrictions regarding the use of assets or the settlement of obligations, are those imposed by the regulatory
framework in which subsidiaries supervised for their capital adequacy, mainly operate. In particular, the requlatory authorities
request, where appropriate and depending on the nature of the company, the compliance with specific thresholds, as in example
the maintenance of a specific level of capital buffers and liquid assets, the limitation of exposure to other Group companies and
the compliance with specific ratios. The total assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries operating in the banking, insurance and
other mainly financial sectors with significant restrictions amount to €9,576,714 (31.12.2017 £9,326,135) and €8,341,900

(31.12.2017 €7,989,017) respectively.

In addition, all greek subsidiaries are subject to the restrictions imposed by the regulatory framework (Codified Law 2190/1520 or
a more specific legislation depending on the nature of activities) regarding the minimum threshold of the share capital and equity
as well as the potential dividend distribution.

Moreaver, the cash withdrawals and free capital flows restrictions imposed by Legislative Act within 2015, and any

ministerial or other decision issued, impose restrictions to Greek subsidiaries of the Group, to transfer capitals out of Greece.

There are no protective rights over non controlling interest, which could restrict the Group’s ability to use assets or settle Group’s

obligations.
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Consolidated structured entities

The Group consolidates six structured entities which were established to accommodate transactions related to securitized loans
issued by Group companies. Securitization transactions aim to raise liquidity by issuing bonds or other legal form of borrowing. In
all cases, the Group has concluded that it controls these companies since it has the power over their activities and has a significant
exposure to their returns.

Bonds and other financial instruments which are issued by the consolidated structured companies are fully -owned by the Bank
with the exception of shipping and corporate (SME) loans securitization transaction through the company Alpha Shipping Finance
Ltd and Alpha Proodos DAC, where all the high-priority payment debt is held by third parties outside the Group.

Depending on the criteria required for each securitized portfolio, the Group, without having any relevant contractual obligation,
proceeds in ad hoc repurchases of securitized loans. In addition, for the securitization transactions that are in replacement
period the Group proceeds with new securitization of loan portfolios transferring them to those companies, in order to meet
specific quantitative criteria related to the amount of debt securities. The intention of the Group is to continue this practice. The
table below presents the balances of debt securities or other form of debt issued per consolidated special structure entity that
constitute tools of raising liquidity.

Nominal value
Entity name 31.12.2018  31.12.2017
Epihiro Plc 1,593,400 1,593,400
Katanalotika Plc 1,520,000 1,520,000
Pisti 2010-1 Plc 586,200 586,200
Irida Plc 474,800 474,800
Alpha Shipping Finance Ltd 267,569 316,712
Alpha Proodos DAC 476,658 640,000

Furthermore, on 31.12.2018, the Group had granted subordinated loans amounting to € 207,945 (31.12.2017: €261,849) to
the structured entities for credit enhancement purposes of the securitization transactions. Further to the above loans, the Group
has no contractual obligation to grant additional funding to the companies, except for Alpha Proodos DAC and Alpha Shipping
Finance Ltd to which the Group is required, if needed to grant additional subordinated loan.

Additionally, the Group is currently not consolidating the three mutual funds managed by Alpha Asset Management AEDAK, since
based on the participation percentage at the end of the year 2018, it was assessed that the Group does not hold the control.

Changes of ownership interest in subsidiaries which did not result in loss of control

The transactions with minority interests shareholders (in which the Group retained the control) for the year 2018 and 2017
respectively, in which the Group maintained control.

0On 27.3.2018 the subsidiary of the Group, AGI-RRE Poseidon Ltd, covered its share in the share capital increase of its subsidiary
Romfelt Real Estate S.A,, and on 18.5.2018 proceeded to full cover, given the non-participation of the minority. As a result, the
participation of AGI-RRE Poseidon Ltd was 99.99% of the share capital of Romfelt Real Estate S.A., compared to 98.86% before
the increase.

0On 5.1.2017 the subsidiary Alpha Group Investments Ltd proceeded to the disposal of 45,84% of shares of Group’s subsidiary
company Alpha Investment Property Kefalariou A.E with the price of €11.

The effect from the changes in subsidiary participation in total equity attributed to the shareholders of the company during the
years 2018 and 2017 is presented in the following tables:
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Change in ownership interest Change in ownership interest
Romfelt Real Estate S.A. AEP Kefalariou A.E.
1.1.2018 - 31.12.2018 1.1.2017 - 31.12.2017

Carrying amount acquired by non-controlling interests (198)
Carrying amount allocated to non-controlling interests (15)
Contribution received 11
Amount attributable to the Bank’s shareholders (198) (26)

Loss of control in subsidiary due to sale
0On 16.5.2018 the liquidation procedure of the group’s subsidiary Preserville Enterprises Ltd was completed.

0On 25.6.2018 the sale of the total shares of the group’s subsidiary AGI BRE Participations 5 E.0.0.D. and its subsidiaries
House Properties Investments E.0.0.D. and Residence Properties Investments E.0.0.D was completed. There was no gain or
loss from the transaction.

0n 19.12.2018 the group’s subsidiary AGI BRE Participations 4 Ltd proceeded with the sale of the total shares of its
subsidiary HT 1 E.0.0.D. for a consideration of € 2,100. The transaction resulted in a loss of € 714.

0On 20.12.2018 the liquidation of the bank’s subsidiary, Emporiki Group Finance Plc, was completed.

0On 11.4.2017 the sale of all shares of the Bank’s subsidiary, Alpha Bank Srbija A.D. was completed, in accordance with the
relevant agreement of 30.1.2017 with the serbian group of companies MK Group (note 49).

0n 18.5.2017, the sale of all shares of Group’s subsidiary, AGI BRE Participations 1 E.0.0.D. was completed for an amount of
€ 1. The gains of the above transaction reached the amount of €1,121.

0On 20.6.2017, the sale of all shares of Group’s subsidiary, AGI-SRE Ariadni DOO was completed for an amount of € 1. The
gains of the above transtaction reached the amount of € 1,028.

0n 28.11.2017 the subsidiary company of the Group, Alpha Astika Akinita A.E. proceeded with the disposal of all owned
shares of Alpha Real Estate D.0.0. Beograd, with the price of € 8,400. The above transaction has affected the “Gains less
losses on financial transactions and impairments on Group companies” of the Group by € 2,998.

On 11.12.2017 the sale of all shares of Group’s subsidiary, EVISAK S.A. was completed, for an amount of € 2,136. The above
transaction has affected the “Gains less losses on financial transactions and impairments on Group companies” of the Group
by €1,095.

Exposure to non-consolidated structured entities

The Group, through its subsidiary Alpha Asset Management AEDAK, manages 42 (31.12.2017: 48) mutual funds which meet
the definition of structured entities and on each reporting date, it assesses whether it exercises any control on these entities
according the provisions of IFRS 10.

The Group, as the manager of the mutual funds has the ability to direct the activities which significantly affect their rate

of return through selecting the investments made by the funds, always within the framework of permitted investments

as described in the requlation of each fund. As a result, the Group has power over the mutual funds under management

but within a clearly defined decision making framework. Moreover the Group is exposed to variable returns, through its
involvement in the mutual funds as it receives fees for the disposal, redemption and management of the funds under normal
market levels for similar services. The Group also holds direct investments in some of the funds under management, the level
of which is assessed to be determined whether it leads to a significant variability in the return compared to the respective
total rate of return variability for the mutual fund. Due to these factors, the Group assessed that, for all mutual funds under
management, it exercises, for the benefit of unit holders, the decision making rights assigned to it acting as an agent without
controlling the mutual funds.

The following table presents the figures of the mutual funds under Group’s management but not controlled, grouped by type
of investments held. The amounts shown include the total assets of the funds at the balance sheet date and the income
recognized in the Group’s income statement during the year from the funds under management concerning fees for the
disposal, redemption and management services.
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Total Assets Commission income
FROM 1 JANUARY TO

31.12.2018 31.12.2017 31.12.2018 31.12.2017
Category of Mutual Funds
Bond Funds 326,680 354,540 3624 3,993
Money Market Funds 113,343 186,109 949 1,327
Equity Funds 363,345 446,434 10,050 10,288
Balanced Funds 226,272 220,750 3,585 3671
Total 1,029,640 1,207,833 18,208 19,279

0n 1.1.2018, the direct investment of the Group in the above mutual funds was classified, in the investment portfolio measured
at fair value through profit or loss, under the IFRS 9, as they did not meet the definition of equity instrument. The book value of the
investment in mutual funds as at 31.12.2018 amounts to € 19,315 (31.12.2017: €17,291). The change in the